
 

 

 

11 October 2021 

At the conclusion of the Cultural and Community Committee 

 

Transport, Heritage and Planning 
Committee 

 



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 

  

Agenda 
  
 

 

1.   Disclosures of Interest 

2.   Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst - Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
Amendment 

3.   Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal – Green Square Town Centre: 377-495 Botany 
Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland - Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green 
Square Town Centre) 2013 and Green Square Town Centre Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012 Amendment 

4.   Traffic Treatment - Proposed Permanent Partial Road Closure - Spring Street, 
Sydney 

5.   Approved Variations to Development Standards Reported to the Department of 
Planning, Industry and Environment 

6.   Fire Safety Reports 

 



 

 

 
 

Disclaimer, Terms and Guidelines for 
Speakers at Council Committees 
As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to speak directly to Councillors during 
Committee meetings about items on the agenda. 

Webcast  

In accordance with the City of Sydney Code of Meeting Practice, Committee meetings are recorded and webcast 
live on the City of Sydney website at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au.  

Members of the public attending a council or committee meeting may have their image, voice and personal 
information (including name and address) recorded, publicly broadcast and archived for up to 12 months.  

Consent  

By attending a council or committee meeting, members of the public consent to this use of their image, voice and 
personal information.  

Disclaimer 

Statements made by individuals at a council or committee meeting, and which may be contained in a live stream 
or recording of the meeting are those of the individuals making them, and not of the City. To be clear, unless set 
out in a resolution of council, the City does not endorse or support such statements. 

The City does not accept any liability for statements made or actions taken by individuals during a Council or 
Committee meeting that may be contrary to law, including discriminatory, defamatory or offensive comments. Such 
statements or actions are not protected by privilege and may be the subject of legal proceedings and potential 
liability, for which the City takes no responsibility. 

Guidelines  

To enable the Committee to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited time available, we 
encourage people interested in speaking at Committee to: 

1. Register to speak by calling Secretariat on 9265 9702 or emailing secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au 
before 10.00am on the day of the meeting. 

2. Check the recommendation in the Committee report before speaking, as it may address your concerns so 
that you just need to indicate your support for the recommendation. 

3. Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker (with a warning bell at two minutes) and 
prepare your presentation to cover your major points within that time. 

4. Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and information that the 
Committee may not already know. 

5. If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to nominate three 
representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how many people they are representing. 

Committee meetings can continue until very late, particularly when there is a long agenda and a large number of 
speakers. This impacts on speakers who have to wait until very late, as well as City staff and Councillors who are 
required to remain focused and alert until very late. At the start of each Committee meeting, the Committee Chair 
may reorder agenda items so that those items with speakers can be dealt with first. 

Committee reports are available at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au 

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
mailto:secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Disclosures of Interest 

Pursuant to the provisions of the City of Sydney Code of Meeting Practice and the City of 
Sydney Code of Conduct, Councillors are required to disclose pecuniary interests in any 
matter on the agenda for this meeting. 

Councillors are also required to disclose any non-pecuniary interests in any matter on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

This will include receipt of reportable political donations over the previous four years. 

In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed. 

Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) 
Act 2008 

The Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) Act 2008 
(“the Act”) requires the disclosure of relevant political donations or gifts when planning 
applications are made to minimise any perception of undue influence. The amendments to 
the Act require disclosure to the Electoral Funding Authority of: 

 a reportable political donation as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures 
Act 1981 (a donation of $1000 or more made to or for the benefit of the party, elected 
member, group or candidate or made by a major political donor to or for the benefit of 
a party, elected member, group or candidate, or made to the major political donor), or  

 a gift (as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures Act 1981) to any local 
councillor or council employee (and includes a disposition of property or a gift of 
money or the provision of other valuable or service for no consideration or for 
inadequate consideration) when a relevant planning application is made to a council.  

A donation of less than $1000 can be a reportable political donation if the aggregated total of 
such donations was made by an entity or person to the same party, elected member, group 
or candidate or person. 

1

Item 1.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst - 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 Amendment 

File No: X018299 

Summary 

In May 2018, Ethos Urban, on behalf of site owner Clanricarde, submitted a formal request 
to amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) as it applies to 30-62 
Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst (site). The request sought to increase the maximum building 
height and Floor Space Ratio (FSR) to enable a co-working office space above the existing 
warehouse building. 

Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee resolved to publicly exhibit draft 
planning controls for the site in September 2018. The draft controls consist of a Planning 
Proposal to increase the maximum FSR and building height controls in Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan (LEP) 2012 and an accompanying amendment to Sydney Development 
Control Plan (DCP) 2012 which establishes building envelope controls.  

The site is located in a mixed-use area on the City's eastern fringe, within 800 metres of 
Kings Cross Station. It is part of the Harbour CBD in the Greater Sydney Commission's 
District Plan and the City Fringe precinct under the City's Local Strategic Planning 
Statement, both of which have a focus on productivity objectives following a period of 
sustained residential growth. It is serviced by a number of bus and cycle routes connecting 
the site to the CBD and Bondi Junction. It comprises a part-two, part-three storey warehouse 
building which is currently occupied by a self-storage facility.  

The surrounding area is zoned B4 Mixed Use. It is generally residential in character, with a 
small cluster of commercial buildings immediately adjacent to and including the site. Directly 
opposite lies the Barcom Avenue Heritage Conservation Area which is dominated by one to 
three storey Victorian terraces. The site is not within the heritage conservation area. 

In July 2019, the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (Department) issued a 
Gateway Determination which allowed the public exhibition of the Planning Proposal subject 
to some changes to its intended outcomes. The most notable of these changes was a 
requirement by the Department to remove a proposed LEP provision requiring a 6 star 
NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement in conjunction with the increased building height 
and FSR.  

A review of this Gateway Determination requirement by the Independent Planning 
Commission in May 2020 upheld the Gateway Determination. The NABERS provision was 
removed as required and the amended Planning Proposal and draft DCP were publicly 
exhibited from 17 December 2020 to 27 January 2021. However, due to an administrative 
oversight, the exhibition did not meet the minimum mandatory community consultation 
periods required under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 and the 
Planning Proposal and draft DCP amendment were re-exhibited from 3 September to 1 
October 2021. 

  

1

Item 2.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

The City received 17 submissions from, or on behalf of, local residents in addition to 
responses from Transport for New South Wales and the Office of Environment and Heritage. 
Key issues raised by local residents relate the scale of the proposal and likely impacts 
associated with overshadowing, loss of privacy, traffic and parking. The proponent has 
submitted further information and analysis to address these matters. Neither state agency 
raised concerns relating to the proposals.  

A summary of submissions, including responses from the City, is provided at Attachment E 
and key issues are discussed in the body of this report. 

A submission was also received from the proponent which requested changes to the built 
form envelope controls in the draft DCP, enabling a development concept that can achieve 
the targeted 6 star NABERS Energy rating.  

Consequently, the planning proposal has been updated following exhibition to ensure 
overshadowing is addressed before development consent is granted for additional FSR. The 
draft DCP has also been amended to incorporate more flexible building envelope controls, 
subject to acceptable solar impact, within which an environmentally sustainable development 
outcome can be achieved. The amendment does not change the overall height control as 
expressed in the Planning Proposal. 

In summary, the LEP amendment, as updated following exhibition, allows for a building with 
an FSR of up to 3.75:1 and height of 18 metres given the following conditions:  

 the whole building is for a use other than residential accommodation or tourist and 
visitor accommodation;  

 any building height and/or floor space additional to that already on site is restricted to 
commercial premises uses;  

 the impact on solar access to neighbouring residential dwellings is considered by the 
consent authority when assessing any future development application; and 

 no additional car parking is provided in association with any additional height and/or 
floor space. 

The accompanying draft DCP, as amended following exhibition, proposes the following site-
specific provisions: 

 revised building envelope controls to ensure an appropriate street wall character and 
relationship with adjoining terraces, including overshadowing;  

 a 6 star building NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement prior to development; 

 the provision of a green roof to support the NABERS Energy outcome; and 

 a requirement for a Green Travel Plan at development application stage to promote 
sustainable travel behaviours. 

This report recommends Council approve the Planning Proposal and draft DCP, as 
amended following exhibition, and that the Council exercises its delegation to amend Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 in accordance with the Planning Proposal. 

  

2



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council note the requirements of the Gateway Determination issued by the 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment to amend the contents of Planning 
Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst prior to exhibition, as shown at 
Attachment D to the subject report; 

(B) Council note the matters raised in response to the public exhibition of Planning 
Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst and Draft Sydney Development Control 
Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst, as shown at Attachment E to the 
subject report; 

(C) Council approve Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst, shown at 
Attachment A to the subject report and amended in response to submissions, to be 
made as a local environmental plan under Section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979; 

(D) Council approve Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom 
Avenue, Darlinghurst, as shown at Attachment B to the subject report and amended in 
response to submissions, noting that the approved development control plan will come 
into effect on the date of publication of the subject local environmental plan; and 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make minor variations to 
Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst and Draft Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst to correct any 
minor drafting errors prior to finalisation. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst. October 2021 
(Post exhibition changes marked in red) 

Attachment B. Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, 
Darlinghurst, October 2021 (Post exhibition changes marked in red) 

Attachment C. Resolution of Council of 17 September 2018 and Resolution of Central 
Sydney Planning Committee of 13 September 2018 

Attachment D. Gateway Determination 11 July 2019 

Attachment E. Summary of Submissions and Responses  

Attachment F. Overshadowing Analysis Prepared by the City of Sydney  

Attachment G. Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment Prepared by Barker Ryan 
Stewart   

3



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Background 

Site details and context 

1. 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst (the site) comprises a part-two, part-three storey 
warehouse building occupied by a self-storage facility.   

2. The site is an irregular 'L' shape with an area of 992.5 square metres and a frontage to 
Barcom Avenue of approximately 45 metres. The site slopes significantly from RL 15-
16m AHD at Barcom Avenue to RL 8.7m AHD at the eastern boundary. The cross fall 
equates to approximately 7-8 metres over the site and results in the existing building 
presenting as a two storey warehouse on the Barcom Avenue frontage and three 
storeys at its rear elevation. 

3. The surrounding area is mixed use, generally comprising residential development 
along with business uses at the north eastern end of Barcom Avenue with a five storey 
car dealership adjoining the site to the east (at the corner of New South Head Road 
and McLachlan Avenue), and a one to three storey car dealership located at the rear 
of the site (on McLachlan Avenue). 

4. Adjoining the site to the west along Barcom Avenue are a number of two storey terrace 
houses. Similarly, two storey terrace houses are also located opposite the site, along 
the northern side of Barcom Avenue. A four storey residential apartment building is 
located to the south on McLachlan Avenue. 

5. The site is directly opposite the Barcom Avenue Heritage Conservation Area, which is 
dominated by one to three storey Victorian terraces. All of the properties directly 
opposite the site are 'contributory buildings' within the heritage conservation area. 

6. The area is zoned B4 Mixed Use. Commercial uses are permissible with consent. 

7. The site is located in Darlinghurst, to the east of Central Sydney. It benefits from 
convenient public transport access, located within 800 metres of Kings Cross Station 
and serviced by a number of bus and cycle routes connecting the site to Central 
Sydney and Bondi Junction. 

8. The site location and surrounding context are shown in Figure 1 and Figure 2. Photos 
of the site and its surroundings are shown in Figures 3 to 5. 

4



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

 

Figure 1: Site location 

5



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

 

Figure 2: Site context 

 

Figure 3: Photographs of the site and existing building, looking south (left) and looking north-east 
(right) 

6



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

  

Figure 4: Adjoining residential terraces, to immediate south of site along Barcom Ave (left) and 
heritage items on the opposite side of Barcom Ave within the conservation area (right) 

  

Figure 5: Residential interface with site, 2 storey terraces to south-east of site (left) and view towards 
four storey residential building to south of site (right) 

Planning Controls and proposed changes 

9. The existing warehouse building is built to the boundary, with a maximum building 
height of 12.1 metres and an existing FSR of approximately 2.45:1. The existing 
planning controls allow for a maximum building height of 15 metres and a maximum 
FSR of 2:1. 

10. In May 2018, Ethos Urban, on behalf of site owner Clanricarde, submitted a formal 
request to amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) as it 
applies to 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst. The request sought to increase the 
maximum building height and FSR to enable a co-working office space above the 
existing warehouse building. 

11. The resulting development would be a four storey non-residential building with a total 
gross floor area of 3,535 square metres, made up of: 

(a) an existing 2,375 square metres of self-storage premises over three levels 
(basement to level 1); and  

(b) 1,160 square metres of office premises over two storeys (levels 2 and 3).  

7



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

12. An indicative development concept submitted with the Planning Proposal request 
envisages the co-working office space as comprising: 

(a) a combination of private offices (90-95%) and permanent desks (5-10%), which 
will range in size to suit varying sizes of teams (from two person offices to 10 
person offices); 

(b) flexible spaces including meeting rooms, a board room, break out spaces and 
phone booths; 

(c) kitchen facilities;  

(d) bike storage and private end-of-trip facilities; and 

(e) no parking for private vehicles.  

Draft Planning Controls 

13. Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee resolved to publicly exhibit draft 
planning controls for the site in September 2018. The resolutions of Council and the 
Central Sydney Planning Committee are at Attachment C. The draft controls are in a 
Planning Proposal to amend Sydney LEP 2012 and an amendment to Sydney DCP 
2012. 

14. The proposed LEP amendments allowed a building with an FSR of 3.75:1 and height 
of up to 18 metres subject to all of the following conditions being met:  

(a) the whole building is to be used for non-residential purposes;  

(b) there is to be no increase in car parking on the site; and  

(c) a 6 star building NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement is in place. 

15. The draft DCP established detailed controls around the building envelope to ensure an 
appropriate relationship with the heritage conservation area and neighbouring 
residential terraces. It also supported an ecologically sustainable development 
opportunity presented through redevelopment of the site. The DCP provisions include: 

(a) height in storeys; 

(b) setbacks; and 

(c) encouraging the provision of a green roof. 

16. Council and the CSPC resolved that the proposal demonstrated strategic merit through 
sustainability improvements and the opportunity to support Sydney’s start-up business 
community via the provision of flexible co-working office space. The proposal was 
considered to represent an appropriate built form outcome in a sustainable, mixed use 
location serviced by existing infrastructure. 

Gateway Determination 

17. The City requested a Gateway Determination from the Greater Sydney Commission 
(the GSC) in October 2018. Various requests for further information and clarification of 
the Planning Proposal’s intentions and objectives were made by the Department of 
Planning, Industry and Environment (the Department) on the GSC's behalf until May 
2019. 

8



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

18. The Department issued a Gateway Determination and supporting report in July 2019, 
provided at Attachment D. It required the Planning Proposal to be amended prior to 
community consultation. The required amendments: 

(a) clarify the explanation of provisions (and related objectives and intended 
outcomes);  

(b) clarify the restrictions to land use types and car parking which are to apply to the 
additional floor space and height; and  

(c) remove the provisions for a 6 star NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement. 

19. The City supported the changes required by the Gateway Determination to the 
objectives and explanation of provisions in the Planning Proposal which relate to the 
description of land use types that are to be accommodated in the resulting floor space. 
These changes were worked through collaboratively to better reflect the intended 
outcomes of the Planning Proposal and the City agreed to the changes with the 
Department prior to issue of the Gateway Determination.   

20. The City did not support the Department's grounds for removing the provision for a 6 
star NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement from the Planning Proposal.  

Independent Planning Commission's review of the Gateway Determination 

21. The City requested the Independent Planning Commission (the IPC) review the 
Gateway Determination requirement for the removal of the provision for a 6 star 
NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement from the Planning Proposal.  

22. Following correspondence and meetings with the Department to discuss the 
contentions, the Department forwarded the Gateway Review request to the IPC in April 
2020 and a decision was issued in May 2020.  

23. The IPC decision concludes that appropriate ecological sustainable development 
(ESD) standards can be achieved on the site through the National Construction Code 
and the proposed site-specific amendment to the DCP. As a result, the Commission 
upheld the Gateway Determination.  

Changes to the Planning Controls required by the Gateway Determination 

24. In accordance with the conditions of the Gateway Determination, the Planning 
Proposal was amended to more clearly articulate the uses and any associated car 
parking which would be permitted for both the existing building and proposed floor 
space. The Planning Proposal was also amended to remove the requirement for a 6 
star NABERS Energy commitment agreement. 

25. The proposed LEP controls, as amended, allow a building with an FSR of 3.75:1 and 
height of up to 18 metres subject to all of the following conditions being met:  

(a) the whole building is not used for residential accommodation or tourist and visitor 
accommodation;  

(b) any building height and/or floor space additional to that already on site being 
restricted to commercial premises uses; and  

(c) car parking associated with any additional height or floor space is prohibited.  

9



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

26. The requirement for a 6 star NABERS Energy commitment agreement remains in the 
draft DCP. 

27. In accordance with the requirements of the Gateway Determination, the revised 
Planning Proposal was provided to the Department for review and approved for 
community and agency consultation. The Department also extended the timeframe for 
completing the LEP until 11 June 2021. 

Consultation and submissions 

28. The revised Planning Proposal and DCP amendment were placed on public exhibition 
from 17 December 2020 to 27 January 2021. The City sent 37 letters to local residents 
and adjoining business owners to notify them of the exhibition and it was also 
advertised via the City's Sydney Your Say webpage and in the Sydney Morning 
Herald. Given that the original exhibition included the Christmas and New Year period, 
it did not meet the minimum mandatory community consultation periods required under 
the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. The Planning Proposal and 
DCP amendment were therefore re-exhibited from 3 September to 1 October 2021, 
with local residents and adjoining business owners being re-notified by letter.  

29. The Gateway Determination required the City to consult with various State agencies, 
including the Office of Environment and Heritage (OEH), Transport for NSW (TfNSW), 
and Roads and Maritime Services (RMS). 

30. OEH noted the proposed building envelopes and indicative concept designs would not 
result in any additional overshadowing of the local heritage items or heritage 
conservation area and that a two-storeyed street wall character would be maintained 
adjacent to the heritage conservation area. As such, OEH considers this to be an 
acceptable heritage response. OEH also noted that as these items and the 
conservation area are listed under the City's LEP, Council is the consent authority and 
consideration of any impacts rests with Council. 

31. TfNSW raised no objection to the Planning Proposal, noting the integrity of TfNSW 
infrastructure and reservations is to be maintained. No response was received from 
RMS. 

32. A number of local resident submissions were received, 12 individual written 
submissions, 3 submissions via Sydney Your Say and 1 on behalf of the owners 
corporation at 61-63 McLachlan Avenue. A submission was also made by Alex 
Greenwich (MP) on behalf of his constituents in the local area. No additional 
comments were received as a result of the re-exhibition.  

33. The key issues raised by local residents relate to the scale and bulk of the resulting 
building, with most submissions considering the proposal to represent an 
overdevelopment of the site in a residential and heritage area. Many submissions also 
highlighted concerns over likely impacts on traffic and parking in the area. The impacts 
of overshadowing and loss of privacy were also raised by adjacent properties.  

34. These issues are discussed below. The submissions received, together with the City's 
response, are summarised at Attachment E. 

  

10



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Scale and bulk 

35. A number of local residents expressed concern over the scale and bulk of the 
proposal, believing that it will result in a large, bulky commercial building that will be 
too large for the street. There is also concern that justifying the proposal with the 
height of the adjacent buildings will result in further precedent to increase the height 
throughout the area.  

36. Current LEP and DCP controls set an 18m height limit and allow for buildings of up to 
5 storeys on the commercial sites which adjoin the subject site (to the north-east and 
rear). It is considered that the Planning Proposal is in keeping with this scale. It is 
unlikely that a development of a similar scale on the site would become a precedent 
for the rest of the street given the difference in use between this commercial end of 
Barcom Avenue and the residential typology of the remainder. 

37. Office of Environment and Heritage also consider the scale and form of the proposal to 
be an acceptable heritage response in this location. 

Overshadowing and loss of privacy 

38. Many residents' submissions raised concerns about overshadowing. There is concern 
that the shadow analysis is incorrect, with several residents questioning the testing 
parameters and the narrow focus of the images presented in the original Planning 
Proposal request from the proponents. Residents to the northern side of Barcom 
Avenue feel they have been missed from the analysis whilst others question why the 
assessment is limited to mid-winter impacts and why a period of two hours is 
considered to be an acceptable amount of solar access.  

39. Solar access is measured at mid-winter because this is when the sun is lowest in the 
sky and therefore represents a 'worst case scenario' for overshadowing. At the mid-
winter solstice the sun's altitude causes shadows three times as long as the height of 
the object casting them. The two hour parameter is used within the Sydney 
Metropolitan Area as being a reasonable amount of winter sun given the density of 
development in an urban area. 

40. To assess solar access, it is usual to test the solar impact associated with a proposal 
at 15 minute increments from 9am to 3pm on June 21st. Given that the original 
Planning Proposal request presented hourly overshadowing data, the City requested 
additional overshadowing analysis to further investigate the issues raised. 

41. The proponents have submitted a detailed CAD model of the proposal, which is 
embedded with grid alignments and coordinates used by the City's own modelling 
team for accuracy. Detailed overshadowing images have been rendered from the 
model for all required time increments and these are presented at Attachment F. The 
modelling shows the existing overshadowing conditions and the overshadowing which 
would be generated by the proposal as exhibited. It also includes shadow analysis for 
a proposed amendment to the building envelope requested by the proponent (see later 
in this report for details). In all instances, the proponent's requested amendments 
represent a 'worst case scenario' for overshadowing. 

42. The overshadowing analysis shows the impact on solar access to any residential 
properties is limited to 64 Barcom Avenue, which adjoins the subject site to its south-
east, and 61-63 McLachlan Avenue, to the rear and south of the subject site. 

  

11



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

43. 64 Barcom Avenue experiences high levels of overshadowing from the existing self-
storage building in midwinter. Until around 10:30am, solar access is restricted to a 
single storey element and some parts of the private open space to the rear and then to 
parts of the side wall of the main dwelling from around 1pm. Whilst it is acknowledged 
the proposal will create longer shadows, these will predominantly be cast over the roof 
of 64 Barcom Avenue and are not considered to impact any habitable spaces within 
the dwelling.  

44. Figure 6 below compares the shadow cast by the existing self-storage building and the 
proposed additional floors at 11:15am to illustrate the predominant difference in 
overshadowing, being that of the length of shadows across the roof of 64 Barcom 
Avenue. 

 

Figure 6: Overshadowing comparison at 11:15am between existing (left) and as requested by the 
proponent (right) 

45. The modelling shows that the existing building on the subject site does not start to 
overshadow 61-63 McLachlan Avenue until around 1pm, experiencing good levels of 
solar access until this point (subject to existing vegetation to the north). By 2:30pm 
there is no discernible difference between the solar impact associated with the 
exhibited scheme, the proponent's requested amendment and the existing 
overshadowing situation.  

46. Figure 7 below shows the greatest extent of overshadowing experienced by 61-63 
McLachlan Avenue, comparing the shadow cast by the existing self-storage building 
with that cast by the proposed additional floors (with the proponent's requested 
amendments to building envelope). The difference between the two is considered to 
be marginal. The figure also shows the limited difference in the amount of direct light 
on the side wall of 64 Barcom Avenue. 

61-63 
McLachlan 
Ave 

64  
Barcom 
Ave 

Shadow 
across 
roofline. 
No 
discernible 
difference 
to side 
wall.  

12



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

 

Figure 7: Overshadowing comparison at 2pm between existing (left) and as requested by the 
proponent (right) 

47. Existing Sydney DCP controls require new development to be designed so as to 
ensure neighbouring dwellings receive a minimum of 2 hours' direct sunlight between 
9am and 3pm on 21st June onto at least 1 sqm of living room windows and to at least 
50 per cent of the minimum amount of private open space. Where existing levels of 
solar access are less than this, new development is not to create any additional 
overshadowing (excluding side windows).  

48. The analysis provided by the proponent does suggest that there will be some increase 
in overshadowing to the private rear open space belonging to 64 Barcom Avenue and 
61-63 McLachlan Avenue associated with both the exhibited building envelope and 
their proposed alternative. However, the analysis does not incorporate ownership 
boundaries to enable an assessment by Council of the proportion of private open 
space impacted.  

49. As a result, it is proposed to amend the planning proposal and built form controls in the 
draft DCP to ensure that any additional floor space award is subject to the future 
building envelope being designed to comply with the existing Sydney DCP 
requirements for overshadowing. Detailed analysis of the compliance of any proposed 
building envelope would occur at the development application stage. 

50. Neighbouring residents also raised concerns about loss of privacy, fearing that the 
new office accommodation would overlook them. Given that the Planning Proposal is 
currently only an indicative development scheme within a proposed building envelope, 
this would be an issue that would be analysed and addressed at Development 
Application stage under existing controls that protect privacy. 

Traffic and parking 

51. Many submissions raised issues concerning traffic and parking in connection with the 
proposal. Local residents fear an increase in traffic in an already congested residential 
area and greater competition for parking spaces between residents and commercial 
users due to the lack of on-site parking proposed. Residents highlight that parking has 
already been impacted by the nearby BMW showroom and feel that additional traffic 
could impact pedestrian safety. 

61-63 
McLachlan 
Ave 

64  
Barcom 
Ave 

Marginal 
increase in 
shadow  

13



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

52. In response, the City requested that the Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment be 
updated by the proponent to address the issues raised. The updated assessment can 
be found at Attachment G.  

53. The assessment finds the site is well served by public transport, with bus connections 
and King’s Cross railway station located in close proximity to the site. King’s Cross 
station is 800m away and provides frequent train services to the CBD and Sydney’s 
east and south on the T4 South Coast Line, with a frequency of ~15 minutes during 
off-peak times and ~8 minutes during peak times. Similarly buses between the Sydney 
CBD and nearby bus stops on New South Head Road operate with a 15-minute 
frequency during off-peak times and a 10-minute frequency during peak hours. 

54. The pedestrian network surrounding the site is also good, being a 10-minute walk to 
Kings Cross station, less than 250m to a number of bus stops and less than 200m 
from various neighbourhood services including cafes. A number of car share spaces 
are also located in the vicinity. 

55. The updated assessment demonstrates that the demographic in the Darlinghurst area, 
compared to that of other areas, relies significantly less on private vehicles for their 
commute to work, favouring public and active transport especially bus, train and 
walking. 

56. According to the 2016 census, public transport has the highest mode share for people 
commuting to Darlinghurst, with 40.45% of people using public transport to get to work 
in the area. A further 13.38% used forms of active transport, including walking and 
riding to work. 32.6% of commuters travelled to work by car, which is lower than an 
average of 57.8% for NSW and 61.5% for Australia. Those commuting within the area 
also favour public and active transport over private vehicles, with only 17% of people 
from surrounding suburbs travelling to work in the area by car.  

57. Given the likely mode share and potential staff density associated with the proposal, 
the updated assessment anticipates a maximum of 18 trips per hour in the AM peak 
and 14 trips per hour in the PM peak could be generated. A minor increase in courier 
and delivery vehicles are also anticipated off peak. 

58. To address this, a number of sustainable travel initiatives are proposed to be 
incorporated into the design and management of the building to complement the 
existing transport options and to provide a holistic strategy to positively influence 
occupant behaviour.  

59. The overall site strategy is based around reducing car usage, with public transport as 
the primary mode choice for distance trips and pedestrian/cyclist provisions for shorter 
trips. 

60. A Green Travel Plan is to be prepared and submitted with any future development 
application for the site alongside the implementation and ongoing monitoring of any 
sustainable travel initiatives it includes. 

61. Indicatively, the floor space proposed is able to accommodate 13 bike parking spaces 
- 9 for employees and 4 for visitors - plus end of journey facilities to promote the option 
of cycling to the site. This number of spaces exceeds current minimum requirements in 
Sydney DCP 2012 and will be secured via an additional provision in the DCP 
amendment.  Further, with no additional vehicle parking spaces being proposed on 
site, commuting to the site by private vehicle is discouraged.   

14



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

62. It should also be noted that the proposal for no additional car parking is in line with the 
City's own approach to reducing the reliance on private vehicles, expressed in both the 
LEP and DCP, with the restriction of on-site car parking at origin and destination being 
a major driver for alternative, sustainable transport modes.  

63. Time-restricted parking in the local area also reduces the likelihood of 'spillover' 
parking into residential streets as this is not suitable for office staff with long term 
parking needs. 

64. Overall, it is considered the proposal will have a negligible impact on the safety and 
efficiency of the surrounding road network and parking availability in the area and likely 
result in a lesser impact than a residential development under the current controls.  

The impact of Covid-19 

65. Some submissions raised questions about the need for additional commercial floor 
space given the potential impacts of Covid-19 on demand for commercial floor space. 

66. The City's Local Strategic Planning Statement identifies the need for more non-
residential floor space, in diverse forms, to achieve our 2036 target for 200,000 
additional jobs.  

67. The long-term impacts of Covid-19 are not yet understood. While there will almost 
certainly be a change to the way some businesses and their employees work, it is 
considered that out of centre employment space will still be in demand over time.   

Submission from the proponent requesting building envelope modifications 

68. As part of the consultation, the City also received a submission from the consultant 
acting for the proponent. 

69. In the submission, the proponent confirmed their commitment to NABERS and 
commissioned advice from ARUP to confirm whether the concept scheme is capable 
of achieving a 6 star NABERS Energy outcome. ARUP confirmed that the indicative 
development scheme would be able to achieve the 6 star target subject to key design 
inclusions comprising: 

(a) use of natural ventilation to significant portions of the floor plate; 

(b) high level clerestory windows to allow daylight to the whole office space via 
internal atria; 

(c) efficient envelope performance to reduce cooling/heating loads; 

(d) operable windows to allow natural ventilation in air-conditioned spaces; 

(e) high efficiency, locally controlled lighting to ensure lights are only operating when 
people are using the space; 

(f) dedicated HVAC to each office space to ensure efficient operation of systems, 
only when occupancy is detected; and 

(g) 11kWp roof mounted photovoltaic array power building services. 

  

15



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

70. In developing the design of the concept scheme further to address the first three 
design inclusions necessary for the NABERS outcome, the proponent requests 
amendments to the building setbacks and height in storeys shown in the draft DCP to 
reflect a modified building envelope, shown in Figure 8 below.  

 

Figure 8: Building envelope showing height in storeys and building setbacks as included in the 
exhibited draft DCP (left) and as proposed to be amended by the proponent (right). 

71. The requested modifications require no change to the proposed LEP controls, having 
no impact on the overall height or FSR of the proposed development. The submission 
demonstrates that the modified building envelope results in marginally less GFA 
compared with the exhibited concept scheme.  

72. The proposed three storey street wall would be in-keeping with that already 
established to the immediate north-east, adjoining the site, and in the conservation 
area opposite the site. The street wall is also consistent with the existing three storey 
building street frontage height controls in Sydney DCP 2012. It is proposed to change 
the street frontage height in the DCP amendment back to 3 storeys from 2 storeys - 
effectively representing no change from the current controls.  

73. The detailed overshadowing analysis, included at Attachment F and discussed earlier 
in this report, demonstrates that the requested amendments to the building envelope 
would generate very limited additional shadow being cast compared with the exhibited 
building envelope. However, it is unclear whether the proposals comply with existing 
Sydney DCP controls to limit solar impact. It is therefore proposed to amend the 
planning proposal to ensure the additional floor space is only awarded subject 
consideration of the over shadowing impacts. The DCP has also been amended so the 
built form controls to allow a part 3-, part 4- storey building which is designed and 
setback as necessary to achieve the overshadowing requirements of the DCP, 
recognising that the final building envelope will need flexibility to enable the desired 6 
star NABERS Energy outcome to be achieved on the site. 

Changes to the Planning Controls following Exhibition 

74. Following consideration of submissions, the Planning Proposal has been updated to 
require consideration of overshadowing impacts before awarding additional floor 
space. It has also been updated with details of the community and agency consultation 
that was undertaken and to update the anticipated timeline for finalising the LEP 
amendment. 

16



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

75. Following exhibition, changes are recommended to the draft DCP to enable the 
desired sustainability outcomes to be achieved and to assist with securing sustainable 
travel behaviours to and from the site. The recommended changes relate to:  

(a) the built form provisions which establish the parameters around building 
envelope to ensure overshadowing controls are met and with no increase in 
overall height;  

(b) securing 13 bike parking spaces (9 employee and 4 visitor spaces) for use in 
connection with the office space; and 

(c) a requirement for a Green Travel Plan to be submitted with any future 
development application. 

76. The Planning Proposal and draft DCP, as amended following public exhibition, are at 
Attachment A and Attachment B respectively. 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Greater Sydney Region Plan 

77. The Greater Sydney Region Plan, completed in March 2018, is a State Government 
strategic document that sets the 40 year vision and 20 year plan for all of Greater 
Sydney. The Plan outlines how Greater Sydney will manage growth and change and 
guide infrastructure delivery and is to be implemented at a local level by District Plans. 

78. The Plan identifies key challenges facing Greater Sydney, which is forecast to grow 
from 4.7 million people to 8 million people by 2056. Greater Sydney is to provide for an 
additional 817,000 jobs by 2036 and will need to provide 725,000 more homes over 
the next 20 years. 

79. By facilitating development of additional commercial floor space on a site with good 
levels of accessibility by public and active transport, and within a building which can 
appropriately address its heritage context and promote ecologically sustainable 
development, the Planning Proposal is consistent with the relevant objectives and 
planning priorities of the Plan as follows: 

(a) Objective 4: Infrastructure use is optimised; 

(b) Objective 13: Environmental heritage is identified, conserved and enhanced; 

(c) Objective 14: Integrated land use and transport creates walkable and 30-minute 
cities; 

(d) Objective 18: Harbour CBD is stronger and more competitive; 

(e) Objective 22: Investment and business activity in centres; 

(f) Objective 24: Economic sectors are targeted for success; and 

(g) Objective 33: A low-carbon city contributes to net-zero emissions by 2050 and 
mitigates climate change. 

17



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Strategic Alignment - Eastern City District Plan 

80. The Eastern City District Plan, also completed in March 2018, sets the local planning 
context for the City of Sydney local government area. It provides a 20-year plan to 
manage growth and achieve the 40-year vision of the Greater Sydney Region Plan at 
a district level and is a bridge between regional and local planning. 

81. As part of a Greater Sydney metropolis of three cities, the eastern district covers the 
council areas of Bayside, Burwood, Canada Bay, City of Sydney, Inner West, 
Randwick, Strathfield, Waverley and Woollahra. 

82. The Eastern City District Plan identifies 22 planning priorities and associated actions 
that are important to achieving a liveable, productive and sustainable future for the 
district, including the alignment of infrastructure with growth. 

83. This Planning Proposal gives effect to these planning priorities and actions as follows: 

(a) Planning Priority E6: Creating and renewing great places and local centres, and 
respecting the District’s heritage; 

(b) Planning Priority E10: Delivering integrated land use and transport planning and 
a 30-minute city; 

(c) Planning Priority E7: Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD; 

(d) Planning Priority E11: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs in 
strategic centres; and 

(e) Planning Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water 
and waste efficiently. 

84. The Planning Proposal will support the growth of a stronger and more competitive 
Harbour CBD through the provision of new and innovative office space which will 
foster investment and employment opportunities, especially for small business. The 
proposal supports strategic priorities to create a more productive, liveable and 
sustainable city in a CBD-fringe location, which is close to homes and serviced by 
existing infrastructure.  

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

85. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This policy is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - The proposal will 
provide additional employment floor space on the fringe of Sydney. The co-
working office space will facilitate jobs growth and promote collaboration and 
innovation, supporting small businesses and start-ups. 

  

18



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

(b) Direction 2 provides a road map for the City to become A Leading Environmental 
Performer - Together, the Planning Proposal and draft DCP will support a more 
ecologically sustainable development on the site, with a target of meeting a 6 
star NABERS Energy rating. Following exhibition, the allowable building 
envelope shown in the DCP is amended to better facilitate the NABERS 
outcome. Additional DCP controls also secure rooftop photovoltaics and a green 
roof. The proposed controls will contribute towards net-zero carbon emissions, 
water sensitive urban design and urban ecology outcomes. 

(c) Direction 3 - Integrated Transport for a Connected City - The proposal will 
capitalise on its close proximity to existing heavy rail train stations and a 
significant number of bus routes connecting with the CBD and Bondi Junction. 
The proposal incorporates zero parking provision further limiting potential future 
trips by private vehicle and encouraging sustainable transport choices.  

(d) Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling - The site is located in an inner-city 
suburb, close to existing local centres including Kings Cross, Edgecliff, Fiveways 
Paddington and Darlinghurst. It benefits from convenient public transport and a 
number of on-road and separated cycleways connecting with the CBD. The 
proposal also incorporates nine bicycle parking spaces and end of journey 
facilities to encourage active transport to and from the development. 

(e) Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design - The proposed 
planning controls will achieve a building envelope in keeping with its 
surroundings, cognisant of the heritage items and conservation area in close 
proximity to the site and its impact on adjoining residential buildings. Further, the 
proposal will support a future development that will feature additional ESD 
initiatives. 

Relevant Legislation 

86. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

87. The Gateway Determination, provided at Attachment D, included a finalisation date for 
the LEP as 11 July 2020. Prior to the community consultation process, this was 
extended by the Department until 11 June 2021. The Department has recently 
declined to extend this date further and has asked the City to expedite the completion 
of the LEP amendment.  

88. The Gateway Determination authorises Council to liaise directly with Parliamentary 
Counsel to draft and make the LEP under delegation, giving effect to the Planning 
Proposal. 

  

19



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

89. If the Planning Proposal is approved by Council and the CSPC, the City will 
commence this process. Once this process is complete and the plan is made, the 
amendment to Sydney LEP 2012 will come into effect when published on the NSW 
Legislation website. 

90. If approved by Council, the draft DCP will come into effect on the same day as the 
amendment to Sydney LEP 2012. 

GRAHAM JAHN AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Samantha Bird, Specialist Planner 

20



Attachment A 

Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, 
Darlinghurst. October 2021 

 
(Post exhibition changes marked in red)  

 

21



 

 
 

 

 

Planning Proposal 
30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst 
  
 
October 2021  
 
 
 

22



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 3 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
Introduction          Page 3 
 
Part 1 – Objectives and intended outcomes      Page 9 
 
Part 2 – Explanation of provisions       Page 10 
 
Part 3 – Justification         Page 11 
 
Part 4 – Mapping         Page 223 
 
Part 5 – Community consultation       Page 24 
 
Part 6 – Project timeline         Page 256 
 
Appendix A – Ethos Urban planning proposal request and supporting information  Page 26 
 
    
 
 

23



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 4 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This planning proposal explains the extent of, and justification for, proposed amendments to 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP) as it applies 30-62 Barcom Avenue, 
Darlinghurst.  
 
The proposal has been prepared in accordance with section 3.33 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and guidelines published by the Department of 
Planning and Environment including ‘A guide to preparing planning proposals’ and ‘A guide 
to preparing local environmental plans’.  
 
Specifically, this planning proposal seeks to amend the maximum permissible FSR and 
building height controls for the site as contained in Sydney LEP, subject to commercial use 
and parking restrictions.  
 
More detailed building envelope and sustainability controls are contained within a draft 
amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (Sydney DCP) which has been 
prepared alongside this planning proposal. 
 
 
Site location 
 
The planning proposal relates to 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst, a small inner-city 
suburb located to the east of Sydney’s Central Business District.  
 
The site is located on the south-eastern side of Barcom Avenue, close to the intersection 
with New South Head Road and opposite the Barcom Avenue Conservation Area and 
several heritage items.  
 
It is within 800m of Kings Cross Station and surrounding local centres include Kings Cross, 
Edgecliff, Fiveways Paddington and Darlinghurst. 
 
A location plan is at Figure 1. Site context is shown at Figure 2. 
 

 

 

24



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 5 

 

 
 
Land ownership 
 
30-62 Barcom Avenue is a single landholding owned by Clanricarde Investments. The legal 
description of the land affected by this planning proposal is Lot B in DP 111138. 
 
 
Site characteristics 
 
The site is irregular in shape with an area of 992.5m2 and a frontage to Barcom Avenue of 
approximately 45 metres. 
 
The site slopes significantly from RL 15-16m AHD at Barcom Avenue to RL 8.7m AHD at 
the eastern, rear boundary. The cross fall equates to approximately 7-8 metres across the 
site, which results in the existing building having a two storey frontage to Barcom Avenue 
and a third storey element at its rear elevation. 
 
 
Existing development  
 
The site contains an existing part 2-storey, part 3-storey warehouse building which is 
currently used as a self-storage premises. The warehouse building is built to boundary, with 
a maximum building height of 12.1 metres and an existing Gross Floor Area of 
approximately 2,500 square metres (i.e. an existing built form FSR of approximately 2.45:1). 
 
Photos of the site and the existing building are shown at Figure 3. 

25



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 6 

 

 

 
Surrounding development 
 
To the immediate north-east of the site, at 65 Craigend Street, is a recently constructed 5-
storey commercial vehicle showroom. Adjoining the eastern boundary of the site is a second 
commercial vehicle showroom which is 1-3 storeys. Two-storey residential terraces adjoin 
the south-eastern boundary and are found to the west of the site, within the Barcom Avenue 
Conservation Area. Six locally significant heritage items are sited in the vicinity, as follows: 
 

• I501 – 2-6 Womerah Avenue – ‘Flat Building “Corinthians” (2 Womerah Avenue) 
including interiors’;  

• I502 – 18A-40 Womerah Avenue – ‘Terrace group part of “Barcom Mews” including 
interiors and fencing’;  

• I211 – 1-3 Barcom Avenue – ‘Terrace group part of “Barcom Mews” including 
interiors, front fences and gates’;  

• I212 – 5-9 Barcom Avenue – ‘Terrace group including interiors and front fence’;  
• I213 – 11-15 Barcom Avenue – ‘Terrace group part of “Barcom Mews” including 

interiors’; and  
• I214 – 23-47B Barcom Avenue – ‘Terrace group including interiors’.  

 
Figures 4 and 5 show photos of the surrounding context. 
 
 

 

 

26



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 7 

 

 
Planning history  
 
The site has been the subject of two previous development applications. In July 1997, a 
development application for the renovation and refurbishment of the existing self-storage 
facility, including an additional floor providing an extra 860m2 of floor area, was refused by 
Council.       
   
In September 2008, a development application (D/2008/1705) sought consent for several 
amendments to the existing building, including the construction of an additional floor. 
Council granted consent to the majority of amendments, but did not grant development 
consent for the additional storey. The planning officer's report notes that the proposed 
additional storey would have resulted in a building of a significantly greater scale than the 
adjoining vehicle dealership that addresses New South Head Road. 
 
It is noted that the previous applications were determined some 8 to 19 years ago, when a 
12 metre height limit applied to the site and prior to the redevelopment of a number of other 
sites within the vicinity of the subject site, including the adjacent vehicle dealership to the 
immediate north of the site, which is now 5 storeys. 
 
Current planning controls 
 
Table A and Map Extracts A-D below summarise the key planning controls in Sydney LEP 
that are relevant to this planning proposal. 
 
Table A: Key planning controls in Sydney LEP 
 
Relevant Control / Provision Comment 
Zoning 
 

• Refer to Map Extract A  
• B4 Mixed Use 
• Commercial uses are permissible with consent. 

Building Height • Refer to Map Extract B  
• The maximum permissible building height for the 

site is 15 metres 
Floor Space Ratio:  • Refer to Map Extract C 

• The maximum permissible FSR is 2:1 
• The existing self-storage facility already exceeds the 

maximum permissible FSR, with a built form FSR of 
approximately 2.45:1. 

Heritage • Refer to Map Extract D 

27



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 8 

• The site does not contain any heritage items but is 
located in close proximity to a number of items and 
the Barcom Avenue Conservation Area. 

 
 
Map Extract A: Zoning Map 
 

  
 
 
Map Extract B: Height of Buildings Map 

  
 
 

28



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 9 

 
 
 
Map Extract C: Floor Space Ratio Map 
 

 
 
 
Map Extract D: Heritage Map 
 

 
 
 
  

29



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 10 

PART 1 – OBJECTIVES AND INTENDED OUTCOMES 
 
The objectives of the planning proposal are to: 
 

• facilitate additional floor space capacity on the site for commercial uses; 
 
• deliver a high quality built form that is respectful of the site’s heritage context; 

 
• limit car parking on the site; and 

 
• achieve a high standard of ecologically sustainable development and contribute 

towards zero net energy. 
 
 
The intended outcomes of the planning proposal are to: 
 

• allow additional floor space and height for development on the site to achieve a 
maximum floor space ratio control of up to 3.75:1 and a maximum building height of 
18 metres providing that the development does not include any type of residential 
accommodation or tourist and visitor accommodation;  

 
• facilitate the delivery of office space by restricting the additional floor space to 

commercial uses; and 
 

• restrict the provision of on-site parking; and  
 

• an acceptable amount of solar access to neighbouring properties is maintained. 
 
 
 
 

  

30



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 11 

PART 2 – EXPLANATION OF PROVISIONS 
 
To achieve the objectives and intended outcomes, this planning proposal seeks to amend 
planning controls in Sydney LEP 2012 to include provision in Division 5 Site specific 
provisions that: 
 
Allows for, subject to the satisfaction of the Council, a building on this site (Lot B in DP 
111138) that exceeds the development standards in clauses 4.3 (Height of buildings) and 
4.4 (Floor space ratio) of Sydney LEP 2012, if all of the following conditions are met: 
 

1. the whole building is not used for residential accommodation or tourist and visitor 
accommodation;  

2. any building height and/or floor space additional to that already on site be restricted 
to commercial premises uses; and  

3. car parking associated with any additional height and/or floor space is prohibited; 
and  

4. the consent authority has considered the impact of the building on the solar access 
to lots at 64 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst and 61-63 McLachlan Avenue, 
Darlinghurst. 
  

If all of the above conditions are met, a building with a Floor Space Ratio of up to 3.75:1 and 
height of up to 18 metres may be approved, subject to consent.  
 
To provide clarity, no part of a building which takes advantage of the additional height and 
floor space may be used for residential accommodation or tourist and visitor 
accommodation, including a residential flat building or serviced apartments and the like.  
 
It is noted that this proposed amendment does not derogate from the achievement of a 
residential development on the site that complies with current height and FSR controls in 
clauses 4.3 (Height of buildings) and 4.4 (Floor space ratio) of Sydney LEP 2012. 
 
Site specific DCP 
 
The City has prepared draft site specific provisions to amend Sydney DCP 2012, which 
provide further guidance to the proposed amendments to Sydney LEP 2012. The provisions 
are to be contained within Section 6 of the Sydney DCP 2012.  
 
They will ensure an appropriate relationship with the Conservation Area and neighbouring 
residential terraces and support the ecologically sustainable development opportunity 
presented through redevelopment of the site. The provisions relate to building height in 
storeys, setbacks and sustainability outcomes, including a requirement for a minimum 6 star 
building NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement and encouraging a green roof and roof-
top solar. They will also secure bike parking in excess of standard requirements and a 
Green Travel Plan to promote sustainable transport behaviours for the site. 
 
The draft DCP is to be was publicly exhibited with the planning proposal.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 12 

PART 3 - JUSTIFICATION 
 
Section A – Need for the planning proposal 
 
Q1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report? 
 
The Planning Proposal is not the result of any specific strategic study or report. It has been 
initiated by the proponent to facilitate a building envelope which is commensurate with the 
height, scale and density of the locality and to provide for additional employment floor 
space. Accordingly the proposal is consistent with a range of key strategic planning 
documentation including Sustainable Sydney 2030 and Region and District (see Section B 
for further detail). 
  
Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended 
outcomes, or is there a better way? 

In preparing this planning proposal, three options were considered to facilitate the intended 
outcomes in Part 1. These are listed and discussed below:  

• Option 1: Do nothing.  
• Option 2: Lodge a development application subject to a Clause 4.6 Variation to floor 

space ratio.  
• Option 3: Prepare a planning proposal to amend the maximum floor space ratio for 

the site under SLEP 2012.  
 
Option 1: Do nothing  
Option 1 involves the continued operation of the existing warehouse in its current form as a 
self-storage facility; or the use of the existing building for the proposed office use, resulting 
in the loss of the self-storage facility. It is considered that this option represents a lost 
opportunity to realise the site’s employment-generating potential, particularly given its 
accessible location and the surrounding built form, which gives some context for an 
increase in height, thereby enabling additional floor space.  
 
Option 2: Development application  
Option 2 involves the lodgement of a development application with Council subject to a 
Clause 4.6 variation to the maximum floor space ratio. As noted in the Introduction – 
Planning History section, two previous development applications relating to the provision of 
additional height and floor space have been submitted and subsequently refused. Should 
Option 2 be pursued for the current development concept, the proposed FSR would 
represent a 79% variation to the existing maximum FSR of 2:1 permissible under SLEP 
2012. Whilst much of this variation can be attributed to the existing warehouse building 
already exceeding the maximum permissible FSR by around 0.45:1, this development 
pathway has been unsuccessfully pursued in the past. It is therefore not considered to be 
an appropriate means for facilitating the intended outcome.  
 
Option 3: Planning proposal  
As a result, Option 3 is chosen as the most suitable pathway to achieve the desired building 
envelope for the site. The planning proposal seeks to allow the development of additional 
storeys consistent with the maximum LEP height limit on the adjoining site, increase the 
site’s maximum FSR commensurately, and deliver a design outcome that is in-keeping with 
the built form of the existing warehouse building and surrounding locality. Proposed site-
specific provisions will secure the additional floor space for employment uses and ensure 
sustainable outcomes on the site, both in terms of transport (with zero additional parking 
provision) and energy, supported by site specific DCP provisions.  
 
 
 

32



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 13 

Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework 
 
Q3. Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the 
applicable regional or sub-regional strategy (including the Sydney Metropolitan 
Strategy and the exhibited draft strategies)? 
 
Greater Sydney Region Plan: A Metropolis of Three Cities  
 
The Greater Sydney Region Plan is a NSW Government strategic document that outlines a 
40 year vision and 20 year plan for Greater Sydney. It identifies key challenges facing 
Sydney including a population increase of 3.3 million by 2056, 817,000 new jobs by 2036 
and a requirement for 725,000 new homes over the next 20 years. 
 
In responding to these and other challenges, the plan sets out four goals and ten directions: 
 

1. Infrastructure and collaboration – securing ‘a city supported by infrastructure’ and ‘a 
collaborative city’ 

2. Liveability – achieving ‘a city for people’, ‘housing the city’ and ‘a city of green 
places’ 

3. Productivity – creating ‘a well-connected city’ and ‘jobs and skills for the city’ 
4. Sustainability – delivering ‘a city in its landscape’, ‘an efficient city’ and ‘a resilient 

city’ 
 
To achieve these goals and directions, the plan proposes 40 objectives, with 15 associated 
actions. Objectives of particular relevance to this planning proposal include:  
 

• Objective 4: Infrastructure use is optimised;  
• Objective 13: Environmental heritage is identified, conserved and enhanced;  
• Objective 14: Integrated land use and transport creates walkable and 30-minute 

cities;  
• Objective 18: Harbour CBD is stronger and more competitive;  
• Objective 22: Investment and business activity in centres;  
• Objective 24: Economic sectors are targeted for success; and 
• Objective 33: A low-carbon city contributes to net-zero emissions by 2050 and 

mitigates climate change  
 
NSW Government District Plans – Eastern City District 
 
The NSW Government has prepared plans for each of the five districts that comprise the 
Greater Sydney area. The City of Sydney is in the Eastern City District. The District Plans 
set out how the Greater Sydney Region Plan will apply to local areas. They will influence the 
delivery of housing supply, inform and influence planning for business and jobs growth, 
particularly in strategic centres and inform the decision making for infrastructure planning. 
 
The Eastern City District Plan, completed in March 2018, identifies 22 planning priorities 
and associated actions that are important to achieving a liveable, productive and 
sustainable future for the district, including the alignment of infrastructure with growth.  
 
This planning proposal is consistent with the following planning priorities of the Eastern City 
District Plan: 
 

• Planning Priority E6: Creating and renewing great places and local centres, and 
respecting the District’s heritage; 

• Planning Priority E10: Delivering integrated land use and transport planning and a 
30-minute city; 

• Planning Priority E7: Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD; 

33



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 14 

• Planning Priority E11: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs in 
strategic centres; and  

• Planning Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water and 
waste efficiently. 

 
This planning proposal is consistent with the relevant objectives in the Region Plan and 
planning priorities in the District Plan. Specifically, it will support the growth of a stronger 
and more competitive harbour CBD through the provision of new and innovative office 
space which will foster investment and employment opportunities, especially for small 
business. The proposal supports strategic priorities to create a more productive, liveable 
and sustainable city in a CBD-fringe location, which is close to homes and serviced by 
existing infrastructure. The resulting development is capable of achieving high quality 
design and good environmental performance. 
 
 
Q4. Is the planning proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other local 
strategic plan? 
 
The City’s Sustainable Sydney 2030 Strategic Plan is the vision for the sustainable 
development of the City to 2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the 
future of the City, as well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This planning 
proposal is consistent with key directions of Sustainable Sydney 2030 as demonstrated in 
the following table. 
 

Consistency with Sustainable Sydney 2030 
Direction Comment 
Direction 1 – A globally 
competitive and innovative city 

The proposal will provide additional employment floor space on the fringe 
of Sydney. The co-working office space will facilitate jobs growth and 
promote collaboration and innovation, supporting small businesses and 
start-ups. 

Direction 2 – A leading 
environmental performer 

The draft DCP amendment which accompanies this planning proposal will 
support a more ecologically sustainable development on the site, with a 
target of meeting a 6 star NABERS energy rating and controls which will 
encourage solar PV and a green roof. This will contribute towards net-zero 
carbon, water sensitive urban design and urban ecology outcomes. 

Direction 3 – Integrated transport 
for a connected city 

The proposal will capitalise on its close proximity to existing heavy rail train 
stations and a significant number of bus routes connecting with the CBD 
and Bondi Junction. The proposal incorporates zero parking provision 
further limiting potential future trips by private vehicle and encouraging 
sustainable transport behaviour and a Green Travel Plan will be required 
in the accompanying site specific DCP. 

Direction 4 – A city for walking 
and cycling 

The site is located in an inner-city suburb, close to existing local centres 
including Kings cross, Edgecliff, Fiveways Paddington and Darlinghurst. It 
benefits from convenient public transport and a number of on-road and 
separated cycleways connecting with the CBD.  

Direction 9 – Sustainable 
development, renewal and design 

The proposed planning controls will achieve a building envelope in-keeping 
with its surroundings, cognisant of the heritage items and Conservation 
Area in close proximity to the site and its impact on adjoining residential 
buildings. Further, the proposal will support a future development that is 
expected to include a range of sustainable building features.  

 
 
 
 

34



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 15 

Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental Planning 
Policies (SEPPs)? 
 
The consistency of this planning proposal with current State Environmental Planning Policies 
(SEPPs) is outlined in the table below. SEPPs which have been repealed or were not finalised are 
not included in this table. 
 

Consistency with SEPPs 
State Environmental Planning 
Policy (SEPP) 

Comment 

SEPP No 1—Development 
Standards 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 4 – Development 
Without Consent and 
Miscellaneous Exempt and 
Complying Development 

Not applicable 

SEPP No 6 - Number of Storeys 
in a Building 

Consistent - This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP 10 - Retention of Low Cost 
Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 15 – Rural Landsharing 
Communities 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 19—Bushland in Urban 
Areas 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 21—Caravan Parks Not applicable. 
SEPP No 22 – Shops and 
Commercial Premises 

Consistent – This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 29 – Western Sydney 
Recreation Area 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 30—Intensive 
Agriculture 

Not applicable. 

SEPP 32 – Urban Consolidation 
(Redevelopment of Urban Land)  

Consistent – This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 33—Hazardous and 
Offensive Development 

Consistent - This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 36—Manufactured 
Home Estates 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 39 – Spit Island Bird 
Habitat 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 42 – Casino 
Entertainment Complex 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 44—Koala Habitat 
Protection 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 47—Moore Park 
Showground 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 50—Canal Estate 
Development 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 52—Farm Dams and 
Other Works in Land and Water 
Management Plan Areas 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 53 – Metropolitan 
Residential Development 

Not applicable.  

SEPP No 55—Remediation of 
Land 

Consistent - This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP 59 Central western Sydney 
Regional Open Space and 
Residential  

Not applicable.  

SEPP 60 Exempt and Complying 
Development 

Consistent – This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

35



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 16 

Consistency with SEPPs 
State Environmental Planning 
Policy (SEPP) 

Comment 

SEPP No 62—Sustainable 
Aquaculture 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 64—Advertising and 
Signage 

Consistent - This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 65—Design Quality of 
Residential Flat Development 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 70—Affordable Housing 
(Revised Schemes) 

Not applicable.  

SEPP (Building Sustainability 
Index: BASIX) 2004 

Consistent - The planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Housing for Seniors or 
People with a Disability) 2004 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Major Development) 2005 Not applicable. 
SEPP (Sydney Region Growth 
Centres) 
2006 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 Not applicable.  
SEPP (Kosciuszko National 
Park— 
Alpine Resorts) 2007 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Mining, Petroleum 
Production 
and Extractive Industries) 2007 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Temporary Structures) 
2007 

Consistent - The planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Exempt and Complying 
Development Codes) 2008 

Consistent - The planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008 Not applicable. 
SEPP (Western Sydney 
Parklands) 2009 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 
2009 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Western Sydney 
Employment Area) 2009 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Development on Kurnell 
Peninsula) 2005 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Coastal Management) 
2018 

Not applicable. 

 
The below table shows the consistency of this planning proposal with former Regional Environmental 
Plans (REPs) for the Sydney and Greater Metropolitan Regions, which are deemed to have the 
weight of SEPPs. 
 

Consistency with REPs 
Regional Environmental Plan 
(REPs) 

Comment 

Sydney REP No 5—(Chatswood 
Town Centre) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 8 (Central Coast 
Plateau Areas) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 9—Extractive 
Industry (No 2—1995) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 11—Penrith 
Lakes Scheme 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 13—Mulgoa 
Valley 

Not applicable. 

36



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 17 

Consistency with REPs 
Regional Environmental Plan 
(REPs) 

Comment 

Sydney REP No 16—Walsh Bay Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 17—Kurnell 
Peninsula (1989) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 18 – Public 
Transport 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 19 – Rouse Hill 
Development Area 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 20—
Hawkesbury- Nepean River (No 
2—1997) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 24—Homebush 
Bay Area 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 25—Orchard 
Hills 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 26—City West Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 28—Parramatta Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 29—Rhodes 
Peninsula 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 30—St Marys Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 33—Cooks Cove Not applicable. 
Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour 
Catchment) 2005 

Consistent - The planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this REP. 

Drinking Water Catchments REP 
No 1 

Not applicable. 

Greater Metropolitan REP No 2— 
Georges River Catchment 

Not applicable. 

 
Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions (s.117 
directions)? 
 
This planning proposal has been assessed against each Section 117 direction. Consistency 
with these directions is shown in the table below. 
 

No. Title Comment 
1. Employment and Resources 
1.1 Business and Industrial Zones Consistent. 

 
The planning proposal is consistent with this 
Direction as it will facilitate the provision of additional 
employment floor space, fostering new jobs and 
small business. 

1.2 Rural Zones Not applicable 
1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production and Extractive 

Industries 
Not applicable 

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture Not applicable 
1.5 Rural Lands Not applicable 
2. Environment and Heritage 
2.1 Environment Protection Zones Not applicable 
2.2 Coastal Protection Not applicable 
2.3 Heritage Conservation Consistent. 

 
This planning proposal will neither hinder protection 
or preservation of the heritage listed buildings in 
proximity of the site, nor will it negatively impact 
upon the adjacent Conservation Area. 

37



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 18 

No. Title Comment 
2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas Not applicable 
2.5 Application of E2 and E3 Zones and 

Environmental Overlays in Far North Coast 
LEPs 

Not applicable 

3. Housing Infrastructure and Urban Development 
3.1 Residential Zones Not applicable 
3.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured Home 

Estates 
Not applicable 

3.3 Home Occupations Not applicable 
3.4 Integrating Land Use and Transport Consistent. 

  
The proposal seeks to facilitate the intensification of 
employment generating uses in an accessible 
location. Furthermore, no parking is proposed in 
association with the additional floor space, resulting 
in minimal traffic generation as a result of the 
proposal. 
 
This planning proposal is consistent with the aims, 
objectives and principles of Improving Transport 
Choice – Guidelines for planning and development 
(DUAP 2001), and The Right Place for Business and 
Services – Planning Policy (DUAP 2001). 

3.5 Development Near Licensed Aerodromes Not applicable 
3.6 Shooting Ranges Not applicable 
4. Hazard and Risk 
4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils Consistent. 

 
This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of acid sulphate soils provisions in 
Sydney LEP 2012. 

4.2 Mine Subsidence and Unstable Land Not applicable 
4.3 Flood Prone Land Not applicable  
4.4 Planning for Bushfire Protection Not applicable 
5. Regional Planning 
5.1 Implementation of Regional Strategies Not applicable 
5.2 Sydney Drinking Water Catchments Not applicable 
5.3 Farmland of State and Regional Significance 

on the NSW Far North Coast 
Not applicable 

5.4 Commercial and Retail Development along 
the Pacific Highway, North Coast 

Not applicable 

5.8 Second Sydney Airport, Badgerys Creek Not applicable 
5.9 North West Rail Link Corridor Strategy Not applicable 
5.10 Implementation of Regional Plans Consistent. 

 
This planning proposal facilitates the implementation 
of several objectives and actions of the Eastern City 
District Plan. 

6. Local Plan Making 
6.1 Approval and Referral Requirements Consistent. 

 
This planning proposal does not include any 
concurrence, consultation or referral provisions nor 
does it identify any development as designated 
development. 

6.2 Reserving Land for Public Purposes Consistent. 
 
This planning proposal will not affect any land 
reserved for public purposes. 

38



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 19 

No. Title Comment 
6.3 Site Specific Provisions Consistent. 

 
This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
the application of this direction. 

7. Metropolitan Planning 
7.1 Implementation of the Greater Sydney 

Region Plan: A Metropolis of Three Cities 
Consistent. 
 
This planning proposal facilitates the implementation 
several objectives and actions of the Greater Sydney 
Region Plan. 

 
Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact 
 
Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or 
ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the 
proposal? 
 
The site is currently occupied by a building built to boundary and does not contain any 
known critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities or 
habitats. The proposal presents an opportunity to incorporate a green roof, offering a safe 
place for birds, insects and plants to grow, as well as providing a ‘stepping stone’ of habitat 
to link other green spaces.  
 
Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning 
proposal and how are they proposed to be managed? 
 
This planning proposal seeks to amend the height and FSR controls for the site under 
Sydney LEP 2012 and in doing so facilitate additional commercial floor space. In preparing 
this planning proposal, environmental considerations were assessed, as listed below.  
 
Built form, overshadowing and amenity  
 
The proposed building envelope follows the 4-storey height of the approved car dealership 
building at 65 Craigend Street, to the north of the site, transitioning down to 3-storeys to the 
south of the site at the interface of the adjacent residential terraces. Building setbacks 
maintain the existing 2-storey are in accordance with the existing 3 storey street frontage 
height control. above and Side and rear setbacks and graduations in height up to 4 storeys 
are to be assessed and set at the development application stage using existing Sydney 
DCP 2012 controls governing overshadowing and overlooking. This will ensure that the 
impact on all surrounding residential dwellings is adequately addressed. set in from the 
parapet of the existing building. A 6 metre side setback is to be provided between level 4 
and the residential properties to the south. 
  
A shadow analysis has been undertaken. This demonstrates that the proposed built form, 
through the provision of sufficient building setbacks, will not result in any additional 
overshadowing to the adjacent residential dwellings and private open space. The private 
open space at 61-63 McLachlan Avenue, to the south of the site, receives 2 hours of 
sunlight to approximately 77% of its surface between 9am and 3pm in mid-winter. The 
proposed built form creates minor additional overshadowing to the façade of 61-63 
McLachlan Avenue at 2:00pm mid-winter, but this is considered acceptable as windows to 
habitable rooms are not overshadowed It is noted that additional overshadowing occurs to 
the commercial building at 49-59 McLachlan Street. However, given the use of the building 
this is considered acceptable. 
 
Heritage 
 

39



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 20 

The site is directly opposite the Barcom Avenue Heritage Conservation Area (C11) which is 
predominantly characterised by 2-storeyed late Victorian and Federation terraces. 
 
All of the properties directly opposite the subject site are Contributory buildings within the 
heritage conservation area. The majority of properties directly opposite the subject site have 
their fronts to Womerah Avenue and rear yards to Barcom Avenue. A smaller number have 
their fronts to Barcom Avenue. These properties are predominantly three storeys in 
appearance. 
 
To the south of the site and outside of the heritage conservation area are two-storeyed 
Federation terraces (64-70 Barcom Avenue) and the scale and form of these reinforce the 
character of Barcom Avenue. 
 
The subject site belongs to a cluster of commercial sites at the north-eastern end of Barcom 
Avenue and which transition between the higher order New South Head Road and the 
lower, residential character of Barcom Avenue. 
 
The building envelope controls which are contained in the site specific DCP speak to the 3 
storey street wall height of the Heritage Conservation Area opposite and that of the 
commercial sites adjoining the subject site. Side setbacks provide an appropriate transition 
between the proposed built form and the Federation terraces. They also reflect the current 
street frontage height controls in Sydney DCP 2012. 
 
Although the 2-storeyed Federation terraces (64-70 Barcom Avenue) to the south of the 
subject site are outside of any heritage conservation area, their scale, height, form and front 
setback all reinforce the significant character of Barcom Avenue and provide a human-scale 
street enclosure and definition. It is important to provide an appropriate transition from the 
proposed development envelope to these 2-storeyed Federation terraces (64-70 Barcom 
Avenue) so that there is not an inappropriate scale jump between properties. 
 
The proposed envelopes and indicative concept design are respectful of the Contributory 
buildings opposite in the Barcom Avenue Heritage Conservation Area and of the 2-storeyed 
Federation terraces at 64-70 Barcom Avenue. The level 2 and 3 envelope setbacks will be 
secured via the accompanying DCP amendment to ensure the 2-storeyed street wall 
character is maintained and an appropriate side setback from the 2-storeyed Federation 
terraces at 64-70 Barcom Avenue is achieved. 
 
Traffic and transport 
 
No change is proposed to the current access and loading arrangements for the existing 
storage facility on the site. The site benefits from convenient access to public transport, 
including Kings Cross rail station within 800m and a number of bus services connecting the 
site to the CBD and Bondi Junction. As such, no parking is proposed. Barcom Avenue is an 
on-road cycle route which connects to the Bourke Street separated, off-road cycleway via 
Liverpool Street. This cycleway provides a safe cycle link with the CBD. The proposal can 
facilitate provision for bicycle parking and private end-of-trip facilities. 
 
An updated traffic and transport assessment demonstrates the demographic in the 
Darlinghurst area relies significantly less than other areas on private vehicles for their 
commute to work, favouring public and active transport especially bus, train and walking. 
Given the likely mode share and potential staff density associated with the proposal, the 
updated assessment anticipates only a minor increase in vehicle movements. 
 
Sustainable travel behaviours can also be promoted through a Green Travel Plan and a 
requirement for 13 bike parking spaces in connection with the office use which is in excess 
of standard requirements. 

40



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 21 

 
Overall, it is considered that the proposal will have a negligible impact on the safety and 
efficiency of the surrounding road network and parking availability in the area.  
 
Drainage/stormwater 
 
The site is currently occupied by a flat-roofed building which is built to boundary. There is no 
on-site stormwater detention tank. The incorporation of a green roof in association with the 
proposed development will provide an opportunity to reduce the majority of concentrated 
flows from the impermeable surfaces within the development site. This is to be secured via 
a provision in the accompanying DCP amendment. 
 
Ecologically sustainable development 
 
Whilst the proposed development will not result in adverse environmental impacts, it also 
provides the opportunity to generate positive environmental impacts. The NSW Climate 
Change Policy Framework sets a target of net zero emissions by 2050. This is supported by 
the Greater Sydney Region Plan and Eastern City District Plan.  
 
This planning proposal is supported by a proposed DCP amendment which will require a 6 
star base building NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement for the base building and 
commercial tenancy, to reduce local area emissions and help to achieve the City’s 
greenhouse gas emission reduction targets.  
 
The proponent has demonstrated the development concept is able to meet the NABERS 
Energy target. Amendments to the built form controls contained in the site-specific DCP 
following exhibition enable a flexible building envelope to better enable this outcome. 
 
In addition to this, the proposal has significant roof area which is north-west facing and 
unlikely to be significantly overshadowed by future building heights due to the low rise 
residential areas nearby. This means that there is significant potential for roof top solar, 
which would also be a cost-effective contributor to achieving a 6 star NABERS Energy 
target.  
 
Additional proposed DCP provisions will encourage a solar PV system, which could also 
incorporate some solar water heating for the building. The DCP will ensure that future 
design details, for example high parapet walls, and unnecessary roof clutter are avoided to 
maximise the renewables opportunity on the site. This will support the City’s Renewable 
Energy masterplan and target of 50% of electricity demand to be from renewable sources 
by 2030.  
 
Securing the NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement and operating the PV system can 
be complemented by the proposed DCP green roof requirement, which will increase the 
thermal performance of the building through increased roof insulation. 
 
Q9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic 
effects? 
Co-working office space, as proposed, can promote collaborative and innovative working 
environments, accommodating start-ups through to established business ventures. It assists 
small business and innovative industries gain low cost entry into the marketplace.  
 
30-62 Barcom Avenue sits on the Sydney CBD fringe, in close proximity to a pre-existing 
cluster of co-working spaces and with potential to bridge the gap between the Eastern 
Suburbs and Sydney CBD startup communities, continuing the growth of the entrepreneurial 
ecosystem of Sydney.  
 

41



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 22 

Darlinghurst itself presents a number of geographic, demographic and economic factors 
which support the desirability and suitability for location of co-working spaces.  
 
The proposed co-working office use is currently permissible under the existing B4 zoning of 
the site and is unlikely to give rise to negative impacts in the surrounding area, due to the 
proposed building design and restriction on additional parking. To ensure the economic 
benefits linked to the additional floor space are secured, a site-specific LEP provision will 
ensure that the additional GFA be exclusively used for employment related uses. 
 
Section D – State and Commonwealth interests 
 
Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 
 
The site is located in an established urban area and has access to a range of existing 
facilities and services, including utilities. The site is located in close proximity to a number of 
public transport services, including bus and rail. Approximately 150 metres from the site is a 
pedestrian bridge providing a connection to Kings Cross Station to the north. The closest 
bus stop is located at Arthur Reserve, within 200 metres, which is serviced by bus routes 
connecting the site to Sydney CBD. Several pedestrian and cycling links connect the site 
with the surrounding area and broader Sydney CBD. 
 
Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in 
accordance with the Gateway determination? 
 
The Gateway Determination will identify identified three the public authorities to be 
consulted as part of the planning proposal process: Office of Environment and Heritage 
(OEH); Transport for NSW (TfNSW); and Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) and any 
views expressed will be included their submissions have been considered in this planning 
proposal following consultation. 
 
Formal consultation has not yet been undertaken. 
 
Their comments were as follows: 
 
OEH: 
OEH noted the proposed building envelopes and indicative concept designs would not 
result in any additional overshadowing of the local heritage items or heritage conservation 
area and that a two-storeyed street wall character would be maintained adjacent to the 
heritage conservation area. As such, OEH considers this to be an acceptable heritage 
response. OEH also noted that as these items and conservation area are listed under the 
City's LEP, Council is the consent authority and consideration of any impacts rests with 
Council. 
 
TfNSW: 
TfNSW raised no objection to the planning proposal, noting that the integrity of TfNSW 
infrastructure and reservations is to be maintained.  
 
RMS: 
No response was received from RMS.   

42



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 23 

PART 4 - MAPPING 
 
This planning proposal does not seek to amend the Building Height and Floor Space Ratio 
Maps in Sydney LEP 2012 as it is intended that the site will be described by its legal title (ie. 
Lot and Deposited Plan) in the relevant LEP clause.  
 
  

43



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 24 

PART 5 – COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 
 
Public consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the Gateway 
Determination. 
 
It is proposed that, at a minimum, this will involve the notification of the public exhibition of 
the planning proposal: 
 

• on the City of Sydney website; 
 

• in the Sydney Morning Herald and/or a relevant local newspaper; and 
 

• in writing to the owners and occupiers of adjoining and nearby properties and 
relevant community groups. 

 
It is anticipated that the planning proposal will be publicly exhibited for a period of not less 
than 28 days in accordance with section 4.5 of ‘A guide to preparing local environmental 
plans’. 
 
It is proposed that exhibition material will be made available on the City of Sydney Website 
and at the City of Sydney customer service centres.  
 
Consultation with relevant NSW agencies and authorities and other relevant organisations 
will be undertaken in accordance with the Gateway Determination. 
 
Public consultation has been undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the 
Gateway Determination. 
 
The Gateway Determination required a minimum 28 day community consultation. The 
planning proposal and DCP amendment were placed on public exhibition from 17 
December 2020 to 27 January 2021. This was short of the mandatory community 
consultation period required over Christmas/New Year. As a result, the proposal was re-
exhibited from 3 September to 1 October 2021. The City sent letters to local residents and 
neighbouring business owners to notify them of the exhibition and it was also advertised via 
the City's Sydney Your Say webpage. During the original exhibition period, the consultation 
was also advertised in the Sydney Morning Herald. 
 
The Gateway Determination required the City to consult with various State agencies: the 
Office of Environment and Heritage (OEH); Transport for NSW (TfNSW); and Roads and 
Maritime Services (RMS). 
 
The City received 17 submissions from or on behalf of local residents in addition to 
responses from Transport for New South Wales and the Office of Environment and 
Heritage. Key issues raised by local residents relate to the scale of the proposal and likely 
impacts associated with overshadowing, loss of privacy, traffic and parking. The proponent 
has submitted further information and analysis to address these matters. Neither state 
agency raised concerns relating to the proposals.  

A submission was also received from the proponent which requested changes to the built 
form envelope controls in the draft DCP. The change would enable a development concept 
that can achieve the targeted 6 star NABERS Energy rating. The requested change relates 
to street wall height and upper level setbacks and, whilst similar in impact to the exhibited 
scheme, overshadowing analysis suggests that a neighbour at 64 Barcom Avenue would 
experience more overshadowing to their private rear open space associated with the 
scheme and that this property already likely receives less than 2 hours of solar access to 

44



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 25 

this space at midwinter. As a result, the accompanying DCP controls are amended following 
exhibition to allow a more flexible building envelope (within certain parameters) which 
addresses overshadowing and privacy at DA stage under existing Sydney DCP 2012 
controls. This change does not affect the overall height or FSR controls as expressed in the 
Planning Proposal and these remain unchanged following consultation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

45



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 October 2021 Page 26 

PART 6 – PROJECT TIMELINE 
 
The following project timeline will assist with tracking the progress of the planning proposal 
through its various stages of consultation and approval. It is estimated that this amendment 
to SLEP 2012 will be completed by April 2021.  
 

Stage Timeframe 

Submit planning proposal to Department of Planning and 
Environment seeking a Gateway Determination October 2018 

Receive Gateway Determination July 2019 

Request to review Gateway Determination submitted to 
Department of Planning and Environment September 2019 

Independent Planning Commission decision received May 2020 

Public exhibition and public authority consultation of planning 
proposal and DCP Amendment 

October 2020 December 
2020 to January 2021 and 
September to October 2021 

Review of submissions received during public exhibition and public 
authority consultation 

November to December 
2020 February 2021 to 
October 2021 

Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee approval of 
planning proposal and DCP Amendment February 2020 October 2021 

Drafting of instrument and finalisation of mapping February to March 2021 
October to November 2021 

Amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 legally 
drafted and made 

March to April 2021 
November to December 
2021 

 

46



October 2021 version 

Attachment B 

Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst, 

October 2021 
 

(Post exhibition changes marked in red) 
 

 

47



 

October 2021 version 

DRAFT SYDNEY DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PLAN – 30-62 
BARCOM AVENUE, DARLINGHURST 

 
1. The purpose of the Development Control Plan 

The purpose of this Development Control Plan (DCP) is to amend Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012, which was adopted by Council on 14 May 2012 and came into effect on 
14 December 2012. 

The provisions guide future development of land known as 30-62 Barcom Avenue, when 
development is subject to Clause 6.XX - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst of Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012). 

Clause 6.XX - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst of Sydney LEP 2012 allows additional 
floor space for uses other than residential, where no additional parking would be provided 
and where a 6 star Energy Commitment Agreement is secured. 

This DCP amendment does not apply to development on land to which Clause 6.XX does 
not apply. 

2. Citation 

This amendment may be referred to as Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 30-62 
Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst. 

3. Land covered by this plan 

This plan applies to the land identified as 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst – which is Lot 
B in DP 111138. 

4. Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

This plan amends the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in the manner set out in 
Schedule 1 below. 

 

Schedule 1 – Amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 
[1] Section 6.3 Specific site controls prepared as part of a Planning Proposal 

At the end of this section insert new Section 6.3.X and figures 6.XX and 6.XX as follows: 

 

Section 6.3.X 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst 

The following objectives and provisions apply to 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst where 
the provisions of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 Clause 6.XX 30-62 Barcom 
Avenue Darlinghurst are implemented. 

All other relevant provisions of this DCP apply. The provisions of this section shall prevail in 
the event of any inconsistency. 

 

48



 

October 2021 version 

Objectives 

(a) To ensure that the building is of appropriate bulk and scale in response to its context 
of adjoining low scale residential and the Barcom Avenue Conservation Area; and  

(b) To ensure that development exhibits a high level of environmental performance. 

 

Provisions 

6.3.x.x   Built Form 

(1) Development is not to exceed the maximum number of storeys shown in Figure 6.XX 
Height in Storeys the Height in storeys map. 

(2) Development is to provide third and fourth storey upper level setbacks to the building 
to deliver a building envelope in accordance with Figure 6.XX Building Setbacks. 
which responds to: 

(a) a predominant 3 storey street wall height to Barcom Avenue in accordance 
with the Building street frontage height map; and 

(b) minimum solar access requirements for neighbouring dwellings and their 
private open space as detailed in provisions 4.1.3.1(1) and (2) of this DCP. 
 

 

Figure 6.XX Height in Storeys 

 

 

Figure 6.XX Building Setbacks 

 

 

 

49



 

October 2021 version 

6.3.x.x   Sustainability 

(1) Development is to be accompanied by a 6 star base building NABERS Energy 
Commitment Agreement. 

(2) A PV system is encouraged on the roof of the building, which can also include some 
solar water heating for the building. 

(3) Building design is to consider how best to maximise the roof top solar potential and is 
to avoid high parapet walls, unnecessary roof clutter and the like. 

(4) A green roof, intensive or extensive, covering 30% of available roof space is 
encouraged, with available roof space being the total roof area minus areas for 
renewable energy, where the renewable energy system cannot be incorporated into 
and work appropriately with a green roof. 

 

6.3.x.x   Sustainable Travel 

(1) Bike parking spaces are to be provided in conjunction with the new office floor space 
permitted under Clause XX of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 as follows: 

a. 9 employee spaces; and 

b. 4 visitor spaces. 

(2) Development is to be accompanied by a Green Travel Plan promoting sustainable 
travel behaviours to and from the site. 

 

 

[2] Mapping 

Amend Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 local map sheets as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

50



 

October 2021 version 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

51



West
Avenue

Sim s
S treet

Mc
elh
on
e

S tr
ee
t

Cla
pto
n

Pla
ce

S h orter La ne

Burton
S treet

Ta ylor

S treet

Windeyer S t

Kel
lett

S treet

S h ort S treet

Wh ites
La ne

Lla
nk
ell
y

Pla
ce

Pring S t

Eli
za
be
th

Ba y
Roa d

Ch ish olm
S treet

Ma nning S treet

Cla re
S treet

Ea r
l

Pla
ceJu
dg
e

Pla
ce

Th
om
so
n

La
ne

Litt
le

We
st

S tre
et

Ma nsion La ne

Maiden Ln

Fa
uc
ett

La
ne

O'Briens La ne

Th om son Pl

Ma
cle
a y

S tr
ee
t

Hugh es S treet

Clem ent S treet

Butlers S ta irs

Cross La ne
S t Kilda La ne

Berwick La ne

Roslyn

S treet

Oxford
S treet

S utton Ln

Burton

S treet

Ba yswa terLn

Ca th edra l
S treet

Do
wli
ng

S tr
ee
t

Ca ldwell

S treet

We
st

S tr
ee
t

Bo
urk
e

S tr
ee
t

S turt

S treet

Ba
rod
a

S tr
ee
t

Ba y
swa
ter

Me
ws

Ba yswa ter

Roa d

Pa
lm
er

S tr
ee
t

Wa
rd

Av
enu
e

Vic
tori
a

S tr
ee
t

Cross
City

Tunnel
Wi
sd
om
La
ne

Lit
tle

S urrey S treet

Eg
a n

Pla
ce

Cra igend
S treet

Corfu
S treet

Bir
tley

Pl

Ro
seb
a n
k S
t

Leich h a rdt S t

Ne
ild

Av
en
ue

Pe
nny
s
La n
e

Vic
tor
ia

S tr
ee
t

Hu
gh
es

La
ne

La c
rozi
a

La n
e

Fa rrell

Avenue

S t Peters La ne

Montcla irLa ne

S utton Ln

Greenknowe
Avenue

Pa
lm
er

La
ne

For
bes

S tr
ee
t

Willia m
S treet

S urrey

S tre
et

Liverpool

S treet

Mcla ch la n

Wa y

Hills S ta irs

Ra e Pla ce

Wa ra ta h

S treet

IceS treet

Ju
dg
e

S tr
ee
t

Ro
sly
n

Ga
rde
ns

Ha rm er S treet

Kir
ket
on

Ro
a d

Hugh es S treet

S pringfieldMa ll

Ea rl S treet

Springfield
Avenue

Linden La ne

Th
om
so
n

S tr
ee
t

S im s

Street

Mcl
a ch
la n 

Ave
nue

Pa
lm
er

S tr
ee
t

Da
rle
y

S tr
ee
t

S urr
ey

La n
e

Clem ent Pl

Orwell S treet

Bou
nda
ry

S tr
ee
t

Eva ns
Roa d

Eastern
Distributor

Ho
uri
ga
n

La
ne

Eliza beth

Ba y

Roa d

Da
rlin
gh u
rst

Roa d

Ba rnett La ne

Bu
rra
h p
ore

Pla
ce

Kings

La ne

Rowena  Pl

Pa
lm
er

S tr
ee
t

Ro
se
bu
dL

a ne

Ba rnett

La ne

Bo
urk
e

S tr
ee
t

Na pier
S treet

Prem ier
La ne

Ha
yd
en

Pla
ce

Ba yswa ter Roa d
Fo
rbe
s

S tr
ee
t

Hugh es Pla ce

Onslow
Avenue

Da
rlin
gh u
rst

Ro
a d

Br
ou
gh
a m

S tr
ee
t

Cow

La ne

Ma idenLn

Tu
sc
ulu
m

S tr
ee
t

Bo
urk
e

S tr
ee
t

Junction

La ne

Tu
sc
ulu
m

La
ne

Br
ou
gh
a m

S tr
ee
t

Iona

La ne

Judge La ne

Wa
ra t
a h

S tr
ee
t

Crick Avenue

Vero
na
S tre
et

Am os

La ne

Bo
urk
e

S tr
ee
t

Bra
dle
y

La n
e

Wi
sd
om
Ln

Oswa ldLa ne

Wom
era h

Avenu
e

Flinders S treet

West

La ne

Junction S t

Da rleyPla ce

Or
we
ll

La
ne

Wom e
ra h

La ne

RoseTce

Do
wli
ng

S tr
ee
t

Willia m
La ne

Ha
yd
en
La
ne

Ba
rco
m

Ave
nue

Brough a m
La ne

Kellett Pl

Vic
tor
ia

S tr
ee
t

Roslyn La ne

Kings Cross Roa d

Cle
m e
nt
La
ne

S t Peters S treet

Ba
rnc
leu
th

La ne

Holdsworth
Avenue

Turner
La ne

EASTERN SUBURBS RAILWAY

Ch ish olm
S treet

Robinson S treet

Nim
rod

S tr
ee
t

Lind
sa y
 La n
e

Griffith s S t

Ca th edra l

S treet

Ba dh a m S treet

Ha
rdi
e

S tr
ee
t

Ta
lbo
t

Pla
ce

Ba rc
om A

venue

Goderich
La ne

Kellett Wa y

S pringfield La ne

Ith
a c
a

Ro
a d

S ydneyPl

Sh
ort

Pla
ce

Pa tterson Ln

Bo
ss
ley

Te
rra
ce

Ba rncleuth

S qua re

Ea
rl

S tr
ee
t

Woollahra Municipal Council

4

011

006 013 020

007 014 021

001 008 015 022

002 009 016 023

003 010 017 024

004 018

005 012 019

Heigh t in storeys m a p
S h eet 022

Copyrigh t ©2021  City of S ydney Council, All Righ ts Reserved
Copyrigh t ©2021  La nd a nd Property Inform a tion, All Righ ts
Reserved. Th is m a p h a s been com piled from  va rious sources
a nd th e publish er a nd/or contributors a ccept no responsibility
for a ny injury, loss or da m a ge a rising from  th e use, error or 
om issions th erein. Wh ile a ll ca re is ta ken to ensure a  h igh  
degree of a ccura cy, users a re invited to notify Council’s GIS  
Group of a ny m a p discrepa ncies.  No pa rt of th is m a p m a y be
reproduced with out written perm ission.

Projection: MGA Zone 56
Da tum : GDA94
Pa per S ize: A3
Prepa red By: S PUD
Printing Da te: S eptem ber 13, 2021
File: S DCP2012_BHS .m xd

Sydney
Development
Control Plan 2012

Ü 0 200m

S ca le: 1: 5,000 a t A3

Legend
4 S toreys
La nd excluded from  th is DCP

Po
st-

Exh
ibi

tio
n

52



 

October 2021 version 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

53



West
Avenue

Sims
S treet

Mc
elh
on
e

S tr
ee
t

Cla
pto
n

Pla
ce

S h orter La ne

Burton
S treet

Ta ylor

S treet

Windeyer S t

Kel
lett

S treet

S h ort S treet

Wh ites
La ne

Lla
nk
ell
y

Pla
ce

Pring S t

Eli
za
be
th

Ba y
Roa d

Ch ish olm
S treet

Ma nning S treet

Cla re
S treet

Ea r
l

Pla
ceJu
dg
e

Pla
ce

Th
om
so
n

La
ne

Litt
le

We
st

S tr
eet

Ma nsion La ne

MaidenLn

Fa
uc
ett

La
ne

O'Briens La ne

Th om son Pl

Ma
cle
a y

S tr
ee
t

Hugh es S treet

Clem ent S treet

Butlers S ta irs

Cross La ne
S t Kilda La ne

Berwick La ne

Roslyn

S treet

Oxford
S treet

S utton Ln

Burton

S treet

Ba yswa terLn

Ca th edra l
S treet

Do
wli
ng

S tr
ee
t

Ca ldwell

S treet

We
st

S tr
ee
t

Bo
urk
e

S tr
ee
t

S turt

S treet

Ba
rod
a

S tr
ee
t

Ba y
swa
ter

Me
ws

Ba yswa ter

Roa d

Pa
lm
er

S tr
ee
t

Wa
rd

Av
enu
e

Vic
tori
a

S tr
ee
t

Cross
City

Tunnel
W
isd
om
La
ne

Lit
tle

S urrey S treet

Eg
a n

Pla
ce

Cra igend
S treet

Corfu
S treet

Bir
tley

Pl

Ro
seb
a n
k S
t

Leich h a rdt S t

Ne
ild

Av
en
ue

Pe
nny
s
La n
e

Vic
tor
ia

S tr
ee
t

Hu
gh
es

La
ne

La c
rozi
a

La n
e

Fa rrell

Avenue

S t Peters La ne

Montcla irLa ne

S utton Ln

Greenknowe
Avenue

Pa
lm
er

La
ne

For
bes

S tr
ee
t

Willia m
S treet

S urrey

S tre
et

Liverpool

S treet

Mcla ch la n

Wa y

Hills S ta irs

Ra e Pla ce

Wa ra ta h

S treet

IceS treet

Ju
dg
e

S tr
ee
t

Ro
sly
n

Ga
rde
ns

Ha rm er S treet

Kir
ke
ton

Ro
a d

Hugh es S treet

S pringfieldMa ll

Ea rl S treet

Springfield
Avenue

Linden La ne

Th
om
so
n

S tr
ee
t

S im s

Street

Mcl
a ch
la n 

Ave
nue

Pa
lm
er

S tr
ee
t

Da
rle
y

S tr
ee
t

S urr
ey

La n
e

Clem ent Pl

Orwell S treet

Bou
nda
ry

S tr
ee
t

Eva ns
Roa d

Eastern
Distributor

Ho
uri
ga
n

La
ne

Eliza beth

Ba y

Roa d

Da
rlin
gh u
rst

Roa d

Ba rnett La ne

Bu
rra
h p
ore

Pla
ce

Kings

La ne

Rowena  Pl

Pa
lm
er

S tr
ee
t

Ro
se
bu
dL

a ne

Ba rnett

La ne

Bo
urk
e

S tr
ee
t

Na pier
S treet

Prem ier
La ne

Ha
yd
en

Pla
ce

Ba yswa ter Roa d
Fo
rbe
s

S tr
ee
t

Hugh es Pla ce

Onslow
Avenue

Da
rlin
gh u
rst

Ro
a d

Br
ou
gh
a m

S tr
ee
t

Cow

La ne

Ma iden Ln

Tu
sc
ulu
m

S tr
ee
t

Bo
urk
e

S tr
ee
t

Junction

La ne

Tu
sc
ulu
m

La
ne

Br
ou
gh
a m

S tr
ee
t

Iona

La ne

Judge La ne

Wa
ra t
a h

S tr
ee
t

Crick Avenue

Vero
na
S tre
et

Am os

La ne

Bo
urk
e

S tr
ee
t

Bra
dle
y

La n
e

Wi
sd
om
Ln

Oswa ldLa ne

Wom
era h

Avenu
e

Flinders S treet

West

La ne

Junction S t

Da rleyPla ce

Or
we
ll

La
ne

Wom e
ra h

La ne

RoseTce

Do
wli
ng

S tr
ee
t

Willia m
La ne

Ha
yd
en
La
ne

Ba
rco
m

Ave
nue

Brough a m
La ne

Kellett Pl

Vic
tor
ia

S tr
ee
t

Roslyn La ne

Kings Cross Roa d

Cle
me
nt
La
ne

S t Peters S treet

Ba
rnc
leu
th

La n
e

Holdsworth
Avenue

Turner
La ne

EASTERN SUBURBS RAILWAY

Ch ish olm
S treet

Robinson S treet

Nim
rod

S tr
ee
t

Lind
sa y
 La n
e

Griffith s S t

Ca th edra l

S treet

Ba dh a m S treet

Ha
rdi
e

S tr
ee
t

Ta
lbo
t

Pla
ce

Ba rc
om A

venue

Goderich
La ne

Kellett Wa y

S pringfield La ne

Ith
a c
a

Ro
a d

S ydneyPl

Sh
ort

Pla
ce

Pa tterson Ln

Bo
ss
ley

Te
rra
ce

Ba rncleuth

S qua re

Ea
rl

S tr
ee
t

Woollahra Municipal Council

Legend
3 S toreys
La nd excluded from  th is DCP

011

006 013 020

007 014 021

001 008 015 022

002 009 016 023

003 010 017 024

004 018

005 012 019

Building street fronta ge h eigh t
in storeys m a p
S h eet  022

Copyrigh t ©2021  City of S ydney Council, All Righ ts Reserved
Copyrigh t ©2021  La nd a nd Property Inform a tion, All Righ ts
Reserved. Th is m a p h a s been com piled from  va rious sources
a nd th e publish er a nd/or contributors a ccept no responsibility
for a ny injury, loss or da m a ge a rising from  th e use, error or 
om issions th erein. Wh ile a ll ca re is ta ken to ensure a  h igh  
degree of a ccura cy, users a re invited to notify Council’s GIS  
Group of a ny m a p discrepa ncies.  No pa rt of th is m a p m a y be
reproduced with out written perm ission.

Projection: MGA Zone 56
Da tum : GDA94
Pa per S ize: A3
Prepa red By: S PUD
Printing Da te: S eptem ber 13, 2021
File: S DCP2012_S FH.m xd

Sydney
Development
Control Plan 2012

Ü 0 200m

S ca le: 1: 5,000 a t A3

Po
st-

Exh
ibi

tio
n

54



Attachment C 

Resolution of Council of 17 September 2018 
and 

Resolution of Central Sydney Planning 
Committee of 13 September 2018 

55



17 September 2018

Item 9.5

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst - 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 Amendment

It is resolved that:

(A) Council approve Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst, shown at 
Attachment A to the subject report, for submission to the relevant local plan making 
authority with a request for a Gateway Determination;

(B) Council approve the Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst for public 
authority consultation and public exhibition in accordance with any conditions imposed 
under the Gateway Determination;

(C) Council seek authority from the relevant local plan making authority to exercise the 
delegation of all the functions under section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 to make the local environmental plan to put into effect the 
Planning Proposal: 30-36 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst;

(D) Council approve the Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom 
Avenue, Darlinghurst, shown at Attachment B to the subject report, for public authority 
consultation and public exhibition in parallel with the Planning Proposal;

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst, following receipt of the 
Gateway Determination; and

56



(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst, 
to correct any drafting errors and/or ensure it is consistent with the Planning Proposal 
following the Gateway Determination.

Carried unanimously.

X018299

57



 

 

13 September 2018 

Item 6 

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst - 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 Amendment 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom 
Avenue, Darlinghurst, shown at Attachment A to the subject report, for submission to 
the relevant local plan making authority with a request for a Gateway Determination; 

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning Proposal: 30-62 
Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst for public authority consultation and public exhibition in 
accordance with any conditions imposed under the Gateway Determination;  

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council seek 
authority to exercise the delegation of all the functions under section 3.36 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make the local environmental 
plan to put into effect the Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst; 

(D) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council 
approve the Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, 
Darlinghurst, shown at Attachment B to the subject report, for public authority 
consultation and public exhibition in parallel with the Planning Proposal;  

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst, following receipt of the 
Gateway Determination; and 

58



 

 

 

(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst to 
correct any drafting errors and/or ensure it is consistent with the Planning Proposal 
following the Gateway Determination.  

Carried unanimously. 

X018299 

59



Attachment D 

Gateway Determination 11 July 2019 

60



61



62



63



64



Attachment E 

Summary of Submissions and Responses 

65



Summary of Submissions: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst 

Community Consultation Summary 
The Planning Proposal and DCP amendment were placed on public exhibition from 17 
December 2020 to 27 January 2021.  The City sent letters to 37 local residents to notify 
them of the exhibition and it was also advertised via the City's Sydney Your Say webpage 
and in the Sydney Morning Herald. The same information was re-exhibited from 3 
September to 1 October 2021 to allow more time for submissions. 

The City received: 

• 12 individual written submissions  
• 3 submissions via Sydney Your Say 
• 1 submission on behalf of the owner’s corporation at 61-63 McLachlan Avenue 
• 1 submission was also made by Alex Greenwich (MP) on behalf of his constituents in 

the local area. 

The following table provides a summary of each issue raised and the City’s response. 

Summary of key matters raised in 
submission 

City of Sydney officer’s response 

Floor Space Ratio 
(raised in 5 submissions) 

The proposed FSR of 3.75:1 is excessive 
compared with the 2:1 maximum that 
applies to the surrounding area, particularly 
when the existing building already exceeds 
the permitted FSR. This would be out of 
context and could encourage more of a 
transition between the commercial end of 
the street to the residential. 

The proposed FSR reflects the built-to-
boundary nature of the existing storage 
building on the site. The accompanying 
height and building envelope controls 
ensure that the resulting building form is in-
keeping with this commercial end of 
Barcom Avenue. 
 
The transition in density between the 
commercial end of Barcom Avenue and the 
residential part is considered appropriate 
given the difference in character and built 
form associated with these two different 
land uses. 
 
The proposed additional FSR available on 
the site would be tied to specific, non-
residential uses rather than a more general 
increase in the mapped FSR permitted on 
the site. Non-residential uses use floor 
space more efficiently so result in a smaller 
building form than a residential 
development of the same FSR. 
 

Bulk and Scale 
(raised in 12 submissions) 

Regardless of upper level setbacks, the 
proposal will result in a large and bulky 
commercial building which will be too large 
for the street. The top additional floor 
seems excessive at 4.6m in height.  
 

The proposed built form is considered to be 
appropriate for a commercial building 
typology and 4.6m is not unreasonable for a 
typical commercial floor height. It is in 
keeping with the commercial uses adjoining 
the subject site. 
 

66



Summary of Submissions: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst 

Council has twice rejected proposals for an 
additional floor to the said premises, the 
justification seeming now to be that other 
bigger surrounding buildings have since 
been constructed. This proposal will then 
become a further precedent to increase 
height throughout the area.   
 
The existing 15m control allows for a 
stepping down from the BMW site to the 
terraces and respects the heritage items 
and conservation area opposite. The 
proposed 18m height is unacceptable as it 
will generate overshadowing, visual bulk 
and adverse streetscape and character 
impacts. 
 
There is a lack of clarity about how tall the 
building will actually be – the proponent’s 
planning proposal documentation shows a 
concept design with a building 18.26m tall, 
which is over the stated 18m height limit. 

These proposals were submitted as 
Development Applications, which were to 
be assessed against current controls. The 
current proposal is to change those 
planning controls. The proposal is justified 
by the built form of the adjoining 
commercial sites and by the current LEP 
and DCP controls on those sites which 
allow for 18m/5 storeys. It is considered that 
this Planning Proposal is in-keeping with 
this accepted scale. The proposal is 
unlikely to become a precedent for further 
increases in the rest of the street because 
of the difference in use between this 
commercial end of Barcom Avenue and the 
residential typology of the remainder. The 
proposed additional height available on the 
site would be tied to specific, non-
residential uses rather than a more general 
increase in the mapped height permitted on 
the site. 
 
Comments received from the Office of 
Environment and Heritage point out that the 
scale of the proposal is acceptable, noting 
that there would be no additional 
overshadowing of the nearby local heritage 
items or heritage conservation area. (The 
building to the immediate rear of the subject 
site is not a heritage listed building, as 
questioned in one submission.) 
 
The proposed 18m height controls would be 
specified in the LEP if amended. The 
diagrams presented by the proponent are 
only indicative designs. 
 

Overshadowing 
(raised in 13 submissions) 

The accuracy of the overshadowing 
diagrams is disputed. They do not present 
the true nature of the overshadowing to 
which residents will be subjected. 
 
The analysis provided by the proponent 
provides an analysis for winter but should 
also be for other times of the year. Impacts 
to all windows should be considered, not 
just habitable windows. The proponent’s 
planning report states that 2 hours of solar 
access is sufficient. This is an inadequate 
amount of sunlight. 
 
The proposal will create significant 
overshadowing to both habitable rooms and 

It is acknowledged that the overshadowing 
diagrams presented in the proponent’s 
planning proposal documentation are small 
and difficult to read. The proponents also 
only included hourly results in their report. It 
is standard practice to consider the 
overshadowing impact between 9am and 
3pm in 15 minute increments. As a result, 
the City requested the solar access 
modelling from the proponent to further 
investigate the issues raised by the 
community. The subsequent 3D modelling 
provided by the proponent was checked by 
the City’s modelling team to ensure 
accuracy of coordinates and alignments so 

67



Summary of Submissions: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst 

private open space to many, if not all, of the 
residences adjacent and opposite. Any 
properties that have windows facing the site 
will lose direct sun. 
 
Windows in the proposed upper floor will 
overlook private open space and balconies 
and could allow views into apartments and 
dwellings around the site. 

that there would be confidence in the 
overshadowing renders generated from it.  
 
Solar access is measured at mid-winter 
because this is when the sun is lowest in 
the sky and therefore represents a 'worst 
case scenario' for overshadowing. The two-
hour parameter is used within the Sydney 
Metropolitan Area as being a reasonable 
amount of winter sun given the density of 
development in an urban area. Considering 
the impact on “habitable” rooms 
differentiates between windows which serve 
lounge rooms compared with bathrooms for 
example, where access to sunlight is 
considered to be more important for the 
enjoyment of a property. 
 
The overshadowing analysis shows that the 
impact on solar access to any residential 
properties is limited to 64 Barcom Avenue 
and 61-63 McLachlan Avenue and can be 
managed with additional planning controls 
to provide setbacks. Overshadowing to the 
private open spaces belonging to these 
neighbouring dwellings can also be 
managed at Development Application stage 
under existing Sydney DCP 2012 controls 
along with an amendment to the planning 
proposal to require overshadowing to be 
addressed before awarding additional FSR. 
The shadow is not cast to the opposite side 
of Barcom Avenue or to Womerah Avenue. 
 
The impact on 64 Barcom Avenue and 61-
63 McLachlan Avenue is considered in 
detail in the body of the report. 

Loss of Privacy 
(raised in 4 submissions) 

Windows in the proposed upper floor will 
overlook private open space and balconies 
and could allow views into apartments and 
dwellings around the site. 

Given that the planning proposal is 
currently only an indicative development 
scheme within a proposed building 
envelope, this would be an issue that would 
be analysed and addressed at 
Development Application stage under 
existing planning controls that protect 
privacy. 

Traffic and Parking 
(raised in 15 submissions) 

The proposal will increase traffic and put 
additional pressure on parking in an already 
congested residential area, due in part to 
the existing storage facility. 
 

In response to submissions, the proponent 
has updated their traffic and transport 
study. The analysis demonstrates the 
expected dominant travel modes for those 
accessing the site are walking, train and 

68



Summary of Submissions: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst 

McLachlan Avenue already faces gridlock 
at peak time due to the use of the 
pedestrian lights at the western pedestrian 
crossing on New South Head Road. 
Additional traffic may also impact on 
pedestrian safety. 
 
There has been no analysis of the 
availability of street parking in Barcom 
Avenue and its surrounds. A lack of on-site 
parking will increase competition for parking 
spaces between residential and commercial 
uses. Parking has already been impacted 
by the new BMW showroom near the site. 
 
The development is not sufficiently close to 
public transport to justify no additional 
parking. The street is not accessible to 
people of all abilities and there is no cycle 
lane in the street. 

bus. Limited additional vehicle trips to and 
from the site are expected, with 
consequently limited impact on the road 
network and road and pedestrian safety. 
This is discussed in more detail in the body 
of the main report. 
 
The proposal for no additional on-site 
parking is in line with the City’s sustainable 
transport policy objectives and current 
LEP/DCP controls. On-site car parking at 
an origin and destination creates a 
significant incentive for car use. Conversely, 
restricting on-site car parking plays a major 
role in achieving alternative and sustainable 
(walking, cycling and public transport) 
transport goals. 
 
Barcom Avenue and its surrounds are 
signposted with time-restricted parking (with 
permit holders exempted). This is not 
compatible with the longer term parking 
usually required by office staff (unlike the 
shorter visits often associated with car 
showrooms).  
 
The site is considered to be in a highly 
accessible city-fringe location, within 
walking distance of many services and 
public transport routes. 

Strategic Justification/Impact of Covid 
(raised in 5 submissions) 

The justification for considering the 
proposal is not considered to be enough to 
justify such an increase, particularly as 
there does not appear to be a critical need 
for office space. Sydney CBD is 
experiencing high office vacancy rates due 
to the current pandemic. It is questioned 
whether this is an appropriate use in a 
residential street. 
 
The proposal lacks strategic merits given 
that one of the strategic justifications – the 
NABERS energy outcome – has been 
removed from the Planning Proposal. 

The City of Sydney Local Strategic 
Planning Statement identifies the need for 
more non-residential floor space, in diverse 
forms, to achieve our 2036 target for 
200,000 additional jobs.  
 
The long-term impacts of COVID-19 are not 
yet understood. While there will almost 
certainly be a change to the way some 
businesses and their employees work, it is 
considered that out of centre employment 
space will still be in demand over time.  
Those currently working from home may 
look for increasingly flexible, dedicated 
work space and facilities close to home to 
address some of the challenges of working 
in a home environment. 
 
Whilst the Gateway Determination required 
the proposed 6 star NABERS Energy 
Commitment Agreement to be removed 
from the Planning Proposal, this was in 
recognition that the requirement was 

69



Summary of Submissions: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst 

covered in the draft DCP amendment for 
the site. The proponents have also 
undertaken further analysis, with ARUP 
consultants, to interrogate and ultimately 
demonstrate the ability of the proposal to 
enable the site to meet this sustainable 
energy outcome. This addresses key 
strategic aims for the City and the region to 
reduce carbon emissions and manage 
energy more sustainably. 

 

70



Attachment F 

Overshadowing Analysis        
Prepared by the City of Sydney 

71



 

 

 

72



 

 

 

73



 

 

 

74



 

 

 

75



 

76



Attachment G 

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 
Prepared by Barker Ryan Stewart 

77



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Traffic and Parking Impact  

Assessment Report 
 

 

30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst 
 
 

August 2021 
 

78



 

 

© Copyright Barker Ryan Stewart Pty Ltd 

2021 All Rights Reserved 

 

Project No. SY180003 

Author AT 

Checked RD 

Approved RD 

 

Rev No. Status Date Comments 

1 Draft 12/02/2018  

2 Draft 9/03/2018 Client Amendments 

3 Final 18/04/2018 FSR & GFA Update 

4 Draft 7/06/2021 
Amended as per 

Council comments 

5 Draft 5/08/2021 
Amened as per Client 

Comments 

6 Final 5/08/2021  

 

 

COPYRIGHT 

Barker Ryan Stewart reserves all copyright of intellectual property in any or all of Barker Ryan Stewart’s documents.  No permission, 

licence or authority is granted by Barker Ryan Stewart to any person or organisation to use any of Barker Ryan Stewart’s documents 

for any purpose without the written consent of Barker Ryan Stewart. 

 

REPORT DISCLAIMER 

This report has been prepared for the client identified in section 1.0 only and cannot be relied on or used by any third party. Any 

representation, statement, opinion or advice, expressed or implied in this report is made in good faith but on the basis that Barker 

Ryan Stewart are not liable (whether by reason of negligence, lack of care or otherwise) to any person for any damage or loss 

whatsoever which has occurred or may occur in relation to that person taking or not taking (as the case may be) action in any 

respect of any representation, statement, or advice referred to above. 

 

79



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment

  

Page 3  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

1 Executive Summary ............................................................................................................. 5 

2 Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 7 

3 Existing Conditions ............................................................................................................... 8 
3.1 Site Location ............................................................................................................................. 8 
3.2 Existing Development .............................................................................................................. 9 
3.3 Existing Road Conditions ......................................................................................................... 9 
3.4 Existing Sustainable Travel Options ....................................................................................... 10 

3.4.1 Sustainable Transport Overview .................................................................................... 10 
3.4.2 Potential Travel Routes ................................................................................................... 10 
3.4.3 Impacts ............................................................................................................................ 10 

3.5 Pedestrians ............................................................................................................................. 10 
3.6 Cyclists .................................................................................................................................... 11 
3.7 Car Share ................................................................................................................................ 12 

4 Proposed Development ................................................................................................... 13 
4.1 Development Description ..................................................................................................... 13 
4.2 Access ..................................................................................................................................... 13 
4.3 Service Vehicles ..................................................................................................................... 13 

5 Car Parking Assessment .................................................................................................... 14 
5.1 Parking Provision and Requirements .................................................................................... 14 
5.2 Loading Requirements .......................................................................................................... 15 

6 Traffic Assessment ............................................................................................................. 16 

7 City of Sydney Transport Strategy - Connecting our City ............................................. 17 

8 City of Sydney Cycling Strategy and Action Plan ......................................................... 18 

9 Travel Model Share ........................................................................................................... 19 
9.1 Australian Bureau of Statistics – Darlinghurst Census Data ................................................. 19 

10 Sustainable Travel Initiatives ............................................................................................. 21 
10.1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 21 
10.2 Develop Green Travel Plan ................................................................................................... 21 
10.3 Potential Initiatives ................................................................................................................. 21 

10.3.1 Transport Access Guide ................................................................................................. 21 
10.3.2 Wayfinding and Public Transport Options ..................................................................... 22 
10.3.3 Opal Card Initiative ........................................................................................................ 23 
10.3.4 Car Pool System .............................................................................................................. 23 
10.3.5 Car Share Schemes ........................................................................................................ 23 
10.3.6 Walking and Cycling ...................................................................................................... 24 

11 Implementing and Monitoring ......................................................................................... 26 

12 Conclusion ......................................................................................................................... 27 

13 References ......................................................................................................................... 28 
 

Appendix A – Public Transport 

Appendix B – City of Sydney Cycling Map 
 

 

 

 

80



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment

  

Page 4  

List of Abbreviations, Figures and Tables 
 

Abbreviations 
 
DCP ................................................................................................................................. Development Control Plan 

AS/NZS2890.1 ................................................ Australian Standards, ‘AS/NZS 2890.1:2004 Off-Street Car Parking’ 

AS2890.2 ................................ Australian Standards, ‘AS 2890.2:2002 Off-Street Commercial Vehicle Facilities’ 

AS2890.3 ........................................................................... Australian Standards, ‘AS 2890.3:2015 Bicycle Parking’ 

AS/NZS2890.6 ......... Australian Standards, ‘AS/NZS 2890.6:2002 Off-Street Parking for People with Disabilities’ 

TfNSW ........................................................................................................................ Transport for New South Wales 

 

Figures 

 

Figure 1: Site Location (source: NSW Land & Property Information SIX Maps 2017) ........................................... 8 
Figure 2: Aerial Photo of Site (source: NSW Land & Property Information SIX Maps 2017) ................................ 9 
 

Tables 

 

Table 1: Car parking requirements and provision ................................................................................................ 14 
Table 2: Bicycle parking requirements and provision .......................................................................................... 15 
Table 3: Bicycle parking ancillary facilities ............................................................................................................ 15 
 

 

81



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment

  

Page 5  

1 Executive Summary 

This Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

City of Sydney DCP & LEP 2012, the TfNSW ‘Guide to Traffic Generating Developments’ to accompany a 

Planning Proposal to City of Sydney Council to provide a commercial office space above the existing self-

storage commercial facility. 

 

The site is currently developed and is occupied by an existing self-storage facility and has access via two 

driveways off Barcom Avenue, which services two loading bays. There is currently one on-site parking 

space used for loading and unloading. The proposal involves providing an additional two floors above the 

existing self-storage facility. These additional floors would be used as short-term office space. The proposal 

would add 1161m2 of floor area to the existing floor area of 2347m2. In accordance with City of Sydney 

DCP this requires additional 6 car parking spaces at stated in section 5.1. Furthermore, no change is 

proposed to the existing on-site and on-street loading facilities which will be sufficient to cater to both the 

requirements of the existing and proposed developments.  

 

In accordance with the objectives of the City of Sydney DCP and as described in Section 3.4 of this 

report the site is well serviced by public transport, as it is within 10 minutes’ walk (800m walking distance) 

of King’s Cross Station and is within 250m walking distance from bus stops on Bayswater Road and New 

South Head Road. The site’s location within the inner-city region means the proposed offices are likely to 

attract tenants whose businesses and employees are not heavily reliant upon personal vehicles. A similar 

development in North Sydney, known as Work Inc, has been successfully operating for over a year with 

no on-site parking, as the demographics attracted by short-term office spaces is not heavily reliant on 

motor vehicles. The concept behind Work Inc type development is to create a coworking space made 

for the people. Since the proposed development is similar in nature of this concept it is considered that 

no onsite parking spaces are required due to easy access to and from site to public transport.  

 

According to 2016 Darlinghurst census data only 17% of people from surrounding suburbs travelled to 

work in the Darlinghurst area by car compared to an average of 57.8% for NSW and 61.5% for Australia. A 

high proportion of people travelled to work via train (15%), compared to 7.5% on average for NSW and 

4.6% on average for Australia. Bus travel to work was also higher in Darlinghurst (11.4%) when compared 

with NSW (4.0%) and Australia 3.0%). A significantly higher proportion of respondents indicated that they 

walked to work (35.6%), compared to the NSW average of 3.9% and the Australian average of 3.5%. This 

seems to indicate that majority of people who travel to work to Darlinghurst live in the surrounding 

suburbs and are most likely to use Public transport and / or Active transport to commute.   

 

To promote sustainable travel, it is proposed that 13 bike spaces will be provided to meet the 

requirements of the new offices as set out in the Sydney DCP 2012. Nine (9) spaces provided for 

employee use and 4 spaces provided for visitor use in accordance with Clause 3.11.3(3) of the Sydney 

DPC 2012. The provision of easily accessible visitor bike parking also represents an opportunity for shared 

use of these spaces between customers of the self-storage facility and visitors to the proposed offices. In 

addition, to on-site bike parking spaces end of journey facilities will also be provided that included 13 

lockers, two showers and change cubicles. Section 5.1 outlines the proposed bicycle parking spaces and 

related facilities which comply with the DCP rates. 

 

Given this proposal is in a relatively early stage, no detailed design of the proposed on-site bicycle parking 

facilities is available. These facilities are to be designed in accordance with AS2890.3-2015 and Council 

DCP requirements. 

 

Several sustainable travel initiatives and/ or strategies would be incorporated into the design and 

management of the building to complement the existing transport options and provide a holistic strategy 

to positively influence occupant behaviour. This include development of green travel plan which will be 

prepared with the future development application to encourage sustainable and active modes of 

transfer. The overall site strategy would be based around two main ‘streams’, reducing car ownership 

82



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment

  

Page 6  

with public transport as primary mode for distance trips and pedestrian/cyclist provisions for shorter trips. 

These initiatives would monitor and reviewed regularly to reconsider and improve objectives or targets. 

 

The expected traffic generation is 18 vehicles per hour in AM peak (@1.6 trips / 100m²) and 14 vehicles 

per hour in PM peak (@1.2 trips/100m²). A minor increase in delivery vehicles and couriers attending the 

site is anticipated outside peak hours. The low traffic generation, delivery vehicles and couriers attending 

the site is unlikely to have any significant impact on the surrounding road network. 

 

Considering the proximity of the site to various public transport services, cycleways, the Traffic and 

Parking Impact Assessment concludes that the subject site is suitable for the proposed changes to the 

existing use of the site. The development is considered to have negligible impact on the safety and 

efficiency of the surrounding road network and parking availability in the area.  

 

83



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 7  

2 Introduction 

Barker Ryan Stewart has been engaged by Ethos Urban to prepare a Traffic and Parking Impact 

Assessment to accompany a Planning Proposal to provide a commercial office space above the existing 

commercial facility. This report is done in accordance with the requirements of the City of Sydney DCP 

2012 (DCP) and LEP 2012 and the Road and Maritime Service’s (RMS’s) ‘Guide to Traffic Generating 

Developments’. The proposal involves increasing the number of floors on-site from 2 to 4, resulting in an 

increased floor area in of 1,161m2, to accommodate a commercial office above the existing self-storage 

warehouse. 

 

The purpose of this report is to assess and address traffic, access, car parking and pedestrian impacts 

generated by the proposed development. This can be briefly outlined as follows: 

 

• The expected traffic generation to/from the proposed development. 

• The impact of the proposed development on the road network. 

• Vehicle parking provisions. 

• Vehicular requirements for delivery and waste collection. 

• Provision for pedestrians. 

• Availability of public transport. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

84



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 8  

3 Existing Conditions 

3.1 Site Location 

The site is located within a B4 Mixed-Use zone at 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst B/-/DP111138. For the 

purposes of the Sydney LEP 2012 Land Use Transport Integration Map, it falls within land under category 

‘B’. As Per the Public Transport Accessibility Level map, the subject land falls under category ‘F’.  

 

The site is located at the intersection of Womerah Lane and Barcom Avenue, with frontage to Barcom 

Avenue. It is bound by existing residential development to its South, an existing car dealership to the East 

and an approved car dealership to the north. 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Site Location (source: NSW Land & Property Information SIX Maps 2017) 

 

  

Location of 

Development 

85



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 9  

3.2 Existing Site  

The site is currently developed and is occupied by an existing self-storage facility. The site has an area of 

1001m2 and has two driveways accessing Barcom Avenue, which service two loading bays. There is 

currently one on-site parking space used for loading and unloading in addition to 20m on-street loading 

zone outside the frontage which is active between the hours of 8:30am – 5:30pm Monday – Friday and 

8:30am – 12:30pm Saturday. Operating hours of the self-storage facility are also 8:30am – 5:30pm 

Monday – Friday and 8:30am – 12:30pm Saturday. Vehicular access to the existing site is via two vehicular 

driveways on Barcom Avenue.  

 

 

Figure 2: Aerial Photo of Site (source: NSW Land & Property Information SIX Maps 2017) 

3.3 Existing Road Network 

Barcom Avenue  

 

Is a one-way, low-speed local road with ~7m width and on-street parking on both sides. Footpath has 

been provided on both sides of the street for pedestrians. A 40km/h speed limit has been set for the road 

and traffic is restricted to moving in a westerly direction only. As such vehicles seeking to access the site 

will need to enter Barcom Avenue via its intersections with New South Head Road or Womerah Avenue.  

 

With regards to access to the broader Sydney road network, access to and from the site is restricted by 

the one-way flow on Barcom Avenue. Therefore, most of the traffic exiting the site will utilise the 

intersection of Barcom Avenue and Liverpool Street. Drivers will then use Boundary Street / McLachlan 

Location of 

Development 

86



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 10  

Avenue to travel to the east and Liverpool Street westbound to travel to the North, West and South. Those 

travelling to the site will likely use the intersection of New South Head Road and Barcom Avenue for 

almost all circumstances except when travelling from a southwest direction. 

3.4 Existing Sustainable Travel Options  

3.4.1 Sustainable Transport Overview 

 

Train and Bus:  

 

The area is well serviced by public transport, with bus connections and King’s Cross train station located 

in close proximity to the site. King’s Cross station is 700m away (10 minutes’ walk) and provides frequent 

train services to the CBD and Sydney’s east and south on the T4 South Coast Line, with a frequency of ~15 

minutes during off-peak times and ~8 minutes during peak times.  

 

Similarly buses between the Sydney CBD and nearby bus stops on New South Head Road operate with a 

15-minute frequency during off-peak times and a 10-minute frequency during peak hours.  

3.4.2 Potential Travel Routes 

To/From West and South 

 

Commuters travelling to the site from Sydney’s west and south would be able to utilise various train lines 

such as the T1/T2/T3/T4 lines to travel to Central Station, changing to the T4 line (if necessary) and then 

travelling to King’s Cross before walking 10 minutes to the site.  

 

Alternatively, if commuters wish to minimise walking, they can alight from their trains at Town Hall Station 

before catching either the 324 or 325 buses, which would bring them within 200m of the site.  

 

The routes can be reversed to facilitate workers’ return trips. 

 

To/From East 

 

Commuters residing east of the site can utilise the T4 line from Bondi Junction to reach King’s Cross Station 

or can catch buses to Central before making their way to the site.  

3.4.3 Impacts 

The proposed offices would result in a relatively minor increase in pedestrian traffic and public transport 

usage in the local area. 

 

Overall, the existing site has excellent access to pedestrian and cycling infrastructure and public 

transport, which can accommodate the requirements of the proposed development.  

 

The site is also located within the established Sydney cycle network, close to several shared paths. See 

Appendix B for more information. Pedestrian infrastructure in the area is also consistent with the high 

standard generally provided throughout the Sydney CBD.  

3.5 Pedestrians 

The site is well located to capitalise on existing pedestrian infrastructure within the surrounding road 

network. 

 

Most movements from the site are expected to be foot traffic. The estimated walking distance from the 

corner of Eveleigh Street and Caroline Street to main destinations are outlined below: 

 

87



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 11  

• Less than 800m to Kings Cross Railway Station (10 min Walk). 

• Less than 250m to number of bus stops. 

• Less than 200m to cafes etc 

 

These walking routes are expected to be well trafficked by pedestrians that will maintain a level of 

passive security for residents, staff, and visitors to the site.  

 

 

Figure 3: Existing walking route to the Site (source: Google Maps) 

3.6 Cyclists 

As shown in below in Figure 4 below the site is located on Barcom Avenue on what is classified as a ‘low 

traffic, on-road, quiet route’ by cycling map (Published by City of Sydney).  The Barcom Avenue route 

connects to Liverpool Street which provides access to the Bourke Street ‘separated off-road cycleway’ 

which provides a safe dedicated link to both the north and south of Sydney’s CBD. This major cycleway 

also provides off-road share paths to the east via Moore Park and west via low traffic on-road routes. 

These links to the west also provide access to train stations in Sydney’s CBD. Therefore, the cycle network 

provides safe access to the site for experienced riders, riders who live locally and novice riders who can 

initially travel to the city CBD via public transit. 

 

88



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 12  

 

Figure 3: Barcom Avenue Cycling Classification 

3.7 Car Share 

Currently, there are available car share pods (GoGet) at number of locations in close proximity of the 

Site. Notwithstanding, there is potential for additional car share spaces by GoGet and/or other service 

providers to be provided within the locality in the future, following further development of the area. 

 

 

Figure 4: GoGet Car Share Pods (source: goget.com.au) 

Site 

89



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 13  

4 Proposed Development 

4.1 Development Description 

The proposal involves providing an additional two floors above the existing self-storage facility. This will 

result in an increase in gross internal area from 2,374m2 to 3,535m2 and a corresponding approximate 

increase in FSR from 2.39:1 to 3.56:1. These additional floors will be used as short-term office space. A 

similar proposal (Work Inc) that has been successfully operating over a year in North Sydney. 

 

No additional on-site parking spaces are proposed however, one on-street shared car parking space will 

be available adjacent the site and on-site bicycle parking will be provided.  

4.2 Access 

Two existing vehicular accesses to the site will continue to be used for their current function servicing the 

self-storage facility. Bicycle and pedestrian access to the site will be facilitated by a separate entrance 

on Barcom Avenue.  

4.3 Service Vehicles 

Waste collection will take place on-street as will the loading and unloading of vehicles associated with 

the office building. 

 

 

90



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 14  

5 Car Parking Assessment 

5.1 Parking Provision and Requirements  

The proposed car parking and bicycle parking provisions have been assessed against the City of Sydney 

LEP 2012 parking rates contained in Clause 7.6 for Office and Business Premises in a B4 zone. For the 

purposes of the Sydney LEP 2012 Land Use Transport Integration Map, it falls within land under category 

‘B’. Per the Public Transport Accessibility Level map, the land is category ‘F’. A summary of these 

requirements and the proposed parking provisions are included in tables 2 & 3 below: 

Table 1: Car parking requirements and provision 

Existing Land Use City of Sydney DCP  Existing Parking Provision 

Office and Business Premises  

• A = 992.5m2 Site Area 

• G = 2,374m2 Floor Area 

• T = 2,374m2 Floor Area 

of all buildings on site 

 

(Note that since the FSR will 

exceed 1.5:1, the rate in 

Clause 7.6(e) is adopted) 

 

Maximum Rates 

 

 
 

Maximum rates (M) = (2374 x 

992.5) / (50 x 2374)  

 

= 19.85 (20) spaces 

 

 

0 on-site parking spaces 

(compliant) 

 

 

Proposed Land Use City of Sydney DCP  Proposed Parking Provision 

Additional Office and Business 

Premises (3rd and 4th floors) 

• A = 992.5m2 Site Area 

• G = 1,161m2 Floor Area 

• T = 3535m2 Floor Area of 

all buildings on site 

 

(Note that since the FSR will 

exceed 1.5:1, the rate in 

Clause 7.6(e) is adopted) 

 

Maximum Rates 

 

 
 

Maximum rates (M) = (1161 x 

992.5) / (50 x 3535)  

 

= 6.5 (6) spaces 

 

 

0 on-site parking spaces 

(compliant) 

 

1 on-street Go-get car share 

space 

 

The proposal to provide no additional parking spaces is consistent with the objectives of the City of 

Sydney DCP Division 7 (b) “to minimise the amount of vehicular traffic generated because of proposed 

development”. As described in Section 3.4 of this report the site is well serviced by public transport, as it is 

within 10 minutes’ walk (700m walking distance) of King’s Cross Station and is within 250m walking 

distance from bus stops on Bayswater Road and New South Head Road. This and the site’s location within 

the inner-city region mean the proposed offices are likely to attract tenants whose businesses and 

employees are not heavily reliant upon personal vehicles. A similar development in North Sydney (Work 

Inc), has been successfully operating for over a year with no on-site parking, as the demographics 

attracted by short-term office spaces is not heavily reliant on motor vehicles. Provision of a go-get car 

share pod on Barcom Avenue is also proposed, providing a more sustainable alternative to private 

vehicle use for tenants of the proposed development and the local neighbourhood. Bicycle parking 

facilities will be provided on-site as outlined in the section below will provide another alternative means of 

transportation.  

 

For these reasons, the proposal is not anticipated to have a significant negative impact on parking in the 

local area. As the site is in close proximity of the major public transport facilities such as King’s Cross 

station and buses on Williams Street/New South Head Road as outlined in Section 3.4.  

91



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 15  

Table 2: Bicycle parking requirements and provision 

Existing Land Use City of Sydney DCP  Existing Parking Provision 

Self-Storage – (Bulky Goods)  

 

2,374m2 Floor Area 

 

 

Minimum Rates (Employee) 

 

= 1 space /600m2 GFA = 

2374/600 = 3.9 (4) spaces 

 

Minimum Rates (Customer) 

 

= 1 space /1000m2 GFA = 

2374/1000 = 2.4 (3) spaces 

 

0 on-site parking spaces 

 

 

 

Proposed Land Use City of Sydney DCP  Proposed Parking Provision 

Employment Hub - Additional 

Office and Business Premises 

(3rd and 4th floors) 

 

G = 1161m2 Floor Area 

 

 

Minimum Rates (Employee) 

 

= 1 space /150m2 GFA = 

1161/150 = 7.7 (8) spaces 

 

Minimum Rates (Customer) 

 

= 1 space /400m2 GFA = 

1161/400 = 2.9 (3) spaces 

 

13 on-site parking spaces 

(compliant) 

  

 

It is proposed that 13 bike spaces will be provided to meet the requirements of the new offices set out in 

the Sydney DCP 2012. The facilities that contain these bikes will function as Class B and Class C facilities as 

described in Table 3.3 of AS2890.3-2015, with 9 spaces provided as Class B for employee use and 4 

spaces provided as Class C for visitor use in accordance with Clause 3.11.3(3) of the Sydney DPC 2012. As 

the proposed offices are isolated from the existing self-storage facility, the proposal is unlikely to 

negatively impact the existing operation of the self-storage facility regarding bicycle parking. The 

provision of easily accessible visitor bike parking also represents an opportunity for shared use of these 

spaces between customers of the self-storage facility and visitors to the proposed offices. 

Table 3: Bicycle parking ancillary facilities 

Proposed Land Use City of Sydney DCP  Proposed Parking Provision 

Employment Hub - Additional 

Office and Business Premises 

(3rd and 4th floors) 

 

9 employee spaces 

 

4 customer spaces 

Minimum Rates  

 

1 bicycle locker per space x 13 

= 13 lockers 

 

2 shower and change cubicles 

for 11-20 bike spaces 

 

13 lockers  

 

2 shower and change cubicles 

(compliant) 

  

 

These bicycle spaces and facilities are to be designed in accordance with AS2890.3-2015 and Council 

DCP requirements. 

5.2 Loading Requirements  

The City of Sydney DCP 2012 does not contain specific loading rates for a commercial development, it is 

proposed that the site will continue to be serviced by the existing loading space on-site and the 20m on-

street loading zone. 

 

 

 

92



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 16  

6 Traffic Assessment 

The expected traffic generation is 18 veh/hr in AM peak (@1.6 trips / 100m2) and 14 veh/hr in PM peak 

(@1.2 trips/100m2). A minor increase in delivery vehicles and couriers attending the site is anticipated 

outside peak hours. The low traffic generation, delivery vehicles and couriers attending the site is unlikely 

to have any significant impact on the surrounding road network. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

93



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 17  

7 City of Sydney Transport Strategy - Connecting our City 

Connecting our City was prepared by City of Sydney in 2012 in a bid to review and implement more 

sustainable travel options to mitigate the impact of vehicle congestion on livelihoods and the 

environment. 

 

The strategy identified primary shifts needed to facilitate effective functioning of Sydney’s transport 

system: 

 

• Encouraged use of walking, cycling and public transport; 

• Introduction of car share; 

• Use of community transport; and 

• Better traffic management. 

 

The study also provided key mode share statistics associated with transport trips to and within Central 

Sydney, see Figure 6 below. Noting that the subject site is located outside of Central Sydney, statistics 

indicate that around 400,000 weekday trips are made to Central Sydney by residents of the Sydney 

region. 60% of these trips are associated with public transport via train, bus, or ferry, 13,000 by taxi, 111,000 

by car and 39,000 via walking or cycling. 

 

These statistics indicate that residents of Sydney already utilise alternative modes of transport far greater 

than NSW average and provision of additional cycleways identified in the City of Sydney Cycling 

Strategy and Action Plan (refer to section 2.6 for further information), will generate more opportunities for 

future residents of the site to access the City Centre via bicycle. 

 

 

Figure 5: Extract from City of Sydney Transport Strategy (Transport Data Centre 2010b) 

94



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 18  

8 City of Sydney Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 

The City of Sydney Cycling Strategy and Action Plan provides a dedicated plan that will achieve 200km 

of cycleways, of which 55km will be separated from other traffic.  

 

An extract of the proposed Sydney Bike network is provided in Figure 6 with the site identified by a red 

star. It is evident that the site is well located to capitalise on completed and planned bike networks that 

will provide direct access to number of commercial and industrial employment hubs in the City of Sydney 

LGA. 

 

Of note, the site will have access to planned cycleway on William Street north of the site. This route will 

connect residents to Bays & Rozelle to the west, the University of Sydney, Leichhardt and Stanmore to the 

south, Edgecliff, Bondi, UNSW, Moore Park and Centennial Park to the east and Barangaroo, The Rocks to 

the north east where direct access to the City is provided via completed cycleway infrastructure. 

 

 

Figure 6: Extract from City of Sydney Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 

95



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 19  

9 Travel Model Share 

9.1 Australian Bureau of Statistics – Darlinghurst Census Data 

Existing travel patterns of the employees within the surrounding locality were surveyed as part of the 

2016 Census and presented in the Journey to Work (JTW) data sourced from the Australian Bureau of 

Statistics. The following extract (Figure 8 & 9) is provided from the Australian Bureau of Statistics for 

Darlinghurst which outlines the various travel to work methods as indicated by respondents in the 2016 

census data. 

 

According to 2016 Darlinghurst census data only 17% of people from surrounding suburbs travelled to 

work in the area by car compared to an average of 57.8% for NSW and 61.5% for Australia. A high 

proportion of people travelled to work via train (15%), compared to 7.5% on average for NSW and 4.6% 

on average for Australia. Bus travel to work was also higher in Darlinghurst (11.4%) when compared with 

NSW (4.0%) and Australia 3.0%). 

 

A significantly higher proportion of respondents indicated that they walked to work (35.6%), compared to 

the NSW average of 3.9% and the Australian average of 3.5%.       

 

 

Figure 7: persons commuting to Darlinghurst from surrounding area 

96



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 20  

 

Figure 8: Australian Bureau of Statistics – Darlinghurst Census Data  

 

Of the employed people in Darlinghurst (Statistical Area Level 2), 5.2% worked in Cafes and Restaurants. 

Other major industries of employment included Legal Services 4.2%, Banking 3.8%, Hospitals (except 

Psychiatric Hospitals) 3.2% and Computer System Design and Related Services 3.2%. This seems to 

indicate that majority of people who travel to work to Darlinghurst live in the surrounding suburbs and are 

most likely to use Public transport and / or Active transport to commute.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

97



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 21  

10 Sustainable Travel Initiatives  

10.1 Introduction 

Number of sustainable travel initiatives would be incorporated into the design and management of the 

building to complement the existing transport options and to provide a holistic strategy to positively 

influence occupant behaviour. 

 

The overall site strategy would be based around two main ‘streams’, reducing car ownership with public 

transport as primary mode for distance trips and pedestrian/cyclist provisions for shorter trips.  

10.2 Develop Green Travel Plan 

Green Travel Plan will be prepared with the submission of the Future development application for the site. 

The purpose of the Green Travel Plan is to encourage the occupants of the proposed building, through 

sustainable transport use initiatives, to make greater use of public transport, cycling walking and car 

sharing for commuting and work-related journeys. This can be briefly outlined as follows: 

 

• Preparation of a Transport Access Guide by the Building Managers. 

• Promotion and incentives to use public transport options to access the site. 

• Promotion of carpool system for commercial users of the building. 

• Use taxis and public transport work related trips for retail users of the building. 

• Encourage walking and cycling. 

• Implementing and monitoring of the plan  

10.3 Potential Initiatives  

Following are the potential Initiatives that could be considered and included in the Green Travel Plan 

(GTP) 

10.3.1 Transport Access Guide 

As part of the implementation of the proposed sustainable travel measures, a Transport Access Guide 

would be developed using Green Travel Plan as a basis. The Transport Access Guide would be a short 

brochure approximately two pages long to provide information and recommendations on sustainable 

travel options to and from the development site. The Transport Access Guide would be readily available 

and structured in a manner that provides concise, relevant, and easily understood information for the 

targeted readers.  

 

The purpose of the Transport Access Guide differs from that of the Green Travel Plan. The Green Travel 

Plan will be developed to demonstrate the sustainable transport initiatives being adopted in the 

proposal, whereas the Transport Access Guide is targeted directly at the building occupants and 

provides easy to understand information for the public. 

 

The workplaces would look to review any relevant company policies to understand what incentives they 

can create. Building management would ensure that there are no future building regulations which 

impact on mode choice. For example, rules not allowing bicycles in lifts or storage of bicycles in common 

areas. Certain actions may unintentionally affect travel behaviour, such as poorly located or 

inadequately secured bicycle parking.  

 

Topics to be covered in the Transport Access Guide may include; 

• Access to public transport infrastructure, including  

o Directions 

98



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 22  

o Walking distances and times 

• Services provided by local public transport, covering 

o Availability train and bus services 

o Routes covered by local services, including connections to other services 

• Ticketing information for public transport, including: 

o Prices and coverage of zones 

o Locations of Opal Card top-up stations / machines 

o Overview of a potential free Opal card incentive scheme for the staff  

• Location of local facilities and amenities within walking distance and cycling distance 

• Overview of cyclist provisions (bicycle storage etc.) 

• Details of car-pooling benefits and strategy as well as eligibility / value for fuel voucher and 

rewards scheme. 

• Detail recommended company policies that should be implemented for the commercial use of 

the site. 

• Detail recommended building regulations for the commercial use of the site. 

10.3.2 Wayfinding and Public Transport Options 

Transport for NSW is providing a new integrated approach to wayfinding and signage for the NSW 

transport network. The key benefits are to provide consistent, easy to follow messages and to make the 

using public transport easier for users particularly those travelling on unfamiliar routes and across different 

types of transport modes.    

 

The wayfinding approach includes new consistent signage, electronic notice boards, timetables, real 

time smart apps and via Transport for NSW website and through social media.  

 

The Sydney public transport ticketing system has transitioned to the Opal card. Since the start of 2016 

paper tickets have been phased out. The Opal carding system has advantages such as the provision of 

off-peak discounts, and daily and weekly caps. This encourages the use of public transport for the likely 

demographic that will reside, use, or work in the precinct once constructed. Figure 9 below shows the 

opportunity to purchase opal cards at facilities in close proximity to the subject site.  

 

 
Figure 9 : Opal Card Retailers 

99



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 23  

Relevant addresses of five (5) Opal retailers that are located within 500m of the site are provided below: 

 

• Green Park News Agency – 267 Victoria St, Darlinghurst 2010 (198 metres away) 

• Chris’s Corner Shop – 124 Lawson Street, Paddington 2021 (397 metres away) 

• Fire Station News – 179 Darlinghurst Rd, Darlinghurst 2010 (407m away) 

• AGL Food Store – shop 1, 17 Bayswater Road, Potts Point 2011 (449m away) 

• Kings Cross Station – Entrance on Vitoria Street, Potts Point 2011 (500 metres away) 

10.3.3 Opal Card Initiative 

The site is located near public transport, walking distance to Kings Cross Station and in close proximity to 

local and main bus routes. As such building design management teams would focus on encouraging 

staff to avoid car use and adopt public transport as their primary mode. 

 

To promote this behaviour, a commitment could be made by future businesses located in the 

commercial/retail component of the building to provide vouchers for their staff to top up the Opal card 

for the first 12 months of work. 

 

By providing a voucher that staff use to personally top-up their cards (rather than automatically topping 

them up), the staff receive regular reminders of the available service and are personally engaged in the 

process. 

 

This initiative aims to establish public transport as a viable option from the beginning for new staff, which 

discourages the adoption of personal vehicle usage from the outset. It is then anticipated that after the 

12-month period of establishment, staff will continue to use public transport based on their knowledge of 

the system and travel habits that were developed during the first 12 months of occupancy/ employment.  

10.3.4 Carpool System 

Each business that is contracted to a commercial tenancy/ownership has an opportunity to encourage 

and implement a car-pooling strategy within its staff into its management operations. The main 

opportunities are: 

 

• A committed and stable workforce for the businesses. 

• The majority of staff will work the same or similar shifts. 

• Staff are likely to be drawn from nearby or similar residential areas or along travel paths to the site. 

 

Therefore, the car-pooling initiative will involve the Management team of each business to consider 

undertaking the following: 

 

• Encouragement for car-pooling by providing fuel vouchers to an agreed value to the drivers to 

help cover any additional travel costs associated with the car-pooling or bonus incentives in the 

form of discounting parking passes. 

• Provide a reward scheme (monthly prizes) for those involved in the car-pooling scheme. 

10.3.5 Car Share Schemes 

Car sharing schemes provide a convenient, affordable, and sustainable transport option for residents 

and businesses. It enables sustainable travel habits, keeps people connected and provides an efficient 

use of parking space –a single car share vehicle can replace any number of private vehicles that would 

otherwise compete for local parking. 

 

GoGet and Car Next Door currently operate approximately 900 vehicles throughout the city region for 

use by members. As outlined in Section 3.7 above there are number of shared vehicles available within 

easy walking distance of the subject site. 

 

100



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 24  

The concept of car share schemes is conducive to commercial, retail, and residential developments 

located in the vicinity of a CBD. The membership and car hire rates preclude the need to maintain and 

register a vehicle. Petrol is also included in the car hire, thus the only financial considerations that car 

share customers need to be mindful of, is the membership and car hire rate. 

 

GoGet’s membership rates are tailored for specific users. Considering the location of the development, 

this is likely to be an attractive travel option for the times when cycling or public transport are not viable 

options.  

10.3.6 Walking and Cycling 

Site Pedestrian Access 

 

Extensive public pedestrian paths exist in Darlinghurst. The site is located in a well-developed locality that 

is undergoing further transition to support mixed use type developments. 

 

The site’s location has also been assessed using the “Walk Score” locational performance tool. This tool 

takes into account the number of facilities within close proximity and provides a numerical score 

between 0 and 100. A development with a score 0 would be heavily car dependant and 100 would 

indicate that numerous facilities are easily accessible.  

 

 
Figure 10 : Walk Score for the subject site 

 

The proposed development site achieved a rating of 96 out of 100, which is defined on the Walk Score 

website as a “Walker's Paradise -Daily errands do not require a car.” 

 

Bicycle Facilities 

 

To promote sustainable travel, it is proposed that 13 bike spaces will be provided to meet the 

requirements of the new offices as set out in the Sydney DCP 2012. The facilities that contain these bikes 

will function as Class B and Class C facilities as described in Table 3.3 of AS2890.3-2015, with 9 spaces 

101



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 25  

provided as Class B for employee use and 4 spaces provided as Class C for visitor use in accordance with 

Clause 3.11.3(3) of the Sydney DPC 2012. As the proposed offices are isolated from the existing self-

storage facility, the proposal is unlikely to negatively impact the existing operation of the self-storage 

facility regarding bicycle parking. The provision of easily accessible visitor bike parking also represents an 

opportunity for shared use of these spaces between customers of the self-storage facility and visitors to 

the proposed offices. In addition, to on-site bike parking spaces end of journey facilities will also be 

provided that included 13 lockers, two showers and change cubicles. 

 

Location of bicycle spaces will be designed to encourage sustainable travel with direct access to 

important cycle linkages and the city in the north.  

 

  

102



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 26  

11 Implementing and Monitoring  

Ongoing implementation, review of Sustainable Travel Initiatives and improvement is an important 

process. The support and commitment of the management teams of the businesses that will occupy the 

proposed building is essential. Potential implementation and monitoring measures can be included in the 

future Green Travel plan (GTP) for the site.  

 

It will be necessary to appoint a coordinator to oversee the process over time. This might be a single 

person who can act as Coordinator, or a committee of people who can work together to implement the 

sustainable travel initiatives. Attaching the responsibility of implementation to a particular person or 

position would be a necessary element of any sustainable travel initiatives and / or strategy.  

 

For workplaces, the staff member who is appointed as a Coordinator is to be someone who has a good 

overview of the activities of the organisation.  A suitable coordinator might be someone in HR, OH&S, 

sustainability, or facilities management. 

 

Following implementation measures can be considered to implement sustainable travel Initiatives: 

 

• New staff shall be provided with a ‘welcome pack’ as part of the on-site induction process, and 

other information in relation to sustainable transport choices. This pack will include general 

information regarding the health and social benefits of active transport. Advice on where to find 

further information should also be included, including links to City of Sydney’s Walking and 

Cycling directories. 

 

• In addition to these ‘welcome packs’, a Transport Access Guide (TAG) updated to reflect sub-

precinct details – shall be provided to all staff. A copy of the TAG should also be displayed 

prominently in staff areas, such as lunch rooms and foyer areas. The TAG shall be presented in a 

form that is reflective of the commitment to achieving positive transport objectives. 

 

Monitor and reviewing  

 

Monitoring and reviewing sustainable travel Initiatives is one of the most critical components of the travel 

planning process. It is crucial to understand whether and how the initiatives / strategies are having an 

impact on mode share. On-going monitoring would be conducted for a minimum of five years together 

with annual reviews.  

 

A building or organisation would aim to collect new data on an annual (or bi-annual) basis to understand 

how mode share has changed over time. This will help in understanding whether progress is being made. 

Surveys can also help to identify which actions are having an impact on people’s travel behaviour, and 

whether some are more effective than others. It might also help to identify ongoing or unresolved issues 

and barriers that are preventing greater improvement.  

 

Once the data has been updated, the targets and actions would be reviewed. A review may reveal the 

need to reconsider objectives or targets, or to add new actions to create greater incentives for the 

uptake of sustainable transport choices. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

103



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 27  

12 Conclusion 

The proposal involves providing an additional two floors above the existing self-storage facility. These 

additional floors would be used as short-term office space. The proposal would add 1161m² of floor area 

to the existing floor area of 2347m². In accordance with City of Sydney DCP this requires additional 6 car 

parking spaces at stated in section 5.1. Furthermore, no change is proposed to the existing on-site and on-

street loading facilities which will be sufficient to cater to both the requirements of the existing and 

proposed developments.  

 

The expected traffic generation is 18 vehicles per hour in AM peak (@1.6 trips / 100m²) and 14 vehicles 

per hour in PM peak (@1.2 trips/100m²). A minor increase in delivery vehicles and couriers attending the 

site is anticipated outside peak hours. The low traffic generation, delivery vehicles and couriers attending 

the site is unlikely to have any significant impact on the surrounding road network. 

 

The site is well serviced by public transport, as it is within 10 minutes’ walk (500m walking distance) of 

King’s Cross Station and is within 250m walking distance from bus stops on Bayswater Road and New 

South Head Road. The site’s location within the inner-city region means the proposed offices are likely to 

attract tenants whose businesses and employees are not heavily reliant upon personal vehicles. A similar 

development in North Sydney, known as Work Inc, has been successfully operating for over a year with 

no on-site parking, as the demographics attracted by short-term office spaces is not heavily reliant on 

motor vehicles. The concept behind Work Inc type development is to create a coworking space made 

for the people. Since the proposed development is similar in nature of this concept it is considered that 

no onsite parking spaces are required due to easy access to and from site to public transport.  

 

In Darlinghurst on the day of the Census, the most common methods of travel to work for employed 

people were walked only (35.6%), Car as driver (17%), Bus (11.4%) and worked at home (4.9%). On the 

day 30.2 % of employed people used public transport (train, bus, ferry, tram/light rail) as at least one of 

their methods of travel to work and 18% used car either as driver or as passenger. Darlinghurst census 

data seems to indicate that majority of people who travel to work to Darlinghurst live in the surrounding 

suburbs and are most likely to use Public transport and / or Active transport to commute.   

 

Number of sustainable travel initiatives and/ or strategies would be incorporated into the design and 

management of the building to complement the existing transport options and provide a holistic strategy 

to positively influence occupant behaviour. This include develop of green travel plan, transport access 

guide, Opal card initiative, Car pool system, car share scheme and walking and cycling. The overall site 

strategy would be based around two main ‘streams’, reducing car ownership with public transport as 

primary mode for distance trips and pedestrian/cyclist provisions for shorter trips. These initiatives would 

monitor and reviewed regularly to reconsider and improve objectives or targets. 

   

To promote sustainable travel, it is proposed that 13 bike spaces will be provided to meet the 

requirements of the new offices as set out in the Sydney DCP 2012. Nine (9) spaces provided for 

employee use and 4 spaces provided for visitor use in accordance with Clause 3.11.3(3) of the Sydney 

DPC 2012. The provision of easily accessible visitor bike parking also represents an opportunity for shared 

use of these spaces between customers of the self-storage facility and visitors to the proposed offices. In 

addition, to on-site bike parking spaces end of journey facilities will also be provided that included 13 

lockers, two showers and change cubicles. 

 

The Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment concludes that the subject site is suitable for the proposed 

changes to the existing use of the site in relation to the impact of traffic, vehicle access, parking, and 

safety considerations. The development is considered to have negligible effect on the safety and 

operating outcome of the surrounding transport network.  

 

 

104



30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst  Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment 

Page 28  

13 References 

 

City of Sydney Council’s DCP and LEP 2012. 

 

NSW Department of Planning, ‘SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007’. 

 

TfNSW, ‘Guide to Traffic Generating Developments’ Version 2.2 dated October 2002. 

 

 

 

 

105



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Appendix A 

 

Public Transport Information 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

106



 

  

 
107



 

  

 
108



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B 

 

City of Sydney Cycling Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

109



 

  

 
110



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal – Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 
Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland – Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 and Green Square Town Centre Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment 

File No: X026151 

Summary 

The Green Square Town Centre (Town Centre) will be the civic and economic heart of the 
Green Square Urban Renewal Area and the southern parts of the council area. The Town 
Centre will be a resilient, lively and unique urban place, with jobs, well-serviced residences, 
community facilities and open space. When complete, the Town Centre itself will be home to 
7,800 people and accommodate up to 6,700 workers. 

A number of milestone development projects have been completed in the Town Centre over 
the last 5 years, including substantial residential development such as the Ovo and Infinity 
buildings, as well as community spaces, including the Green Square Library and Plaza. 
Retail floor space has been delivered as part of some of these recent developments, 
however other planned employment floor space for additional retail, entertainment, 
recreation and commercial uses, have proven more difficult to develop in the recent market 
and are yet to be provided.  

Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd (the landowner) has lodged a request to change the planning 
controls for two sites at 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland (the sites) 
to increase flexibility, facilitate the development and attract tenants that will fulfil the vision for 
the Town Centre. 

The Botany Road site at 377 - 495 Botany Road, Zetland is the only site within the Town 
Centre that is intended for a purely commercial use. Up to one third of the Town Centre's 
employment will be achieved on this site, with a potential 2,049 jobs. Workers coming to and 
from the site and using the Town Centre's facilities and services will make an important 
contribution to the vibrancy, activity and character of the place. 

It is proposed to allow a larger floor plate at the lower levels of the Botany Road site to cater 
to the demand for larger, more flexible commercial space and assist in attracting tenants. It 
is proposed to enable this by amending the height of buildings map in the Town Centre LEP 
to enable a wide sky bridge which connects the site's two buildings between levels 2 and 
level 9 (8 levels in total).  

It is also proposed to accommodate additional uses on the Botany Road site that 
complement commercial uses and create an attractive precinct for tenants. This will be done 
by broadening the range of land uses which can utilise 'additional floor space' to include 
education facilities (such as a university or school), child care facilities, medical facilities and 
space for functions and conferences, in addition to commercial uses.  

  

1

Item 3.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

The Bourke Street site at 960A Bourke Street, Zetland is intended to be a mixed-use 
building, incorporating residential development as well as a range of population serving 
uses, including entertainment facilities. Entertainment and recreation uses in the lower levels 
of the building are intended to attract people to the Town Centre and activate the Green 
Square Plaza.  

The approved development application for the site relies on 'additional floor space' allocated 
for an entertainment facility and includes a cinema. However evolving preferences for 
entertainment and Covid-19 are affecting the cinema market and use of that floor space in 
the short to medium term.   

It is proposed to broaden the range of uses that can utilise 'additional floor space' on the 
Bourke Street site to enable other uses that can contribute to activity in the Town Centre. 
The other land uses proposed include information and education facilities (galleries), artisan 
food and drink and indoor recreation facilities, in addition to entertainment facilities. 
Together, these uses can respond to emerging entertainment and recreational trends and 
activate the Town Centre.  

The City has prepared the planning proposal, at Attachment A, and a draft development 
control plan (draft DCP), at Attachment B, to amend the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
(Green Square Town Centre) 2013 (Town Centre LEP) and the Green Square Town Centre 
Development Control Plan 2013 (Town Centre DCP), to facilitate these changes. 

No changes to current zoning or floor space ratios in the Town Centre LEP are proposed.  

The proposed changes support the Eastern City District Plan's actions to protect 
development capacity for jobs, remove barriers to cultural and creative uses and strengthen 
and reinforce the economic role of Green Square as urban renewal continues.  

This report recommends Council approve Planning Proposal - Green Square Town Centre: 
377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland and refer it to the Department of 
Planning, Industry and Environment with a request for a Gateway Determination. It also 
recommends Council approve the draft Development Control Plan - Green Square Town 
Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland, to be publicly exhibited 
with the planning proposal if a Gateway is issued.  

  

2



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council approve Planning Proposal - Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany 
Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland, shown at Attachment A to the subject report, 
for submission to the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment with a 
request for a Gateway Determination; 

(B) Council approve Planning Proposal - Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany 
Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland, shown at Attachment A to the subject report 
for public authority consultation and public exhibition in accordance with any conditions 
imposed under the Gateway Determination; 

(C) Council seek authority from the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment to 
exercise the delegation of all functions under the relevant local plan making authority 
under Section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make 
the local environmental plan and put into effect the Planning Proposal - Green Square 
Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland;  

(D) Council approve draft Development Control Plan - Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 
495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland, shown at Attachment B to the 
subject report, for public authority consultation and public exhibition together with the 
planning proposal; and 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal - Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A 
Bourke Street, Zetland and draft Development Control Plan - Green Square Town 
Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland, to correct any 
drafting errors or to ensure consistency with the Gateway Determination. 

 

  

3



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Planning Proposal Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road 
and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland   

Attachment A1 - Planning Proposal Request  

Attachment A2 - Economic Assessment  

Attachment A3 - Urban Design Report  

Attachment A4 - Environmental Wind Assessment  

Attachment A5 - Proponent's Draft DCP Amendment 

Attachment A6 - Supplementary Information, dated 27 August 2021 

Attachment A7 - Revised Building Envelope, dated 15 September 2021  

Attachment A8 - Revised Reference Design, dated 15 September 2021 

Attachment B. Draft Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan 2012 
Amendment - Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 
960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

  

4



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Background 

1. The Green Square Town Centre (Town Centre) is the civic and economic heart of the 
Green Square Urban Renewal Area and the southern parts of the local area. The 
vision for the Town Centre is for a resilient, lively and unique urban place, with jobs, 
well-serviced residences, community facilities and open space.  

2. The Town Centre is four kilometres south of Central Sydney and five kilometres north 
of Sydney Airport and is serviced by a train station on the Airport Line connecting 
directly to Central Sydney, Mascot and Sydney Airport. When complete, the Town 
Centre itself will be home to 7,800 people and accommodate up to 6,700 workers. 

3. Green Square-Mascot is identified in the District Plan as one of the key strategic 
centres for economic and business activity outside Central Sydney. The District Plan 
includes actions to protect development capacity for jobs, remove barriers to cultural 
and creative uses and strengthen the economic role of Green Square as urban 
renewal continues. 

4. A number of milestone development projects have been completed in the Town Centre 
over the last five years, including substantial residential development such as the Ovo 
and Infinity buildings, as well as community spaces, including the Green Square 
Library and Plaza.  

5. The Town Centre currently has approximately 1,489 established dwellings, and a 
further 1,552 approved, under construction or recently completed. Retail floor space 
has been delivered as part of some of these recent developments, however other 
planned employment floor space for additional retail, recreational and commercial 
uses, have proven more difficult to develop in the recent market environment and are 
yet to be provided.  

6. Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd (the landowner) has lodged a request to change the planning 
controls for 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland (the sites). These 
sites comprise over 48,000 square metres of employment floor space and are critical 
to the overall success of the Town Centre. 

7. The Botany Road site (377 - 495 Botany Road, Zetland) adjoins the Green Square 
Plaza and is the only site within the Town Centre that is intended for a purely 
commercial office use. Up to one third of the Town Centre's planned employment will 
be achieved on this site, with a potential 2,049 jobs.  

8. The Bourke Street site (960A Bourke Street, Zetland) fronts the Green Square Plaza 
and is intended to have a mixed-use building, incorporating residential development as 
well as a range of population serving uses, including entertainment facilities. The land 
uses in the lower levels of the building will activate the Green Square Plaza and make 
it a place for people to visit, be entertained, recreate and find the services they need.   

9. The purpose of the landowner request is to increase the flexibility of the current 

planning controls to facilitate development of planned employment and entertainment 

floor space in the Town Centre. The key elements of the request are to: 

(a) broaden the range of non-residential uses that can be provided on the sites, to 
allow for a broader range of activities; and  

5



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

(b) facilitate a wide sky bridge between the two commercial towers planned on the 
Botany Road site, allowing larger and more flexible floor plates to attract 
commercial tenants. 

10. Following assessment of the landowners request, the City has prepared Planning 
Proposal: Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke 
Street, Zetland (the planning proposal) and draft Development Control Plan 2012: 
Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 
(the draft DCP). These are shown at Attachment A and Attachment B respectively. 

11. The proposed controls are to amend the Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green 
Square Town Centre) 2013 (Town Centre LEP) and the Green Square Town Centre 
Development Control Plan 2013 (Town Centre DCP), as they apply to 377-495 Botany 
Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland. 

The landowner has made a formal request to change the planning controls on two 
sites in the Town Centre 

12. The planning proposal has been the subject of ongoing pre-lodgement discussions 
between City of Sydney and the landowner. On 7 July 2021 the landowner submitted a 
formal request to amend the planning controls (Attachment A1). The request was 
supported by:  

(a) an urban design report, provided at Attachment A3; 

(b) a site-specific development control plan amendment, provided at Attachment A5; 

(c) an economic assessment, provided at Attachment A2; and   

(d) a desktop wind impact review, provided at Attachment A4.  

13. The subject of the original request was the Botany Road site only. It sought to: 

(a) expand the range of uses that could be achieved on the site to allow for a wider 
range of uses and activities to support the future residential and working 
population; and 

(b) facilitate sky bridges at every level between the two commercial towers, 
unrestricted in height, to enable a larger floorplate across to meet current market 
demand in this area. 

14. The original request did not seek to change the planning controls that apply to the 
Bourke Street site. 

15. Following lodgement, the City raised concerns with the landowner regarding the extent 
of the proposed sky bridges that would effectively join the two commercial buildings 
into one large building with a frontage spanning approximately 110 metres.  

16. While still preferring sky bridges that spanned all levels, the landowner has agreed to 

reduce the extent of the wider sky bridges to limit its maximum height to below level 

10, ensuring the buildings present as separate elements in the skyline. The revised 

building envelope and an updated reference design, lodged 15 September 2021, are 

provided Attachment A7 and A8 respectively. 

  

6



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

17. Separate to discussions being held in relation to the Botany Road site, the landowner 
had also approached the City about potential changes to the Town Centre LEP to 
facilitate a broader range of entertainment and recreational uses that could be 
provided on the Bourke Street site.  

18. The City requested the landowner provide supplementary material to support the 
expansion of uses on the Bourke Street site so it could be incorporated into a single 
planning proposal, that is the subject of this report. The supplementary information, 
lodged 27 August 2021, is provided at Attachment A6.  

The planning proposal affects two sites in the Town Centre 

19. The planning proposal applies to the Botany Road site, shown in a red dashed outline 
in Figure 1 and the Bourke Street site, shown in a blue outline in Figure 1. 

 

Figure 1: Location and context of the sites; the Botany Road site shown in a dashed red outline and 
the Bourke Street site shown in blue outline. 

7



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

20. There is no existing development on either of the sites. They have been cleared and 
prepared for future development as part of earlier public domain and land remediation 
projects. Photos of the sites are provided below at Figures 2 and 3.  

 

Figure 2: Photos of the Botany Road site 

8



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

 
Figure 3: Photos of the Bourke Street site 

The sites play an important role in the urban life of the Town Centre 

The Botany Road site 

21. The planning controls for the Botany Road site allow for two separate buildings. The 
south building fronts Botany Road on the east and the new Geddes Avenue on the 
south. The north building also fronts Botany Road on the east and the Green Square 
Plaza, Library and underground entrance to the train station, making its north frontage 
an important contribution to a highly visible and heavily used public spaces. 

22. The Botany Road site is the only site within the Town Centre that is intended for a 
purely commercial office use. Almost one third of the employment that has been 
projected in the Town Centre will be achieved on this site, with a potential 2,049 jobs. 

23. The Botany Road site is therefore critical to support the employment function of the 
Town Centre, which along with Mascot is identified as a major strategic centre in the 
Greater Sydney Commission Eastern City District Plan (the District Plan).  

  

9



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

24. The Botany Road site has an area of about 4,300 square metres. It is currently cleared 
of all structures and contains only a row of trees along the western frontage to Botany 
Road. Current planning controls for the Botany Road site facilitate about 45,700 
square metres of floor space. A small portion of floor space (about 1,300 square 
metres) can be used for any purpose that is permissible in a mixed use zone, however 
the vast majority is required to be used for an office premises or business premises (as 
defined in the Town Centre LEP). 

The Bourke Street site 

25. The Bourke Street site is one of the most centrally located sites in the Town Centre, 
the site has its primary frontage to Green Square Plaza and Tweed Place. When 
developed it will make a significant contribution to the functioning of the Town Centre 
as well as the look and feel of the plaza. 

26. The planning controls for the Bourke Street site allow for two separate buildings that 
are intended for a mix of uses, including residential development as well as a range of 
population serving uses. They facilitate about 23,200 square metres of floor space with 
variable building heights up to 24 storeys at the highest part of the site.  

27. Most of the floor space in the Bourke Street site (about 19,000 square metres) can be 
used for any permissible use in the B4 – Mixed use zone including residential uses, 
with an additional 4,200 square metres of floorspace available under the Town Centre 
LEP for population serving uses, being office premises, business premises, 
entertainment facilities or childcare facilities. 

28. The land uses that locate in the lower levels of the building are critical for the activation 
of the Green Square Plaza as a place where people can visit, be entertained and 
recreate, and find the facilities and services they need.   

29. The Bourke Street site has an area of about 3,700 square metres. It is currently 
cleared of all structures and has hoardings around its perimeter to shield it from the 
public domain. It is bounded by Ebsworth Street to the north-east, Tweed Place to the 
north-west, Green Square Library and Plaza to the south-east, and the future Barker 
Street to the south-west. 

The current planning controls incentivise non-residential uses on the sites 

30. The sites are zoned B4 Mixed Use, which permits a wide range of uses, including the 
proposed uses. No change is proposed to the zoning of the site.  

31. The relevant LEP controls that apply to the Botany Road site include: 

(a) a mapped FSR of 0.3:1 with additional FSR (44,000 square metres) available 
under clause 4.4A Exceptions to floor space ratio, only if that additional floor 
space is used for office premises or business premises; and 

(b) variable height controls, including: 

(i) the northern building on the Botany Road site has a height of RL115 (24 
storeys) with a street wall fronting the plaza of RL52 (8 storeys);   

(ii) the southern building on the site has a height of RL90 (17 storeys); and 

(iii) the through-site link identified between the north and the south building is 
RL22, which does not currently allow for the proposed sky bridges.  

10



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

32. The relevant LEP controls that apply to the Bourke Street site include: 

(a) a mapped FSR of 5.47:1 with additional FSR (4,200 square metres) available 
under Clause 4.4A Exceptions to floor space ratio, only if that additional floor 
space is used for office premises, business premises, entertainment facilities and 
centre-based child care facilities; and  

(b) variable height controls, including:  

(i) the part of the northern building fronting the plaza being RL50 (8 storeys), 
the central part of the northern building being RL64 (12 storeys) and the 
eastern edge of the northern building being RL75 (15 storeys); and 

(ii) the part of the southern building fronting the plaza being RL50 (8 storeys) 
and the central part of the southern building being RL62.5 (12 storeys). 

33. The Town Centre DCP supports the provisions in the Town Centre LEP and contains 
site specific built form, land use and public domain controls including requirement for a 
through site link across the Botany Road site, connecting Hinchcliffe Street to Botany 
Road.  

The planning proposal will facilitate some sky bridges on the Botany Road site 

34. The planning proposal amends the Height of Buildings map in the Town Centre LEP to 
facilitate limited sky bridges of increased width between the two buildings on the 
Botany Road site.  

35. The Town Centre DCP currently envisages sky bridges of significantly smaller 
proportions than what is proposed in this planning proposal. However, the Town 
Centre LEP does not facilitate it, and any future development application made under 
current controls that incorporated sky bridges would be subject to a request to vary the 
maximum height control under Clause 4.6 of the LEP to allow for its delivery. 

36. The Economic Assessment provided by the landowner has demonstrated that the 
capacity to provide large floorplates over 2,000 sqm is essential if the building is to 
meet the needs of the commercial office market and find suitable tenants.   

37. The increase in height resulting from the planning proposal will enable the buildings to 
be effectively joined-up between level 2 and level 9 (8 levels in total) to create large 
‘campus style’ commercial floor plates at the lower levels of about 2,700 sqm. This 
leaves the levels above unconnected to ensure the two buildings appear as separate 
towers in the skyline. In addition, the sky bridges will be set back from Botany Road 
and Hinchcliffe Street to reduce the visual bulk of the buildings when viewed from the 
street and/or surrounding buildings.  

38. The proposed sky bridges allow the two buildings to present as two separate 
elements, while enabling some flexibility for large floorplates. The proposed sky 
bridges do not require additional floor space in the Town Centre LEP, which can be 
accommodated in the existing floor space ratio that applies to the site.  

39. The urban design report provided by the landowner shows that using floor space for 
the sky bridges allows the building to be designed with either a reduced building 
height, increased public circulation at ground level, or façade articulation to the north 
or south elevations. A competitive design process is required for the detailed design of 
the building, that will be undertaken at the development application stage.  

11



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

40. The amendment to the Town Centre LEP Height of Building Map to facilitate the sky 
bridge is shown at Figure 4. The amendment increases the height from RL 22 to RL 
55.7, which will provide for the sky bridge to join the two buildings below level 10.  

Figure 4: Proposed amendment to the Town Centre LEP Height of Building Map  

41. In conjunction with the amendment to the Town Centre LEP, an amendment to the 
Town Centre DCP is also proposed to reflect the proposed changes to the LEP. The 
Draft DCP (Attachment B) will continue to identify a through site link between the 
buildings from Botany Road to Hinchcliffe Street, which is required to be provided at 
ground level with a height of 10 metres (below level 2). The draft DCP also identifies 
the maximum width of the sky bridge as 20 metres, to ensure sufficient setbacks from 
Botany Road and Hinchcliffe Street can be achieved.  

42. A resulting indicative built form is shown at Figures 5 and 6. The perspective of the 
Botany Road site at Figure 6 shows a 20 metre sky bridge connecting the podiums 
with a setback of 4 metres from Botany Road. It is noted the setback of the sky bridges 
to the Botany Road frontage is to be explored in the design competition and assessed 
in the development application stage.   

Plaza 

12



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Figure 5: Botany Road site section 

 

Figure 6: Perspective of Botany Road site showing the skybridges connecting the podiums 

13



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

43. In support of the proposed changes, Arup prepared an Environmental Wind 
Assessment on behalf of the landowner to assess the impact of widening the sky 
bridge. The Assessment found that increasing the width of the sky bridge to 20 metres 
would have negligible impact.  

The through site link to be provided on the Botany Road site under current planning 
controls will still be required 

44. In 2013, Council entered into a voluntary planning agreement (VPA) with Mirvac and 
Landcom, the then owner of the sites, for the carrying out of work in the Town Centre. 
The VPA provides for the developer to undertake infrastructure work, pay monetary 
contributions as well as dedicate land to the City.  

45. The VPA requires the developer to register an easement to allow access for the public 
along the east-west through-site link on the Botany Road site. The VPA requires the 
easement be six meters wide and clear to the sky, except for a three metre long sky 
bridge.  

46. The proposed change to the planning controls will not affect the developer's obligation 
to provide an easement for public access to the through site link. If the planning 
proposal proceeds, Council officers will confirm that the change to the built form 
controls don't necessitate amendment of the VPA.  

The planning proposal will facilitate additional uses on the Botany Road site 

47. Currently, most of the floor space achievable on the Botany Road site is limited to 
providing office or business uses by the Town Centre LEP.  

48. The planning proposal amends clause 4.4A(2)(a) of the Town Centre LEP to broaden 
the range of potential land uses that can be achieved on the site. The purpose of the 
proposed change is to increase flexibility for the site and the prospect of these 
commercial sites being delivered in the short to medium term. Importantly, increasing 
the flexibility of uses will: 

(a) enable a range of complementary uses to support the commercial and business 
floor space on the site; and 

(b) increase the potential range of tenants to occupy the commercial and business 
floor space on the site. 

49. The additional proposed uses are: 

(a) centre-based child care facilities; 

(b) educational establishments; 

(c) health service facilities; 

(d) retail premises (up to a total of 1,500 square metres); 

(e) entertainment facilities and function centres (up to a total of 2,500 square 
metres); and 

(f) recreation facilities (indoor) (up to total of 1,500 square metres). 

14



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

50. The inclusion of the above uses on the site supports employment growth and activity in 
the Town Centre.  

51. In order to ensure the focus of the building remains business and office premises, 
certain uses, as outlined above, will be limited in size. The limits to the floor space of 
certain uses means that retail premises, entertainment facilities, function centres and 
recreation facilities (indoor) will together take up no more than 3 floors of the 
commercial buildings.   

The proposed planning controls for the Botany Road site are supported by an 
Economic Assessment  

52. The proposed amendments to the Town Centre LEP are supported by the Economic 
Assessment, that identifies the demand requirements for commercial and other 
supporting land uses in the Town Centre.  

53. There is a significant pipeline of development within Green Square, however only a 
small proportion of that planned development is for non-residential buildings (see 
Figure ). Botany Road site is the only purely commercial building in the Town Centre.  

15



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

 

Figure 6: Proposed developments within the Green Square and City South Village 

54. The Economic Assessment outlines that major occupiers in South Sydney often select 
the location due to its proximity to the CBD, Port and Airport, as well as the ability to 
secure sizeable floorplates at an affordable rate. 

55. The report predicts that the market for commercial office floor space in South Sydney 
is likely to remain challenging as a result of subdued market demand and the level of 
new development activity that will continue to occur in the metropolitan and city fringe 
markets.  

16



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

56. Commercial office space in South Sydney competes for tenants against the city fringe 
market (Pyrmont, Redfern, Surry Hills, South Eveleigh) as well as Macquarie Park. 
These markets share several similar characteristics including proximity to the CBD, 
access to public transport and the ability to provide large floorplates. 

The planning proposal will facilitate additional uses on the Bourke Street site 

57. Clause 4.4A(2)(d) of the Town Centre LEP provides for 4,200 sqm of additional floor 
space on the Bourke Street site to be used only for the purposes of office premises, 
business premises, entertainment facilities and centre-based childcare facilities.  

58. Development consent was granted for the Bourke Street site on 20 June 2019 
(D/2017/564) for the purposes of a mixed-use development comprising retail, 
commercial, entertainment and residential uses. The detailed design included 
approximately 2,000 sqm of entertainment facility floor space in the form of a 5-screen 
cinema complex, in addition to other retail and commercial space within the 
development. 

59. Due to changing entertainment preferences and COVID-19 there is currently little 
interest from cinema operators to establish a cinema, at least in the short to medium 
term. 

60. The landowner's catchment analysis, provided in the supplementary material, identified 
there is local demand for entertainment and recreation uses, contemporary music and 
architecture and design sectors for uses such as a creative bar, distillery or brewery, 
fashion design and textile incubator, and digital services.  

61. The planning proposal is to amend the Town Centre LEP to facilitate flexibility for the 
use of floor space, which in the approved development application was to be used for 
a cinema, to more closely align to current entertainment trends. The planning proposal 
will allow the ‘additional floor space’ to be used for: 

(a) information and education facilities (such as a school or tertiary education use); 

(b) artisan food and drink industry; and  

(c) recreation facilities (indoor). 

  

17



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

62. These additional uses do not derogate from the intended outcomes of the additional 
floor space on this site, which are to provide entertainment and recreational activities 
and to realise the Town Centre as an activated and desirable place to live, work and 
visit. Figure 7 Concept to repurpose cinema floor space illustrates a potential concept 
to repurpose the cinema floor space for these alternative uses. The reference design 
demonstrates a potential distribution of new uses in the space and maintains the 
volume necessary to allow for the space to be reutilised for a cinema use in the future. 

 

Figure 7: Concept to repurpose cinema floor space 

63. The planning proposal makes no change to the built form of the Bourke Street site. 
Internal arrangement of the floor space at the lower levels will be subject to a future 
development application. 

Proposed amendments to the Town Centre DCP will align it with the Town Centre LEP 

64. A draft DCP, at Attachment B, has been prepared to amend the Town Centre DCP and 
align it with the planning proposal. The draft DCP will: 

(a) continue to identify a through site link between the buildings on the Botany Road 
site (from Botany Road to Hinchcliffe Street), 10 metres in height (below level 2), 
which is to be provided to council as an easement for public access at the 
development application stage;  

(b) limit the length of the sky bridge on the Botany Road site to 20 metres, measured 
from Botany Road to Hinchcliffe Street. While the overall depth of the buildings is 
about 29m, the positioning of the sky bridge between the buildings, and the 
setbacks from the Botany Road frontage and the Hinchcliffe Street frontages is 
to be determined in the development application process;  

(c) amend key figures in the Town Centre DCP to facilitate a wider range of uses on 
the Botany Road site; and 

(d) require that development on the Bourke Street site be designed to include floor 
space which can be adapted to a cinema in the future. 

18



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

65. The draft DCP will be publicly exhibited alongside the planning proposal, if it receives 
Gateway determination.  

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

66. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This [choose an item] is aligned 
with the following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 1 A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - The planning proposal 
will strengthen the economic role of the Green Square - Mascot strategic centre 
by facilitating employment and recreation development in the Town Centre. 
Development of the Botany Road site for commercial buildings will encourage 
additional commercial development through spill over effects and better 
recognition of the Town Centre as an emerging economic and business centre.   

(b) Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies - The planning proposal 
will unlock the development capacity of two sites, facilitating employment growth 
in the Town Centre. The planning proposal enables a diversity of commercial 
and entertainment land uses, increasing the provision of population-serving uses 
and the diversity of job opportunities in the Town Centre. 

Relevant Legislation 

67. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.  

68. Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. 

Public Consultation 

69. Public exhibition is likely to be a minimum of 28 days, though this will be determined by 
the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (Department) in any Gateway 
determination that may be issued for the planning proposal.  

  

19



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

70. The consultation will be in accordance with the requirements of: 

(a) the Gateway determination issued by the Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment under section 3.34 of the Act; 

(b) the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000; and 

(c) the City of Sydney Community Participation Plan 2019. 

GRAHAM JAHN AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Rebecca Jacobs, Senior Specialist Planner 

20



Attachment A 

Planning Proposal 

Green Square Town Centre 

377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke 

Street, Zetland 

 

21



 

 

Green Square Town Centre: 
377 - 495 Botany Road and 
960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

 

Planning Proposal 
October 2021 

 
 

22



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

2 

Contents 
1. Background 5 

2. Existing planning controls 13 

3. Objectives 17 

4. Explanation of provisions 18 

5. Justification 20 

6. Mapping 39 

7. Community consultation 41 

8. Project timeline 42 

 

23



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

3 

Executive Summary 
This planning proposal arises from a request by Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd (the landowner) to change 

the planning controls for 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland (the sites) to 

increase flexibility, facilitate development and attract tenants that will fulfil the vision for the Town 

Centre.  
The sites are located in the Green Square Town Centre (Town Centre), the civic and economic 

heart of the Green Square Urban Renewal Area and the southern parts of the local area. The 

vision for the Town Centre is for a resilient, lively and unique urban place, with jobs, well-serviced 

residences, community facilities and open space. When complete, the Town Centre will be home 

to 7,800 people and accommodate 6,700 workers. 

A number of milestone development projects have been completed in the Town Centre over the 

last 5 years, including substantial residential development such as the Ovo and Infinity buildings, 

as well as community spaces, including the Green Square Library and Plaza. Retail floor space 

has been delivered as part of some of these recent developments, however other planned 

employment floor space for additional retail, recreational and commercial uses, have proven more 

difficult to develop in the recent market environment and are yet to be provided.  

The Botany Road site at 377 - 495 Botany Road, Zetland is the only site within the Town Centre 

that is intended for a purely commercial use. Almost one third of the employment that has be 

projected in the Town Centre will be achieved on this site, with a potential 2,049 jobs. Workers 

coming to and from the site and using the Town Centre's facilities and services will make an 

important contribution to the vibrancy, activity and character of the place. 

This planning proposal enables a larger floor plate at the lower levels of the Botany Road site 
building to cater to demand for larger, more flexible commercial space and assist in attracting 
tenants. It is proposed to enable this by amending the height of buildings map in the Town Centre 
LEP to enable a sky bridge which connects the site's two buildings between levels 2 and level 9 
(inclusive).  

This planning proposal also enables additional uses on the Botany Road site to accommodate 
complementary commercial uses and create an attractive precinct for tenants. This will be done by 
broadening the range of land uses which can utilise 'additional floor space' to include education 
facilities (such as a university or school), child care facilities, medical facilities and space for 
functions and conferences, in addition to commercial uses.  

The Bourke Street site at 960A Bourke Street, Zetland is intended for a mixed-use building, 

incorporating residential development as well as a range of population serving uses, including 

entertainment facilities. Entertainment and recreation uses in the lower levels of the building are 

intended to attract people to the Town Centre and activate the Green Square Plaza.  

The approved development application for the site relies on 'additional floor space' allocated for an 

entertainment facility and includes a cinema. However evolving preferences for entertainment and 

COVID-19 are affecting the cinema market and use of that floor space in the short to medium term.   

This planning proposal broadens the range of uses that can utilise 'additional floor space' on the 
Bourke Street site to enable other uses that can contribute to activity in the Town Centre. The other 
land uses proposed include information and education facilities (galleries), artisan food and drink 
and indoor recreation facilities, in addition to entertainment facilities. Together, these uses can 
respond to emerging entertainment and recreational trends and activate the Town Centre.  

The City has prepared this planning proposal to amend the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 

(Green Square Town Centre) 2013 (Town Centre LEP), as they apply to the sites, by: 

24



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

4 

 amending the height of buildings map in the Town Centre LEP to enable a sky bridge up to 

RL 55.7 on the Botany Road site, connecting the two buildings planned for the site between 

level 2 and level 9 (8 levels in total); 

 broadening the range of land uses on the Botany Road site that can utilise 'additional floor 

space', that is currently limited to commercial and office uses. The additional uses 

introduced by this planning proposal are:  

o centre-based child care facilities, 

o educational establishments, 

o health service facilities, 

o retail premises (up to a total of 1,500 square metres), 

o entertainment facilities and function centres (up to a total of 2,500 square metres), 

o recreation facilities (indoor) (up to a total of 1,500 square metres); and 

 broadening the range of land uses on the Bourke Street site that can utilise 'additional floor 

space', that is currently limited to office premises, business premises, entertainment 

facilities and centre-based child care facilities. The additional uses introduced by this 

planning proposal are:  

o information and education facilities;  

o artisan food and drink industry; and 

o recreation facilities (indoor). 

No changes to current zoning or floor space ratios in the Town Centre LEP are proposed.  

The proposed changes support the Eastern City District Plan's actions to protect development 

capacity for jobs, remove barriers to cultural and creative uses and strengthen and reinforce the 

economic role of Green Square as urban renewal continues.  

A draft Development Control Plan has been prepared to amend the Green Square Town Centre 

Development Control Plan 2013 and align it with this planning proposal. The draft DCP is to be 

publicly exhibited in conjunction with this planning proposal. 

 

 

 

 

  

25



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

5 

1. Background 

1.1 Introduction 
Planning Proposal: Green Square Town Centre: 377-495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, 

Zetland (this planning proposal) is to amend the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Green 

Square Town Centre) (Town Centre LEP) as it applies to 377-495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke 

Street, Zetland (the sites).  

The intent of this planning proposal is to:  

 broaden the range of non-residential uses that can be provided on the sites, to allow for 

more diverse land uses that support the strategic vision for the Green Square Town Centre 

(Town Centre); and 

 facilitate a sky bridge, limited in height to below the 10th level of the building, connecting 

commercial buildings fronting Botany Road, to allow larger and more flexible floorplates to 

attract commercial tenants. 

No changes to current zoning or floor space ratios in the Town Centre LEP are proposed, though a 

minor amendment to the maximum height control is required to facilitate the skybridge.  

This planning proposal is supported by the Draft Green Square Town Centre Development Control 

Plan 2012: 377-495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland (draft DCP). The draft DCP is 

to amend to the current provisions of Sections 3 and 4 of the Green Square Town Centre DCP to 

facilitate the sky bridge and the additional land uses. 

The proposed changes to the planning controls support the strategic vision of the Town Centre as 
a resilient, lively and unique urban place. They will: 

 facilitate the long-term viability of the commercial floors pace within the site fronting Botany 

Road, through allowing a diversity of uses that complement the site’s business and office 

premises which will create an attractive and enticing workplace for tenants;  

 allow for adaptability for the commercial buildings fronting Botany Road to provide for more 

efficient and interconnected floorplates that cater to contemporary commercial tenant 

requirements, by allowing a more contiguous bridge connection for improved access 

between the buildings; 

 facilitate a diverse range of land uses on the site fronting Bourke Street which can respond 

to emerging trends and activate the town centre 

This Planning Proposal has been prepared having regard to ‘A guide to preparing planning 

proposals’ published by the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (DPIE). 

1.2 Planning Proposal Request  
This planning proposal has been the subject of ongoing pre-lodgement discussions between City 

of Sydney and the landowner, Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd (Mirvac).  

Mirvac submitted a request to amend the planning controls on 7 July 2021 (Attachment A1). The 

request was supported by:  

 an urban design report, provided at Attachment A3; 

 a site specific development control plan amendment, provided at Attachment A5; 

 an economic assessment, provided at Attachment A2; and   

 a desktop wind impact review, provided at Attachment A4.  

26



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

6 

The subject of the original request was the Botany Road site. It sought to: 

 expand the range of uses that could be achieved on the site to allow for a wider range of 

uses and activities to support the future residential and working population; and 

 facilitate a sky bridge between the two commercial towers, unrestricted in height, to enable 

a larger floorplate across to meet current market demand in this area. 

The original request did not seek to change the planning controls that apply to the Bourke Street 

site. 

Following lodgement, the City raised concerns with the landowner regarding the extent of the 

proposed sky bridge that would effectively join the two commercial buildings into one large building 

with a frontage spanning approximately 110 metres.  

While still preferring a sky bridge that spanned all levels, the landowner agreed to reduce the 

extent of the sky bridge to limit its maximum height to below level 10, ensuring the buildings 

present as separate elements in the skyline. The revised building envelope and an updated 

reference design, lodged 15 September 2021, are provided Attachment A7 and A8 respectively. 

Separate to discussions being held in relation to the Botany Road site, the landowner had also 

approached the City about potential changes to the Town Centre LEP to facilitate a broader range 

of entertainment and recreational uses that could be provided on the Bourke Street site.  

The City requested the landowner provide supplementary material to support the expansion of 

uses on the Bourke Street site so it could be incorporated into a single planning proposal, that is 

the subject of this report. The supplementary information, lodged 27 August 2021, is provided at 

Attachment A6.  

  

1.3 The Sites 

1.3.1 Site identification 

The sites are located within the Green Square Town Centre (Town Centre) and are owned by 

Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd.   

The legal descriptions of the sites are:  

 377- 495 Botany Road, Zetland, being Lot 11 DP 1199427 (future development lot), shown 

in a dotted red line at Figure 1; and 

 960A Bourke Street, Zetland, being Lot 6 DP 1199427 (future development lot), outlined in 

blue at Figure 1. 

This planning proposal may refer separately to these sites as the Botany Road site and the Bourke 

Street site respectively. 

Photos of the sites are provided below at Figure 2 and Figure 3.  

 

 

 

27



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

7 

 

Figure 1 Sites identification, showing the Bourke Street site outlined in blue and the Botany Road site outlined in a dashed red line 

Green 
Square 

Station 

28



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

8 

 
Figure 2 Photos of the Botany Road site 

 

Figure 3 Photos of the Bourke Street site 

29



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

9 

1.3.2 Role of the sites in the Town Centre 

Botany Road site 

The Botany Road site is the only site within the Town Centre that is intended for purely non-

residential uses. Over one third of the employment that has been projected in the Town Centre will 

be achieved on this site, with a potential 2,049 jobs. 

The Botany Road site is therefore critical to support the employment function of the Town Centre, 

which along with Mascot is identified as a major strategic centre in the Greater Sydney 

Commission Eastern City District Plan (the District Plan). Workers coming to and from the site and 

using the Town Centre's facilities and services will make an important contribution to the vibrancy, 

activity and character of the place. 

Current planning controls facilitate some 45,696 square metres of floor space with variable building 

heights up to 24 storeys at the highest part of the site. A small portion of floor space (about 1,300 

square metres) can be used for any purpose that is permissible in the B4 – Mixed use zone, 

however the vast majority is required to be used for a commercial or business purpose (as defined 

in the Town Centre LEP). 

The planning controls for the site allow for two separate buildings. The south building fronts Botany 

Road on the east and the new Geddes Avenue on the south. The north building also fronts Botany 

Road on the east and the Green Square Plaza, Library and underground entrance to the train 

station, making its north frontage an important contribution to a highly visible and heavily used 

public spaces. 

Bourke Street site 

The planning controls for the Bourke Street site allow for two separate buildings that are intended 

for a mix of uses, incorporating residential development as well as a range of population serving 

uses. They facilitate about 23,000 square metres of floor space with variable building heights up to 

24 storeys at the highest part of the site. The site allows for two separate buildings, both with their 

primary frontage to the Green Square Plaza. 

Most of the floor space in the site (about 19,000 square metres) is allowable for any use 

permissible in the B4 – Mixed use zone including residential uses, with an additional 4,200 square 

metres of floor space available under the Town Centre LEP for population serving uses, being 

office premises, business premises, entertainment facilities or childcare facilities. 

The land uses that locate in the lower levels of the building are critical for the activation of the 

Green Square Plaza as a place where people can visit, be entertained and recreate, and find the 

facilities and services they need.   

1.3.3 Location and context of sites 

The sites are located within the Green Square Town Centre. The Town Centre is 4 kilometres 

south of Central Sydney and 5 kilometres north of Sydney Airport and is serviced by a train station 

on the Airport Line connecting directly to Central Sydney, Mascot and Sydney Airport. 

The Town Centre is the civic and economic heart of the Green Square Urban Renewal Area and 

the southern parts of the local area. The vision for the Town Centre is for a resilient, lively and 

unique urban place, with jobs, well-serviced residences, community facilities and open space.  

The Town Centre has seen many development projects recently completed including Ovo, Infinity, 

Green Square Library and Plaza, and other residential mixed use developments. The Town Centre 

currently has approximately 1,489 established dwellings, and a further 1,552 approved, under 

construction or recently completed. When complete, the Town Centre will be home to 7,800 people 

and accommodate 6,700 workers. Retail floor space has been delivered as part of some of these 

recent developments, however the sites identified to contribute additional retail and commercial 

floor space have not yet developed.   

30



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

10 

The sites also sit within the wider context of Green Square Urban Renewal Area, which is 

approximately 278 hectares in area and comprises the suburbs of Zetland and Beaconsfield and 

parts of Alexandria, Rosebery and Waterloo. It will contribute over one third of the City’s local 

housing growth to 2036. The Green Square Urban Renewal Area has been developing at an 

unprecedented rate, exceeding historical population projections and anticipated timeframes. The 

Urban Renewal Area as a whole currently has approximately 18,532 established dwellings, with a 

further 3,787 approved, under construction or recently completed. The urban renewal area is 

forecast to grow to around 32,000 dwellings, housing around 60,000 to 70,000 people (depending 

on occupancy trends) at build out.  

Significant employment is also projected, both in the urban renewal area and in adjoining 

employment focused areas such as North Alexandria and the Botany Road Precinct, that are the 

current subject of separate planning proposals to increase employment capacity.  While some 

retail has been delivered in developments throughout the Urban Renewal Area, current and future 

residents will primarily rely on the Town Centre to deliver the non-residential floor space necessary 

to provide essential services, retail and jobs within close distance of their homes. 

Green Square-Mascot is identified in the Eastern City District Plan as one of the key strategic 

centres for economic and business activity outside Central Sydney. This puts it on par with the 

District’s other strategic centres of Bondi Junction, Eastgardens, Burwood, Randwick and Rhodes, 

and an important part of achieving the goal of a 30 minute city by locating jobs, services, retail and 

important economic activities within a short distance of people’s homes. 

The District Plan identifies protecting development capacity for job targets and removing barriers to 

cultural and creative uses as key actions to strengthen and reinforce the economic role of Green 

Square as urban renewal continues. 

The urban renewal area, particularly the Town Centre, have been the focus of significant 

investment in public infrastructure since the late 1990s, including public transport, public domain, 

parks, significant flood mitigation work, as well as world class community and recreation facilities. 

The Green Square Library, Joynton Avenue Creative Centre, Perry Park Recreation Centre and 

Gunyama Park Aquatic and Recreation Centre are among the recently delivered facilities within the 

Town Centre. 

The sites are shown in context at Figure 4. 

31



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

11 

 

Figure 4 Context of sites 

1.3.4 Site characteristics  

The Botany Road site 

The Botany Road site has an area of 4,322 square metres. 

Currently, the site has been cleared of all structures and contains only a row of trees along the 

western frontage to Botany Road.  

The site directly adjoins the Green Square Library and Plaza to its north-east, and the underground 

tunnel access to Green Square station is directly across from its northern border. 

The site’s extended western frontage is to Botany Road, so development on the site will be heavily 

affected by the noise, pollution and visual privacy impacts of this major road and heavy vehicle 

thoroughfare.  

The site is adjacent to future residential development on the sites immediately to the east, and 

future commercial development on the other side of Botany Road. On the development sites to the 

east, there is an approved concept proposal for four mixed use developments with a new street 

network and 514 dwellings in total. There are no detailed development applications lodged for 

these sites. To the south is Geddes Avenue, an important connector road that will serve as an 

east-west corridor between the Town Centre, North Alexandria and Erskineville. 

According to the Green Square Town Centre DCP the main vehicle entry to this site is via 

Hinchcliffe Street near Geddes Avenue. Hinchcliffe Street is a new street identified in the DCP that 

will run parallel to Botany Road and connect Geddes Avenue to Green Square Plaza. 

32



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

12 

The Bourke Street site 

The Bourke Street site has an area of 3,688 square metres. The site is currently cleared of all 

structures and has hoardings around its perimeter to shield it from the public domain. It is bounded 

by Ebsworth Street to the north-east, Tweed Place to the north-west, Green Square Library and 

Plaza to the south-east, and the future Barker Street to the south-west. 

The Bourke Street site has development consent (D/2017/564) but has not commenced 

construction. The consent is for a 16 storey building, a 13 storey building and a new laneway 

separating them (Fellmonger Place). The approved development includes 194 residential 

apartments, about 1,220 square metres of retail floor space, about 2,085 square metres of 

commercial floor space and a 2,110 square metre cinema. As part of this planning proposal 

request, the proponent has indicated they will not be progressing with this consent. 

One of the most centrally located sites in the Town Centre, the site has its primary frontage to 

Green Square Plaza and Tweed Place. When developed it will make a significant contribution to 

the functioning of the Town Centre as well as the look and feel of the plaza. 

The site is surrounded by recent and ongoing development sites as part of the redevelopment of 

the Town Centre. The neighbouring development site to the south-west will include delivery of a 

new street called Barker Street and provide shared basement access to future development on the 

Bourke Street site. When complete, the neighbouring building will be a 20 storey mixed use 

development with residential apartments and retail on the ground and first floors, contributing to the 

ground floor retail presence fronting Green Square Plaza. 

Opposite the site on Ebsworth Street is 18 Ebsworth Street, a mixed use development with 

residential apartments and retail at ground level, including a supermarket, and opposite the site on 

Tweed Place is 301 Botany Road, a large mixed use development known as Infinity with residential 

apartments, a hotel, and a significant retail offering including medical centre and food court. Infinity 

also features an underground tunnel entrance to Green Square station. 

 

 

 

 

33



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

13 

2. Existing planning 
controls 
The Town Centre LEP and Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan 2012 (DCP) 

contain zoning and development standards for the site. These are discussed below. 

2.1. Zoning 
The zoning of the sites are shown in the Land Zoning Maps in the Town Centre LEP.  

The sites are zoned B4 Mixed Use, shown in Figure 5. The objectives of this zone are: 

 to provide a mixture of compatible land uses; 

 to integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in accessible 

locations so as to maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling; 

and 

 to ensure uses support the viability of centres. 

The zoning permits a wide range of uses, including centre-based child care facilities, commercial 

premises, educational establishments, entertainment facilities, function centres, hotel and motel 

accommodation, medical centres, recreation facilities (indoor), shop top housing and residential flat 

buildings. The only prohibited uses are extractive industries, heavy industrial storage 

establishments and heavy industries.  

No change is proposed to the zoning of the sites.  

 

Figure 5 Land use zoning map from Town Centre LEP 

34



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

14 

2.2. Floor space ratio 
Maximum floor space ratio (FSR) controls are shown in the Town Centre LEP at Figure 6, with 

additional FSR available pursuant to 4.4A Exceptions to floor space ratio in the Town Centre LEP 

detailed below.  

Botany Road site 

The mapped FSR on the site is 0.3:1.  

Clause 4.4A allows for additional FSR on some sites. The Botany Road site is located within Area 

1 and is eligible for 44,000 square metres of additional floor space only if that additional floor space 

is used for office premises or business premises.  

Bourke Street site 

The mapped FSR on the site is 5.47:1.  

Under Clause 4.4A, the Bourke Street site is located within Area 4 and is eligible for 4,200 square 

metres of additional floor space only if that additional floor space is used for office premises, 

business premises, entertainment facilities and centre-based child care facilities.  

 

 

Figure 6 Floor space ratio map from Town Centre LEP 

2.3. Height of buildings 
The Height of Buildings map in the Town Centre LEP, shown at Figure 7, shows heights in 

Reduced Levels (RLs) that can be achieved across the sites. The Town Centre DCP Height in 

Storeys map, shown at Figure 8, translates these RLs to the height in storeys that can be 

achieved. 

35



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

15 

Botany Road site 

The northern building on the Botany Road site has a height of RL115 (24 storeys) with a street wall 

fronting the plaza of RL52 (8 storeys). 

The southern building on the site has a height of RL90 (17 storeys). 

The through site link identified between the north and the south building is RL22, which does not 

allow for the proposed sky bridges.  

Bourke Street site 

The height of the northern building on the Bourke Street site varies, stepping up from the plaza to 

allow for solar access, with: 

 the part of the building fronting the plaza being RL50 (8 storeys); 

 the central part of the building being RL64 (12 storeys); 

 the eastern edge of the building being RL75 (15 storeys). 

The height of the southern building also varies with: 

 the part of the building fronting the plaza being RL50 (8 storeys); 

 the central part of the building being RL62.5 (12 storeys). 

 

 

Figure 7 Height of Buildings map from Town Centre LEP 

 

36



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

16 

 

Figure 8 Height in Storeys map from the DCP 

 

2.4. Design excellence 
Pursuant to Clause 6.9 of the Town Centre LEP, development that exceeds RL71 or has a capital 

investment value of over $100,000,000 is required to demonstrate design excellence and 

undertake a competitive design process. There are no development bonuses available for this 

process. 

2.5. Heritage 
The sites are not within or adjoining a heritage conservation area.  

A search of the NSW State Heritage Register did not identify any further heritage items on the sites 

or on any adjacent land. 

2.6. Town Centre DCP  
The Town Centre DCP builds upon and provides more detailed provisions than the Town Centre 

LEP. The site is subject to site specific controls, which set out more detailed controls in order to 

satisfy the development controls within the Green Square LEP 2012.  

 

37



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

17 

3. Objectives 
This planning proposal will facilitate the development of 377-495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke 

Street, Zetland in the Town Centre. The objectives of this planning proposal are to: 

 support employment growth within the Town Centre; 

 facilitate the delivery of employment generating floor space and local services in the Town 

Centre; 

 support an active and vibrant Town Centre that contains a variety of activity and 

experiences; 

 allow non-residential development to respond to changing market demands; 

 support commercial floor space on the Botany Road site, through allowing a diversity of 

uses that complement business and office premises;  

 improve the flexibility and adaptability of commercial floor space on the Botany Road site by 

allowing for connection between buildings on the site; and 

 facilitate flexibility of land use while retaining the potential for a cinema on the Bourke Street 

site.  

 

 

 

 

38



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

18 

4. Explanation of 
provisions 

4.1. Proposed amendments to Town Centre LEP  
The drafting instructions to amend the Town Centre LEP are provided below. A detailed 

justification for the proposed planning controls and further explanation of the intended outcome is 

provided at Part 5 – Justification of this planning proposal.  

4.1.1. Drafting instructions 

To achieve the intended outcomes, this planning proposal seeks to amend the Green Square LEP 

2013 as follows: 

1. Amend the Height of Building Map Sheet 1 as shown in Part 6 of this planning proposal to 

increase the height of part of the Botany Road site to RL 55.7 metres. 

 

2. Amend clause 4.4A(2)(a) to add the following land uses which the additional floor space can 

be utilised for: 

 centre-based child care facilities, 

 educational establishments, 

 health service facilities, 

 retail premises (up to a total of 1,500 square metres), 

 entertainment facilities and function centres (up to a total of 2,500 square metres), 

 recreation facilities (indoor) (up to total of 1,500 square metres). 

 

3. Amend clause 4.4A(2)(d) to add the following land uses which the additional floor space can 

be utilised for: 

 information and education facilities;  

 artisan food and drink industry; and 

 recreation facilities (indoor). 

4.1.2. Proposed drafting 

The follow provides recommended wording to amend the Town Centre LEP. 

Part 4 Principal development standards 

[amend] clause 4.4A Exceptions to floor space ratio 

… 

4.4A 

… 

(2) Specified use floor space A building that is on land in an Area, and is used for a purpose 

specified in relation to the Area in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d), is eligible for an amount of 

additional floor space (specified use floor space) as follows— 

(a) Area 1, additional floor space not exceeding a total of 44,400 square metres, associated 

with the following land uses: 

39



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

19 

i. office premises,  

ii. business premises,  

iii. centre-based child care facilities,  

iv. educational establishments 

v. health services facilities,  

vi. retail premises with a combined maximum gross floor area of 1,500 square 

metres,  

vii. entertainment facilities and function centres with a combined maximum 

gross floor area of 2,500 square metres,  

viii. recreation facilities (indoor) with a combined maximum gross floor area of 

1,500 square metres. 

(b) Area 2, community facilities, that provide a library, food and drink premises, meeting 

rooms, exhibition space and retail premises—additional floor space not exceeding 2,500 

square metres, 

(c) Area 3, community facilities that provide a library, food and drink premises, meeting 

rooms, exhibition space and retail premises—additional floor space not exceeding 1,500 

square metres, 

(d) Area 4, office premises or business premises, entertainment facilities, information and 

education facilities, artisan food and drink industry, recreation facilities (indoor) 

and centre-based child care facilities—additional floor space not exceeding 4,200 square 

metres. 

4.2. Site-specific DCP 
The City has prepared a draft development control plan (draft DCP) to amend Green Square Town 

Centre Development Control Plan 2012. The draft DCP is to ensure the objectives and intended 

outcomes of this planning proposal are achieved.  

The draft DCP will be publicly exhibited with this planning proposal, should Gateway determination 

facilitate the public exhibition. 

 

 

40



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

20 

5. Justification 
This planning proposal and associated draft DCP is informed by the City’s assessment of the 

proposed built form controls and land uses in the planning proposal request and supporting studies 

provided by the landowner. It proposes sometimes different planning controls than those in the 

planning proposal request and supporting information.  

5.1 Development outcomes 
This planning proposal and associated DCP aims to facilitate development that contributes to the 

economic, social and strategic objectives for the Town Centre.  

5.1.1. Built form – Botany Road site 

Sky bridge 

This planning proposal amends the Height of Buildings map in the Town Centre LEP where it 

applies to the through site link that separates the two buildings on the Botany Road site, as shown 

in Figure 10.  

41



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

21 

 

Figure 9 Height of Building Map 

The Town Centre DCP currently envisages a sky bridge of significantly smaller proportions that 

what is proposed in this planning proposal. However, the Town Centre LEP does not facilitate it, 

and any future development application made under current controls that incorporated sky bridges 

would be subject to a request to vary the maximum height control under Clause 4.6 of the LEP to 

allow for its delivery. 

The increase in height resulting from this planning proposal will enable the buildings to be 

effectively joined-up up below level 10 to create large ‘campus style’ commercial floor plates of 

approximately 2,700 sqm. The Economic Assessment provided by Mirvac (Attachment A6) has 

demonstrated that the capacity to provide large floorplates over 2,000 sqm is essential if the 

building is to meet the needs of the commercial office market and find suitable tenants.   

The sky bridge will connect 8 levels of the buildings (level 2 to level 9), leaving the floors above 

unconnected to ensure the two buildings appear separate in the skyline. In addition, the sky bridge 

will be set back from Botany Road and Hinchcliffe Street to reduce the visual bulk of the buildings 

when viewed from the street and/or surrounding buildings.  

The proposed sky bridge does not require additional floor space in the Town Centre LEP, which 

can be accommodated in the existing floor space ratio that applies to the site. The urban design 

report provided by the landowner shows that using floor space for the sky bridges allows the 

building to be designed with either a reduced building height, increased public circulation at ground 

level, or façade articulation to the north or south elevations. A competitive design process is 

Plaza 

42



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

22 

required for the detailed design of the building, that will be undertaken at the development 

application stage.  

A resulting indicative built form is shown at Figure 10 and Figure 11. The perspective of the Botany 

Road site at Figure 11 shows a 20 metre sky bridge connecting the podiums with a setback of 4 

metres from Botany Road. It is noted the setback of the sky bridge to the Botany Road frontage is 

to be explored in the design competition and assessed in the development application stage.   

 

 

Figure 10 Botany Road site section 

43



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

23 

 

Figure 11 Perspective of Botany Road site showing the skybridge connecting the podiums 

Wind impacts 

In support of the proposed changes, Arup prepared an Environmental Wind Assessment to assess 

the impact of widening the sky bridge. The Assessment shows the impact of increasing the width of 

the sky bridge linking the two buildings from 3 metres wide (as currently enabled in the Town 

Centre DCP) to 20 metres wide on the pedestrian-level wind conditions within the through-site link.  

The wind conditions for the through-site link are governed by the pressure difference between the 

entrances from the east and west. The pressure difference is generated by the massing of the 

subject and surrounding buildings, as well as the incident wind speed and direction. 

The Assessment found that increasing the width of the sky bridge to 20 metres would have 

negligible impact as the wind conditions are governed by the massing of the building and 

surrounds. The wind comfort conditions in the link are expected to be classified as suitable for 

pedestrian standing/walking. All locations are expected to meet the Lawson safety criterion. These 

wind conditions would be considered suitable for the intended use of the space. 

Detailed wind assessment during development assessment stage would be required to quantify 

Arup's qualitative advice and ensure appropriate wind conditions are achieved in the final design of 

the buildings.  

44



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

24 

Why is the sky bridge required? 

Ethos Urban prepared an Economic Assessment on behalf of Mirvac in support of their planning 

proposal request. The Economic Assessment explains that tenant demands and requirements 

within the commercial office market are continually evolving. In recent times, there has been a 

move towards more open plan, flexible spaces that provide collaborative workspaces, seamless 

integration with technology and incorporate sustainable initiatives. There has been a heightened 

focus on employee and tenant wellness, and the impact that buildings can have on overall human 

health. 

A key demand driver in metropolitan office markets is the provision of prime office stock across 

large contiguous floorplates. This is due to requirements of modern occupiers and businesses that 

typically prefer large contiguous spaces, allowing a company to locate on one, or more 

interconnected floors rather than across multiple levels. This is beneficial for corporate 

headquarters and major occupiers who seek to establish a head office and seek improved 

connectivity, collaboration as well as workplace flexibility that appeals to their broad workforce.  

Information provided by Mirvac to Ethos Urban indicate that current levels of enquiry in Green 

Square to date has been for larger users looking for campus sized floorplates of 2,000 square 

metres or larger. Tenant interest has ranged from occupiers from the finance sector, education 

(universities), large corporates for ‘back of house’ operations as well as Government departments. 

Will the sky bridge affect the provision of the through site link? 

In conjunction with the amendment to the Town Centre LEP, an amendment to the Town Centre 

DCP is also proposed to reflect the changes to the LEP. The Draft DCP will continue to identify a 

through site link between the buildings from Botany Road to Hinchcliffe Street, which is required to 

be provided at ground level with a height of 10 metres (up to level 2). The DCP will also identify the 

maximum width of the sky bridge as 20 metres, to ensure sufficient setbacks from Botany Road 

and Hinchcliffe Street can be achieved.  

In 2013, Council entered into a voluntary planning agreement (VPA) with Mirvac and Landcom, the 

then owner of the sites, for the carrying out of work in the Town Centre. The VPA provides for the 

developer to undertake infrastructure work, pay monetary contributions as well as dedicate land to 

the City.  

The VPA requires the developer to register an easement to allow access for the public along the 

east-west through site link on the Botany Road site. The VPA requires the easement be 6 meters 

wide and clear to the sky, except for a 3 metre wide sky bridge.  

The proposed change to the planning controls will not affect the developer's obligation to provide 

an easement for public access to the through site link. If this planning proposal proceeds, Council 

officers will investigate whether the change to the built form controls necessitate an amendment to 

the VPA. 

5.1.2. Built form – Bourke Street site 

This planning proposal makes no change to the built form of the Bourke Street site. Internal 

arrangement of the floor space at the lower levels will be subject to a future development 

application. 

5.1.3. Land use 

Botany Road site 

Currently, most of the floor space achievable on the Botany Road site is limited to providing office 

or business uses by the Town Centre LEP. This planning proposal amends clause 4.4A(2)(a) of 

the LEP to broaden the range of potential land uses that can be achieved on the site. The purpose 

of the proposed change is to increase the flexibility of the site and increase the viability and 

prospect of these commercial sites being delivered in the short to medium term. Importantly, 

increasing the flexibility of uses will: 

45



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

25 

 enable a range of complementary uses to support the commercial and business floor space on 

the site; and 

 increase the potential range of tenants to occupy the commercial and business floor space on 

the site. 

The justification for each proposed land use is included in Draft DCP below. 

New land use Justification 

Centre-based child care facilities and 

Health service facilities 

This planning proposal is to allow ‘child care facilities’ and 

‘health service facilities’ as permissible uses of the 

additional floor space available under Clause 4.4A. There 

is no maximum amount of floor space for these uses 

proposed.   

Child care facilities and health service facilities are a use 

complementary to business premises and office 

premises. The potential for a child care facility in the 

building would provide flexibility to meet the future needs 

of tenants.  

Child care facilities and health-service facilities are 

population-serving uses which can help meet the needs 

of surrounding workers and residents.  

Educational establishments This planning proposal is to allow ‘educational 

establishments’ as permissible use of the additional floor 

space available under Clause 4.4A. There is no maximum 

amount of floor space for this use proposed.   

The Economic Assessment states the location of the 

Botany Road site, within a planned mixed use and high-

density area, would provide an ideal location for a vertical 

school and would be fitting given the context of the 

surrounding built form of the Town Centre. 

The Economic Assessment also states that the ability to 

provide tertiary educational facilities such as university on 

the site is considered high, reflecting the locational drivers 

but also potential clustering and knowledge sharing 

benefits on offer. 

An education facility on the site would be consistent with 

the intention of this site to provide for employment growth 

and to increase activity in the town centre.  

Retail premises (up to a total of 1,500 

sqm) 

This planning proposal is to allow ‘retail premises’ as a 

permissible use of the additional floor space available 

under Clause 4.4A. A maximum limit of 1,500 square 

metres is proposed to ensure other important commercial, 

business and population serving uses are not displaced 

by retail, a significant amount of which is accommodated 

elsewhere in the Town Centre.     

It is noted the planning proposal request sought 2,500 

square metres of additional floor space for the purposes 

of retail premises. However, on assessment there was 

concern this would be at the expense of other uses on the 

site. 

46



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

26 

It is also noted the mapped FSR of 0.3:1 on the Botany 

Road site enables approximately 1,300 square metres of 

floor space to be used for any use permissible in the B4 

zone, including retail premises.   

It is considered the 1,300 square metres of mapped floor 

space, and the 1,500 square metres of additional retail 

proposed under Clause 4.4A (a total of 2,800 square 

metres) is sufficient retail to support the needs of the 

building’s occupants.   

Entertainment facilities and function 

centres (up to a total of 2,500 sqm) 

Entertainment facilities and function centres are permitted 

with consent in the B4 Mixed Use zone. 

The planning proposal request identified that communal 

entertainment facilities and function centres may be an 

attractive offering to potential tenants. The request 

considered the two uses similar in nature and collectively 

could take up one floor of the building.  

One floor of entertainment facilities and function centres 

is considered complementary to the business and office 

uses on the site. 

This planning proposal enables up to 2,500 sqm 

additional floor space to be used for either entertainment 

facilities or function centres.   

Recreation facilities (indoor) (up to 

total of 1,500 sqm) 

This planning proposal is to allow ‘recreation facilities 

(indoor)’ as a permissible use of the additional floor space 

available under Clause 4.4A. A maximum limit of 1,500 

square metres (equivalent to approximately half a floor of 

a building on the site) is proposed to ensure other 

important commercial, business and population serving 

uses are not displaced. 

The planning proposal request identified that there may 

be a demand for floor space within the building for the 

purposes of a gym, exercise rooms or potentially a 

swimming centre, sports courts or similar.  

A gym of similar recreation centre is considered 

complementary to the business and office uses on the 

site if the quantum of floor space is limited. 

 

Table 1 Justification for amendment to clause 4.4A(2)(a) 

As outlined in Draft DCP, providing a greater flexibility of uses will improve the site’s ability to 

provide commercial office floor space that is aligned with current market demand and tenant 

needs, while also enabling the delivery of other uses that align with and support commercial office 

floor space. 

Bourke Street site 

Clause 4.4A(2)(d) of the Town Centre LEP provides for 4,200 square metres of additional floor 

space on the Bourke Street site to be used only for the purposes of office premises, business 

premises, entertainment facilities and centre-based childcare facilities. This planning proposal is to 

amend the LEP to allow the ‘additional floor space’ to be used for: 

 information and education facilities 

47



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

27 

 artisan food and drink industry  

 recreation facilities (indoor) 

Development consent was granted for the Bourke Street site on 20 June 2019 (D/2017/564) for the 

purposes of a mixed-use development comprising retail, commercial, entertainment and residential 

uses. The detailed design included approximately 2,000sqm of entertainment facility floor space in 

the form of a 5-screen cinema complex, in addition to other retail and commercial space within the 

development. 

The approved development application for the site relies on 'additional floor space' allocated for an 

entertainment facility and includes a cinema. However evolving preferences for entertainment and 

COVID-19 are affecting the cinema market and use of that floor space in the short to medium term.   

Mirvac’s catchment analysis identified there is local demand for entertainment and recreation uses, 

contemporary music and architecture and design sectors for uses such as a creative bar, distillery 

or brewery, fashion design and textile incubator, and digital services. 

The planning proposal request intends to introduce flexibility for the use of floor space which in the 

approved development application was to be used for a cinema. These additional uses do not 

derogate from the intended outcomes of this site, which are to provide recreational activities and to 

realise the Town Centre as an activated and desirable place to live, work and visit. 

Figure 12 illustrates a potential concept to repurpose the cinema floor space for these alternative 

uses. The reference design demonstrates a potential distribution of new uses in the space and 

maintains the volume necessary to allow the space to be utilised for a cinema use in the future. A 

provision in the Draft DCP includes a requirement that development on the Bourke Street site be 

designed to include floor space which can be adapted to a cinema in the future.  

 

Figure 12 Concept to repurpose cinema floor space 

These additional uses are intended to facilitate a more flexible use of floor space to realise the 

Town Centre as an activated and desirable place to live, work and visit, with greater flexibility to 

more closely align to emerging trends.  

Why are changes to permitted land use required 

Ethos Urban prepared an Economic Assessment to identify the demand requirements for 

commercial and other supporting land uses in the Town Centre (Attachment A6). While the report 

was prepared specifically for the Botany Road site, the assessment of the economic need for a 

range of uses, and the likely economic benefits of these use on the surrounding area, is applicable 

to all sites within the Town Centre.  

48



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

28 

The Economic Assessment estimates that employment within the Green Square and City South 

Village will increase by 15,200 jobs between 2021 and 2036. It is estimated that population-serving 

and industrial related industries will account for the largest shares of employment growth. To meet 

the future demand for non-residential floor space, approximately 916,620 square metres of non-

residential floor space will be required by 2036. 

There is a significant pipeline of development within Green Square, however only a small 

proportion of that planned development is for non-residential buildings (see Figure 13).  

Botany Road site is the only purely commercial building in the Town Centre.  

 

 

Figure 13 Proposed developments within the Green Square and City South Village 

 

49



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

29 

The Economic Assessment outlines that major occupiers that typically locate at South Sydney 

often select the location due to its proximity to the CBD, Port and Airport, as well as the ability to 

secure sizeable floorplates at an affordable rate. 

The report predicts that the market for commercial office floor space in South Sydney is likely to 

remain challenging as a result of subdued market demand and the level of new development 

activity that will continue to occur in the metropolitan and city fringe markets.  

Key precincts of most directly competitive relevance to South Sydney would include the city fringe 

market (Pyrmont, Redfern, Surry Hills, South Eveleigh) as well as Macquarie Park. These markets 

share several similar characteristics to likely commercial floor space in South Sydney including 

proximity to the CBD, access to public transport, as well as the ability to provide modern floor 

space across larger floorplates than is typically achievable in larger core commercial office 

markets. 

5.1.4. Draft DCP 

A draft DCP has been prepared to amend the Town Centre DCP and align it with this planning 

proposal. The draft DCP does not form part of this planning proposal.  

In summary, the draft DCP will  

 continue to identify a through site link between the buildings on the Botany Road site (from 

Botany Road to Hinchcliffe Street), 10 metres in height (the first 2 storeys), which is to be 

provided to council as an easement for public access at the development application stage;  

 limit the length of the sky bridge on the Botany Road site to 20 metres, measured from 

Botany Road to Hinchcliffe Street. While the overall depth of the buildings is about 29m, the 

positioning of the sky bridge between the buildings, and the setbacks from the Botany Road 

frontage and the Hinchcliffe Street frontages is to be determined in the development 

application process; and 

 amend key figures in the Town Centred DCP to facilitate a wider range of uses on the first 

two storeys on the Botany Road site; and 

 require that development on the Bourke Street site be designed to include floor space 

which can be adapted to a cinema in the future. 

The draft DCP will be publicly exhibited alongside this planning proposal, if it receives Gateway 

determination.  

5.2 Need for the planning proposal 

Q1. Is the planning proposal the result of any strategic study or report?  

This planning proposal is a result of a request from the landowner to change the planning controls 

that relate to the subject sites. The landowner has undertaken and provided economic 

assessment, wind impact review and urban design analysis to justify the need for an amendment 

to the planning controls. 

Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended 

outcomes, or is there a better way?  

The Town Centre LEP limits the permissible uses eligible for additional floor space. Allowing 

additional land uses in line with updated economic analysis requires an amendment to the LEP, 

and a planning proposal is the only possible way of achieving this. 

Amending the height maps with a planning proposal will enable an improved urban design and 

economic outcome for the delivery of a skybridge than could be achieved under the current height 

of buildings maps. This can only be achieved by way of a planning proposal. 

50



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

30 

5.3 Relationship to the strategic planning framework 
Q3. Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the applicable 
regional or sub-regional strategy (including any exhibited draft plans or strategies)?  

Yes. This planning proposal is consistent with the relevant objectives and actions of the applicable 

regional or sub-regional strategy as summarised below. 

Greater Sydney Region Plan 

A Metropolis of Three Cities – The Greater Sydney Region Plan is the Greater Sydney 

Commission’s strategic plan for Greater Sydney. It is a 20-year plan with a 40-year vision, seeking 

to transform Greater Sydney into a metropolis of three distinct but connected cities: the Eastern 

Harbour City, the Central River City and the Western Parkland City. 

The overarching aspirations of this strategy are: 

 liveability; 

 productivity; 

 sustainability; and 

 infrastructure and collaboration. 

This planning proposal is consistent with the following objectives of the Greater Sydney Region 

Plan: 

 Objective 15: The Eastern, GPOP and Western Economic Corridors are better connected 

and more competitive – Green Square Town Centre is identified in the Region Plan as an 

important contributor to the Eastern Economic Corridor. By enabling development of two 

sites in the Town Centre this planning proposal contributes to this objective to strengthen 

the economic opportunities of the Eastern Economic Corridor. 

 Objective 22: Investment and business activity in centres - By expanding the additional land 

uses that can be delivered on the sites, including to health and education uses, this 

planning proposal is enabling development of two crucial sites to Green Square’s economic 

role as a strategic centre and delivering new floor space for jobs. Expanding the uses that 

may access additional floor space to education and health uses, among others, will allow 

Green Square to better attract a diverse range of investment, business activity and jobs and 

contribute to its role as a strategic centre. Development of two key sites in the Town 

Centre, including the first purely commercial site, will assist in building wider understanding 

of the Town Centre as an economic centre and attracting future commercial development 

and additional floor space for jobs. 

 

Eastern City District Plan 

The Eastern City District Plan sets out the Greater Sydney Commission’s vision for the Eastern 

City District, of which the City of Sydney is a part. This planning proposal is consistent with the 

following planning priorities of the Eastern City District Plan:  

 Planning priority E10: Delivering integrated land use and transport planning and a 30-

minute city – Delivering retail, commercial and other economic uses in the Town Centre is a 

crucial part of delivering the 30-minute city vision for the City South. As a well-connected 

area at the centre of public transport, road, cycling and pedestrian networks in the City 

South area, commercial and retail floor space in the Town Centre will allow residents 

convenient access to jobs, shops and the services they need within short travel distances. 

This planning proposal enables the development of a major commercial site in the Town 

Centre, as well as a site with a retail and commercial component in a central and high 

visibility location in the Town Centre. By widening the land uses that can access additional 

51



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

31 

floor space, this planning proposal will allow the Town Centre to support a more diverse 

range of services and economic activity for residents in the wider area. 

 Planning priority E11: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs in strategic 

centres - This planning proposal will enable development of two key sites for the Green 

Square Town Centre and unlock their contribution to growth of jobs and economic activity in 

the Green Square – Mascot strategic centre. Development of a commercial site in the Town 

Centre will encourage additional commercial development through spill over effects and 

better recognition of the Town Centre as an emerging economic and business centre. 
 
Q4. Is the planning proposal consistent with council’s local strategy or other local strategic 
plans?  

Yes. This planning proposal is consistent with relevant local strategies and plans as summarised 

below. 

Sustainable Sydney 2030 

Sustainable Sydney 2030 is the vision for sustainable development of the City of Sydney to 2030 

and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City. The plan outlines the 

City’s vision for a green, global and connected city and sets targets, objectives and actions to 

achieve this vision. This planning proposal is aligned with the following relevant strategic directions 

and objectives: 

 A globally competitive and innovative city, including: 

1.1 Plans are in place to accommodate growth and change in the city centre and other key 

economic areas 

1.2 The city economy is competitive, prosperous and inclusive 

1.3 The city economy is an integrated network of sectors, markets and high performing clusters 

1.5 The city enhances its global position and attractiveness as a destination for people, 

business and investment 

 Resilient and inclusive local communities, including: 

6.3 Local economies are resilient, meet the needs of their community, and provide 

opportunities for people to realise their potential 

 

City Plan 2036: Local Strategic Planning Statement 

The City of Sydney Local Strategic Planning Statement (planning statement), adopted by Council 

in February 2020, sets out the land use planning context, 20-year vision and planning priorities to 

positively guide change towards the City’s vision for a green, global and connected city. The 

planning statement explains how the planning system will manage that change to achieve the 

desired outcomes and guides future changes to controls.  

In giving effect to the planning statement, this planning proposal delivers on the following priorities 

and actions: 

 Action L2.1: Plan for local communities to be able to access daily needs and essential 

services, including fresh food and health and personal services, within walking distance by 

providing an appropriate mix of uses, including local retail, services, infrastructure and 

recreation, in local and neighbourhood centres and mixed-use zones supported by 

adequate floor space on the ground floor (and adjacent floors where appropriate). 

By widening the uses that can take up additional floor space on sites in the Town 

Centre this planning proposal will enable a wider range of businesses and services 

to establish in a well located area within easy walking distance of residents. 

52



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

32 

 Action G1.6: Ensure planning proposal requests are consistent with the ‘Principles for 

Growth’. 

This planning proposal aligns with the strategic principles for growth, particularly the 

principle that proposals must give consideration to strategically valuable land uses 

that are under-provided by the market, and the principle that proposals must not 

compromise non-residential development needed to meet employment targets for 

centres. 

This planning proposal does not involve additional development capacity so does 

not require a full assessment against all the principles for growth to be consistent 

with the Local Strategic Planning Statement. 

Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental Planning 

Policies (SEPPs)? 

This planning proposal is consistent with all applicable State Environmental Planning Policies 

(SEPPs), as summarised in Table 2. 

 

State Environmental Planning Policy Comment 

SEPP No 19—Bushland in Urban Areas  Not applicable. 

SEPP No 21—Caravan Parks Not applicable. 

SEPP No 33—Hazardous and Offensive 

Development 
Not applicable. 

SEPP No 36—Manufactured Home Estates  Not applicable. 

SEPP No 47—Moore Park Showground  Not applicable. 

SEPP No 50—Canal Estate Development  Not applicable. 

SEPP No 55—Remediation of Land  
Consistent - This planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 64—Advertising and Signage  
Consistent - This planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 65—Design Quality of Residential 
Apartment Development 

 

Consistent - This planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 70—Affordable Housing (Revised 
Schemes) 

 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal does not 
contain provisions that contradict or would 
hinder the application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Aboriginal Land) 2019  Not applicable. 

SEPP (Activation Precincts) 2020 Not applicable. 

SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009  

 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal does not 
contain provisions that contradict or would 
hinder the application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 
2004 

Consistent - This planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 
planning proposal 

53



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

33 

SEPP (Coastal Management) 2018  Not applicable. 

SEPP (Concurrences and Consents) 2018  
Consistent – This planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Educational Establishments and Child 
Care Facilities) 2017 

Consistent – This Planning proposal will 
enable development for educational 
establishments and child care facilities on 
the Botany Road site, and does not hinder 
application of the SEPP for future 
development or contradict the objectives of 
the SEPP. 

SEPP (Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

Consistent - This planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Gosford City Centre) 2018  Not applicable. 

SEPP (Housing for Seniors or People with a 
Disability) 2004 

Consistent - This planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP 
 

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 
Consistent - This planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Koala Habitat Protection) 2020  

 
Not applicable. 

SEPP (Koala Habitat Protection) 2021 Not applicable. 

SEPP (Kosciuszko National Park— Alpine 
Resorts) 2007 

Not applicable. 

 

SEPP (Kurnell Peninsula) 1989  Not applicable. 

SEPP (Mining, Petroleum Production 
and Extractive Industries) 2007 
 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989  Not applicable. 

SEPP (Primary Production and Rural 
Development) 2019 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (State and Regional Development) 
2011  

 
Not applicable. 

SEPP (State Significant Precincts) 2005  
Not applicable. 
 

SEPP (Sydney Drinking Water Catchment) 
2011  
 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Sydney Region Growth Centres) 2006  Not applicable. 

SEPP (Three Ports) 2013  Not applicable. 

SEPP (Urban Renewal) 2010  

 
Not applicable. 

SEPP (Vegetation in Non-Rural Areas) 2017  Not applicable. 

54



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

34 

SEPP (Western Sydney Parklands) 2009  

 
Not applicable. 

SEPP (Western Sydney Employment Area) 
2009 

Not applicable. 

Table 2 Consistency with SEPPs 

Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Section 9.1 Ministerial Directions? 

This planning proposal is consistent with all Ministerial Directions issued under section 9.1 of the 

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, as summarised in Table 3. 

Ministerial Direction Comment 

1. Employment and Resources  

1.1 Business and Industrial Zones This planning proposal is consistent with this Direction 

and meets its objectives to encourage employment 

growth in suitable location and support the viability of 

identified centres. 

1.2 Rural Zones Not applicable 

1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production 

and Extractive Industries 

Not applicable 

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture Not applicable 

1.5 Rural Lands Not applicable 

2. Environment and Heritage  

2.1 Environment Protection Zones Not applicable 

2.2 Coastal Management Not applicable 

2.3 Heritage Conservation The sites subject to this planning proposal do not contain 

a heritage item and are not within a heritage conservation 

area. The sites are within an area that has been subject 

to significant planning and heritage investigation in recent 

times, so the existing environmental planning instruments 

that apply to the land are sufficient to protect 

environmental and Indigenous heritage. 

2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas Not applicable 

2.5 Application of E2 and E3 Zones 

and Environmental Overlays in Far 

North Coast LEPs 

Not applicable 

2.6 Remediation of Contaminated 

Land 

Both sites are subject to an overarching Remediation 

Action Plan (RAP) prepared by JBS&G in 2013. This RAP 

concludes that the sites can be made suitable for the 

intended uses, including the expanded uses permissible 

with this planning proposal, if the measures 

recommended in the RAP are implemented. One of these 

55



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

35 

measures are for specific RAPs to be prepared for each 

site. 

A RAP was submitted as part of the approved 

development consent for the Bourke Street site, which 

concludes that the site can be made suitable for mixed 

uses if remediated and managed in accordance with the 

RAP. 

The Botany Road site has not been subject to a previous 

consent so there is no previous RAP on file. However, in 

accordance with the overarching RAP for the Town 

Centre one will be required as part of any future 

development application. 

3. Housing, Infrastructure and 

Urban Development 

 

3.1 Residential Zones This planning proposal continues an existing planning 

control which limits delivery of residential development on 

the Botany Road site. The planning proposal does not 

contain provisions which further reduce the permissible 

residential density of this site, so is consistent with the 

Direction. 

3.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured 

Home Estates 

Not applicable 

3.4 Integrating Land Use and 

Transport 

This planning proposal is consistent with this Direction 

and meets its objectives by enabling development of 

housing, jobs and services in a location well served by 

public transport, cycling and pedestrian networks. 

3.5 Development Near Regulated 

Airports and Defence Airfields 

This planning proposal does not involve changing existing 

height controls in a way that will affect the effective and 

safe operation of Sydney Airport. The height control 

change is limited to how a sky bridge can be delivered, 

which will continue to be lower than the permissible 

height of the two buildings it links.  

3.6 Shooting Ranges Not applicable 

3.7 Reduction in non-hosted short-

term rental accommodation period 

Not applicable 

4. Hazard and Risk  

4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils The objective of this Direction is to avoid significant 

adverse environmental impacts from the use of land that 

has a probability of containing acid sulfate soils. 

Both sites are categorised as Class 5 areas, where acid 

sulfate soils are not typically found. This planning 

proposal does not involve intensification of land uses on 

the subject sites. 

56



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

36 

4.2 Mine Subsidence and Unstable 

Land 

Not applicable 

4.3 Flooding Consistent.  

The Botany Road site is identified to be affected by all 

three of these events to varying extents. 

This planning proposal does not include increasing the 

density of the Botany Road site and does not include 

expanding the permissibility of uses under its B4 – Mixed 

Use zoning. 

This planning proposal does introduce the ability for 

centre-based childcare facilities and health services 

facilities (including hospitals) to access additional floor 

space on the Botany Road site. The Direction says these 

land uses cannot be permitted on flood affected land 

where the occupants of the development cannot 

effectively evacuate. The flood modelling does not result 

in total inundation of the site and surrounding streets, so 

measures to ensure evacuation is a consideration for a 

detailed development application that includes these 

specific land uses. 

The Bourke Street site is not identified to be affected by 

flooding in the City’s forecast 5% or 1% annual 

exceedance probability flood events, or a probable 

maximum flood event. 

4.4 Planning for Bushfire Protection Not applicable 

5. Regional Planning  

5.2 Sydney Drinking Water 

Catchments 

Not applicable 

5.3 Farmland of State and Regional 

Significance on the NSW Far North 

Coast 

Not applicable 

5.4 Commercial and Retail 

Development along the Pacific 

Highway, North Coast 

Not applicable 

5.9 North West Rail Link Corridor 

Strategy  

Not applicable 

5.10 Implementation of Regional 

Plans 

This planning proposal is consistent with the Region Plan, 

as discussed in detail under question 3 (above) of the 

planning proposal. 

5.11 Development of Aboriginal Land 

Council land 

Not applicable 

6. Local Plan Making  

57



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

37 

6.1 Approval and Referral 

Requirements 

Consistent. This planning proposal does not include 

concurrence, consultation or referral provisions or identify 

any developments as designated development. 

6.2 Reserving Land for Public 

Purposes 

Not applicable 

6.3 Site Specific Provisions Inconsistent. This planning proposal maintains detailed 

urban design planning for the Green Square Town 

Centre. This is required to meet the original master 

planned vision for the Town Centre and ensure all lots 

develop in a cohesive and sympathetic manner. The site-

specific provisions are the only way to achieve the 

original master planned vision for the Town Centre.  

7. Metropolitan Planning  

7.3 Parramatta Road Corridor Urban 

Transformation Strategy 

Not applicable 

7.4 Implementation of North West 

Priority Growth Area – Land Use and 

Infrastructure Implementation Plan 

Not applicable 

7.5 Implementation of Greater 

Parramatta Priority Growth Area 

Interim Land use and Infrastructure 

Implementation Plan 

Not applicable 

7.6 Implementation of Wilton Priority 

Growth Area Interim Land Use and 

Infrastructure Implementation Plan 

Not applicable 

7.7 Implementation of Glenfield to 

Macarthur Urban renewal Corridor 

Not applicable 

7.8 Implementation of Western 

Sydney Aerotropolis Plan 

Not applicable 

7.9 Implementation of Bayside West 

Precincts 2036 Plan 

Not applicable 

7.10 Implementation of Planning 

Principles for the Cooks Cove 

Precinct 

Not applicable 

7.11 Implementation of St Leonards 

and Crows Nest 2036 Plan 

Not applicable 

7.12 Implementation of Greater 

Macarthur 2040 

Not applicable 

7.13 Implementation of the Pyrmont 

Peninsula Place Strategy 

Not applicable 

Table 3 Consistency with Section 9.1 Ministerial Directions 

58



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

38 

5.4 Environmental, social and economic impact 
Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or 
ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the 
proposal? 
No. it is unlikely that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, 
or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of this planning proposal. 
 
Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning proposal and 
how are they proposed to be managed? 
There any no other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning proposal. 
 
Q9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects? 
Yes. This planning proposal addresses the social and economic effect of the proposed changes in 
Section 5.1. An economic assessment of the proposed changes is provided at Attachment C. 

5.5 State and Commonwealth interests 
Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 

Yes. This planning proposal does not increase the demand for public infrastructure.  

 
Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in 
accordance with the Gateway determination? 

To be determined in further consultation with public authorities following Gateway determination. 

 

 

 

59



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

39 

6. Mapping 
This planning proposal is to amend the Height of Buildings Map in the Town Centre LEP as shown 

at Figure 14.  

60



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

40 

 

Figure 14 Proposed change to Height of Buildings Map 

61



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

41 

7. Community 
consultation 
Public consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the Gateway 

determination. 

It is proposed that, at a minimum, this will involve the notification of the public exhibition of this 

planning proposal on the City of Sydney website and in writing to the owners and occupiers of 

adjoining and nearby properties and relevant community groups. 

It is expected this planning proposal will be publicly exhibited for at least 28 days. 

It is proposed that exhibition material will be made available on the City of Sydney website. 

Consultation with relevant NSW agencies and authorities and other relevant organisations will be 

undertaken in accordance with the Gateway determination. 

62



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

42 

8. Project timeline 
The anticipated timeline for completion of this planning proposal is as follows: 

Stage Timeframe 

Gateway determination December 2021 

Public exhibition and government agency consultation January 2022 - February 2022 

Consideration of submissions March 2022 

Post exhibition consideration of proposal by Council / CSPC May 2022 

Drafting of LEP provisions June 2022 

Finalisation of LEP and DCP  July 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

63



Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland 

43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

64



Attachment A1 

Planning Proposal Request 

65



 

 Planning Proposal 

 

Green Square Town Centre 

Commercial Sites 8A & 8B 

 

Amendments to Sydney Local Environmental 

Plan (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 and 

Green Square Town Centre Development 

Control Plan 2012 

 

 

Submitted to City of Sydney Council 

On behalf of Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd 

 

1 July 2021| 2190436 

  

 

 

 

66



 

 

 

 

CONTACT  

Andrew Duggan Director aduggan@ethosurban.com   

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without prior written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. 

This document has been prepared by: This document has been reviewed by: 

 

 

Mercedes Janecek  1 July 2021 Daniel Howard 1 July 2021 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  Andrew Duggan 1 July 2021 

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. Ethos Urban operates under a Quality Management System. This 
report has been prepared and reviewed in accordance with that system.  If the report is not signed, it is a preliminary draft. 

VERSION NO. DATE OF ISSUE REVISION BY APPROVED BY 

2.0 Final for Issue 1 July 2021 DH DH 

 

 Ethos Urban Pty Ltd 

ABN 13 615 087 931. 
www.ethosurban.com 

173 Sussex Street, Sydney  
NSW 2000  t 61 2 9956 6952 

 

67



Contents 

Ethos Urban   
 

 

Executive Summary 4 

1.0 Introduction 6 
1.1 Background 7 
1.2 Consultation 8 

2.0 Site context and description 9 
2.1 Site context 9 
2.2 Site description 11 
2.3 Surrounding Development 12 
2.4 Green Square Masterplan 14 
2.5 Future Context 14 

3.0 Current Planning Controls 16 
3.1 Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square 

Town Centre) 2013 16 
3.2 Green Square Town Centre Development Control 

Plan 2012 16 

4.0 Planning Proposal 18 
4.1 Objectives and Intended Outcomes 18 
4.2 Explanation of Provisions 19 
4.3 Reference Envelope and Indicative Development 

Concept 23 

5.0 Strategic Justification 29 
5.1 Background to the Strategic Planning Framework 29 
5.2 Relationship with the Strategic Planning Framework 31 
5.3 Environmental, Social and Economic Impacts 42 
5.4 State and Commonwealth Interests 42 

6.0 Environmental Assessment 43 
6.1 Economic Impact Assessment 43 
6.2 Visual Impact Assessment 45 
6.3 Wind Mitigation 46 

7.0 Consultation and Project Timeline 47 
7.1 Community Consultation 47 
7.2 Anticipated Project Timeline 47 

8.0 Conclusion 48 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

68



Contents 

Ethos Urban   
 

Figures 

Figure 1 Site context within wider South Sydney region 9 
Figure 2 Site context within Green Square Town Centre 10 
Figure 3 Aerial image of GSTC Site 8A and 8B 11 
Figure 4 Photographs of the Site 12 
Figure 5 Photographs of the surrounding development 

context 13 
Figure 6 Green Square Town Centre illustrative masterplan 14 
Figure 7           Future Surrounding Context Diagram 15 
Figure 8 Proposed new Green Square DCP Figure 3.27 – 

Through-site links and arcades 20 
Figure 9 Proposed new Green Square DCP Figure 3.27 – 

Through-site links and arcades 21 
Figure 10 Proposed new Green Square DCP Figure 3.28 – 

Through-Site Link Sites 8A and 8B Section 22 
Figure 11 Proposed new Green Square DCP Figure 3.29 – 

Through-Site Link Sites 8A and 8B Plan 22 
Figure 12 Proposed Building Envelope Diagrams 23 
Figure 13 GFA Reduction Option 1: Ground and Level 1 

Reduction 24 
Figure 14 GFA Reduction Option 2: Reduction to Tower 

Length 24 
Figure 15 GFA Reduction Option 3: Atria and Ground floor 

reduction 25 
Figure 16 GFA Reduction Option 4: Atria and Western Façade 

articulation 25 
Figure 17 Indicative Development Scheme - Ground Floor 26 
Figure 18 Indicative Development Scheme - Podium 26 
Figure 19 Indicative Development Scheme - Tower 27 
Figure 20 Section Showing Through-Site Link 27 
Figure 21 Eastern Economic Corridor 33 
Figure 22 Green Square Waterloo Precinct Future Transport 35 
Figure 23 Mixed Business Zone Map 38 
Figure 24 Visual impact assessment - Botany Road south 45 
Figure 25 Visual impact assessment - Botany Road north 45 
Figure 26 Visual impact assessment – Through Site Link 46 
 

Tables 

Table 1 Future Development Surrounding the Site 14 
Table 2 Key land use planning controls that apply to the site 16 
Table 3 Summary of DCP Controls 17 
Table 4 Consistency with Greater Sydney Region Plan 32 
Table 5 Consistency with Planning Priorities 34 
Table 6  Consistency with State Environmental Planning 

Policies 39 
Table 7  Consistency with section 9.1 directions 40 
Table 8  Projected timeline to develop Sites 8A and 8B 47 
 

69



Contents 

Ethos Urban   
 

Appendices 
 

A Urban Design Report & Reference Scheme 

Architectus 

B Proposed DCP Amendment 

Ethos Urban  

C Economic Impact Assessment 

Ethos Urban  

D Desktop Wind Impact Review 

Arup 

 

 

 

70



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  4 
 

Executive Summary 

This Planning Proposal is submitted to the Council of the City of Sydney (Council) to request an amendment to the 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 (Green Square LEP 2013) for land relating to 

377 Botany Road, Zetland (Green Square Town Centre (GSTC) Site 8A and 8B (the site). Amendments to the 

Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan 2012 (Green Square DCP 2012) will be required to support 

this outcome. Ethos Urban has prepared this Planning Proposal on behalf of Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd (Mirvac).  

 

The purpose of this Planning Proposal is to principally exclude sky bridges connecting Site 8A and 8B from the 

existing height of buildings control on the site and allow additional complementary land uses applicable to the 

additional specified use floor space provision. These amendments, aim to support the vision intended for the site as 

the anchoring commercial development in the Green Square Town Centre. This will be done through facilitating the 

redevelopment of the site in a way that provides a flexible, attractive, and vibrant development that meets the 

changing needs of the Green Square Town Centre and provides a positive and meaningful contribution to the local 

community and wider economy.  

 

The Planning Proposal is prepared in accordance with Section 3.33 of the Environmental Planning & Assessment 

Act 1979, and describes the site, the proposed amendments to the Green Square LEP 2013 and DCP 2012. The 

Proposal is the culmination of pre-lodgement discussion between Council, Mirvac and the project team between late 

2019 and lodgement.  

 

To achieve the desired objectives and intended outcome, minor amendments to the Green Square LEP 2013 are 

proposed:  

 Amendment to clause 4.4A(2)(a) to allow additional land uses the subject of additional floor space provisions in 

the location mapped as Area 1; and 

 Insert a new clause into Part 6 Additional Local Provisions (clause 6.13) to exclude sky bridges connecting Sites 

8A and 8B for the purposes of prescribed maximum height of buildings provisions applicable under clause 4.3.  

A range of complementary amendments to Section 3 of the Green Square DCP 2012 are also proposed. 

 

This report provides a detailed strategic justification of the Planning Proposal, covering the background to the 

planning for the Green Square Town Centre as a Strategic Centre, Mirvac and Landcom’s Involvement in Green 

Square, the subsequent changing nature of the Town Centre, the ability for Sites 8A and 8B to offer a place for 

competitive and attractive commercial development and the resultant contribution of the Proposal in creating a 

vibrant and evolving urban village. 

 

The proposal recommended at the Site represents a visionary project that will embody a contemporary non-CBD 

development, delivering not only commercial office floorspace but also supporting uses that will create an active, 

vibrant destination for a range of occupiers. In this way, the project will be able to better attract and retain, both 

commercial office users and complementary uses, while enabling the Site to adapt and respond to changes in the 

market (and occupier needs) over time. 

 

Reflecting the uncertainty in the commercial office market, and the location of the Site in a non-CBD centre, adding 

flexibility in terms of floorplates and uses will ensure the development has a greater chance of being delivered 

sooner, and remaining viable over the longer term, for the benefit of strengthening the role of this strategic centre. 

 

The Planning Proposal will support a future development that will achieve a number of positive outcomes for the 

site, Green Square Town Centre and the broader renewal area, including:  

• The proposal is consistent with the objects of the EP&A Act, in that it promotes the orderly and economic use 
and development of land;  

• The proposal is consistent with the strategic planning framework for the site;  

• The proposal is consistent with the applicable SEPPs and Ministerial Directions;  

71



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  5 
 

• The proposal will contribute in a positive way to achieving the realisation of the Green Square Town Centre as a 

varied, vibrant and appealing strategic centre, with a primary focus for Sites 8A and 8B in providing for the 

needs of workers and visitors to the precinct; 

• The proposal supports minor adjustments to development parameters to allow feasible and suitable commercial 

alternatives to redevelop the site; 

• The proposed amendments will support the long-term viability of the commercial floorspace within the site, 

through allowing a diversity of uses that complement the site’s business and office premises which will create 

an attractive and enticing workplace for tenants; 

• The proposal will support an active and vibrant building and surrounding Green Square Town Centre through 

enabling additional complementary uses that creates a variety of activity and experiences; 

• The proposal will improve the allowance for adaptability for the buildings with Sites 8A and 8B, to provide for 

more efficient and interconnected floorplates that cater to contemporary commercial tenant requirements, by 

allowing a more contiguous bridge connection for improved access across the two components forming the 

subject site; and  

• The proposal will result in various economic benefits and create a natural extension to commercial precincts 

including the Botany Road Innovation and Technology Corridor in servicing the economic arc between Sydney 

CBD to Sydney International Airport and Sydney Ports. 

In light of the above, we would have no hesitation in recommending that the Planning Proposal proceed through a 

Gateway determination to public exhibition. 

  

72



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  6 
 

1.0 Introduction 

This Planning Proposal is submitted to the Council of the City of Sydney (Council) to request an amendment to the 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 (Green Square LEP 2013) for land relating to 

377 Botany Road, Zetland (Green Square Town Centre (GSTC) Site 8A and 8B) (the site). Amendments to the 

Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan 2012 (Green Square DCP 2012) will be required to support 

this outcome. Ethos Urban has prepared this Planning Proposal on behalf of Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd (Mirvac).  

 

The purpose of this Planning Proposal is to principally exclude sky bridges connecting Site 8A and 8B from the 

existing height of buildings control on the site and allow additional complementary land uses applicable to the 

additional specified use floor space provision. These amendments, aim to support the vision intended for the site as 

the anchoring commercial development in the Green Square Town Centre. This will be done through facilitating the 

redevelopment of the site in a way that provides a flexible, attractive, and vibrant development that meets the 

changing needs of the Green Square Town Centre and provides a positive and meaningful contribution to the local 

community and wider economy.  

 

This Planning Proposal seeks the following amendments to the Green Square LEP 2012: 

 Amendment to clause 4.4A(2)(a) to allow additional land uses the subject of additional floor space provisions in 

the location mapped as Area 1; and 

 Insert a new clause into Part 6 Additional Local Provisions (clause 6.13) to exclude sky bridges connecting Sites 

8A and 8B for the purposes of prescribed maximum height of buildings provisions applicable under clause 4.3.  

As required by Section 3.33 of the Environmental Planning & Assessment Act 1979 (EP&A Act), this Planning 

Proposal includes: 

 A statement of the objectives or intended outcomes of the proposed instrument; 

 An explanation of the provisions that are to be included in the proposed instrument; 

 The justification for those objectives, outcomes and provisions and the process for their implementation 

(including whether the proposed instrument will comply with relevant directions under Section 9.1 of the EP&A 

Act); and 

 Details of community consultation. 

This Planning Proposal describes the site, the proposed amendments to the Green Square LEP 2013 and provides 

an environmental assessment of the proposed amendment to exclude tower bridge connections within the site from 

the height of buildings provision and to allow an expanded range of land uses under the applicable Gross Floor 

Area (GFA) provisions. The report should be read in conjunction with the Urban Design Report & Reference 

Scheme prepared by Architectus (Appendix A) and specialist consultant reports appended to this proposal (refer 

Table of Contents).  

 

This Planning Proposal has been prepared having regard to ‘A guide to preparing planning proposals’ published by 

the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (DPIE). In particular, this Planning Proposal addresses the 

following specific matters in the guideline:  

 Part 1 – Objectives and intended outcomes; 

 Part 2 – Explanation of provisions; 

 Part 3 – Justification; 

− Need for the Planning Proposal. 

− Relationship to strategic planning framework. 

− Environmental, social and economic impact. 

− State and Commonwealth interests. 

 Part 4 – Mapping; and  

 Part 5 – Community Consultation  

73



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  7 
 

1.1 Background 

Green Square Town Centre Vision  

The Green Square Town Centre is the centrepiece in the 278 hectare Green Square urban renewal area in South 

Sydney. Green Square is one of Australia’s largest urban renewal projects, which by 2030 is expected to the be 

home to 61,000 residents and 21,000 workers. Originally established in 1996, detailed master planning for the 

Green Square Town Centre took place under the lead of Council in the mid-2000s, with Landcom becoming 

involved in 2009 to coordinate infrastructure delivery. 

 

The Green Square Town Centre has been envisioned as a high-density hub of employment, retail diversity, 

community, entertainment and residential land uses. Linear public domain and parkland runs through the spine of 

the town centre and connects Green Square railway station with the Green Square library, Neilson Square, the 

Drying Green and the Gunyama Park aquatic and recreation centre as key community assets that serve the greater 

Sydney local government area (LGA). Site location, context and key facilities are indicated in Figure 1 over the 

page. 

 

The Town Centre is highly accessible and continues to develop as stages are completed. Green Square is generally 

provided with good active and public transport accessibility through the Green Square railway station and adjacent 

bus stops, walking and public domain areas and cycling linkages.  

 

The desired future character statement for the for the Green Square Town Centre is established in the Green 

Square DCP 2013, which states as follows: 

 

The Green Square Town Centre will be the residential, commercial, retail and cultural centre for the Green 

Square Urban Renewal Area. When the Green Square Town Centre is complete, it will have the potential to 

accommodate approximately 5,850 residents and 9,300 workers, creating a new village hub for the southern 

areas of the City of Sydney.  

 

It will be a highly accessible place, providing good access to and from the centre, through walking, cycling or 

public transport. The Town Centre will provide a range of open spaces including parks and plaza areas which 

will offer places for relaxation, recreation and venues for community events. Shea’s Stream and its interpretive 

elements will be a key design feature along the east-west spine. Community buildings will be provided 

including the re-use of the heritage buildings of the former Royal South Sydney Hospital and a new community 

library at the heart of the Town Centre.  

 

It will be an exciting new centre that will set new benchmarks in public domain design and ecologically 

sustainable development. As a large scale urban renewal project, the Town Centre will demonstrate that cities 

can grow in ways that are ‘climate positive’ whilst still be economically and environmentally sustainable.  

 

As far as practicable, buildings in the Town Centre will be designed and constructed for connection to Green 

Infrastructure systems (trigeneration, non-potable recycled water and automated waste). 

 

Today, the wider Green Square Urban Renewal Precinct continues growing at an unprecedented rate, exceeding 

historical population projects and anticipated timeframes. 

 

An opportunity exists to complete the remaining developable sites within the Town Centre and bring a substatinal 

wider population to the area. This includes the core commercial elements, with more flexible built form and land use 

arrangements to inject vibrancy for future workers in Green Square and to offer greater diversity for existing and 

future residents and visitors to the area. 

Delivery of the Town Centre 

In October 2020, following 8 years of partnership, Mirvac acquired Landcom’s ownership in the future stages of the 

Green Square Town Centre which includes Sites 8A and 8B.  

The acquisition by Mirvac has allowed a fresh approach to consider various strategic planning elements in order to 

deliver upon the City’s vision for a thriving town centre with and active street life. This re-think will also enable 

optimising the remaining parcels within the Town Centre for viable redevelopment in an efficient manner. 

74



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  8 
 

Subdivision of Sites 8A and 8B 

Sites 8A and 8B were part of a wider landholding which also included Sites 8C, 8D, 19A and 19B. A Development 

Application (D/2016/612) was determined on 22 July 2016 for the subdivision of 377-495 Botany Road to create 

development Sites 8A and 8B as one lot.  

1.2 Consultation 

This Planning Proposal has been the subject of ongoing pre-lodgement discussion between City of Sydney, Mirvac 

and the project team. This has included correspondence and key presentations and discussions on the following 

dates: 

 11 December 2019; 

 10 December 2020; and 

 11 May 2021. 

The above meetings and subsequent written feedback from Council officers, have informed the scope of the 

Planning Proposal which is now presented for review. The Proponent and project team welcomes continued 

engagement with Council staff through the assessment of this Proposal. 
  

75



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  9 
 

2.0 Site context and description 

2.1 Site context 

Green Square railway station is located adjacent to Green Square library and public plaza, which is located some 

50m to the north of the site. The location of the site in the Green Square Town Centre ensures that it is accessible 

to a wide range of residential, commercial, retail, entertainment, recreational and cultural destinations as well as 

public transport services located within South Sydney.  

 

The site’s location within a regional context is shown at Figure 1.  

 

 

Figure 1 Site context within wider South Sydney region 

Source: Nearmap and Ethos Urban 

  

76



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  10 
 

 

The site is located within the City of Sydney Local Government Area (LGA) and is within the Green Square Town 

Centre, the Strategic Centre for the Green Square Urban Renewal Area. The site’s positioning within a more a more 

immediate local context is shown at Figure 2. 

 

  

Figure 2 Site context within Green Square Town Centre 

Source: Nearmap and Ethos Urban 

 
  

77



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  11 
 

2.2 Site description 

The site is irregularly shaped and has a total area of 4,322sqm with a northern frontage to the Green Square Plaza, 

a shared eastern boundary with the adjoining lot and the future Hinchcliffe Street, southern frontage to Geddes 

Avenue and a western frontage to Botany Road. It has a street address of 377 Botany Road, Zetland. 

 

The site has been cleared, with the exception of trees along the eastern frontage to Botany Road, and presently has 

chainlink fencing and hoarding surrounding the boundaries. The site is legally described as Lot 11 DP1199427, 

which is wholly owned by Mirvac. 

 

An aerial image and photographs of the site are shown at Figure 3 and Figure 4, respectively.  

 

 

 

Figure 3 Aerial image of GSTC Site 8A and 8B 

Source: Nearmap and Ethos Urban 

  

78



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  12 
 

 
The site as viewed from Green Square Plaza (north) 

 
The site as viewed from Botany Road (west) 

 
The site as viewed from Botany Road (south-west) 

 

The site as viewed from Geddes Avenue (south) 

Figure 4 Photographs of the Site  

2.3 Surrounding Development 

The area surrounding the site is characterised by a mix of uses including a library and community facility, new high 

density mixed-use residential, retail and serviced apartment uses, together previous low scale light industrial and 

business premises. 

North 

To the north of the site is the recently completed Green Square Library and Plaza which comprises a largely 

underground library with two geometric glazed built forms which rise three and six storeys above the ground. The 

majority of the Plaza area comprises hard and soft landscaping, and areas for leisure and seating for the public. 

Further to the north is a large 20-storey mixed-use building known as ‘Infinity by Crown Group’ comprising ground 

floor retail and food and beverage uses, a lower ground conference facility and mixed above ground levels 

comprising residential and serviced apartments. Further to the north is the 30-storey mixed-use building, largely 

comprising residential apartments, developed and marketed by Mirvac as ‘Ovo’.  

East 

To the east of the subject site is Sites 8C, 8D, 19A and 19B of the Green Square Town Centre, which are presently 

cleared with construction hoarding around the boundaries. Further to the east is a site known as the ‘Drying Green’, 

which is currently under construction by the City of Sydney for the purposes of a 6,212sqm town centre park. To the 

east-north-east is Site 15 between Pau and Portman Streets, which comprises 4 buildings between 4 and 24 

storeys which is present constructed by Mirvac as ‘Portman on the Park’. 

South 

To the south of the site comprises a large 9-16 storey residential development with ground floor retail uses at 499-

509 Botany Road which is currently under construction by Bridgehill and Lateral Estate. Further to the south is a 6-

storey residential development completed at 1-7 Sonny Leonard Street, developed by Bridgehill.  

79



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  13 
 

West 

To the west of the site are existing low scale light industrial and business premises developments at 324-338 
Botany Road. These sites are subject separate development proposals which are further discussed in Section 3.4. 
Photographs of the surrounding development are provided at Figure 5.  
 

 
Green Square Plaza to the north 

 

Green Square Plaza and Library, and ‘Infinity’ to the north 

 
Site 8AB as viewed from Site 4  

 
The Dying Green current under construction further to the east 

 
Residential apartment development to the south 

 

Residential apartment development the south-east 

 
Low scale light industrial development to the west 

 
Vacant lot to the south-west the site of the future east-west road 

Figure 5 Photographs of the surrounding development context  

80



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  14 
 

2.4 Green Square Masterplan  

The Green Square Town Centre is subject to a masterplan which has detailed planning controls, as part of the 

Green Square LEPs and DCP. An illustrative version of the master plan, prepared by Mirvac for indicative purposes, 

is illustrated at Figure 6 below. Stage 1 (‘Ovo’ and ‘Ebsworth’) has been completed providing large mixed-use 

buildings and residential apartments, with stages two ‘Portman on the Park’ under construction and three approved 

and currently in the pre-construction phase.  

 

 

 
Figure 6 Green Square Town Centre illustrative masterplan 

Source: Mirvac 

2.5 Future Context  

The immediate surrounding areas of the site and the Green Square Town Centre more broadly is undergoing 

extensive change, with the delivery of a number of new buildings currently underway. The future context of the site 

and a short development summary of these new buildings is summarised in Table 1 and illustrated at Figure 7.  

Table 1 Future Development Surrounding the Site  

Ref. Address Description of Development 

1 377-495 Botany Road, Zetland Approved Stage 1 model for sites 8C, 8D, 19A and 19B, comprising 

four residential buildings with ground floor retail uses ranging from 7 

to 24 storeys  

4 77-93 Portman Street, Zetland Approved mixed use development comprising for four buildings 

ranging from 6-23 storeys 

6 6-12 O'Riordan Street, 320-322 Botany Road 

and 324 Botany Road, Alexandria 

Design Competition won by Bates Smart in March 2021 for a 16-

storey commercial building.  

7 326-328 Botany Road, Alexandria Approved Stage 1 development comprising a 10-storey commercial 

building. 

2 338 Botany Road, Alexandria Approved Stage 1 development for the St George Community 

Housing, comprising a 10-storey mixed use development with 

commercial uses on the ground floor and residential above.  

81



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  15 
 

Ref. Address Description of Development 

3 340A Botany Road, Alexandria Approved car dealership which is currently under construction. 

8 511-515 Botany Road, Alexandria  Approved Stage 2 development of Sites 10A, 10B and 11C, 

comprising one 10-storey and one 8-storey mixed use building with 

ground floor retail uses and residential above. 

9 960 Bourke Street, Zetland Approved mixed use development comprising one 16 storey building 

and one 13 storey building.  

 

 

Figure 7           Future Surrounding Context Diagram  
  

82



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  16 
 

3.0 Current Planning Controls 

3.1 Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 

The Green Square LEP 2013 is the principal planning instrument applying to the site. The existing planning controls 

that apply to the site are identified in Table 2.  

Table 2 Key land use planning controls that apply to the site 

   

Clause 2.1 – Zone B4 – Mixed Use Zone 

Zone objectives (1) • To provide a mixture of compatible land uses. 

• To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other 
development in accessible locations so as to maximise public transport 

patronage and encourage walking and cycling. 

• To ensure uses support the viability of centres. 

Permitted without consent in the B4 zone (2) Home occupations. 

Permitted with consent in the B4 zone (3) Boarding houses; Centre-based child care facilities; Commercial premises; 
Community facilities; Educational establishments; Entertainment facilities; 
Function centres; Hotel or motel accommodation; Information and education 
facilities; Medical centres; Passenger transport facilities; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Registered clubs; Respite day care centres; Restricted premises; 
Roads; Seniors housing; Shop top housing; Any other development not specified 
in item (2) or (4).  

Prohibited with in the B4 zone (4) Extractive industries; Heavy industrial storage establishments; Heavy industries. 

Clause 4.3 – Maximum building height Site 8A – RL52 (northern edge) and RL115, Through site link - RL 22, Site 8B –  
RL 90. 

Clause 4.4 – Floor space ratio 0.3:1. Site area 4,322sqm / 0.3 = 1,297sqm 

Clause 4.4A – Exceptions to floor space ratio  Specified use floor space A building that is on land in an Area, and is used for a 
purpose specified in relation to the Area in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d), is 

eligible for an amount of additional floor space (specified use floor space) as 
follows— 
 

(a) Area 1, office premises or business premises—additional floor space 
not exceeding 44,400 square metres 

 

Total gross floor area – Clause 4.4 and 4.4A = 45,697sqm. 

Active Frontages  Active frontages are to be provided in accordance with the Active Frontages 
Map. 

3.2 Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan 2012  

The Green Square DCP 2012 builds upon and provides more detailed provisions than the Green Square LEP 2013. 

The site is subject to site specific controls, which set out more detailed controls in order to satisfy the development 

controls within the Green Square LEP 2012.  

 

A summary of the key relevant controls in the Green Square DCP 2013 is provided in Table 3 over the page.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

83



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  17 
 

Table 3 Summary of DCP Controls 

Control Provision  

Street Network and Hierarchy  12m wide local street along the eastern boundary of the site is to be provided. 

Access and Circulation  The northern boundary interface with Green Square Plaza should be pedestrian 
priority or a potential shared zone.  

Pedestrian priority (potential shared zone) along eastern boundary of Site 8A 

No vehicle entry off Botany Road. 

Through-site Links and Arcades  6m open to the sky east-west through-site link.  

3m wide fully clear glazed sky bridges my connect sites 8A to 8B at levels 
greater than 10m above the ground  

Land Uses Ground floor: retail 

First floor: commercial  

Second floor: commercial  

Active Frontages  Active frontages should be provided to all facades  

Uses along active frontages average with 5-8m 

Minimum of 15 tenancy entrances per 100m 

Building Height in Storeys  8A: 24 storeys with 8 storeys along the northern frontage  

8B: 17 storeys  

Integrated Basement Car Parking Integrated basement potential between Site 8A and 8B. Basement below internal 
access roads permitted. Vehicle access point at 8B from eastern new street. 

Street Frontages Alignments and Primary 
Setbacks   

Colonnade setback along northern boundary (6m clear at ground and first floor). 

Footpath widening setback of 1.4m at the ground and first floor 

Street Frontage Heights and Secondary 

Setbacks  

9 storey street frontage height and 6m secondary setback to the northern 

frontage of Site 8A.  

Maximum Floorplate  Site 8A: 1,340sqm 

Site 8B: 1,410sqm 

Design & Architectural Diversity Buildings to be separated by a minimum 6m between Sites 8A and 8B 

Buildings in excess of 45m in length to be designed with at least two distinct 

‘building components’ 

  

84



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  18 
 

4.0 Planning Proposal 

This Planning Proposal has been prepared in accordance with Section 3.33 of the EP&A Act and ‘A Guide to 

Preparing Planning Proposals’ prepared by DPIE, which requires the following matters to be addressed: 

 Objectives and intended outcomes of the amendment to the LEP (Part 1); 

 Explanation of provisions (Part 2); 

 Justification (Part 3); 

 Relationship to strategic planning frameworks; 

 Environmental, social and economic impact; 

 State and Commonwealth interests; 

 Mapping (Part 4); and 

 Community consultation (Part 5).  

 

The following Section outlines the objectives and intended outcomes and provides an explanation of provisions in 

order to achieve those outcomes. The strategic justification and evaluation of impacts is set out in Section 5 of this 

report. 

4.1 Objectives and Intended Outcomes 

The Planning Proposal seeks to amend the Green Square LEP 2013 relating to Sites 8A and 8B. Key objectives of 

the Planning Proposal are to:  

 First and foremost, contribute in a positive way to achieving the realisation of the Green Square Town Centre as 

a varied, vibrant and appealing strategic centre, with a primary focus for Sites 8A and 8B in providing for the 

needs of workers and visitors to the precinct. 

 Facilitate amendments existing planning provisions relating to Sites 8A and 8B that support minor adjustments 

to development parameters to allow feasible commercial alternatives to redevelop the site which are non-

residential and non-serviced apartment land uses.  

 Support the long-term viability of the commercial floorspace within the site, through allowing a diversity of uses 

that complement the site’s business and office premises which will create an attractive and enticing workplace 

for tenants.  

 Support an active and vibrant building and surrounding area through enabling additional complementary uses 

that creates a variety of activity and experiences. 

 Improve the allowance for adaptability for the buildings with Sites 8A and 8B, to provide for more efficient and 

interconnected floorplates that cater to contemporary commercial tenant requirements, by allowing a more 

contiguous bridge connection for improved access across the two components forming the subject site. 

 Enable an alternative scheme for the sky bridges on the site to create high quality building that will provide an 

agile, flexible and connected workplace which responds to the contemporary and modern environment designed 

for the needs of occupants.  

 Retain the present gross floor area, building heights development standards, together with other general 

development controls applicable in relation to built form requirements. 

  

85



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  19 
 

4.2 Explanation of Provisions 

4.2.1 Proposed LEP Amendments 

To achieve the desired objectives and intended outcome, a number of amendments to the Green Square LEP 2013 

are proposed:  

 Amendment to clause 4.4A(2)(a) to allow additional land uses the subject of additional floor space provisions in 

the location mapped as Area 1; and 

 Insert a new clause into Part 6 Additional Local Provisions (clause 6.13) to exclude sky bridges connecting Sites 

8A and 8B for the purposes of prescribed maximum height of buildings provisions applicable under clause 4.3.  

 

The proposed amendments are identified below. Words proposed to be deleted are shown in bold strike through 

and words to be inserted are shown in bold italics. 

Additional and Complementary Land Uses 

Clause 4.4A 

 

(2) Specified use floor space A building that is on land in an Area, and is used for a purpose specified in 

relation to the Area in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d), is eligible for an amount of additional floor space 

(specified use floor space) as follows— 

(a) Area 1, office premises or, business premises, retail premises, centre-based child care 

facilities, educational establishments, entertainment facilities, function centres, health service 

facilities and recreation facilities (indoor) —additional floor space not exceeding 44,400 square 

metres. 

Excluding Sky Bridges from Maximum Building Height 

In order to affect the intended outcomes of this Planning Proposal, it is proposed to insert the following clause into 

Part 6 Additional Local Provisions: 

 

6.13 Sky bridges at Sites 8A and 8B 

 

Despite the provisions of clause 4.3 and the height shown for the land in the Height of Buildings 

Map, development consent may be granted for sky bridges (with a width up to 20m) connecting 

Sites 8A and 8B up to height up to RL 90. 

 

This Planning Proposal does not propose any amendments to the Green Square LEP 2013 maps. 

4.2.2 Concurrent DCP Amendments 

In order to give greater certainty to the built form amendments of the sky bridges connecting Sites 8A and 8B, a 

range of amendments to Section 3 of the Green Square DCP 2012 are proposed. The amendments will again 

preserve the existing controls for Site 8A and 8B, whilst providing separate controls in relation to the sky bridges 

connecting the two buildings. The amendments support the objectives and intended outcome of the amendment to 

the Green Square LEP 2013.    

 

GSTC 3.3.5 Through-site links 

 

Provisions 

… 

 

6) Through-site links are only to pass through or under a building where: 

(a) the building’s height is greater than 3 storeys; and 

(b) the maximum distance of the link under any structure is 18m (with exception to sites 8A and 

8B). 

86



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  20 
 

… 

 

10) Between sites 8A and 8B, 3m 20m wide fully clear glazed sky bridges may connect the development 

sites at levels greater than 10m above ground level, in accordance with Figure 3.27: Through-site 

links and arcade, Figure 3.28: Through-Site Link Sites 8A and 8B – Section and Figure 3.29: 

Through-Site Link Sites 8A and 8B – Plan 

… 

(Existing Figure 3.27 proposed to be deleted and replaced) 

(New graphic below proposed to be inserted) 

 

Figure 8 Proposed new Green Square DCP Figure 3.27 – Through-site links and arcades 

Source: City of Sydney and Architectus  

87



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  21 
 

 

 

(New graphic below proposed to be inserted) 

 

 

Figure 9 Proposed new Green Square DCP Figure 3.27 – Through-site links and arcades 

Source: City of Sydney and Architectus 

  

88



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  22 
 

(New graphic below proposed to be inserted) 

 

 

Figure 10 Proposed new Green Square DCP Figure 3.28 – Through-Site Link Sites 8A and 8B Section 

Source: City of Sydney and Architectus 

 

(New graphic below proposed to be inserted) 

 

 

Figure 11 Proposed new Green Square DCP Figure 3.29 – Through-Site Link Sites 8A and 8B Plan 

Source: City of Sydney and Architectus 

 

(Subsequent Figure numbering and references in document to be amended as applicable) 

 

Further details of the proposed Green square DCP amendments to text and figures is included within Appendix B.   

89



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  23 
 

4.3 Reference Envelope and Indicative Development Concept  

In order to demonstrate the suitability of the Planning Proposal, Architectus have developed both a proposed 

building envelope and indicative refence scheme to provide a ‘test fit’ in support of the proposed planning controls. 

Further details regarding both the building envelope and indicative development outcome supported through the 

proposed amendments is provided within the Urban Design Report provided at Appendix A.  

4.3.1 Reference Envelope 

Base Envelope  

A proposed building 1envelope has been prepared to provide a maximum built form outcome in which to design a 

future building. The building envelope takes into account the proposed enlarged 20m skybridge connections, 

greater than 10m above ground level through-site link (yellow). Other existing development controls remain 

consistent with the planning controls under the Green Square LEP and DCP (orange) including building massing, 

height, setbacks etc. 

 

Refer to plan, elevation and model extracts of the theoretical maximum building envelope provided by Architectus 

below at Figure 12. 

 

 

Building Envelope – Elevation West  

 

Building Envelope – South West 

 

Building Envelope  – Podium Levels Plan 

Figure 12 Proposed Building Envelope Diagrams  

Source: Architectus  

90



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  24 
 

GFA Surplus / Relocation 

The above maximum theoretical envelope by virtue of the wider skybridges, results in an overall GFA which 

exceeds the maximum provisions of the Green Square LEP. Given the commitment by the Proponent to offset any 

surplus GFA to stay within the maximum allowable provisions, Architectus have provided 4 surplus GFA relocation 

scenarios which aim at providing additional building mass articulation zones to offset the wider skybridges which 

have a surplus GFA of some 2,119sqm.  

 

It is noted that these options are theoretical and indicative only, with a specific option or combination of options to 

be identified through the design excellence competition, which will follow the Planning Proposal process. 

 

For further details refer to Figure 13 to Figure 16 below, prepared by Architectus. 

 

Option 1 

  

Figure 13 GFA Reduction Option 1: Ground and Level 1 Reduction 

 

• 726sqm Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 

• 1,393sqm Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction 

 

Option 2 

  

Figure 14 GFA Reduction Option 2: Reduction to Tower Length 

 

• 84sqm Western horizontal façade articulation 

• 612sqm Setback tower corner to the north 

• 1,423sqm Setback tower corner to the south 

  

91



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  25 
 

Option 3 

  

Figure 15 GFA Reduction Option 3: Atria and Ground floor reduction 

• 750sqm Atrium bridge location 

• 621sqm Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 

• 748sqm Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction 

Option 4 

  

Figure 16 GFA Reduction Option 4: Atria and Western Façade articulation 

• 1,116sqm Western vertical façade articulation 

• 750sqm Atrium bridge location 

• 163sqm Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 

• 90sqm Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction  

92



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  26 
 

4.3.2 Indicative Development Scheme 

Ground Floorplate 

The indicative scheme illustrates a typical commercial-based development, with a primary lobby fronting Green 

Square Plaza, retail activation along Botany Road and the through-site link, and servicing and basement access 

fronting the new north-south secondary road to be named Hinchcliffe Street. Refer Figure 17. 

 

 

Figure 17 Indicative Development Scheme - Ground Floor 

Source: Architectus 

Typical Podium Floorplate 

The typical podium levels are located at Level 2-7 which incorporated the 20m wide sky bridges connecting Sites 8A 

and 8B, shown at Figure 18. These levels provide a typical Site 8A GFA of 1,229sqm and a typical Site 8B GFA of 

1,294sqm. 

 

 

Figure 18 Indicative Development Scheme - Podium 

Source: Architectus  

93



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  27 
 

Typical Tower Floorplate 

The typical podium levels are located at Level 9-16 which incorporated the 20m wide sky bridges connecting Sites 

8A and 8B, shown at Figure 19. These levels provide a typical Site 8A GFA of 1,050sqm and a typical Site 8B GFA 

of 1,294sqm. 

 

Figure 19 Indicative Development Scheme - Tower 

Source: Architectus 

Section 

The typical north-south section is shown at Figure 20. This extract depicts the necessary DCP setbacks and also 

indicates the 6m wide through-site link with minimum 10m clearance to the underside of the Level 2 podium 

floorplate and sky bridge. 

 

 

Figure 20 Section Showing Through-Site Link 

Source: Architectus  

94



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  28 
 

Gross Floor Area 

The reference scheme achieves a GFA of 47,816sqm. A numerical breakdown of the indicative reference design 

scheme is provided at Appendix A.  It is noted that this includes circa 1,980sqm of enlarged 20m wide skybridges 

which attribute to this total GFA figure. In order to comply with the LEP maximum provisions of 45,697sqm afforded 

to Sites 8A and 8B. 

 

A surplus of 2,119sqm of GFA is noted within the reference scheme which can be applied to the GFA surplus / 

reduction envelope scenarios which are indicated within Section 4.3.1. It is noted that the reference scheme is 

indicative only, with a final set of built form / design parameters to be identified and addressed through the design 

excellence competition, which will follow the Planning Proposal process. 

 

 
  

95



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  29 
 

5.0 Strategic Justification 

5.1 Background to the Strategic Planning Framework 

Planning for the Green Square Town Centre as a Strategic Centre 

Initial planning of the Green Square Town Centre commenced as early as 1996, with a long-term vision for the area 

in a strategic location 4km from the CBD and Sydney Airport. During this time, the then South Sydney Development 

Corporation was established to “promote, coordinate, manage and secure the economic development of the South 

Sydney Growth Centre with Green Square at the heart” (City of Sydney 2016). From 1996 to 2005, several studies, 

investigations and masterplans were undertaken to support the rezoning of the areas from primarily industrial uses 

to mixed uses. The intention was to create a new village hub including a range of open spaces including parks, 

plaza areas and community buildings with Landcom involved to unlock the necessary supporting infrastructure 

provisions. 

In 2012, a Planning Proposal was endorsed by Council to rezone Sites 8A and 8B to mixed use in order to achieve 

the employment capacity goal through providing an “attractive centre for commercial activities” while still creating a 

“vibrant town centre” (p.35, City of Sydney Planning Proposal Green Square Town Centre 2012).  

Since the 2012 Planning Proposal, Site 8A and 8B in particular has been envisioned as the anchoring of the 

Strategic Centre in providing for large-scale employment floorspace to the Green Square Town Centre.  

The broader Green Square and City South area is considered one of the fastest growing locations in Australia with 

an average annual growth rate of over 9.0% per annum in the period 2008-2018. This is almost five times greater 

than the Australian average over the same period and saw more than 20,800 new persons move to Green Square 

and City South area. Strong population growth is projected to continue in the Green Square and City South Village 

in the future, with 11,633 dwellings proposed in the period 2021-2036, resulting in some 25,194 additional people in 

the Green Square and City South area. 

When complete Green Square and City South area will have the potential to accommodate approximately 61,000 

new residents and 22,000 workers. The Green Square and Southern Area Retail Study (JLL Hassall, 2008) 

provided a number of recommendations, including bringing forward the development of the retail core of Green 

Square Town Centre as soon as possible to provide viable daytime and night time activity and to allow the Green 

Square Town Centre to achieve ‘critical mass’ / ‘Major Centre’ (now Strategic Centre) status. TH Review of Green 

Square and Southern Areas Retail Study (SGS 2016) recommended that commercial uses in the GSTC are 

required in the short to medium term to generate activity and fulfil its role as the primary centre for retailing and 

other activities in the area – thereby noting the importance of the GSTC to be strong, central and vibrant in order to 

be successful. 

Mirvac and Landcom’s Involvement in Green Square 

In October 2020, following 8 years of partnership, Mirvac acquired Landcom’s ownership in the future stages of the 

Green Square Town Centre, which includes Sites 8A and 8B. The acquisition by Mirvac has allowed a fresh 

approach to consider various strategic planning elements in order to deliver upon the City’s vision for a thriving town 

centre with and active street life. This re-think will also enable optimising the remaining parcels within the Town 

Centre for viable redevelopment in an efficient manner, with Mirvac commercially driven to achieve a development 

outcome which is in line with the planned vision. 

Changing Nature of Green Square  

While the Green Square Town Centre is anticipated to provide a large proportion of the expected 22,000 jobs to the 

area, Sites 8A and 8B have yet to be realised as the anchor for commercial development for the Strategic Centre. 

This is likely due to a number of factors – however what is clear is that in the intervening period, the nature of 

commercial office and business premises continues to change. This is being experiences together with the evolving 

workplace environment and overall diversification and flexibility in the co-location of compatible land uses in 

recreating a high amenity and vibrant centre serving the needs of workers, visitors and residents. 

Green Square Town Centre Sites 8A and 8B were originally imagined as a residential parcel early in the 

masterplanning phase, before being applied with GFA to support their development for commercial business 

premises, as the catalyst to deliver upon providing a significant employment hub in the Strategic Centre.  

96



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  30 
 

It is understood that high floorspace leasing costs in the Harbour CBD (i.e. Sydney CBD) has resulted in a trend of 

businesses moving south, drawn by good public transport provisions (LSPS, 2020). As such, Green Square has 

been recently identified for a potential business transformation ‘towards a range of higher-density, more knowledge-

intensive and creative industry employment sectors’ (LSPS, 2020). Other factors that have led to the changing 

workplace environment is the COVID-19 pandemic, which has seen a new and emerging push for more flexible 

workplace arrangements. This includes providing buildings that are capable of adapting their uses to create places 

of diversity, whereby uses can scale up or down over time in order to remain viable. As a result of the above 

changes, commercial buildings offering an increased diversity of uses and the need for planning flexibility to 

facilitate this outcome is a key change that the Green Square Town Centre must respond to. 

The City of Sydney Draft Employment Lands Strategy acknowledges that “as the Green Square Town Centre 

develops, new businesses, often knowledge based or creative in nature, will seek flexible spaces with out-of-

centre rents with the in-centre benefits of higher amenity and access to services” (Draft Employment Lands 

Strategy 2014) (Our Emphasis). This Planning Proposal seeks to provide the above through: 

 Creating more flexible, adaptable and accessible floorplates through the ability to more efficiently connect Sites 

8A and 8B at each level. 

 Allowing the provision of additional compatible and complementary land uses within a future development, that 

will not only serve to support and enhance the commercial and business offering within Sites 8A and 8B, but will 

also contribute to the amenity of visitors and surrounding residents.  

Sites 8A and 8B offering a place for competitive and attractive commercial development 

The Eastern Economic Corridor stretches from Macquarie Park, Chatswood, St Leonards, the Harbour CBD and 
Randwick to Green Square, Mascot and the international trade and tourism gateways of Sydney Airport and Port 
Botany (ECDP, 2018). It is noted that urban renewal within the Green Square – Mascot Centre has resulted in the 
loss of half the commercial office space within the precinct since 2014, a reduction from 400,000sqm to 200,000sqm 
due to new residential uses replacing employment generating uses at a higher density. Notwithstanding, Green 
Square–Mascot’s jobs estimate at 2016 is forecast to rise to between 75,000 and 80,000 by 2036 (ECDP, 2018). 
This places a firm requirement for sites such as Sites 8A and 8B to be unlocked developed in the short term for 
employment uses. 
 
Green Square however is in competition with other similar strategic centres within Greater Sydney such as 
Macquarie Park, St Leonards, North Sydney and Rhodes, where there is existing, or capacity for, office 
development with generally larger floorplate outcomes which may be more readily accessible and in many cases 
more affordable than equivalent premises in the Sydney CBD.  
 

While Green Square has a locational advantage, being 4.5km south of the Sydney CBD and north of the Sydney 

Airport and Port within the Eastern Economic Corridor, future commercial development within Green Square Town 

Centre must provide attractive and viable floorspace that is designed to accommodate current and potential future 

tenant requirements. Recent studies in Sydney reveal that ‘tenants want large and connected floorplates to allow 

business to get more workers on the same floor and improve social interaction in the office’ and ‘flexibility to allow 

the maximisation of circulation to encourage interaction’ (Achieving A-Grade Office Space in the Parramatta CBD, 

2015). Accordingly, to ensure the development at Sites 8A and 8B can accommodate occupant needs, floorplates 

must be able to provide flexibility, connectivity and accessibility. This will deliver diverse spaces to support the range 

of nationally important industries and clusters including financial and professional services, creative industries, 

information and communications technology and other knowledge-based industries and clusters, as expected for 

the Green Square Town Centre (LSPS 2020). 
 

Additionally, City Plan 2036 (Sydney LSPS) focus on continuing to develop knowledge inventive clusters in Central 

Sydney and the City Fringe (Priority P1 and P2), and in particular, developing the larger underutilised sites to 

provide larger floorplates that meet current tenant requirements. Accordingly, Sites 8A and 8B must be competitive 

with such commercial development on the City Fringe and provide a point of difference to ensure its viability.  

Creating a Vibrant and Evolving Urban Village  

The Green Square Town Centre within Green Square Urban Renewal Area is the largest and fastest growing village 

(LSPS 2020). Vital aspects of these villages are their convenience and vibrancy, achieved from the integration of 

land uses such as housing, goods, commercial, services and amenities, served by a network of ‘active streets’ 

(LSPS 2020). Not only does each village contribute to the local economy, they are integral to the culture, community 

and liveability of the city, enhancing the wellbeing of residents, workers and visitors (Economic Development 

Strategy 2013). 

97



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  31 
 

This sentiment is echoed in the objectives and priorities of the Region Plan (Objective 6, 7, 8 and 12) and the 

Eastern City District Plan (Priority E3, E4 and E6) under the themes of ‘a city for people’ and ‘a city of great places’. 

Great places are characterised by a mix of land uses and activities. The Explanation of Intended Effect for the Draft 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Design and Place) recognises the evolving nature of urban villages from the 

COVID-19 pandemic, and that well-designed adaptive communities incorporate mixed uses enabling key workers to 

live close to jobs with amenities and services close to home. This is reiterated in the Productivity Commission White 

Paper released in April 2021, as it states that allowing more flexibility in uses would not only be beneficial to the 

economy but the vibrancy of the local areas (p.295).  

As demonstrated within this report, the Planning Proposal primarily seeks to address the changing nature of 

commercial development in providing complementary uses such health, education and retail which will service both 

nearby residents and workers within the development. The integration of such land uses on the site within better 

connected buildings on the site will improve the viability of the development in the current workplace environment 

and create a more active place that is diverse and flexible in its nature. In addition, through the broadening of the 

land use definitions on the site, this will not have an impact on vibrancy and economic viability of the Town Centre 

and surrounding retailers. 

5.2 Relationship with the Strategic Planning Framework 

5.2.1 Q3 – Is the Planning Proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the applicable 

regional, sub-regional or district plan or strategy (including any exhibited draft plans or 

strategies)? 

Strategic Merit Test  

A Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals sets out that in order to answer this question, a Planning Proposal needs 

to justify that it meets the Strategic Merit Test. The consistency of this Planning Proposal with the mandated 

assessment criteria is set out below. 

a) Does the proposal have strategic merit?  

 

Greater Sydney Region Plan – A Metropolis of Three Cities  

The Greater Sydney Region Plan is the overarching strategy for growing and shaping the Greater Sydney Area. It 

sets a 40-year vision (to 2056) and establishes a 20-year plan to manage growth and change for Greater Sydney in 

the context of social, economic and environmental matters. The plan was adopted in March 2018, and seeks to 

reposition Sydney as a metropolis of three cities – the western parkland city, central river city, and the eastern 

harbour city. In the same vein as the former A Plan for Growing Sydney, the Plan provides 10 high level policy 

directions supported by 40 objectives that inform the District Plans, Local Plans and Planning Proposals which 

follow in the planning hierarchy. 

 

The proposal is consistent with the policy directions and objectives under the Plan, which govern growth and 

development in Sydney. Green Square is located in the Eastern Harbour City and is identified as a Strategic Centre 

and major asset within the Eastern Economic Corridor. The Plan recognises the Green Square Town Centre project 

as one of the most significant transformation programs in Greater Sydney. It is noted Green Square is one of nine 

major standalone commercial office precincts and has significant potential to provide employment floorspace due to 

its location and strategic context. In particular, the Plan notes that growth of existing and new commercial office 

precincts is essential to grow jobs and Greater Sydney’s global competitiveness. 

 

This Planning Proposal will align with the above strategic vision for Green Square through anchoring the strategic 

centre as a commercial hub, providing a more flexible and connected floorplates that a more diverse building 

offering that is more readily able to respond to the modern workplace environment and tenant demands. The 

Planning Proposal will also retain the employment floorspace of Site 8A and 8B through allowing compatible 

additional uses that improve the long-term viability of the development and supporting the office floorspace.  

 

By delivering a large commercial development that presents flexible and contiguous floorplates and complementary 

uses that improve the viability of the development in the current workplace environment, the Planning Proposal will 

support the following objectives of the Metropolis of Three Cities Plan, as demonstrated in Table 4 below.  

98



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  32 
 

Table 4 Consistency with Greater Sydney Region Plan 

Objective  Comment  

Objective 14: A Metropolis of Three Cities – 

integrated land use and transport creates 

walkable and 30-minute cities 

The proposal aims to allow additional complementary uses while still 

delivering the large commercial development envisioned for the site. The 

integration of land uses on the site will improve the viability of the 

development in the current workplace environment and create a more active 

place that is diverse and flexible in its nature. It also supports the 30 minute 

cities through allowing additional uses that are not just business and office 

use, such as health and education in a highly accessible location in Green 

Square.  

Objective 15: The Eastern, GPOP and Western 

Economic Corridors are better connected and 

more competitive 

The provision of wider sky bridges (up to 20m) from Level 1 to a maximum 

height of RL90 (connecting Sites 8A and 8B) will enable floorplates that are 

more flexible and connected, which are able to respond to contemporary 

tenant requirements. Combined with the ability to provide more flexible uses 

in the development, this Planning Proposal will improve the long-term 

viability of Sites 8A and 8B which is vital as the anchoring commercial 

development in the Green Square Town Centre.  

Objective 21: Internationally competitive health, 

education, research and innovation precincts. 

Informed by the Economic Report prepared by Ethos Urban (Appendix C), 

the proposal will allow use such as health and education which will diversify 

the Town Centre and improve the competitiveness of Green Square as a 

primarily strategic precinct. 

Objective 22: Investment and business activity in 

centres. 

As one of nine major standalone commercial office precincts, the planning 

proposal will encourage investment into the business and office uses at 

Green Square Site 8A and 8B through providing a commercial development 

that caters to the current workplace environment, centred around flexibility 

and large open plan and contiguous floorplates.  

Eastern City District Plan 

The Eastern City District Plan underpins the Greater Sydney Region Plan and sets the 20-year vision for the District 

through ‘Planning Priorities’ that are linked to the Region Plan. Under this Plan, the site is located within the Green 

Square Town Centre, as a strategic centre in the Eastern Economic Corridor (see Figure 21 below). The Green 

Square Town Centre is also identified as a ‘significant’ strategic precinct in the office market, and a supporting 

centre for the Harbour CBD. The Plan notes that while there is significant opportunity and pending investment into 

the office market, there is limited capacity in the Sydney CBD to attract such investment and increase the supply of 

premium grade office floorspace.  

 

Accordingly, new large sites that can accommodate relatively large floorplates, such as Sites 8A and 8B, hold the 

most development potential. Green Square is predicted to provide 200,000m2 of office floorspace to the Eastern 

Economic Corridor.  

 

 

99



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  33 
 

 

Figure 21 Eastern Economic Corridor 

Source: Eastern City District Plan 

 

The proposed amendments have been designed to support the commercial and office space in Green Square, 

through widening the sky bridges and allowing them up to a height of RL90, to provide efficient travel between both 

sites across the development. This will create floorplates that efficiently connect across the two sites, supporting the 

vision of large open office space as stated in the Eastern City District Plan.  

 

Due to the current workplace environment resulting from to the COVID-19 pandemic, it is important that new office 

development provides the flexibility in its intended uses to encourage a variety of activities at different times of the 

day, improving the viability and protecting commercial floorspace.  

 

The proposal will achieve the relevant planning priorities, as demonstrate in Table 4 above. A few of the key 

priorities have also been explored at Table 5 below in the context of the Eastern City District. 

 

 

 

100



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  34 
 

Table 5 Consistency with Planning Priorities  

Planning Priority  Comment  

Planning Priority E1: Planning for a city 

supported by infrastructure 

Aligning land use and infrastructure planning ensures that infrastructure is 

maximised, and that growth and infrastructure provision are aligned. The 

development of over 45,000m2 of floor space is aligned with additional public 

transport capacity being delivered by local and state government. The 

proposed amendments will protect such floorspace through creating flexible 

and connected floorplates that are attractive to tenants in the currently 

changing workplace environment, and improving the development’s viability 

through allowing additional uses to support the commercial floorspace. 

Planning Priority E10: Delivering integrated land 

use and transport planning and a 30-minute city 

The ’30-minute city’ model is a long-term aspiration for Sydney whereby jobs 

and services and strategic/metropolitan centres are accessible within 30 

minutes by public transport. This development is uniquely placed to benefit 

the ‘30-minute city’ model, by providing attractive commercial floor space to 

meet current tenant requirements within a highly accessible location 

surrounded by many existing and future residential developments, and 

thereby improve access to jobs. The provision of additional complementary 

uses will also provide services close to home for residents of Green Square. 

Planning Priority E11: Growing investment, 

business opportunities and jobs in strategic 

centres 

Green Square has been identified as a ‘significant’ strategic centre predicted 

to accommodate 200,000m2 of office floorspace. This Planning Proposal is 

aiming to deliver the anchoring commercial development to the Green 

Square Town Centre, which underpins it as an office-based precinct. As 

noted, the proposal will protect and support the approximately 45,000m2 of 

floorspace through allowing more flexibility in the intended uses, which is 

critical in the viability of contemporary workplaces.  

Future Transport Strategy 2056 

The Future Transport Strategy 2056, prepared by TfNSW in alignment with the GSC’s plans, sets out a transport 
vision, directions and outcomes framework for NSW to guide transport investment and policy. The aim is to achieve 
greater capacity, improved accessibility to housing, jobs and services and continued innovation in the transport 
sector.  

 

The Planning Proposal will best serve the objectives of this Plan as follows. 

 The proposal will focus on delivering a strong economy through connecting people with jobs through providing 

large format commercial floorspace in a highly accessible location in Sydney.  

 Supporting and encouraging people to the existing rail system, by providing significant employment 

opportunities and potential for diverse range of services in direct proximity to existing heavy rail station. 

South East Sydney Transport Strategy 

The South East Transport Strategy, prepared by TfNSW in alignment with the Future Transport Strategy 2056 

provides a guide to support future growth through transport investments within South East Sydney. The Strategy 

proposes transport enhancements to support the redevelopment of strategic centres such as Green Square. The 

Strategy identifies that the Green Square-Mascot is a key strategic centre with a large existing and still growth 

residental population, with the surrounding southern enterprise lands will be retained as essential commercial areas 

servicing the airport and port precincts and local residental areas.  

 

The strategy proposes a Metro station at Zetland, serving the eastern areas of the larger Green Square renewal 

area which will connect to the harbour, Randwick and La Perouse. New rapid bus lines are also proposed to 

connect Mascot to Green Square to provide safe connections through the centre to the Harbour CBD, Sydney 

Airport and Randwick, as shown at Figure 22.  

 

101



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  35 
 

 

Figure 22 Green Square Waterloo Precinct Future Transport  

Source: South Sydney Transport Strategy  

 

The Planning Proposal will support the proposed transport strategy through delivering an attractive and flexible 

commercial development which would be serviced by the proposed rapid bus lines and would be located a short 

distance from the proposed Zetland Metro Station. This would provide employment floorspace in close proximity to 

various transport modes which would significantly support the 30-minute city. 

Productivity Commission White Paper 2021 

In May 2021, the NSW Government realised the Productivity Commission White Paper 2021 in a series of papers to 

shape the productivity reform agenda in NSW. The White Paper acknowledges that in times of change for business 

operation, to boost productivity we need a more response and flexible planning system. Specifically, the paper 

states that flexibility and variety of uses in employment zones are both beneficial to the economy but also to the 

102



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  36 
 

vibrancy of the local area. The Paper indicates that employment zone reforms to allow greater flexibility in uses and 

therefore promote activity, have been a key asset in the NSW Governments COVID-19 Recovery Plan.  

 

The paper recognises the evolving nature of business models and activities, stating as follows: 

 

If the planning system is going to enable higher productivity, it must give business centre the greatest possible 

capacity and flexibility to do this. 

 

The proposed amendments have been designed to allow the envisioned development at Sites 8A and 8B to have 

the capacity and flexibility to simulate productivity during the current workplace situation resulting from the COVID-

19 pandemic. Allowing wider sky bridges across the building will provide the capacity, connectivity and openness 

required to deliver spaces that are attractive to tenants and align with the evolving nature and operation of business. 

The provision of additional uses while still restricting residential development will directly align with the conclusions 

of the White Paper, with the benefits of stimulating a variety of activity, and supporting the viability of the office 

floorspace through delivering a development that is diverse in its operations. This will not only create important 

clustering of business, anchoring Green Square as a competitive strategic centre, but also delivers vibrancy to the 

Town Centre.  

 

Accordingly, the proposed amendments to the Green Square LEP 2013 directly supports the Productivity 

Commission White Paper 2021 through improving both the capacity and flexibility of the development, ensuring it is 

more resilient to changes in the current workplace.  

b) Does the proposal have site-specific merit?  

Having regard to the following:  

The natural environment (including known significant environmental values, resources or hazards) and  

The existing uses, approved uses, and likely future uses of land in the vicinity of the proposal and  

The services and infrastructure that are or will be available to meet the demands arising from the proposal and 

any proposed financial arrangements for infrastructure provision.  

The proposal aligns with the above points, as follows: 

 It unlocks employment generating land uses in full accordance with the vision for Green Square as a strategic 

centre with a considerable quantum of employment floorspace.  

 It will protect and support the commercial floorspace of Site 8A and 8B through providing flexible and connected 

floorplates that are attractive to tenants, and allow complementary uses to improve the viability of the 

development.  

 It will facilitate an increased permanent employment generating activity. 

 The proposal will not increase the overall maximum height or permissible GFA on the site. The proposal is 

aiming to facilitate wider sky bridges to provide interconnected floorplates, while still maintaining the envisioned 

ground level through-site link between Sites 8A and 8B.  

 Located in direct proximity (50m) to the Green Square Train Station, there is existing public infrastructure that is 

capable of servicing the proposed site. 

 Strategic planning policy at the local, district and state level facilitate the growth of the Green Square Town 

Centre to support the strategic centre and the proposal will assist in achieving this vision through delivering the 

anchoring commercial development to the envisioned office based centre. 

 The site is within close proximity to social infrastructure such as Green Square Library, Nielsen Square and the 

soon to be completed Drying Green Park.    

Summary 

This Planning Proposal achieves the assessment criteria as it demonstrates both strategic merit and site-specific 

merit. Therefore, it is considered that this Planning Proposal meets the Strategic Merit Test. 

103



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  37 
 

Q4 – Is the Planning Proposal consistent with a Council’s local strategy or other local strategic plan? 

 

City Plan 2036: Local Strategic Planning Statement  

City Plan 2036 (LSPS) guides land use planning and the delivery of significant infrastructure across the City of 
Sydney until 2036. The Plan is designed to give effect to the Eastern City District Plan by ensuring consistency 
between corresponding objectives and visions between Council and the NSW Government. The LSPS identifies 
that the Green Square-Mascot Strategic Centre is the main precinct within the Southern Enterprise Area of the 
Sydney LGA. The LSPS recognises that the area around Green Square has potential for a business transformation 
from the former industrial activities towards a range of higher-density, more knowledge intensive and creative 
industry employment sectors.  
 
The LSPS states that the City of Sydney will continue advocating for business clusters within the Green Square-
Mascot Strategic Centre, as it states that maintaining areas for employment is crucial to meeting job targets within 
the precinct.  
 
More specifically, this Planning Proposal will support Priority P3: Protecting industrial and urban services in the 
Southern Enterprise Area and evolving businesses in the Green Square-Mascot Strategic Centre. The proposal will 
facilitate over 45,000m2 of floorspace to support evolving businesses. The proposed amendments will allow efficient 
connection across Site 8A and 8B to accommodate for the contemporary needs of tenants. The additional uses will 
support the viability create connected floorplates that cater to the evolving needs of businesses in the current 
workplace environment. 

Sustainable Sydney 2030 

Sustainable Sydney 2030 is the City of Sydney Council’s vision for the sustainable development of the City to 2030 

and beyond. It includes ten specific targets to achieve a sustainable Sydney, as well as 10 strategic directions to 

guide the future of the City. The achievement of a number of the targets and strategic directions are supported by 

the planning proposal: 

 Target 5 – 97,000 additional jobs in the City: The planning proposal sets to anchor Sites 8A and 8B as the 

primary commercial development in the Green Square Town Centre. The provision of additional uses while still 

providing the additional 44,000m2 of floorspace as specified in the Green Square LEP 2013 will allow the 

envisioned scale and density of development on Sites 8A and 8B to be delivered. Such additional uses will 

allow more flexibility in the development, provide diverse activity and improve viability to protect and promote 

jobs in the current workplace environment. Overall, the proposal will facilitate a development that will provide a 

significant source of new jobs to the City, supporting Target 5.  

 Target 6 – Trips to work using public transport will increase to 80%, for both residents of the city and 

those travelling to the city from elsewhere: The proposal will take advantage of the close proximity of the 

existing heavy train station and several high frequency bus routes.  

 Strategic Direction 5 – A Lively and Engaging Centre: The proposal will enable a greater mix of compatible 

uses on the site which will significantly improve the diversity and levels of day and night-time activation in Green 

Square compared to the existing areas which is current dominated by residential development.  

Economic Development Strategy 2020 

City of Sydney’s Economic Development Strategy is a 10 year plan to guide the vision of an even more dynamic, 

sustainable and liveability city. The Strategy identifies Green Square as one of three major village projects with the 

Green Square Town Centre at its heart, with a new retail, commercial and cultural hub for the area around Green 

Square Station.  

The $8 billion redevelopment will provide homes for 11,000 new residents and 22,000 new workers. While the 

majority of the residential development has already provided, or under construction, the anchoring commercial 

development at Site 8A and 8B which is aimed to provide a large proportion of the 22,000 new workers, is yet to be 

realised. This comes from a number of factors in the modern market, including the changing workplace 

environment.  

The Planning Proposal sets to realise the pivotal development planned for Sites 8A and 8B through the provision of 

flexibility in the permissible uses while still delivering the large floorspace anticipated for the site. The proposal also 

seeks to provide more connected floorplates, consistent with current tenant requirement trends who are seeking 

104



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  38 
 

office floorspace outside of the CBD. Both the proposed amendments will enable a more competitive and viable 

development to deliver the large development envisioned to cement Green Square as a strategic precinct. 

City of Sydney Employment Lands Study 2013 

SGS Planning and Economics was engaged by the City of Sydney to prepare the Sydney Employments Lands 

Study, which was undertaken to determine the long-term demand for industrial and business zoned land in the 

southern areas of the LGA. The study recognises that the commercial presence of Green Square is developing 

slowly, and that as the amenity of the areas increases over time, its accessible and competitive positioning will 

become a major assess of office employment.  In particular, the study states that accommodating future health 

facilities in Green Square Town Centre is appropriate provide such amenity to the area.  

 

The proposal aims to provide such amenity to the area through allowing a greater mix of compatible uses on the site 

such as health, education and childcare to service the surrounding residental area to create the competitive 

positioning for the office floor space of the development.  

 

SGS recommended that the ideal land use strategy for the area would be the mixed economy scenario which 

balances a range of uses.  Green Square Town Centre is identified as a mixed business area, as shown at Figure 

23, which should ensure sufficient flexibility to encourage and accommodate a variety of economic activities, as well 

as other uses to likely attract and support higher value activities in this area.  

 

 

Figure 23 Mixed Business Zone Map 

Source: City of Sydney Employment Lands Study  

 

This includes a vision for flexible land use zones to encourage employment activity in the zone and facilitate higher 

value employment such as offices. An objective of the mixed business areas was also to explore opportunities to 

encourage childcare and other local infrastructure needed to support the growth population in the areas. The 

proposal directly supports the findings of the SGS study through facilitating a development that allows for flexible 

uses such as health, education and childcare, which services the surrounding residential population to improve the 

105



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  39 
 

competitiveness of the area. This will support the delivery of the office floorspace envisioned for the area to increase 

the commercial growth of the Green Square Town centre.    

Central Sydney Planning Strategy 2020 

Whilst only applicable to the Sydney CBD, the Central Sydney Planning Strategy (CSPS) provides an insight into 

contemporary thinking in regard to how changing trends and floorspace drivers are handled in dense centres. The 

City have sought to ensure employment, social and cultural uses are delivered in Central Sydney through the 

CSPS. To this end and following consultation with the industry, the Planning Proposal associated with the CSPS is 

to be amended to include additional enterprise, activity and employment uses eligible for the ‘accommodation floor 

space’ bonus.  

 

The City acknowledge that this will encourage greater employment, social and cultural uses to support Central 

Sydney’s metropolitan centre role. These additional employment generating land uses include educational 

establishment, information and education facility, entertainment facility, function centre, light industry and health 

services facility. Accordingly, the subject Planning Proposal for Green Square Sites 8A and 8B is therefore receptive 

to contemporary thinking to incentivise diverse and varied new development to support employment generating 

floorspace. A more contemporary range of employment-generating land uses in necessary to spur modern 

development to meet the changing needs of centres. 

Q5 – Is the Planning Proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental Planning Policies? 

Yes. 

 

An assessment of the Planning Proposal against relevant State Environmental Planning Policies (SEPPs) is set out 

in Table 6 below. 

 

Table 6  Consistency with State Environmental Planning Policies 

SEPP Consistency N/A Comment 

 Yes No   

SEPP (Exempt and Complying 
Development Codes) 

   The Codes SEPP enables development which complies with the 
relevant codes to be carried out without the need for development 
consent, or in accordance with a complying development 

certificate as defined in the EP&A Act. Whilst the Codes SEPP 
applies to all sites within NSW, it is not relevant to the proposed 
LEP amendment.  

SEPP No. 55 Remediation of 
Land 

   State Environmental Planning Policy No. 55 – Remediation of 
Land (SEPP 55) seeks to ensure that contaminated land is 

remediated prior to development, to reduce health hazards or 
potential harm resulting from contamination. As per SEPP 55, it is 
required that when considering rezoning land, remediation works 

meet certain standards. To be considered at the DA stage. 

SEPP No. 64 Advertising and 
Signage 

   Future DAs will be assessed under SEPP 64, where any signage 
is proposed. 

SEPP Environmental Planning 
Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 

   Not relevant to proposed LEP amendment. May apply to future 
development on the sites.  

Draft State Environmental 

Planning Policy (Environment) 
   The draft SEPP (Environment) seeks to protect and improve key 

environmental assets for their intrinsic value and the social and 
economic benefits they provide, and has not yet been gazetted. 
The SEPP focuses on catchments, bushland, waterways and 

protected areas. The site is located in a densely developed urban 
area, and therefore the Planning Proposal does not have any 
significant bearings on any of these key environmental 

considerations.   

Draft State Environmental 
Planning Policy (Design and 
Place) 

   The Draft Design and Place SEPP was released in 2021 and is 
yet to be gazetted. This SEPP seeks to deliver new guidelines to 
assist in the design of new developments. Applicable to future 

DAs/ 

106



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  40 
 

Q6 – Is the Planning Proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions (s.9.1 directions)? 

Yes. 

 

An assessment of the Planning Proposal against applicable section 9.1 Directions is set out in Table 7 below. 

Table 7  Consistency with section 9.1 directions 

Direction Consistency N/A Comment 

 Yes No   

1. Employment and Resources 

1.1 Business and Industrial 

Zones 
   The Planning Proposal does not seek to amend 

the B4 Mixed Use zoning or reduce the available 
land zones on the site. Rather, the proposal will 
allow for greater flexibility in the permissible uses 

on the site, while still being able to deliver the 
envisioned commercial development on the site 
that will anchor a significant proportion of the 

expected jobs in the Green Square Town Centre.  

1.2 Rural Zones    Not applicable 

1.3 Mining, Petroleum 

Production and Extractive 
Industries 

   Not applicable 

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture    Not applicable 

1.5 Rural Lands    Not applicable 

2 Environment and Heritage 

2.1 Environmental Protection 
Zones 

   Not applicable 

2.2 Coastal Protection    Not applicable 

2.3 Heritage Conservation    Not applicable 

2.4 Recreational Vehicle Area    Not applicable 

3. Housing, Infrastructure and Urban Development 

3.1 Residential Zones    Not applicable 

3.2 Caravan Parks and 
Manufactured Home Estates 

   Not applicable 

3.3 Home Occupations    Not applicable 

3.4 Integrating Land Use and 
Transport 

   This Direction applies due to this Planning 
Proposal relating to a mixed-use zone.  

The Direction states that a Planning Proposal must 
be consistent with the aims, objectives and 
principles of: 

- Improving Transport Choice – Guidelines 
for planning and development (DUAP 
2001), and  

- The Right Place for Business and 
Services – Planning Policy (DUAP 2001). 

The Planning Proposal is broadly consistent with 

the aims, objectives and principles of the above 
documents in that it will improve the viability of the 
envisioned development on Sites 8A and 8B to 

provide additional employment and commercial 
density in an area well services by public 
transport.  

3.5 Development Near Licensed 

Aerodromes 
   Not applicable 

3.6 Shooting Ranges    Not applicable 

107



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  41 
 

Direction Consistency N/A Comment 

4. Hazard and Risk 

4.1 Acid Sulfate Soil    The site is not affected by Acid Sulfate Soils  

4.2 Mine Subsidence and 

Unstable Land 
   The site is not identified as mine subsidence or 

unstable land. 

4.3 Flood Prone Land    This Direction applies to a number of requirements 
to Planning Proposals relating to flood prone land. 
The site is identified as been flood affected, along 

with the majority of the Green Square Town 
Centre. The planning proposal is consistent with 
the relevant requirements of the Direction for the 

following reasons. The Planning Proposal does 
not seek to amend the envisioned built form in any 
significant way, nor does it seek any ground plane 

or floor level amendments.  

4.4 Planning for Bushfire 
Protection 

   The site is not mapped as being bushfire prone 
land.   

5. Regional Planning     

5.1 Implementation of Regional 
Strategies   

  Refer to Section 6.1.1. The proposal seeks to 
facilitate the aims and objectives of the Eastern 
District Plan.  

6. Local Plan Making 

6.1 Approval and Referral 

Requirements 

   This Planning Proposal is consistent with this 

Direction in that it does not introduce any 
provisions that require any additional concurrence, 
consultation or referral. 

6.2 Reserving Land for Public 
Purposes 

   Not applicable 

6.3 Site Specific Provision    A site-specific amendment to the LEP is sought 

that aligns with the existing development 
standards in the Green Square LEP 2013. The site 
specific provisions proposed are not complicated 

or onerous.  

7. Metropolitan Planning 

7.1 Implementation of A Plan for 
Growing Sydney (revoked) 

  ✓ Not applicable 

7.2 Implementation of Greater 
Macarthur Land Release 
Investigation (revoked)  

  ✓ Not applicable 

7.3 Parramatta Road Corridor 

Urban Transformation Strategy 
  ✓ Not applicable 

7.4 Implementation of North 
West Priority Growth Area Land 
Use and Infrastructure 

Implementation Plan 

  ✓ Not applicable 

7.5 Implementation of Greater 
Parramatta Priority Growth Area 
Interim Land Use and 

Infrastructure Implementation 
Plan 

  ✓ Not applicable 

7.6 Implementation of Wilton 
Priority Growth Area Interim 
Land Use and Infrastructure 

Implementation Plan 

  ✓ Not applicable 

7.7 Implementation of Glenfield 
to Macarthur Urban Renewal 
Corridor 

  ✓ Not applicable 

108



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  42 
 

Direction Consistency N/A Comment 

7.8 Implementation of Western 
Sydney Aerotropolis Interim 
Land Use and Infrastructure 

Implementation Plan 

  ✓ Not applicable 

7.9 Implementation of Bayside 

West Precincts 2036 Plan 
  ✓ Not applicable 

7.10 Implementation of Planning 
Principles for the Cooks Cove 
Precinct 

  ✓ Not applicable 

 

5.3 Environmental, Social and Economic Impacts 

Q7 – Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological 

communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the proposal? 

No. The Planning Proposal is unlikely to result in any impact on critical habitat or threatened species, populations or 

ecological communities or their habitats, given the site’s urban location. The site is currently devoid of any 

significant vegetation. 

Q8 – Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the Planning Proposal and how are they 

proposed to be managed? 

The site is an existing urban site which has been cleared for the purpose of the envisioned development at Sites 8A 
and 8B. Accordingly, the site is largely devoid of significant vegetation with no ecological value. There are no likely 
ecological impacts as a result of this Planning Proposal.  
 

Any future development of the site will be assessed against the environmental provisions of the applicable planning 

instruments 

Q9 – Has the Planning Proposal adequately addressed any social and economic impacts? 

An Economic Report has been prepared by Ethos Urban (Appendix C) for the proposes of this Planning Proposal. 

This Economic Report provides a commercial office, supporting use and economic benefits assessment.  

 

Ethos Urban consider that the proposal is suitable for the site given its prime position within one of the most 

important urban renewal projects in the country. The Economic Report concludes that will be no detrimental 

economic impacts likely to result from the proposed amendments to allow complementary uses such as health, 

retail and education facilities within the commercial building, and the proposal is likely to results in several additional 

benefits. This is further discussed in Section 6.1 below.  

5.4 State and Commonwealth Interests 

Q10 – Is there adequate public infrastructure for the Planning Proposal? 

Yes. The site is located approximately 50m from Green Square Rail Station. The site is also within the Green 
Square Town Centre Square which is one of the largest urban renewal projects in Sydney, that currently provide 
and will provide range of civic, recreation, retail, and residential facilities. Future development applications on the 
site will require investigation of the likely provision of services that will be required, however it is anticipated that the 
existing public infrastructure, including utilities, are adequate to service the area. The proposal does not seek an 
increase in floorspace, density or height – rather it seeks planning control changes to better enhance the site’s 
viability for redevelopment for primarily commercial purposes.  

Q11 – What are the views of State or Commonwealth public authorities consulted in accordance with the 

Gateway determination? 

The views of State and Commonwealth public authorities will be known once consultation has occurred in 

accordance with the Gateway determination of the Planning Proposal. 
  

109



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  43 
 

6.0 Environmental Assessment 

6.1 Economic Impact Assessment 

An Economic Report has been prepared by Ethos Urban (Appendix C) for the proposes of this Planning Proposal. 

This Economic Report provides a commercial office, supporting use and economic benefits assessment.  

6.1.1 Potential Commercial Office Assessment  

Ethos Urban have reviewed the potential for commercial office floorspace and concluded that while there is likely to 

be a solid opportunity for commercial office floorspace in the longer term, in the short to medium term, opportunities 

remain limited due to subdued market activity, strong competitive context and economic uncertainty. The economic 

report states that if a pure commercial office project was required at the Site, there is a very real risk that the project 

will remain delayed or undeveloped for an extended period of time as conditions in the commercial office market will 

need to improve and existing vacant space at competing locations absorbed. 

 

Accordingly, the development envisioned for Sites 8A and 8B must evolve to ensure it can be delivered to Green 

Square as a viable and vibrant building. Ethos Urban have concluded that it is likely that a mix of uses, including the 

provision of commercial office floorspace, would be more suitable at the Site to better align with market demand and 

the vision for the precinct overall. This way, the development will have the ability to provide commercial office 

floorspace that is appropriate to the South Sydney market demand and tenant needs at any given time, while also 

enabling the delivery of other uses that align with commercial office floorspace.  

 

The Economic Report states that while a mix of uses will improve the viability of the development its current context, 

the provided commercial floorspace must also evolve to cater to tenant demands and requirements. In recent times, 

there has been a move towards more open plan, flexible spaces that provide collaborative workspaces, seamless 

integration with technology and incorporate sustainable initiatives. This is particularly important in a post COVID-19 

environment, as the way business and office tenants use their space will continue to evolve, and the provision of 

large floorplates that can allow tenants to occupy whole floors, with flexible and active working spaces is a key 

demand driver for the current metropolitan office market.  

 

The proposal recommended at the Site represents a visionary project that will embody a contemporary non-CBD 

development, delivering not only commercial office floorspace but also supporting uses that will create an active, 

vibrant destination for a range of occupiers. In this way, the project will be able to better attract and retain, both 

commercial office users and complementary uses, while enabling the Site to adapt and respond to changes in the 

market over time. Reflecting the uncertainty in the commercial office market, and the location of the Site in a non-

CBD centre, adding flexibility in terms of floorplates and uses will ensure the development has a greater chance of 

being delivered sooner, and remaining viable longer term, for the benefit of strengthening its Strategic Centre role. 

6.1.2 Supporting Use Assessment  

Ethos Urban have conducted a supporting use assessment to provide an overview of the complementary uses that 

could be provided at the site. The high levels of population growth that is anticipated within the region, and several 

other factors as detailed in the Economic Report, will act as a key driver of demand for uses and occupiers in the 

health and education sector. The relatively limited provision of existing and planned health and education facilities, 

combined with the locational attributes of the Site, suggest that Site 8A and 8B would be an ideal location to provide 

these types of supporting uses. 

 

The Economic Report reviews two existing development cases that embody the mix of uses including providing 

contemporary commercial office floorspace along with education, health and other uses. The first being 2-6 Hassall 

Street, Parramatta and the second being Victoria University Precinct, Melbourne. Both present examples of 

successful commercial building which incorporate education and learning spaces.   

 

Overall, Ethos urban have concluded that provision of a mix of uses at the site including commercial, health and 

education services at the would result in a range of benefits include: 

 Better align with the vision for Green Square Town Centre as a major mixed use destination and the Strategic 

Centre in this part of Sydney. 

110



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  44 
 

 Provide for increased activation, vibrancy and amenities to cater for the local population, including the ability for 

the site to be more active after hours and on weekends. 

 Provide additional uses that are currently underserviced or underprovided within the area currently, which will 

complement the needs of an emerging diversifying workforce and the additional uses will promote workers to 

spend money in the GSTC. 

 Deliver uses that will be complementary to the commercial office component, helping to create a destination and 

precinct that will in-turn add to the activity and appeal of the site for a range of occupiers in the future. 

 Better leverage investment activity and growth strategies in the area including alignment and extension of the 

future Botany Road Corridor. 

 Support the aspirations for a true live/work/play neighbourhood and GSC objectives for 30-minute cities. 

 Enable flexibility to adapt to changes in market conditions and occupier requirements now and in the longer 

term. 

 Aligned to contemporary tenant expectations and modern mixed use developments that are occurring in high-

profile locations across Australia. 

In summary, the introduction of the additional, complementary uses to the building will ultimately make a large 

floorspace office provision more attractive and saleable to potential occupiers. By providing a large, flexible built 

form with varied and potentially interconnected complementary uses, these attributes have the potential to act as 

key drivers for new office occupiers and set the benchmark for developments in the post-COVID world. There is a 

clear and emerging need to enable large, flexible, and adaptable development that includes a focus on wellness 

and sustainability. Introducing complementary uses such as health and education, within the development, will only 

serve to enhance the offering of a large commercial office project within an emerging precinct. The ability to provide 

large floorplates across the Site, combined with the flexibility to accommodate uses that complement the 

commercial office component will ensure that the Site remains a vibrant, active destination for the community well 

into the future. 

6.1.3 Economic Benefits  

Ethos Urban have concluded that the proposal will result in 1,020 FTE construction jobs and up to 1,380 ongoing 

jobs, resulting in an overall economic output of $150,896,930. An increase in the local population at the site through 

additional workers and potential students will likely result in increased retail expenditure available in the local area.  

 

The Economic Report concludes that at full capacity, the proposal would result in a total retail expenditure of up to 

$4,534,500 per year. As a result, the trading conditions of retailers near the proposed development will likely 

improve.  Other economic benefits from the proposal, outlined by Ethos Urban, are summarised as follows: 

 The large contiguous floorplates will allow the site to adapt and change over time, in response to supply and 

demand requirements to ensure it can evolve. 

 Through providing complementary uses such as health and education, the site will provide critical social 

infrastructure to Green Square residents. 

 The proposal will create flexible commercial floorspace to help attract high value business to Sydney’s South. 

 The proposal will result in various economic benefits and create a natural extension to commercial precincts 

including the Botany Road Innovation and Technology Corridor in servicing the economic arc between Sydney 

CBD to Sydney International Airport and Sydney Ports 

 Educational facilities at the site will support the 27.1% of the Study Area population that are currently attending 

education.  

 Support the provision of a range of new employment opportunities within a diversity of strong industry sectors.  

 Provide an educational facility within one of the fastest growing regions in the country, supporting the growth in 

local resident population.  

 Support ongoing investment and renewal of the Green Square Town Centre helping to support growth and 

development over time. 

 

111



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  45 
 

In summary, the report concludes that the project will generate significant economic benefits for GSTC and South 

Sydney, including the provision of a visionary, campus style commercial office building with large efficient floorplates 

that will appeal to a broad range of occupiers. Other uses at the site including health and education will 

completement the growing residential population in the area and provide critical social infrastructure in this part of 

Sydney. Importantly, these uses will generate high amounts of additional employment and business opportunities in 

the local area, and contribute to significant economic activity each year. These additional workers or students on the 

site will generate additional retail expenditure, both during the day and after hours, enhancing local business 

opportunities and the nighttime economy in GSTC. 

6.2 Visual Impact Assessment 

Architectus has prepared a Visual Impact Analysis as part of the Design Report (Appendix A) which illustrated the 

visual impact of the proposed sky bridges.  

 

The analysis provides a comparison of the existing base case bridge form (3m) and proposed wider bridge form 

(20m), with perspectives from the following locations: 

 Botany Road – looking south  

 Botany Road – looking north  

 Botany Road – Through site link  

 

Base Case Sky Bridges  

 

Proposed Sky Bridges  

Figure 24 Visual impact assessment - Botany Road south 

 

 

Base Case Sky Bridges  

 

Proposed Sky Bridges  

Figure 25 Visual impact assessment - Botany Road north 

 

The perspectives indicate that the proposed sky bridges will not be visible from these position in the public domain 

and will have no visual impact.  

112



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  46 
 

 

Base Case Sky Bridges  

 

Proposed Sky Bridges  

Figure 26 Visual impact assessment – Through Site Link 

 

The perspective of the through site link indicates that the enlarged sky bridges will visible but are sufficiently setback 

from the primary façade (minimum 6m) to not provide a dominating visual impact or a continuous building bulk. The 

additional articulation façade zones which are made possible by the GFA surplus, will provide a more meaningful 

visual relief and interest when viewed from the public domain and will be integrated into the design excellence brief 

process in consultation with Council. 

6.3 Wind Mitigation 

Arup have provided a Desktop Wind Impact Review (Appendix D). The purpose of this report is to assess the 

impact of the proposed change to the width of the bridge above the through-site link from 3m to 20m wide and to 

provide a preliminary impact assessment and mitigation measures required for pedestrian level wind conditions 

within the through-site link.  

It is noted that the general massing of Sites 8A and 8B is consistent between the base and proposed schemes. As 

such, for the 3m wide bridge option (compliant with current controls), the wind pressure differential for the narrow 

bridge would be expected to be slightly greater than for the 20m wide bridge option (proposed). As the mean 

pressure differential between either end of the link is similar, the fastest wind speed would be similar for all bridge 

widths. However, for the 20m wide bridge being of constant cross-section area along the entire length of the 

through-site link, the wind speed would be similar along the entire length of the link – when compared to the 3m 

base option which reduces the extent of the faster flow.  

Arup have concluded that to improve the wind conditions within the through-site link in relation to the 20m bridge 

reference design, a vertical constriction element to control the flow is required at one end. This will essentially slow 

the flow of wind through the through-site link to make the environment more comfortable for pedestrians. Introducing 

a constriction to the cross-sectional area within the link controls the flow rate improving wind conditions everywhere 

except close to the constriction, which localises the fast flow and results in an acceptable outcome for pedestrians. 

 

This constriction element may also have the ability to form a decorative element or a component of the site’s public 

benefit offering. In undertaking the competitive design process and then the detailed design of the building, further 

refinement and evolution of the reference scheme will take place. Further wind analysis and required mitigation 

measures will inform the design competition brief, which will be in turn be modelled and assessed in greater detail 

later stages such as the Development Application. 

 

  

113



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  47 
 

7.0 Consultation and Project Timeline 

7.1 Community Consultation 

Community consultation will be conducted in accordance with section 3.34 and Schedule 1 of EP&A Act and A 

Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals.  

7.2 Anticipated Project Timeline 

An anticipated program to develop Sites 8A and 8B is presented in Table 8 above. 

Table 8  Projected timeline to develop Sites 8A and 8B 

Task / Milestone Indicative Date 

Lodge Planning Proposal  June 2021 

Assessment of Planning Proposal July-September 2021 

Finalise Assessment and Draft DCP Content October 2021 

Planning Proposal Reported to Council November 2021 

Gateway Determination January 2022 

Public Exhibition of Planning Proposal February 2022 

Finalise Design Competition Brief February 2022 

Award Design Competition April 2022 

Gazettal of Planning Proposal controls May 2022 

Lodge detailed Development Application July 2022 

Commence early site works October 2022 

Development consent December 2022 

Construction certificate February 2023 

Occupation certificate July 2025 

 

  

114



Green Square Town Centre - Sites 8A and 8B | Planning Proposal | 1 July 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436  48 
 

8.0 Conclusion 

This report has been prepared by Ethos Urban to support a Planning Proposal to the Council of the City of Sydney. 

In conclusion, we request that the following changes are made to the Green Square LEP: 

 Amendment to clause 4.4A(2)(a) to allow additional land uses the subject of additional floor space provisions in 

the location mapped as Area 1; and 

 Insert a new clause into Part 6 Additional Local Provisions (clause 6.13) to exclude sky bridges connecting Sites 

8A and 8B for the purposes of prescribed maximum height of buildings provisions applicable under clause 4.3.  

 

The proposed amendments to the planning controls sought within the site, will enable the development of a 

visionary project that will embody a contemporary non-CBD development, delivering not only commercial office 

floorspace but also supporting uses that will create an active, vibrant destination for a range of occupiers. In this 

way, the project will be able to better attract and retain, both commercial office users and complementary uses, 

while enabling the site to adapt and respond to changes in the market over time. Reflecting the uncertainty in the 

commercial office market, and the location of the site in a non-CBD centre, adding flexibility in terms of floorplates 

and uses will ensure the development has a greater chance of being delivered sooner, and remaining viable longer 

term, for the benefit of strengthening Green Square in its Strategic Centre role. 

 

The introduction of the additional, complementary uses to the building will ultimately make a large floorspace office 

provision more attractive and saleable to potential occupiers. By providing a large, flexible built form with varied and 

potentially interconnected complementary uses, these attributes have the potential to act as key drivers for new 

office occupiers and set the benchmark for developments in the post-COVID world. There is a clear and emerging 

need to enable large, flexible, and adaptable development that includes a focus on wellness and sustainability. 

Introducing complementary uses such as health and education, within the development, will only serve to enhance 

the offering of a large commercial office project within an emerging precinct.  

 

The Planning Proposal will support a future development that will achieve a number of positive outcomes for the 

site, Green Square Town Centre and the broader renewal area, including:  

• The proposal is consistent with the objects of the EP&A Act, in that it promotes the orderly and economic use 
and development of land with the absence of any noteworthy impacts to the public interest;  

• The proposal is consistent with the strategic planning framework for the site and is consistent with the 
applicable SEPPs and Ministerial Directions;  

• The proposal will result in various economic benefits within the Green Square Town Centre and create a natural 

extension to commercial precincts including the Botany Road Innovation and Technology Corridor in servicing 

the economic arc between Sydney CBD to Sydney International Airport and Sydney Ports. 

• The proposal will contribute in a positive way to achieving the realisation of the Green Square Town Centre as a 

varied, vibrant and appealing strategic centre, with the amended planning controls better suited in providing for 

the needs of workers and visitors to the precinct, thereby supporting retailers in the Town Centre and 

generating additional economic activity; 

• The proposal will support an active and vibrant building and surrounding Green Square Town Centre through 

enabling additional complementary uses that creates a variety of activity and experiences; 

• The proposal supports minor adjustments to development parameters to allow feasible and suitable commercial 

alternatives to redevelop the site in a more efficient and practical manner, subject to design excellence; 

• The proposal will improve the allowance and adaptability to provide for more efficient and interconnected 

floorplates that cater to contemporary commercial tenant requirements, by allowing a more contiguous bridge 

connection for improved access within the subject site; and  

• The proposed amendments will support the long-term viability of the commercial floorspace within the site, 

through allowing a diversity of uses that complement the site’s business and office premises which will create 

an attractive and enticing workplace for tenants. 

In light of the above, we would have no hesitation in recommending that the Planning Proposal proceed through a 

Gateway determination to public exhibition. 

115



Attachment A2 

Economic Assessment 

116



 

 

Economic Assessment 
 
Green Square Town Centre  
Commercial Sites 8A and 8B 
 
Submitted to City of Sydney Council 
On behalf of Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd  
 
29 June 2021 | 2190436 

  

 

117



 

 

 

 

CONTACT  

Lee Cikuts Director lcikuts@ethosurban.com  0422 042 652 
Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without prior written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. 

This document has been prepared by: This document has been reviewed by: 

  

Stephanie Stamatellis  29.06.2021 Lee Cikuts 29.06.2021  

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. Ethos Urban operates under a Quality Management System. This 
report has been prepared and reviewed in accordance with that system.  If the report is not signed, it is a preliminary draft. 

VERSION NO. FIINAL DATE OF ISSUE 29.06.2021 REVISION BY APPROVED BY 

    
 
 Ethos Urban Pty Ltd 

ABN 13 615 087 931. 
www.ethosurban.com 
173 Sussex Street, Sydney  
NSW 2000  t 61 2 9956 6952 

 

118



Contents 

Ethos Urban   
 

 

Executive Summary 3 
1.0 Introduction 6 
2.0 Site and locational context 7 
2.1 Site context 7 
2.2 Surrounding development context 8 
2.3 Strategic policy context 8 
2.4 Green Square Town Centre and Proposed 

Development of Sites 8A and 8B 11 

3.0 Local Economic Context 15 
3.1 Study Area Definition 15 
3.2 Resident Population 17 
3.3 Worker Population 20 
3.4 Worker Floorspace Demand 21 

4.0 Development Context 23 
4.1 Existing Development Context 23 
4.2 Development Activity 28 

5.0 Commercial Office Assessment 34 
5.1 Sydney Metropolitan Office Markets 34 
5.2 South Sydney Office Market 36 
5.3 Competitive context 36 
5.4 Modern tenant requirements 37 
5.5 Summary of potential for commercial office uses 38 

6.0 Supporting Use Assessment 40 
6.1 Complementary uses to commercial office 40 
6.2 Market Potential 40 
6.3 Modern Occupier Requirements and Case Studies 42 
6.4 Summary of potential for supporting uses 44 

7.0 Economic Benefits 45 
7.1 Key findings and recommendations 45 
7.2 Demand for the development 45 
7.3 Employment generation 46 
7.4 Economic Output 48 
7.5 Additional expenditure generated by the project 48 
7.6 Other economic benefits 49 
 
 
 

Figures 
Figure 1 Green Square Town Centre and Subject Site 7 
Figure 2 Southern Employment Lands Area – Mixed 

Business Zone Map 10 
Figure 3 Green Square Village and Town Centre 11 

119



Contents 

Ethos Urban   
 

Figure 4 Green Square Town Centre – Development Context 13 
Figure 5 Latest Design Reference Scheme - Massing 14 
Figure 6 Study Area 16 
Figure 7 Floorspace by industry (use type) – Study Area 24 
Figure 8 Major Employment Precincts 25 
Figure 9 Development Investment Activity – Study Area 29 
Figure 10 Proposed Developments 33 
Figure 11 Total office stock by grade – Sydney CBD and 

metropolitan markets 34 
Figure 12 Total office vacancy – Sydney CBD and 

metropolitan markets 35 
Figure 13 Future office supply – Sydney CBD and 

metropolitan markets 35 
 
 

Tables 
Table 1 Study Area - population estimates 17 
Table 2 Socio-Economic Profile 19 
Table 3 Employment estimates (2021-2036) 20 
Table 4 Forecast employment floorspace requirements 

(2021- 2036) 22 
Table 5 Existing development – Major Employment 

Precincts 26 
Table 6 Proposed Developments – Study Area 31 
Table 7 Estimated employment during construction stage 47 
Table 8 Ongoing employment estimates 48 
Table 9 Sites 8A and 8B – Estimated Economic Output at 

Completion 48 
Table 10 Estimated additional retail expenditure 49 
 
 
 

 

120



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 3 
 

Executive Summary  

Ethos Urban has been engaged by Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd to undertake an Economic Assessment in relation to the 
development of site 8A and 8B within the Green Square Town Centre (GSTC). The key objectives of this 
assessment are to confirm the demand requirements for commercial and other supporting lands uses at the site, in 
GSTC and more broadly in South Sydney, as well as identify the economic benefits of the current proposal.  
 
A summary of the findings outlined in this assessment are now highlighted. 
 
Site and Strategic Context 
This assessment finds that site 8A and 8B is extremely well positioned in a high profile and easily accessible 
location that would be ideal for commercial office and other complementary uses. These uses would benefit from 
easy access to existing public transport links and the proximity to other employment centres and key infrastructure 
such as the Sydney CBD, South Eveleigh and Sydney Airport. Importantly, the site is positioned within Green 
Square Town Centre; one of countries largest urban renewal projects.  

GSTC is projected to accommodate up to 6,800 new residents and 6,000 new jobs upon completion. Site 8A and 
8B is strategically positioned within the context of the overall precinct and has been identified to accommodate a 
significant share of employment. 

The proposal for the site would align with a range of government strategies, while also enhancing employment 
opportunities within GSTC and South Sydney. The development will increase the number of job opportunities within 
GSTC and deliver on the vision of GSTC as a mixed use community precinct for the growing population in the area. 
The development will support the vision for ‘30-minute cities’, by providing jobs and critical social infrastructure 
within proximity to thousands of homes.  

The site position, close to the Southern Employment Lands Area and Botany Road Corridor, mean that it can form a 
natural extension of these employment and mixed use precincts in the longer term.  

Economic Context 
A study area has been defined for the purposes of this assessment to include the City of Sydney Green Square and 
City South Village. This area has evolved rapidly in previous years and is projected to continue to accommodate a 
large proportion of population growth in the City of Sydney in the coming years. The 2021 estimated residential 
population (ERP) for the study area is estimated at 41,690, having increased 27.6% since 2016. Population 
forecasts estimate that the study area population will increase further by +32,000 residents between 2021 and 
2036. This level of population growth will support demand for new employment opportunities, as well as social 
infrastructure requirements including health and education facilities.  

Currently, residents within the study area are typically younger, more affluent and employed in high skilled 
industries as compared to the Greater Sydney average. Over a quarter of the population is also attending formal 
education, with a large share studying at a university or other tertiary facility. These highly skilled residents and 
students would benefit from further employment opportunities and learning spaces planned as part of the proposal.  

Employment estimates within the study area indicate that key sectors including knowledge workers and population 
serving activities as well as health and education will account for additional employment. The proposed 
development will provide contemporary commercial office and community spaces that will support the growth in the 
worker population, within a high profile, easily accessible location.  

Development Context  
Currently, there is approximately $2.4 billion in total development activity within the local area, of which around $1.3 
billion is residential investment, representing around 54.2% of total investment activity in the area. A review of 
developments currently planned or underway indicate that while several major mixed use projects are proposed, 
there are very few developments focused on health and educational facilities. The City of Sydney Local Strategic 
Planning Statement highlights that the area faces a challenge to deliver non-residential uses (including social 
infrastructure) that align with the level of residential development and population growth occurring in the area.  

The proposal would provide contemporary commercial office floorspace, along with complementary uses such as 
health and education facilities, that would align strongly with the needs of the growing population and result in a 
strong mixed use destination in the GSTC. 

 
 

121



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 4 
 

Need for the Development  
The site is strategically positioned, being centrally located within the Green Square Town Centre and placed to 
benefit from the adjacent railway station as well as continued investment in this strategic centre. As such, the site 
represents a unique opportunity to leverage off infrastructure and investment activity, provide a provision of quality 
commercial office space (among other uses) that will appeal to modern tenant requirements and respond to the 
evolving role of the Green Square Town Centre within this part of Sydney. However, conditions in the office market 
overall remain uncertain. The implications for the commercial office market remain unclear as the impact of COVID-
19 and the changing nature of work on tenant demand and requirements are yet to be fully understood. 
 
The strong population growth and strategic objectives for GSTC and South Sydney in the future suggest that the 
opportunity for commercial office uses and other supporting facilities is strong, particularly in the longer term. 
 
The recommended proposal for the site represents a visionary development that will embody a contemporary non-
CBD project, delivering not only commercial office floorspace but also supporting uses that will create an active, 
vibrant destination for a range of occupiers. In this way, the project will be able to better attract and retain, both 
commercial office users and complementary uses, while enabling the site to adapt and respond to changes in the 
market (and occupier needs) over time. 
 
The introduction of the additional, complementary uses to the commercial office component at the building will 
ultimately result in a large provision of office floorspace being more attractive and saleable to potential occupiers. By 
providing a large, flexible built form with varied and potentially interconnected complementary uses, these attributes 
have the potential to act as key drivers for new office occupiers and set the benchmark for development in the post-
COVID world. There is a clear and emerging need to enable large, flexible, and adaptable development that 
includes a focus on wellness and sustainability. Introducing complementary uses such as health and education, 
within the project, will only serve to enhance the offering of a large commercial office project within the emerging 
precinct.  
 
The development of sites 8A and 8B will deliver around 45,000m2 of modern, prime grade floorspace within GSTC 
that will appeal to a range of occupiers, from traditional office occupiers, through to education and medical tenants 
as well as complementary industries and activities. The delivery of projects such as that proposed at site 8A and 8B 
will help to support the growth and evolution of GSTC. The ability to provide large floorplates across the site, 
combined with the flexibility to accommodate uses that complement the commercial office component will ensure 
that the site remains a vibrant, active destination for the community well into the future. 
 
Economic Benefits 
The proposal will deliver an array of economic benefits to the local and regional community. Specifically, while 
planning is still underway, the proposal has the potential to generate up to 1,020 construction jobs (direct and 
indirect FTE) during the construction phase of the development. Ongoing jobs are estimated at up to 1,380 workers 
once the site is complete. These ongoing jobs are estimated to contribute up to $150.9 million per year in value 
added activity, highlighting the significant economic contribution of the project.  
 
The additional workers and students supported at the site will also generate significant retail expenditure within the 
local area. This includes up to $4.5 million per year in retail expenditure as a result of the project.  
 
By providing a mix of office workers, students, health and education workers at the site as proposed, the types of 
retail goods and services demanded will be more diverse, benefiting the range of tenants at GSTC including 
supermarkets, restaurants, takeaway food operators and cafes. For office workers, expenditure will generally be 
limited to convenience retail as well as food and beverage services before and after work as well as during 
lunchtimes. Students or shift workers on the other hand, will access these facilities during these times but also for 
extended hours, including more regularly late at nights and on weekends. The inclusion of students and shift 
workers may have the potential to contribute positively to the night time economy in the South Sydney area. 
 
In addition to the above, the project will deliver a range of other economic and community benefits including 
increased activation, vibrancy and amenity to the local area as a result of increased uses and visitation to the site, 
including after hours and on weekends. Importantly, the proposed development has the potential to form a key site 
within the GSTC and South Sydney overall, by providing a contemporary commercial development that will attract 
high value businesses to this part of Sydney but also facilitate increased levels of activity, collaboration and 
knowledge sharing through the provision of complementary uses to commercial office, such as health and education 

122



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 5 
 

facilities. The proposal will align strongly with government objectives and the vision for GSTC and South Sydney by 
delivering a development that will form a natural extension of the Botany Road Corridor and, by enabling flexibility at 
the site, position this emerging precinct for long term growth. 

123



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 6 
 

1.0 Introduction  

This assessment has been prepared for Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd, in support of the Planning Proposal for sites 8A 
and 8B of Green Square Town Centre, at 377-495 Botany Road, Zetland (the Site). This assessment has been 
prepared with consideration to the design reference scheme for the development prepared by Architectus. 
Specifically, the concept design includes a primarily commercial office building with other complementary uses, 
including potential education and health services, that will support the evolving role of Green Square Town Centre 
as a new community in South Sydney.  
 
Green Square Town Centre has experienced ongoing renewal and development in recent years, transitioning into 
an established mixed -use community comprising high density residential, retail, commercial and open space 
throughout. The purpose of the development of sites 8A and 8B is to provide uplift and employment generating uses 
that will complement the residential population and role of Green Square Town Centre as a mixed use precinct. 
 
As part of the Planning Proposal for the development, an Economic Assessment is required to outline the likely 
supportable uses and economic implications of the proposed development in the context of Green Square and 
South Sydney. This report assesses the economic need for a range of uses at the site, and the economic benefits 
that these uses are likely to have on the surrounding community.  
 
This report contains the following chapters:  

1 Site and Locational Context 

2 Local Economic Context 

3 Development Context 

4 Commercial Office Assessment  

5 Supporting Uses Assessment  

6 Economic Benefits 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

124



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 7 
 

2.0 Site and locational context  

This chapter provides an overview of Green Square Town Centre as well as locational context for the proposed 
development at site 8A and 8B. 

2.1 Site context  

The site for the purposes of this assessment is located at 377-495 Botany Road, Zetland, within the strategically 
planned Green Square Town Centre (GSTC) and broader City of Sydney Local Government Area (LGA).  
 
Specifically, the site is GSTC commercial sites 8A and 8B (the Site), which have extensive frontages along Botany 
Road. The Site is situated close to Green Square Station, and immediately adjacent to the Green Square Plaza and 
library. The Site forms part of the broader GSTC development, which is currently undergoing a period of extensive 
urban intensification and renewal, including residential development. The Site positioning within the context of 
GSTC is shown below in Figure 1. 

Figure 1 Green Square Town Centre and Subject Site 

Source: MapInfo, Nearmap 

 

125



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 8 
 

2.2 Surrounding development context  

The Site is strategically positioned along a major arterial road corridor, approximately 5km south of Sydney CBD, 
and 5km north of Sydney Kingsford Smith Airport. Surrounding the Site are a range of uses, including extensive 
employment uses within the Southern Employments Lands Area, as well as high density residential housing.   
 
In recent years, South Sydney (including Green Square) has undergone significant uplift and renewal and is in fact, 
the largest renewal project in Australia, encompassing the areas of Green Square, Zetland, Alexandria, Rosebery, 
and Waterloo. The area has transitioned from being a largely light industrial employment activity area to a precinct 
with some of the highest residential dwelling density in Sydney. The result of this has been a shift in the types of 
businesses and land uses in the area, particularly a greater amount of population serving businesses such as 
retailers, food outlets, supermarkets and restaurants. As such, there is a significant amount of ongoing development 
within proximity to the Site, which is further discussed in Section 4.2 of this report.  
  
The area to the south of the Site is largely characterised by employment uses, heavily driven by the area’s proximity 
to Port Botany, and Sydney Airport. This area forms much of the Southern Employment Lands Area, and is 
understood to contain around 18,745 jobs, equating to approximately 3.7% of jobs in the City of Sydney LGA. 

2.3 Strategic policy context  

Detailed commentary on Government policies of relevance to the Site and the proposed development is provided in 
the broader planning statement; however, at a high level there are a number of policies adopted and proposed that 
would support the development at the Site. These include:  

 Greater Sydney Commission – Metropolis of Three Cities: Supporting the 30-minute city aspiration. It is a 
priority of the Greater Sydney Commission to co-locate jobs with housing and active transport links in order to 
ensure equitable access and facilitate a 30-minute city. The proposed development will deliver on this vision by 
providing non-residential uses and social infrastructure within close proximity to thousands of homes. 

 Greater Sydney Region Plan and Eastern City District Plan: The District Plan contains the planning priorities 
and actions for implementing the Greater Sydney Regional Plan at a district level. The purpose of the District 
Plan is to support councils in planning for growth and to align the Local Strategic Planning Statements (LSPS) 
with place-based outcomes. 

A key message of the District Plan is to provide for services, shops, cultural infrastructure, education and 
transport within walking distance to residents. The proposed development is considering a range of population 
serving uses at the Site that will provide critical social infrastructure within an area of significant population 
growth.  

 Sustainable Sydney 2030: Sustainable Sydney 2030 outlines the environmental, economic, social and cultural 
goals for the City of Sydney. The key themes of the plan are to facilitate a green, global and connected city, 
including a focus on economic orientation. Specifically, one of the key targets of the plan is that ‘every resident 
will be within reasonable walking distance to most local services, including fresh food, childcare, health services 
and leisure, social, learning and cultural infrastructure’. The Plan also reiterates the role of Green Square as a 
new community that will support around 61,000 residents by 2031. The Plan highlights a greater need for public 
transport, health and emergency services investment in the area to support the rapid population growth that 
has, and is forecast, to occur.  

 City of Sydney Local Strategic Planning Statement: The City of Sydney LSPS sets out a 20-year vision for 
the City of Sydney LGA that intends to manage future land uses across the area and implement the 
community’s visions and values. The LSPS recognises that the City of Sydney is challenged by growth in 
services and infrastructure in alignment with population growth. Notably, the LSPS outlines that the City of 
Sydney is forecast to reach a resident population of over 350,000 by 2036, supported by around 56,000 new 
dwellings over this period, with more than one third of these new dwellings projected to occur in the Green 
Square and City South Village. The LSPS also outlines that the Green Square and City South Village will 
support around +17,200 new jobs by 2036, highlighting the mixed used nature of the precinct in accommodating 
both population and jobs growth.  

 City of Sydney Capacity Study: The Capacity Study prepared in 2019 identifies the individual capacity of the 
City of Sydney Village precincts for residential and non-residential land uses. The study finds that the Green 
Square and City South Village has a ‘high amount of development capacity’, with capacity of up to 794,991m2 of 

126



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 9 
 

non-residential floorspace to 2036 and +17,233 new jobs. The amount of non-residential floorspace capacity 
demonstrates that the Green Square Renewal Area is intended as a strategic centre with a significant economic 
role in accommodating jobs and a range of industries that support population growth in the area.   

The proposed development would deliver 45,697m2 in GFA of non-residential space, equivalent to around 6.0% 
of total non-residential floorspace capacity.  

 City of Sydney Economic Development Strategy: City of Sydney’s Economic Development Strategy is a 10 
year plan to guide the vision of an even more dynamic, sustainable and liveability city. The Strategy identifies 
Green Square as one of three major village projects with the Green Square Town Centre at its heart, with a new 
retail, commercial and cultural hub for the area focused around Green Square Station.  

 City of Sydney Employment Lands Strategy: The City of Sydney identifies that the Southern Employment 
Lands are some of the most strategically important employment lands in Greater Sydney. The plan prepared by 
SGS Planning and Economics recommends a mixed use economy approach to the future planning of the 
Southern Employment Lands, and highlights the importance of flexible uses to attract employment and add to 
diversity, such as sport and recreational facilities, cafés, and accessibility to the Green Square Town Centre and 
retail precincts. The mixed use zone outlined within the plan adjoins the GSTC and the Site (refer to Figure 2).   

More specifically to GSTC, the plan reiterates the need to ‘recognise the major centre role of Green Square 
Town Centre in providing services, office uses and employment, and protect strategic industrial, commercial 
and mixed use areas by concentrating anchor retailers (such as supermarkets) in nominated centres’. The 
proposed development at the Site will support commercial office uses and higher order employment adjacent to 
a strategically planned mixed use precinct, enabling GSTC to be competitive within the context of the Southern 
Employment Lands and creating a natural extension of employment facilities from the Southern Employment 
Lands into GSTC. The extent of the Southern Employment Lands and mixed use zones is shown in Figure 2 
below and demonstrates the proximity of the area to GSTC.  

In addition to the above, other strategic policies including the Botany Road Corridor are relevant to areas located in 
proximity to the subject Site and will have a material impact on the future role of GSTC and surrounding 
developments along Botany Road. The Botany Road Corridor strategic area is a planned technology and innovation 
precinct, extending from South Eveleigh and into the South Sydney area. The Site, as part this proposal, is 
positioned to act as an extension to the planned Botany Road Corridor, and will create a link between the area and 
Sydney Airport, by establishing higher order, mixed uses in GSTC. 

 

127



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 10 
 

Figure 2 Southern Employment Lands Area – Mixed Business Zone Map 

 

Source: City of Sydney Employment Lands Strategy

128



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 11 
 

 

2.4 Green Square Town Centre and Proposed Development of Sites 8A and 8B 

Green Square Town Centre 

The GSTC is a planned strategic centre located within the south eastern extent of the City of Sydney LGA and 
directly adjacent to Green Square Railway Station. GSTC forms part of Green Square Village (as defined by the 
City of Sydney) and is shown below in Figure 3.  

Figure 3 Green Square Village and Town Centre 

 

Source: MapInfo, Nearmap 

 
As one of the most significant urban renewal projects in the country, GSTC was initially jointly planned by Landcom 
and the City of Sydney, until the recent full acquisition by Mirvac in 2020. Upon completion, GSTC is estimated to 
support the following:  

 4,000 residential dwellings within the town centre; 

129



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 12 
 

 44,000m2 of commercial office space; 

 14,000m2 of retail floor space including a supermarket and speciality shops; 

 Up to 6,800 new residents; and  

 Up to 6,000 new jobs. 

Reflecting the central location in Green Square Village, the GSTC will form the primary destination for retail facilities 
within this part of Sydney. 
 
Construction of the GSTC commenced in 2014, and development is planned to occur in stages over the next 10-15 
years, although several stages have already been completed. This includes residential development to the north 
and south of the Town Centre, as well as community facilities and a Woolworths Metro supermarket.  
 
Reflecting the staged nature of the development, large tracts of the Town Centre are yet to be developed. From 
information provided by Mirvac, it is understood that the following is yet to be developed:  

 1,640 residential dwellings across 16 individual buildings 

 40,000-45,000m2 of commercial floorspace, which primarily relates to the Site.  

 12,000-14,000m2 of retail floorspace over 52 tenancies 

The remaining developable areas within the Town Centre are shown below in Figure 4.  

130



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 13 
 

Figure 4 Green Square Town Centre – Development Context  

 

Source: MapInfo, Nearmap, Ethos Urban 

Proposed intended development of Sites 8A and 8B 

An indicative design concept has been prepared to demonstrate that the proposed envelope can deliver a feasible 
commercial office and mixed use tower as proposed. The design would be further refined as the project progresses 
through the planning process.  
 
The amendments to planning controls proposed in the Planning Proposal will support (indicatively):  
 
A 23-storey tower comprising:  

 3 basement levels, with 211 car parking spaces; 

 Approximately 45,697m2 of floorspace, with a mix of commercial office, retail, education and complementary 
uses;  

131



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 14 
 

 Active uses at ground level including retail; and  

 Public domain improvements, including a high degree of activation and pedestrian links through both the retail 
provision and generous lobby and podium levels.  

It should be noted that the scheme is indicative only and has been prepared for the purpose of demonstrating that 
the proposed building envelope can deliver a viable scheme which complies with the proposed planning controls. In 
undertaking future analysis as the project progresses, changes to the indicative scheme may occur. 
 
The current design reference scheme is presented in Figure 5. 
 

Figure 5 Latest Design Reference Scheme - Massing 
 

 
 

Source: Architectus 
 

132



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 15 
 

3.0 Local Economic Context 

This chapter provides an overview of the local economic context of the Site and surrounding area, including 
projections for future population and employment. 

3.1 Study Area Definition  

This section provides an overview of the key demographic characteristics of the local community. The City of 
Sydney has defined 10 different ‘villages’ that combine to form the Local Government Area (LGA). The Site is 
located within the defined ‘Green Square and City South’ Village. 
 
For the purposes of this assessment, a Study Area has been defined as the City of Sydney Green Square and City 
South Village precinct. This area is considered of most relevance in assessing the local population and worker 
profile and includes the Green Square Town Centre, and Southern Employment Lands Area. 

The Study Area is shown in Figure 6. The Study Area has been defined using Statistical Area 1 (SA1) boundaries 
as defined by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS), with a best match applied to represent the Green Square 
and City South Village precinct.  
  

133



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 16 
 

Figure 6 Study Area 

 

Source: MapInfo, Nearmap, Ethos Urban 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

134



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 17 
 

3.2 Resident Population  

3.2.1 Population Projections  

 
Population forecasts have been prepared based on the estimated resident population (ERP), with population 
projections taking into account information from Forecast.id, Transport for NSW and new dwelling approvals data, 
with projections adjusted as appropriate.  
 
A summary of the existing and projected population within the Study Area is provided in Table 1 below. 

 The 2021 ERP for the Study Area is estimated at 41,690, an increase of + 9,020 residents since 2016 (27.6% 
increase).  

 Between 2011 and 2016, the Study Area population increased significantly, from 20,090 residents in 2011, to 
32,670 residents in 2016. This level of growth reflects an average annual growth rate of 10.2%, which compares 
to Greater Sydney at 1.7% per annum over the same period.  

 Population projections show that the Study Area is forecast to increase by an estimated +32,000 residents 
between 2021 and 2036, at an average annual growth rate of +3.9%. This equates to a total ERP of 73,690 by 
2036. By comparison to the Study Area, the Greater Sydney population is projected to increase by just +1.6% 
per annum over the same period.  

 A significant share of population growth is projected to occur between the 2026-31 period, at an average annual 
of 4.5%, representing some +2,500 residents each year. Higher growth during this period is projected due to 
slower population growth over the 2021-26 period, as a result of COVID-19 impacts on migration and reduced 
residential construction activity. As such, it is assumed that much of this growth will occur in the medium term 
over the 2026-31 period in normalised conditions.  

 

Table 1 Study Area - population estimates 

  2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 Change 2021-36 

Study Area 20,090 32,670 41,690 51,190 63,690 73,690 +32,000 

Greater Sydney  4,608,950 5,024,920 5,486,870 5,992,660 6,463,600 6,923,120 +1,436,250 

 2011-16 2016-21 2021-26 2026-31 2031-36 Change 2021-36 

Study Area 2,520 1,800 1,900 2,500 2,000 +2,100 

Greater Sydney  83,190 92,390 101,160 94,190 91,900 +95,750 

 2011-16 2016-21 2021-26 2026-31 2031-36 Change 2021-36 

Study Area 10.2% 5.0% 4.2% 4.5% 3.0% +3.9% 

Greater Sydney  1.7% 1.8% 1.8% 1.5% 1.4% +1.6% 

Source: ABS, Transport for NSW, Forecast Id.  

3.2.2 Socio-economic profile  

The demographic data has been drawn from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) 2016 Census of Population 
and Housing and is highlighted in Table 2. The data analysis provides a general overview of the demographic 
characteristics of residents within the Study Area. Key characteristics of the Study Area population include: 

 High median household income of $108,510, some 17.7% higher than the Greater Sydney median of 
$92,200.  

 Lower median age profile of 30.0 as compared to the Greater Sydney average at 36.0 years. This lower 
median age is attributed to a high share of persons aged 20-34 residing within the Study Area, accounting for 

135



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 18 
 

52.0% of residents. Persons under 19 years represent 14.3% of the resident population, while 4.4% of the 
population is persons aged 65 years and over.  

 High share of overseas born residents, where some 59.8% of Study Area residents were born in overseas 
countries. Just under 50% of the resident population speak English at home.  

 Family households are the primary household type in the Study Area at 56.2%. This compares to Greater 
Sydney at 73.7%. This lower share as compared to Greater Sydney is driven by the high share of group and 
lone persons households in the Study Area, which represent 18.5% and 25.3% of dwellings. Group households 
and lone person dwellings represent 4.6% and 21.7% of households in Greater Sydney, respectively.  

 Flats, units and apartments are the predominate dwelling structure in the Study Area, accounting for 
87.5% of total occupied private dwellings. This is reflective of the ongoing urban intensification and residential 
development occurring within the Study Area in recent years. The average household size is 2.2, which is lower 
when compared to the Greater Sydney average of 2.8.  

 Over a quarter of the population (27.1%) are attending education. Of those attending education, 62.1% are 
studying at a university or other tertiary facility, while 8.9% are attending primary school, and 7.3% attend 
secondary school.  

 Residents are highly skilled and mostly working in white collar professions. Of employed residents, 
74.7% work in white collar occupations where 35.3% are professionals, 18.0% are managers, and 12.9% are 
clerical and administrative workers.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

136



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 19 
 

 

Table 2 Socio-Economic Profile 
Category Study Area Greater Sydney 
Income   
Median individual income (annual) $52,940 $37,460 
Variation from Greater Sydney median 41.3% na 
% of persons (15 years or older) earning $1,000pw or more 50.6% 37.3% 
Median household income (annual) $108,510 $92,200 
Variation from Greater Sydney median 17.7% na 
% of Households earning $2,500pw or more 37.7% 31.8% 
Age Structure   
0-4 years 4.8% 6.4% 
5-19 years 9.6% 18.2% 
20-34 years 52.0% 23.1% 
35-64 years 29.3% 38.3% 
65-84 years 4.1% 12.0% 
85 years and over 0.3% 2.0% 
Median Age (years) 30.0 36.4 
Country of Birth   
Australia 40.2% 61.9% 
Other Major English Speaking Countries 12.2% 7.6% 
Other Overseas Born 47.6% 30.5% 
% speak English only at home 49.7% 62.0% 
Household Composition   
   Couple family with no children 33.9% 23.8% 
   Couple family with children 15.2% 37.5% 
Couple  family - Total 49.2% 61.3% 
One parent family 4.8% 11.1% 
Other families 2.2% 1.3% 
Family Households - Total 56.2% 73.7% 
Lone person household 25.3% 21.7% 
Group Household 18.5% 4.6% 
Dwelling Structure (Occupied Private Dwellings)   
Separate house 5.7% 57.2% 
Semi-detached, row or terrace house, townhouse etc. 6.6% 14.0% 
Flat, unit or apartment 87.6% 28.2% 
Other dwelling 0.1% 0.5% 
Occupancy rate 90.3% 92.3% 
Average household size 2.2 2.8 
Tenure Type (Occupied Private Dwellings)   
Owned outright 11.9% 30.0% 
Owned with a mortgage 28.3% 34.2% 
Rented 59.3% 35.1% 
Other tenure type 0.4% 0.7% 
Housing Costs   
Median monthly mortgage repayment $2,350 $2,240 
Variation from Greater Sydney median 4.9% 0.0% 
Median mortgage as a share of median household income 26.0% 29.2% 
Median weekly rents $640 $450 
Variation from Greater Sydney median 42.2% 0.0% 
Attending Education (% of those attending)   
Pre-school 2.8% 6.9% 
Infants/Primary 8.9% 32.2% 
Secondary 7.3% 25.0% 
Technical or Further Educational Institution 9.9% 7.6% 
University or other Tertiary Institution 62.1% 24.2% 
Other type of educational institution 9.0% 4.0% 
% of total population attending education 27.1% 25.2% 
Occupation   
 Managers 18.0% 13.7% 
 Professionals 35.3% 26.3% 
 Technicians and trades workers 8.7% 11.7% 
 Community and personal service workers 8.5% 9.6% 
 Clerical and administrative workers 12.9% 14.6% 
 Sales workers 8.7% 9.0% 
 Machinery operators and drivers 2.2% 5.6% 
 Labourers 3.7% 7.6% 
Inadequately described or not stated 1.9% 1.9% 

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing 2016, Ethos Urban 

 
137



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 20 
 

 
3.3 Worker Population 

3.3.1 Employment Projections 

Employment estimates have been adopted through an iterative approach that has considered official employment 
projections from Transport for NSW, as well as the viability of future commercial, health and education, and retail 
development. The historic and future trends that are influencing jobs growth in Australia and in the Study Area have 
also been considered.  
 
The headline employment projections for the Study Area is presented in Table 3. In the Study Area, employment is 
projected to increase from 46,480 in 2021 to 61,140 by 2036, an increase of +15,200 jobs.  
 
The City of Sydney Capacity Study outlines that between 2019 and 2036, the Green Square and City South Village 
has capacity for up to +17,233 jobs by 2036. Employment estimates show that the current (2021) number of 
workers in the Study Area is estimated at 46,480. By rebasing the Capacity Study forecast to the 2021 employment 
estimate, the current capacity is estimated at around +15,200 jobs over the forecast period. Most of this 
employment growth is estimated to occur in population serving and knowledge workers.  
 
The number of office-based workers (including knowledge workers and traditional office workers) is forecast to 
increase by +2,950 by 2036.  
 
While a proportion of local residents are also likely to work in the region, the above highlights the continued focus on 
employment growth and development within the City of Sydney. The Green Square and City South Village will play 
an important role in accommodating future growth. 

Table 3 Employment estimates (2021-2036) 

ANZSIC industry Broad Industry 
Categories 2021 2036 Change (2021-

2036) 

• Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing 
• Mining 
• Manufacturing 
• Electricity, Gas, Water and Waste 

Services 
• Wholesale Trade 
• Transport, Postal and 

Warehousing 

Industrial 
 

16,070 
 

34.6% 21,512 35.8% +5,440 

• Construction 
• Retail Trade 
• Accommodation and Food 

Services 
• Arts and Recreation Services 
• Other Services 

Population 
serving 

 
17,390 

 
37.4% 22,827 35.8% +5,440 

• Information Media and 
Telecommunications 

• Financial and Insurance Services 
• Professional, Scientific and 

Technical Services 

Knowledge 
workers 5,740 12.3% 7,491 11.5% +1,750 

• Rental, Hiring and Real Estate 
Services 

• Administrative and Support 
Services 

• Public Administration and Safety 

Traditional 
office workers 

 
3,730 

 
8.0% 4,932 7.9% +1,200 

• Education and Training 
• Health Care and Social 

Assistance 

Health and 
education 

 
3,540 

 
7.6% 4,911 9.0% +1,370 

Total  46,480 100% 61,140 100% +15,200 

Source: Transport for NSW, City of Sydney Capacity Study 2019 

 138



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 21 
 

 
Results from the City of Sydney Floor Space and Employment Survey 2017 also provide detail on workers and 
industries of employment within the Green Square and City South Village including:  

 There were 2,326 businesses in the Green Square and City South Village.  

 The top employment industries (by number of businesses) were Retail and Personal Services (18.7%), Food 
and Drink (12.6%), Transport and Logistics (12.4%), and Professional and Business Services (10.1%).  

 The largest industries by workforce were Transport and Logistics (15.7%), Retail and Personal Services 
(14.1%), Professional and Business Services (10.1%).  

3.4 Worker Floorspace Demand  

It is estimated that employment within the Study Area will increase by +15,200 jobs between 2021 and 2036. Using 
the current (2021) and projected (2036) shares of employment within the Study Area by broad industry category 
provided by Transport for NSW, and realigning these shares to the City of Sydney’s official estimates for 
employment within the Study Area, the actual employment forecasts by broad industry can be estimated. These 
findings are shown in Table 4 below. At a high level, the estimates outline that population serving and industrial 
related industries will account for the largest shares of employment growth. 
 
To translate forecast employment into floorspace requirements, workspace ratios from the City of Sydney’s Floor 
Space and Employment Survey 2017 have been adopted. In assessing the workspace requirements for the Study 
Area, ratios have been adopted for both the Green Square and City South Village and City of Sydney LGA in order 
to understand the current workspace density in the Study Area, and the likely future requirements that may occur as 
the area shifts from a light industrial based region to accommodating a broader range of higher order uses, 
including population serving activities and office-based jobs. The findings and floorspace requirements for the Study 
Area, based on employment forecasts and workspace ratios from the City of Sydney, are highlighted below in Table 
4.  
 
The workspace demand findings indicate: 

 Over 1 million square metres of non-residential floorspace will be required in the Study Area by 2036, when 
adopting the Green Square and City South workspace ratios. Notably, this includes a high demand requirement 
for industrial floorspace.  

 When adopting the City of Sydney LGA average workspace ratios, a lower requirement of 783,900m2 of non-
residential floorspace is estimated. 

 These workspace ratios are based on current employment and do not take into account future structural 
employment shifts in the area including a transition from traditional industrial based activities to more knowledge 
intensive activities that may be accommodated in the area.  

 As such, in assessing the actual estimated non-residential floorspace requirement, the Green Square ratio has 
been adopted for all industries excluding industrial, which is considered to require a lower workspace ratio that 
can be taken from the City of Sydney LGA average. This aligns with the structural shifts in employment that are 
anticipated to occur within the area (such as increasing automation in the industrial sector).  

 On this basis, it is estimated that a total of 916,620m2 of employment floorspace will be required by 2036, which 
is relatively consistent with the City of Sydney’s Capacity Study for the Green Square and City South Village;  
which outlines a total capacity by of +794,991m2 of non-residential floorspace between 2019 and 2036. 

 

 

139



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 22 
 

Table 4 Forecast employment floorspace requirements (2021- 2036) 

Industry Group 
Share of 

employment growth 
(at +15,200 jobs) 

Green Square and City South City Sydney LGA Estimated 
Requirement 

WSR 
Floorspace 

Requirement (m2) 
WSR 

Floorspace 
Requirement (m2) 

Floorspace (m2) 

Industrial +5,442 127.5 +693,910 94.1 +512,130 +512,130 

Population 
Serving 

+5,437 45.5 +247,370 30.2 +164,190 +247,370 

Knowledge 
workers 

+1,751 34.5 +60,420 16.2 +28,370 +60,420 

Traditional 
Office 

+1,202 34.5 +41,460 16.2 +19,470 +41,460 

Health and 
Education 

+1,371 40.3 +55,240 43.6 +59,760 +55,240 

Total  +15,206 - +1,098,390 - +783,920 +916,620 

Source: Transport for NSW, City of Sydney Capacity Study 2019, City of Sydney Floor Space and Employment Survey 2017 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 

140



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 23 
 

4.0 Development Context  

This chapter provides an overview of the surrounding built form and development activity currently under 
construction or proposed within the GSTC and surrounding precinct. 

4.1 Existing Development Context  

4.1.1 Floorspace Provision by Use Type 

The City of Sydney undertakes a floorspace and employment survey every five years, with the latest results from 
the 2017 survey released in early 2019. This survey collects data from businesses on employment numbers and 
floorspace use across the City of Sydney Local Government Area (LGA). Specifically, the data collected shows the 
total floorspace estimates by industry groups across each village sector and produces a workspace ratio that 
represents the average provision of floorspace provided for each worker on a per square metre basis across each 
property sector.  
 
Historical trends of total floorspace by industry that are provided within the survey are outlined in this section. This 
includes a breakdown of the total land use type for the past three survey results. Changes in the data show a 
significant increase in residential floorspace across the Study Area, as well ancillary residential uses such as 
common areas, car parking, and utilities. However, these uses do not generate high levels of employment. 
Employing industries such as office have remained relatively stable over the 10 year period, while other sectors 
such as industrial and storage have declined. This is consistent with the structural change in the Study Area in 
recent years, where residential development has replaced many of the traditional employment generating industries 
that have become redundant or relocated to other major industrial centres such as southern and western Sydney. 
 
Notably, the data shows that high employment generating land uses such as office, retail and community uses have 
not significantly increased over recent years, highlighting limited growth in employment and business opportunities 
for new residents living within the thousands of homes completed in the Study Area over the past decade. This 
represents a supply gap in developing non-residential uses that may provide business opportunities, jobs, and 
critical community infrastructure such as schools and health services to the growing population. This is also 
highlighted in the City of Sydney LSPS, which recognises that the LGA is challenged by accommodating services 
and infrastructure to better serve the growing population.  
 
A breakdown of the floorspace uses within the Green Square and City South Village (the Study Area) is shown in 
Figure 7.  
 

141



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 24 
 

Figure 7 Floorspace by industry (use type) – Study Area 

 

Source: City of Sydney Floor Space and Employment Survey 2017  

4.1.2 Major Precincts 

There are a number of major precincts within the Study Area that provide employment based activities and 
population serving roles for the community. Each precinct is unique in terms of land uses and purpose. The 
precincts of most relevance to the proposed development of sites 8A and 8B is shown in Figure 8 and detailed in 
Table 5.  
 

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

1,400,000

1,600,000

1,800,000

Fl
oo

rs
pa

ce
 (m

2 )

Industry (use type)

2007 2012 2017

142



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 25 
 

 
Figure 8 Major Employment Precincts 

 

Source: MapInfo, Nearmap 

 
 

143



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 26 
 

 

Table 5 Existing development – Major Employment Precincts 

 Commercial Industrial Retail Health and Education Other 

Green Square 
Town Centre 

The City of Sydney 
outlines that GSTC is 
planned to accommodate 
+44,000m2 of commercial 
floorspace. Currently, 
there are no commercial 
developments planned or 
completed within the Town 
Centre, with the exception 
of the Site.  

There is no industrial 
floorspace planned within the 
GSTC.  

The GSTC is planned to accommodate 
+14,000m2 of retail floorspace. 
Currently, retail facilities within the Town 
Centre include a Woolworths Metro 
Store at 2,000m2, and a number of food 
and convenience operators.  

There is currently a limited provision 
of health and education facilities 
within GSTC, however it is 
recognised that these services will be 
increasingly in demand as the 
population of the area continues to 
grow. In response to this, there is 
currently a 600 place primary school 
proposed within the Town Centre 
and a health centre along Bourke 
Street. Both developments are due 
for completion in 2023.  

GSTC has an 
increasingly 
established public 
domain associated 
with the Town Plaza 
and Library that is 
located adjacent to the 
Site.  

Southern 
Employment 
Lands Precinct  

Higher order commercial 
uses within the Precinct 
are typically limited, while 
traditional offices are more 
common and ancillary to 
industrial warehouses or 
bulky goods sites.  

The Southern Employment 
Lands is a significant 
industrial precinct within the 
City of Sydney, benefiting 
from proximity to two major 
trade gateways, being Sydney 
Airport and Port Botany. In 
total, industrial land within the 
precinct equates to around 
663,000m2.  

The precinct contains a significant 
amount of bulky goods retail across an 
area of 332,540m2. 
 
There is a prominent retail precinct along 
Botany Rd in Beaconsfield, as well as a 
concentration of speciality stores 
(including supermarket) in Rosebery 
close to new residential development.  

The Southern Employment Lands 
Precinct generally offers a limited 
provision of health and education 
facilities. Currently, there is one day 
surgery hospital located along 
Bowden Road, providing a range of 
speciality consultations and 
procedures.  

The Southern 
Employment Lands 
Precinct covers around 
2.7miillion square 
metres of employment 
land. Of this around 
1.8 million square 
metres is dedicated to 
mixed use/business 
zoned land. 

East Village 
Shopping 
Centre 

The centre does not offer 
traditional office based 
facilities given its role as a 
retail destination.  

The centre does not offer 
industrial based facilities, 
however, does include the 
Audi dealership and service 
centre. 

Coles East Village is 4,020m2 and the 
most dominant supermarket destination 
for residents within the Study Area. The 
store is understood to trade strongly. 
Other retail stores are also within the 
centre, including food operators and a 
range of apparel stores and convenience 
based retail stores.  

The centre has a range of medical 
based services including a GP clinic, 
and ancillary health services 
including optometry and dentistry.  

The centre offers a 
range of other services 
including gyms, an 
Audi Centre, and a 
Montessori child care 
facility.  

144



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 27 
 

 Commercial Industrial Retail Health and Education Other 

Bourke Street 
and Lachlan 
Precinct 

There is a small provision 
of commercial office 
based businesses around 
Bourke St, which are 
typically limited to services 
such as accountancy and 
real estate. 

Bourke Street accommodates 
a number of light industrial 
activities and showrooms 
such as car dealerships.  

More recently, higher order employment 
uses including speciality retailers and 
food operators have opened within the 
area. These are largely associated with 
mixed use residential development sites 
at Lachlan Precinct. This provision will 
increase with the completion of the 
Danks Street South Precinct 
development. 

There is a limited provision of health 
and education facilities in the 
precinct, with health services and 
pathology clinic along Bourke Street. 
There is also an acting and film 
school located along Young Street. 

n/a 

Danks Street – 
Retail  

Limited provision of 
commercial office 
facilities. Some upper 
level commercial 
floorspace provided. 

There are no identified 
industrial lands within the 
Danks Street Precinct area. 
Despite this, there are a 
number of warehouse style 
businesses along Danks 
Street including supply stores, 
and bulky goods stores. 

Retail trading is a prominent land use 
type within Danks Street Precinct. This 
includes a full line Coles Supermarket at 
2,600m2, and ALDI store at 1,475m2. 
There is also several other speciality 
retail stores and food operators in the 
precinct.  

n/a n/a 

Rosebery – 
Retail  

n/a  Industrial land uses within 
Rosebery typically include 
showrooms, warehouse and 
bulky goods centres which 
are focused along Botany 
Road.  

Retail includes the provision of a 
Woolworths Metro supermarket at 950m2 
and IGA at 800m2. 
 
Situated along Mentmore Avenue is the 
Cannery; a boutique shopping and 
experiential destination. Located within a 
re-purposed warehouse, the centre 
includes a range of food operators, 
personal services, cooking schools, 
distilleries, fitness facilities and other 
non-retail services 

Health services in Rosebery are 
mostly limited to health clinics 
offering GP services.  

n/a 

Source: Ethos Urban, City of Sydney Employment Lands Strategy

145



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 28 
 

Key points for each precinct include: 

 Southern Employment Lands Precinct: 

At a high level, the Southern Employment Lands Precinct remains the employment activity precinct in the Study 
Area, and more broadly within the City of Sydney. The precinct has a significant role in providing a mix of higher 
order and traditional employment uses including commercial offices, large format retailing, and industrial 
activities. Industries within the precinct benefit from the proximity to Sydney Airport, and Port Botany, and 
include a higher proportion of transport, postal and warehousing, and manufacturing-based jobs.  

Ongoing population growth in the surrounding area has, however, resulted in a need to diversify employment in 
the Southern Employment Lands, including a greater focus on providing more population serving employment 
activities and other uses. These include higher order jobs in commercial office spaces, anchor retailers, and 
recreational/community facilities.  

 East Village Shopping Centre 

East Village is a mixed use centre that opened in 2014 in Zetland. The centre provides around 32,881m2 in 
GLA, and is anchored by a full line Coles of 4,020m2, a Virgin Active Health Club, and an Audi Service Centre. 
These anchor tenants draw a diverse and large customer profile to the centre, particularly given the proximity to 
Zetland and other fast growing suburbs such as Waterloo, Green Square and Rosebery.  

 Local Centre Precincts 

Several precincts serve a local function in the area, providing a range of mixed use services targeted at the 
immediate local population. These include Dank Street, Bourke Street – Lachlan Precinct, and Rosebery. 
Together these precincts offer a range of retails goods and services, as well as personal and other non-retail 
services. This includes the provision of supermarkets, food and beverage operators, apparel, bulky goods 
retailing, and other personal services.  

GSTC is the designated Strategic Centre for the region and is developing over time. The centre will 
accommodate a broad range of industry uses including commercial, retail, education, health and other 
community-based uses to serve the growing population of the area. Details on the broader development of 
GSTC development is discussed in Section 4.2.2.  

4.2 Development Activity  

4.2.1 Level of Investment by Use Type 

There is a significant pipeline of development activity within the total Study Area. The extent of this pipeline is 
shown below in Figure 9, which highlights that there is currently around $2.4 billion in total development investment 
activity within the Study Area. It is important to note that when calculating investment activity, proposed 
developments were classified based on primary land use, and only developments with a total investment value of 
$20 million or over were included. For example, many of the residential and mixed use developments proposed 
include a small share of commercial or retail spaces. As such, this should be used as a guide only. 
 
Notably, there is a significant amount of proposed or approved residential developments within the Study Area, with 
over $1.3 billion in investment in the immediate pipeline. Similarly, there is also a significant amount of mixed use 
projects proposed or approved, representing around $690.5 million in investment activity. Mixed use projects 
primarily include sites at Green Square Town Centre and Emerald City.  
 
Developments that are classified as primarily commercial, industrial, or health and education only represent a small 
share of development within the Study Area. Specifically, there is only an estimated $177 million currently invested 
in commercial developments (excluding the Site), $25 million in health, and $153 million in education. These 
developments provide important employment generating job opportunities and are required in providing critical 
social infrastructure and employment for local residents and workers. The total investment figures in commercial, 
health and education developments represent a future supply imbalance as compared to total residential 
development occurring in the area.  
 

146



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 29 
 

Figure 9 Development Investment Activity – Study Area 

 

Source: Cordell Connect  

4.2.2 Proposed Developments 

In recent years, the Study Area has undergone a period of significant development activity and uplift, mostly 
associated with the development of GSTC, and other major residential precincts in Zetland, Rosebery and 
Waterloo. This development trend is projected to continue, with a number of major development projects currently 
planned or under construction in the Study Area. Notably a large share of these are located within 1km of the Site, 
demonstrating that the Site is located within an area planned for urban intensification, and is important in providing a 
high quality development that is aligned with the vision for the area. GSTC will form a major precinct and destination 
within the surrounding South Sydney community.  
 
Major proposals within proximity to the Site are shown in Figure 10, and a high-level description is provided in 
Table 6. These developments displayed are considered of most relevance to the Site due to the location and 
include only developments within the Study Area, where the total investment value is over $20 million. The criteria 
has been adopted to capture major developments only, and those likely to influence the competitive environment for 
the Site. Note that the developments shown in this analysis do not represent total development investment in the 
Study Area (as outlined in the previous section of this report).  
 
Major developments of most relevance and within proximity to the Site include: 

 Green Square Town Centre (all sites): Control of GSTC has recently transferred to Mirvac, and as such, 
established plans and uses for other sites within the Town Centre have not yet been fully established. However, 
it is understood that the Town Centre will accommodate significant residential components, as well as retail and 
commercial developments, including +44,000m2 of commercial space and +14,000m2 of retail. There is already 
established plans for open space at the ‘Drying Green’, and an integrated community facility and primary 
school, which is being jointly planned by the Department of Education and City of Sydney.  

 Waterloo Business Centre mixed use development: The site at 44-48 O’Dea Avenue forms part of the 
broader Lachlan Precinct, which is already well established with earlier stages of the development completed 
and occupied. The Business Centre development is under construction and planned to accommodate 388 
dwellings, as well as retail and commercial tenancies within an integrated mixed use precinct.  

 Emerald City: Proposed mixed use development to incorporate 258 dwellings (including 34 Build to Rent units), 
a full line supermarket, and commercial spaces. The development is located opposite the GSTC, and is forecast 
to be completed by 2028.  

 RPA HealthOne East: Located immediately outside of the GSTC. RPA HealthOne East is currently under 
construction and at completion will include an integrated health services facility with allied health services, 

$690,589,000 

$1,321,512,000 

$153,681,000 

$377,173,000 

$62,533,000 

$25,000,000 

$27,115,000 

$0 $500,000,000 $1,000,000,000 $1,500,000,000

Mixed Use

Residential

Education

Commercial

Industrial

Health

Retail

Total Investment Activity ($)

La
nd

 U
se

147



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 30 
 

community nurses, paediatric services and other government and non-government agencies. The approved site 
is under construction at 944 Bourke Street.  

 Botany Road mixed use development (330-338 Botany Road): The proposed site is situated directly 
opposite the 8A and 8B site within GSTC and proposes to include a primarily residential development and 
ground floor commercial premises. 

 GSTC community facility and school: Proposed development of an integrated community facility, including a 
600-place primary school, community hall, and multi purposes spaces for youth groups and other activities. This 
site and development is owned and managed by the City of Sydney.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

148



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 31 
 

 

Table 6 Proposed Developments – Study Area 

Map 
ID Address Primary Use 

Type Other Uses Developer Status Estimated Project 
Value 

Number of 
Dwellings Completion 

1 GSTC – site 8A and 
8B Commercial Education, Health Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd Possible $200,000,000 N/A TBC 

2 GSTC- site 8C, 8D, 
19A and 19B Mixed Use TBC Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd Possible $298,064,000 514 2023 

3 
Danks Street Precinct 

South - 903-921 
Bourke Street, 

Waterloo 
Residential  Retail 

City West Housing, 
Dahua Group, Strata 

Industrial 
Possible TBC 993 2028 

4 87-103 Epsom Rd Residential Retail The Warehouse Pty 
Ltd Commenced $263,968,000 798 2026 

5 
Waterloo Business 

Centre -44-48 O'Dea 
Ave * 

Residential Retail, commercial Crown International 
Holdings Pty Ltd Possible $225,178,000 388 2022 

6 GSTC Site 15- 77-93 
Portman Street Residential Retail Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd Commenced $240,058,000 323 2023 

7 18-20 O'Dea Av Residential Retail, commercial Crown International 
Holdings Pty Ltd Possible $135,520,000 331 2020 

8 
Emerald City -296-298 

Botany Road & 284 
Wyndham Street 

Mixed Use Residential, retail 
(supermarket), commercial Gazcorp Possible $132,916,000 258 2028 

9 94-104 Epsom Road Residential Residential, retail, commercial Meriton Group Pty Ltd Firm $108,279,000 514 2023 

10 Alexandria Park 
Community School Education Expansion of existing school NSW Department of 

Education Commenced $103,681,000 n/a 2021 

11 GSTC Site 9B – 499 
Botany Road Residential Retail Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd Commenced $101,500,000 256 2023 

12 GTSC Site 17 - 960A 
Bourke St Residential TBC Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd Possible $98,514,000 195 2024 

 

13 22 O'Riordan St Commercial Retail, markets Markham Corporation 
Pty Ltd Possible $76,095,000 N/A 2024 

14 888 Bourke Street Residential Retail Toplace Pty Ltd Possible $60,649,000 92 2026 

15 GSTC Site 18- 960A 
Bourke St Mixed Use Retail Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd Possible $60,000,000 104 2024 

149



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 32 
 

Map 
ID Address Primary Use 

Type Other Uses Developer Status Estimated Project 
Value 

Number of 
Dwellings Completion 

16 12-24 Rothschild 
Avenue Residential Retail Deicorp Pty Ltd Possible $59,714,000 176 2024 

17 23-27 Bourke Road & 
41-43 Bowden Street Commercial Retail Podia Pty Ltd Possible $57,633,000 N/A 2024 

18 
GSTC Community 

Facility and School - 
3a Joynton Avenue 

Education 

Primary School (600 
placements), community hall, 

open space, and multi-purpose 
facilities 

NSW Department of 
Education/City of 

Sydney 
Early $50,000,000 N/A 2023 

19 330-338 Botany Rd Residential N/A St George community 
Housing Possible $50,000,000 132 2023 

20 219-231 Botany Rd Residential Commercial Vantager Group Possible $48,419,000 131 2025 

21 29-33 Bourke Road Commercial Retail Tipalea Partners Possible $44,130,404 N/A 2022 

22 22-28 Mandible Street Commercial N/A Clipper International 
Corp Possible $43,445,000 N/A 2025 

23 33-37 Mentmore 
Avenue Residential N/A Dyldam Developments 

Pty Ltd Commenced $35,475,000 118 2021 

24 290-294 Botany Road Commercial Retail N/A Possible $32,717,000 N/A 2024 

25 326-328 Botany Road Commercial Retail N/A Possible $28,726,000 N/A 2024 

26 
Mercedes Benz 
Workshop, 340A 

Botany Rd 
Industrial Commercial City Capital Holdings 

Pty Ltd Commenced $25,000,000 N/A 2022 

27 RPA HealthONE East 
-944 Bourke Street Health Commercial NSW Health 

Infrastructure Possible $25,000,000 N/A 2023 

28 20-26 Allen Street Residential N/A 

Park Street 
Development C/- 
Project Tourism 

International 

Possible $22,939,000 61 2025 

Source: Cordell Connect, Ethos Urban 
*Buildings A, B, C, D and E combined 
 

 
 

150



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 33 
 

Figure 10 Proposed Developments  
  

 

Source: Cordell Connect, Nearmap, MapInfo, Ethos Urban 

 

151



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 34 
 

5.0 Commercial Office Assessment    

This chapter provides an overview of the surrounding Sydney suburban office markets as well as an assessment of 
the market potential for commercial office uses at the Site. 

5.1 Sydney Metropolitan Office Markets 
The Sydney CBD forms the major commercial office destination, providing over 5 million square metres of 
commercial office floorspace and serves a critical role in Australia’s national economy. However, the role of the 
metropolitan office markets across Greater Sydney also serve an important local and regional function that 
complement the higher-order role of the Sydney CBD. 

 
A breakdown of the provision of commercial office floorspace across the Sydney CBD and major Sydney 
metropolitan office markets is outlined in Figure 11. 

 
As shown, the next largest markets after the Sydney CBD include: 
 North Sydney – 922,793m2 

 Macquarie Park – 904,710 m2 

 Parramatta – 809,526 m2 

 Crows Nest/St Leonards – 331,047m2 

 Chatswood – 273,454 m2 

(Source: PCA – OMR January 2021) 
 
Figure 11 Total office stock by grade – Sydney CBD and metropolitan markets 

 
Source: PCA Office Market Report, January 2021 
 
As shown in Figure 12, the level of vacancy across each commercial market varies quite substantially, with 
Parramatta the best performing market (with a 6.4% vacancy rate), followed by the Sydney CBD (8.6% vacancy).   

 

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

Sydney CBD North Sydney Crows Nest/St
Leonards

Chatswood Macquarie Park Parramatta

To
ta

l S
to

ck
 (m

2 )

Office Market

Premium Grade A Grade B Grade C Grade D Grade

152



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 35 
 

Figure 12 Total office vacancy – Sydney CBD and metropolitan markets 

 
Source: PCA Office Market Report, January 2021 

 
As the core commercial office destination, the Sydney CBD benefits from a larger provision of higher quality 
commercial office stock, with 23.7% of stock classified as Premium Grade, and 38.1% as A Grade quality. The only 
other market with Premium Grade floorspace is North Sydney. Remaining metropolitan office markets typically 
incorporate a higher proportion of secondary grade stock (classified as B, C or D Grade floorspace). The exception 
is Macquarie Park, which includes some 69.8% of floorspace that is classified as A Grade. As a result, Macquarie 
Park has established itself a key destination for modern tenants seeking larger, ‘campus’ style facilities outside of 
the CBD. 

 
The amount of new supply planned in the metropolitan office markets has also been steadily increasing. Currently 
there is significant amount of development activity underway or planned in growing markets such as North Sydney 
and Parramatta, with 249,000m2 and 345,500m2 of additional floorspace planned, respectively. The amount of new 
supply across each market is outlined in Figure 13. 
 
Figure 13 Future office supply – Sydney CBD and metropolitan markets 

 
Source: PCA Office Market Report, January 2021, Cordell Connect 
 

8.6%

19.5%

12.8% 13.0%

9.6%

6.4%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

18.0%

20.0%

Sydney CBD North Sydney Crows Nest/St
Leonards

Chatswood Macquarie Park Parramatta

Va
ca

nc
y 

R
at

e 
(%

)

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

450,000

500,000

North Sydney Sydney CBD Crows Nest/St
Leonards

Chatswood Parramatta Macquarie Park

N
ew

 S
up

pl
y 

(m
2 )

Firm Mooted

153



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 36 
 

In addition to these metropolitan markets, a range of office tenants also seek out spaces in city fringe locations such 
as Redfern, Pyrmont and Surry Hills. More recently, major development and investment in key areas such as South 
Eveleigh have emphasised the appeal of these types of locations, particularly with companies focused around 
technology, innovation and creative industries. 

 
As a result, the market for commercial office floorspace in South Sydney is competitive, with challenging conditions 
likely to remain as a result of subdued market demand and the level of new development activity that will continue to 
occur in the metropolitan and city fringe markets. Key precincts of most directly competitive relevance to South 
Sydney would include the city fringe market (Pyrmont, Redfern, Surry Hills, South Eveleigh) as well as Macquarie 
Park. These markets share several similar characteristics to likely commercial floorspace in South Sydney including 
proximity to the CBD, access to public transport, as well as the ability to provide modern floorspace across larger 
floorplates than is typically achievable in larger core commercial office markets.  

5.2 South Sydney Office Market 
The South Sydney office market represents a smaller metropolitan office market with an estimated 260,000m2 of 
commercial office stock currently provided. The provision of commercial office stock represents a mix of facilities, 
from low to medium density designated office buildings, through to office components that form part of mixed use 
developments and business parks, or those that are ancillary to industrial/warehouse facilities. At 260,000m2 of 
commercial office floorspace, the South Sydney office market is comparable in size to Chatswood,  however, is 
smaller than competing metropolitan markets such as St Leonards/Crows Nest (331,047m2) and substantially 
smaller than Macquarie Park (904,710m2). 

 
Major occupiers that typically locate at South Sydney often select the location due to its proximity to the CBD, Port 
and Airport, as well as the ability to secure sizeable floorplates at an affordable rate. Some existing occupiers 
include Qantas, Westinghouse, KONE and DHL. Currently rents in the South Sydney commercial office market are 
understood to be in the order of $400-$450 per m2, which is less than half the rent being achieved in the Sydney 
CBD which is generally over $1,000 per m2. Comparable rents at competing metropolitan office markets typically 
range from $385-$565 per m2 (Savills, Q1 2021). As a result of demand impacts associated within COVID-19, the 
rental differential between core markets such as the Sydney CBD and metropolitan fringe markets has narrowed, as 
rents in the core CBD markets have seen a larger impact on rents relatively to the metropolitan fringe office 
markets. 

 
Market demand in South Sydney is likely to remain subdued in the short to medium term, while tenant activity 
remains limited. Reflecting the higher levels of vacancy across core markets such as the Sydney CBD and North 
Sydney, as well as higher availability of stock at competitive markets such as Macquarie Park, the outlook for 
commercial office uses in South Sydney is likely to remain challenged. 

 
In the longer term, however, there is an opportunity for commercial office stock in South Sydney to evolve alongside 
the projected growth and investment in infrastructure and mixed use projects, including Green Square Town Centre. 
Other major projects underway or planned that will likely benefit South Sydney and GSTC in the longer term include 
Sydney Metro, and renewal initiatives such as along the Botany Road Corridor. The South Sydney office market is 
well placed to form a natural extension of key precincts such as the Botany Road Corridor and the emerging 
Technology and Innovation precinct within central Sydney.  

 
Overall plans for GSTC have identified that 45,697m2 could be provided in the future, with the majority planned at 
the Site. The outlook for the South Sydney office market is aligned to the vision for the overall precinct, where 
commercial office stock will not be the primary use, but rather will be one of a range of complementary uses that 
form this vibrant mixed use destination. This is considered appropriate in order to best position this strategic site to 
appeal to a broad range of occupiers in the future, which is all the more important in the post COVID-19 
environment where flexibility will be a primary driver of success. 

5.3 Competitive context 

Throughout the Study Area, there has been limited development of new commercial office spaces in recent years, 
with existing office spaces often complementary to industrial and warehousing facilities. Despite this, there has been 
demand for office space in the Study Area, as traditional warehousing and industrial services in the area shift 
towards more skilled and higher order employment activities. This is demonstrated by new developments proposed 
in the area including:  

154



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 37 
 

 22 O’Riordan Street: Proposal for a 20,000m2 campus style office premises across 3-5 storeys, offering large 
floorplates. The proposal also includes shops and a food and drink premises, and markets. This project is due 
for completion in 2024. 

 23-27 Bourke Road: Proposed construction of a 4 storey building with 13,883m2 of commercial office space, 
and 1,285m2 of ground floor food and drink operators. Completion is estimated for 2024. 

 29-33 Bourke Road: Proposed construction of a 4 storey comprising office premises, shops and food and drink 
premises with basement level car park. Up to 9,364m2 of commercial space is proposed with generous 
floorplates of up to around 1,500m2. 

 22-28 Mandible Street: Construction of a 9 storey commercial building to include 11,667m2 of office space, and 
645m2 of ground floor retail. Floorplates range between 1,200m2 to 1,700m2 in GFA across the building. 
Completion of the project is estimated for 2025.  

 290-294 Botany Road: Proposed commercial premises with up to 8,456m2 of office GFA across six levels, as 
well as four retail premises across 1,400m2 on the ground floor. 

 326-328 Botany Road: Concept approval for a 10 storey commercial building with 9,069m2 of GFA, primarily to 
be used for ‘office premises’. The commercial building option proposes floorplates of 1,160m2. 

 
Immediately beyond the Study Area to the north is South Eveleigh (formerly ATP) and the Botany Road Corridor, 
which are two planned technology and innovation precincts that will support skilled employment activities and new 
office space in the coming years. High order tenants including the Commonwealth Bank, Quantium and Seven West 
have already established in South Eveleigh, demonstrating the strengthening appeal of these locations.  

5.4 Modern tenant requirements 

South Sydney and GSTC continues to evolve as a strategic centre. Changing patterns of work, improved 
accessibility and infrastructure, and shifts in modern tenant requirements are supporting this change. 

 
In order to ensure that the South Sydney office market becomes a viable commercial office destination in the future, 
it is vital that quality commercial office developments are delivered to enable the precinct to compete with other 
commercial office destinations across Greater Sydney. 
 
Tenant demands and requirements within the commercial office market are continually evolving. In recent times, 
there has been a move towards more open plan, flexible spaces that provide collaborative workspaces, seamless 
integration with technology and incorporate sustainable initiatives.  
 
There has been a heightened focus on employee and tenant wellness, and the impact that buildings can have on 
overall human health. This has emerged through initiatives such as the WELL Building Standard (WELL), described 
as a “performance-based system for measuring, certifying, and monitoring features of the built environment that 
impact human health and wellbeing, through air, water, nourishment, light, fitness, comfort, and mind’ (Well Building 
Institute).  
 
The attributes of a ‘WELL’ certified building are important aspects that a new building can offer in a post COVID 
environment, particularly in capturing and maximising the relationship between people’s health and the built 
environment.  
 
It should be noted that tenant requirements in the post-COVID-19 environment remain uncertain. However, several 
trends are unlikely to change including the importance of technology enabled workspaces and the ability to provide 
a safe and healthy work environment, which remain more important than ever in the post-COVID world.  
 
The current global pandemic has had a significant impact and transformation on commercial office working 
environments. COVID-19 has resulted in the requirement to work from home for many industries, particularly during 
the height of the pandemic, with impacts to commercial office market demand.  
 
The result of COVID-19 will mean that the way businesses and office tenants use their space will continue to 
evolve. In response to the pandemic, commercial office buildings will play a central role in the recovery and 
enhance opportunities to improve the way we work in a safe environment. 

155



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 38 
 

 
Market sounding and research undertaken by this office across Sydney metropolitan office markets relating to 
tenant and occupier requirements indicate the following: 

 Occupiers have a preference for prime quality buildings with available space that provides large contiguous 
floorplates with efficient building layouts and high quality design.  

 Preferred floorplates for major occupiers are whole floors with large floorplates of at least 1,500m2 or larger. 

 Occupiers want high quality spaces that typically achieve sustainable and wellness outcomes including 
NABERS, Green Star and WELL ratings.  

 Tenants want flexible spaces that allow for up and down scaling, active working spaces that enable 
collaboration internally and externally, and 24 hour access.  

 Clustering benefits including being within activated spaces that offer retail amenities, outdoor open space, and 
accessibility to public transport.  

 Need for flexibility: 

− Floorplates that are efficient and flexible – enabling more collaborative spaces  

− Adjustable spaces based on changing requirements  

− Best in class technology to support a mobile workforce  

 Need for sustainability and wellness initiatives.  

 
A key demand driver in metropolitan office markets is the provision of prime office stock across large contiguous 
floorplates. This is due to requirements of modern occupiers and businesses that typically prefer large contiguous 
spaces, allowing a company to locate on one, or more interconnected floors rather than across multiple levels. This 
is beneficial for corporate headquarters and major occupiers who seek to establish a head office and seek improved 
connectivity, collaboration as well as workplace flexibility that appeals to their broad workforce. 
 
In metropolitan office markets the benefits offered to tenants include large floorplates to enable ‘campus style’ 
corporate facilities, including customised fit-outs and experiences that align with the desired corporate culture and 
vision, all for a more affordable price point. In the Sydney CBD and North Sydney, typical floorplates for modern 
developments are in the order of 1,300-1,500m2. For the South Sydney office market, this will mean providing 
facilities that can compete with other metropolitan office markets such as Macquarie Park and South Eveleigh, 
where larger floorplates are provided. In the case of Macquarie Park, floorplates can be in excess of 3,000m2 and 
are aimed to attract large businesses seeking ‘campus’ style facilities in a suburban market. 
 
Information provided by Mirvac indicate that current levels of enquiry in Green Square to date has been for larger 
users looking for campus sized floorplates of 2,000m2 or larger. Tenant interest has range from occupiers from the 
finance sector, education (universities), large corporates for ‘back of house’ operations as well as Government 
departments. Key requirements by these tenants reinforce the messages outlined above including the need for the 
following attributes: 

 Large efficient floorplates of 2,000m2 or larger 

 Great natural light 

 Close proximity to transport 

 Vibrant amenity (both surrounding and within the building) 

 Provision and access to parking; and 

 Prominent signage. 

5.5 Summary of potential for commercial office uses 

A review of the potential for commercial office floorspace indicates that while there is likely to be a solid opportunity 
for commercial office floorspace in the longer term, in the short to medium term opportunities remain limited due to 
subdued market activity, strong competitive context and ongoing economic uncertainty associated with COVID-19. 

156



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 39 
 

 
Estimates of the level of projected commercial office floorspace within the Study Area suggest that around 
100,000m2 of commercial office floorspace would be required over the period to 2036 (based on requirements 
across the knowledge worker and traditional office categories). Currently, around 50,000m2 has been identified, with 
a further 30,000m2 planned or underway. 
 
In the longer term, the Green Square Town Centre is projected to accommodate some 6,000 workers, with current 
estimates indicating that around 1,000 workers are currently provided. Based on the mixed use nature of the 
precinct, it is likely that workers in the Town Centre will be provided across a range of facilities and services 
including retail, health, education and community facilities. Each of these uses will contribute positively to the 
ultimate employment provision on completion (as discussed in Section 7.0). It is likely that a mix of uses, including 
a provision of commercial office floorspace, would be more suitable at the Site to better align with market demand 
and the vision for the overall precinct. 
 
The Site is strategically positioned, being centrally located within the Green Square Town Centre and placed to 
benefit from the adjacent railway station as well as continued investment in this strategic centre. As such, the Site 
represents a unique opportunity to leverage off infrastructure and investment activity, provide a provision of quality 
commercial office space (among other uses) that will appeal to modern tenant requirements and respond to the 
evolving role of the Green Square Town Centre within this part of Sydney. However, there is limited need to deliver 
a pure commercial office project. If a pure commercial office project was required at the Site, there is a very real risk 
that the project will remain delayed or undeveloped for an extended period of time as conditions in the commercial 
office market will need to improve and existing vacant space at competing locations absorbed.  
 
The development of site 8A and 8B represents a key opportunity to deliver additional commercial office floorspace 
in this strategic centre, however, conditions in the office market overall remain uncertain. The implications for the 
commercial office market remain unclear as the impact of COVID-19 and the changing nature of work on tenant 
demand and requirements are yet to be fully understood.  
 
The proposal recommended at the Site represents a visionary project that will embody a contemporary non-
CBD development, delivering not only commercial office floorspace but also supporting uses that will 
create an active, vibrant destination for a range of occupiers. In this way, the project will be able to better 
attract and retain, both commercial office users and complementary uses, while enabling the Site to adapt 
and respond to changes in the market (and occupier needs) over time. 
 
Reflecting the uncertainty in the commercial office market, and the location of the Site in a non-CBD centre, 
adding flexibility in terms of floorplates and uses will ensure the development has a greater chance of 
being delivered sooner, and remaining viable over the longer term, for the benefit of strengthening the role 
of this strategic centre. By providing greater flexibility of uses at the Site, the development will have the ability to 
provide commercial office floorspace that is aligned to the South Sydney market demand and tenant needs at any 
given time, while also enabling the delivery of other uses that align with commercial office floorspace. This may 
include social and community infrastructure that responds to the needs of a fast growing residential population.  

157



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 40 
 

6.0 Supporting Use Assessment  

This chapter provides an overview of other uses that could be supported at the Site, taking into consideration the 
surrounding development context and resident and worker requirements in the local area.  

6.1 Complementary uses to commercial office 

The Site benefits from a high-profile and easily accessible location in the heart of the Green Square Town Centre. 
As a key mixed use precinct, and as the designated strategic centre in this part of Sydney, there is a strong 
opportunity to cater for a range of uses at site 8A and 8B that will complement any commercial office component. 
Allowing flexibility of uses will enable the Site to adapt to growth and the evolving needs of local residents as well as 
to changes in market conditions over the long term. 
 
There are several uses that complement commercial office facilities, many of which have well established 
synergies, while others are emerging in contemporary mixed use commercial office development. Some of the uses 
that could be considered at the Site include (but are not limited to): 

 Education facilities 

 Health services and facilities 

 Childcare 

 Community services 

 Research and technical centres 

 Retail facilities 

6.2 Market Potential 

There is strong potential for other non-commercial uses at the Site, reflecting the success factors of the location that 
align with a range of uses including: 

 High-profile and easily accessible site in the heart of the Green Square Town Centre 

 Large, prominent site with main road exposure  

 Excellent public transport access 

 Established mix of uses including community facilities, residential and retail uses 

 High quality environment and amenities 

 Continued levels of investment activity  

 Strong growth profile, reflecting the established and increasing resident and employment profile 

While a range of uses are likely to be supportable due to the attributes of the Site, key components of most 
relevance are likely to include uses such as educational providers and/or health facilities. These uses are explored 
in more detail reflecting the fact that demand for these uses will increase substantially due to growth in the Green 
Square Town Centre but also due to the fact that these uses often account for significant components of 
contemporary mixed use and office developments in comparable locations. A high-level review of each use is now 
outlined. 

Education Uses 

 Reflecting the under provision of existing educational facilities within the local area, combined with the strong 
growth that is projected to occur, the potential for the Site to accommodate educational facilities would be high 
from a market point of view. The attributes and built form of the Site, which will likely include commercial office 
floorspace are better aligned to accommodating a vertical school, or higher density tertiary education occupier 
at the Site. The alignment of this use is reinforced by information provided by Mirvac that indicates interest in 
the site from university occupiers.  

158



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 41 
 

 An assessment of tertiary facilities shows that there are no university or other tertiary facilities within the Study 
Area, with the exception of more specialised education such as acting and film school. This is despite the fact 
that 16.8% of the resident population in 2016 were studying at university or another tertiary facility.  

 The ability to provide tertiary educational facilities such as university on the Site is considered high, reflecting 
the locational drivers but also potential clustering and knowledge sharing benefits on offer. Existing universities 
are located in close proximity to the Site including Sydney University (2.8km), UTS (2.8km) and UNSW (4.0km). 
In addition, partnerships between universities and industry is increasing over time across Australia; investing in 
innovation and entrepreneurship to ensure that students are equipped with the skills they will need to succeed 
in the growing knowledge economy. 

 Further, in contrast with traditional “sandstone” universities, isolated from the surrounding urban environment, 
contemporary universities are increasingly seeking to integrate with the social and built fabric surrounding their 
campuses. Campus design is increasingly oriented to encourage the local community to connect with the 
university by inviting them into a space that could otherwise feel intimidating. This increased approach to 
“vertical campuses” reflects this trend in campus design and has been planned to encourage connections with 
the broader community. 

 The location of the Site, within a planned mixed use and high-density area, would provide an ideal location for a 
vertical school and would be fitting given the context of the surrounding built form of the GSTC.  

 Beyond tertiary education facilities, there is likely to be strong potential for other education facilities at the Site. 
This reflects the substantial population growth that is projected to occur, including growth in age groups often 
associated with students.  

 Based on the current estimated resident population of 41,690, and the 2016 ABS Census age proportions for 
the study area, it is estimated that there is currently around 3,984 persons aged between 5-19 years living 
within the Study Area that are typically considered of school age.  

 Applying a similar assumption for persons aged 20-24 years, there is approximately up to 6,389 persons within 
the Study Area that could be attending tertiary education within this age group.  

 Together, the 3,984 children aged 5-19 years and young adults at 20-24 years account for 27% of the resident 
population who may be attending education or studying at the time of the 2016 Census. 

 Currently, there is a limited provision of schools in the Study Area, which include: 

− Alexandria Park Community School: A kindergarten to Year 12 school with a recorded 911 students in 
2020. The school is currently undergoing significant expansion and redevelopment works to increase the 
capacity of the school to 1,000 primary and 1,200 secondary students, equating to 2,200 placements in 
total.  

− Gardeners Road Public School: Located in the south of the Study Area, the school offers K-6 learning and 
had a total of 163 enrolments in 2017.  

− Yudi Gunyi School: A special education school with a total enrolment of 26 students in 2020.  

− In total, there is currently 1,100 places across the three existing schools in the Study Area, which represents 
an undersupply based on the estimated 3,984 persons aged 5-19 years, of which a large majority are likely 
to be enrolled in school and would seek locations close to their homes.  

 In addition to the Alexandria Park Community School redevelopment, there is joint plans between the 
Department of Education and City of Sydney for a new 600 place primary School within the Green Square Town 
Centre.  

 When considering proposals, there is forecast to be up to 2,826 school placements. While this does narrow the 
gap between supply and demand for the school aged population and the total number of school placements, 
this considers the existing population only. Additional population growth will add materially to the number of 
students living in the area and demand for educational facilities of all types.  

 There is an estimated 1,981 children aged between 0-4 years within the Study Area, equating to 4.8% of the 
resident population, and consistent with the results of the 2016 Census. It is likely that many of these children 
would require part of full time child care, creating demand for childcare centres and early learning facilities 
throughout the Study Area.  

 

159



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 42 
 

Health Uses 

 Similarly to educational uses, there is likely to be potential for health facilities at the Site reflecting the level of 
population growth that is projected to occur. Health services will be required by all age groups; however usage 
tends to be higher for the population that is either older (over 65+ years) or for younger children. 

 An assessment of health facilities within the Study Area indicates a limited supply of health and ancillary 
services. The existing provision of health services is largely limited to medical centres with general practitioners. 
There is also a range of other limited health services including physiotherapists and dentists.   

 The nearest medical centre to the Site is located within the Infinity building to the north of the Site.  

 The Alexandria Specialists Day Hospital is the only hospital facility within the Study Area at present.  

 RPA HealthONE East is a recently approved development adjacent to GSTC along Bourke Street. The 
approved health facility will provide an integrated public and private health care centre close to homes, including 
a multidisciplinary care team.  

 Despite the above proposal, there remains a limited amount of health services throughout the Green Square 
and South Sydney region, particularly when considering the high volumes of population growth that has 
occurred and is projected to continue in the future. The Study Area population is forecast to increase by 
+32,000 residents by 2036.  

 Access to critical health infrastructure is imperative in establishing a high amenity place for residents to live and 
work, and is an important element in achieving the aspiration for ‘30-minute cities’ within Greater Sydney. 

 The attributes and built form of the Site, which will likely include commercial office floorspace, suggest that while 
demand will be strong and the Site would be well suited to some health occupiers, not all health services or 
providers are likely to find the location and development suitable. This is particularly the case for health services 
that may require specialised equipment and therefore, unique built form requirements that do not align with 
commercial offices. It is likely that the project would be better aligned to health services focused around 
consultation, research and low impact medical laboratories and centres. 

 The Site represents a very strong opportunity to deliver reimagined health and education facilities in a post 
COVID-19 environment (i.e. more virtual and technology enables access), that complement commercial office 
uses and align with contemporary development in inner city locations. The integration of these uses with 
commercial office uses will help to establish a critical mass of facilities and will deliver a key destination for the 
local community. 

6.3 Modern Occupier Requirements and Case Studies 

Health and education occupiers are becoming increasingly sophisticated in response to changing student and 
patient requirements and changing technologies. Modern health and education precincts value attributes that align 
with office occupiers including: 

 High quality buildings with available space that provide large contiguous floorplates with efficient building 
layouts and high quality design.  

 Access to large floorplates and whole floor access. 

 High quality spaces that achieve sustainable and wellness outcomes including NABERS, Green Star and WELL 
ratings.  

 Flexible spaces that allow for up and down scaling, active working spaces that enable collaboration internally 
and externally, and 24 hour access.  

 Clustering benefits, including being within activated spaces that offer retail amenities, outdoor open space, and 
accessibility to public transport.  

 Best in class technology and services. 

 Need for sustainability and wellness initiatives.  

There are numerous developments that embody the mix of uses that have been outlined above including providing 
contemporary commercial office floorspace along with education, health and other uses. Some current examples 
are described.  

160



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 43 
 

1 – 6 Hassall Street, Parramatta  

The Hassall Street project provides an integrated innovation hub in Parramatta that blends commercial office 
spaces with a university campus, namely Western Sydney University. A key feature of the Hassall Street site is its 
flexible working spaces that enable a range of activities within the building, with key design features including large 
contiguous floorplates typically between 1,500-1,900m2, as well as state of the art technology and innovation 
implemented throughout. The site has end of trip facilities, retail amenity, outdoor plaza and terrace, and an 
amphitheatre, which are attractive features for modern occupiers. The co-location of the university campus and 
commercial offices creates net benefits overall, including knowledge sharing, collaboration, and integration across 
all the occupiers of the facility.  

 
Source: Charter Hall 

 

Victoria University Precinct, Melbourne 

The project, currently under construction, is a 32 storey vertical campus in Melbourne’s commercial and legal 
district, with plans to provide 24,000m2 of learning space. The vertical campus will include a library, student services 
centre, social hub, retail and dining, as well as extensive learning spaces. In particular, the campus will have a focus 
on osteopath and dermal therapy and will host students from external colleges. The campus is due to open in 2022.  

  
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: Victoria University 

 

161



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 44 
 

6.4 Summary of potential for supporting uses  

A review of the potential for supporting uses at the Site suggest that there is strong market demand for uses that will 
complement commercial office floorspace. The high levels of population growth that is anticipated within the region 
will act as a key driver of demand for uses and occupiers in the health and education sector. The relatively limited 
provision of existing and planned health and education facilities, combined with the locational attributes of the Site, 
suggest that site 8A and 8B would be an ideal location to provide these types of supporting uses. 
 
Health and education uses represent some of the complementary uses that are likely to be supportable at the Site, 
with a range of other uses likely to be supportable that will leverage off the profile of the Site as well as the 
population and employment growth that is planned to occur – some of these additional uses include childcare and 
retail facilities. 
 
As outlined, the potential for a development providing around 45,000m2 of purely commercial office floorspace is 
limited and a mix of uses would result in a range of benefits including: 

 Better alignment with the vision for GSTC as a major mixed use destination and a key strategic centre in this 
part of Sydney. 

 Provide for increased activation, vibrancy and amenities to cater for the local population, including the ability for 
the Site to be more active after hours and on weekends. 

 Provide additional uses that are currently underserviced or underprovided within the area currently. 

 Deliver uses that will be complementary to the commercial office component, helping to create a destination and 
precinct that will, in-turn add to the activity and appeal of the Site for a range of occupiers in the future. 

 Better leverage investment activity and growth strategies in the area including alignment and extension of the 
future Botany Road Corridor. 

 Support the aspirations for a true live/work/play neighbourhood and GSC objectives for 30-minute cities. 

 Enable flexibility to adapt to changes in market conditions and occupier requirements now and in the longer 
term. 

 Aligned to contemporary tenant expectations and modern mixed use developments that are occurring in high-
profile locations across Australia. 

The introduction of the additional, complementary uses to the building will ultimately make a large 
floorspace office provision more attractive and saleable to potential occupiers. By providing a large, 
flexible built form with varied and potentially interconnected complementary uses, these attributes have the 
potential to act as key drivers for new office occupiers and set the benchmark for development in the post-
COVID world. There is a clear and emerging need to enable large, flexible, and adaptable development that 
includes a focus on wellness and sustainability. Introducing complementary uses such as health and 
education within the development will only serve to enhance the offering of a large commercial office 
project within an emerging precinct. 
The development of sites 8A and 8B will deliver around 45,000m2 of modern, prime grade floorspace within GSTC, 
that will appeal to a range of occupiers from traditional office occupiers, through to education and health occupiers 
as well as complementary industries and activities. The delivery of projects such as that proposed at site 8A and 8B 
will help to support the growth and evolution of GSTC. The ability to provide large floorplates across the Site, 
combined with the flexibility to accommodate uses that complement the commercial office component will 
ensure that the Site remains a vibrant, active destination for the community well into the future. 
 
 

162



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 45 
 

7.0 Economic Benefits  

This chapter provides a review of the economic benefits likely to result from the proposed development, 
incorporating both commercial office as well as alternative uses such as health and education. The project is likely 
to result in additional benefits to the local and regional economy through employment generation, retail expenditure 
and community benefits. Jobs supported by the development will accrue through direct and indirect employment, 
generated during both the construction phase, and ongoing employment as part of the operational phase. These 
benefits are now discussed. 

7.1 Key findings and recommendations 

As outlined below, there are no significant or detrimental economic impacts likely to result from commercial, or other 
uses such as health, retail or educational facilities at the Site. Rather these additional uses will result in significant 
positive economy benefits, including the provision of more diverse and additional employment opportunities within 
GSTC, whilst complementing the role of the Town Centre as mixed use community and responding to the need for 
social infrastructure that aligns with, and supports, ongoing population growth within the precinct.  

7.2 Demand for the development  

7.2.1 Site suitability  

The continued population growth within the Study Area, and more specifically within GSTC, will drive strong market 
demand for a range of facilities and amenities, including retail shops, modern office space, educational facilities and 
health related services.  
 
GSTC is one of the largest and most important urban renewal projects in the country and has an important role to 
play in providing a high amenity community destination within the City of Sydney, with the potential to accommodate 
up to 6,800 new residents and 6,000 workers upon completion. As such, once complete GSTC will be a truly mixed 
use community hub, offering a range of employment opportunities and high amenity living. 
 
Green Square Town Centre benefits from a prime position within the context of Greater Sydney, being an inner city 
metropolitan suburb, positioned between major employment and infrastructure precincts including the Sydney CBD, 
Sydney Airport and Port Botany. The area is highly accessible via bus routes, as well as easy accessibility to Green 
Square Station and the future Waterloo Metro Station to the north, which is estimated to be completed in 2024. The 
strong accessibility to public transport makes the area highly desirable, with easy and fast access to the Sydney 
CBD and across Greater Sydney.  
 
Importantly, GSTC, and more broadly South Sydney is undergoing urban renewal and change, with significant 
residential uplift, and a structural shift in employment uses, transitioning from light industrial and warehousing 
activities to higher order employment. This is particularly evident through the establishment of South Eveleigh and 
the Botany Road Corridor as technology and innovation precincts, and the recommendation for the Southern 
Employment Lands Area to transition to a mixed use business precinct over time. Furthermore, there is an 
opportunity for GSTC to leverage off the proximity to major transport and trade infrastructure such as the Port and 
Airport.  
 
Importantly, there are a number of new development and infrastructure projects that are planned or currently under 
construction in the Study Area. These projects will further support growth and investment in South Sydney, and the 
proposal at the Site will further enhance this trend.  
 
The GSTC sites 8A and 8B are well positioned within a major renewal area, near key employment hubs, efficient 
public transport and along a major arterial road with extensive road frontage. The Site has the potential to form an 
integral part of shaping GSTC, particularly in relation to providing a range of employment opportunities that benefit 
the growing number of local workers and residents. In particular, the proximity of the Site to the adjacent Southern 
Employment Lands Area, and Botany Road Corridor means that uses at the Site will form a natural extension of 
these two precincts, with the potential to seamlessly integrate with the GSTC, providing additional connectivity and 
linkages between businesses throughout South Sydney and the Sydney CBD. Additional uses at the site will 

163



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 46 
 

respond to the need for a greater provision of critical community facilities and services including health and 
education, in response to high population and worker growth within the local area.  

7.2.2 Need for the development  

The need for the development has been highlighted throughout Sections 5.0-6.0. Overall, this analysis finds that 
while there is a need and target commercial office occupiers with large floorplates, there is also strong demand for 
other supporting uses at the site including health and education related services. The key points and findings driving 
need for these uses include:  

 Strong residential population growth, forecast to increase from 41,690 to 73,690 by 2036.  

 A high household income profile as compared to Greater Sydney.  

 A predominately white-collar workforce of some 42,740 workers, which is forecast to increase over time. In 
addition, the 3,540 current health and education workers is forecast to increase to 4,911 workers by 2036.  

 A floorspace demand requirement of around 100,000m2 for commercial office space by 2036. While some 
facilities are already planned and underway, site 8A and 8B represents an ideal location for commercial office 
space among other uses.  

 A floorspace demand requirement of an estimated 55,240m2 for health and education facilities, with a limited 
provision currently planned or underway.  

 Significant floorspace demand requirement of an estimated 247,000m2 for population serving activities such as 
retail stores, supermarkets and food and beverage operators.  

 A need for large campus style floorplates that will appeal to modern office occupiers, offering flexibility of uses 
at the site that can enable the Site to respond to changes in market demand as GSTC continues to evolve and 
establish itself as a prominent community destination in South Sydney.  

 Opportunity to form a natural extension of mixed use and employment facilities within the Southern Employment 
Lands Area and the future Botany Road Corridor.  

 There is a need and opportunity for South Sydney to compete more effectively with other fringe commercial 
office markets across Greater Sydney and provide a point of difference that take advantage of the locational 
attributes.  

 Need for a greater provision of critical social infrastructure and services that aligns with the growing population 
within the Study Area.  

 There is an opportunity for the Site to respond to the ongoing development and investment underway and 
proposed in the surrounding area, with the potential to contribute to the ongoing renewal of the precinct and 
provide and integral component of the future Town Centre.  

7.3 Employment generation 

7.3.1 Construction jobs  

Direct employment in the construction industry is expressed as FTE job years. A ‘job year’ is a full-time job for one 
year. 
 
Indirect or flow on employment will also be supported in other industries, for example, suppliers of materials and 
financial and legal services. Employment estimates in the wider economy are derived from ABS national account 
input-output analysis, specifically, employment multipliers. 
 
Direct employment in the construction industry depends on the nature of the building, in particular the capital 
intensity of the project. It is estimated 1.96 FTE direct construction industry job years per $1 million of expenditure 
(or 1.0 FTE job year per $510,000) will be generated by the construction activity, based on research and the type of 
work expected to be undertaken in the construction phase of the site. 
 

164



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 47 
 

In addition, these direct construction industry jobs lead to demand for employment in supplier industries in the wider 
economy. The ABS construction multiplier is 2.6 - that is, for every single FTE job in the construction industry a 
further 1.6 FTE jobs are supported elsewhere in the economy. 
 
Total construction costs for the development of sites 8A and 8B at GSTC is understood to be in order of $200 
million. At this level, the construction stage of the project would support 390 jobs in the construction industry and 
support a further 630 jobs in related (supplier) industries over the development period which is estimated to occur 
over 1-2 years. A breakdown of construction jobs is shown in Table 7. 
 
Local businesses, workers and jobseekers are likely to benefit from increased employment and contracts afforded 
by the construction phase of the project. Persons who are employed in construction related industries in the Study 
Area are therefore well positioned to benefit from the development. 

Table 7 Estimated employment during construction stage  

Metric Value 

Direct Jobs 

Construction cost estimate $200 million 

Estimated direct jobs 390 FTE Jobs  

Indirect Jobs 

Indirect jobs per construction job Approximately 1.6 

Estimated indirect jobs   630 FTE jobs  

Total FTE Construction Jobs 1,020 FTE jobs 

Source: ABS 2016, Ethos Urban 

7.3.2 Ongoing employment opportunities 

As plans for the proposed development at the Site are still to be finalised, additional ongoing employment at the Site 
has been estimated using an assumption of 10,000m2 per use, with reference to the City of Sydney Floor Space and 
Employment Survey 2017 and other industry benchmarks. A summary of these findings is shown in Table 8. These 
findings suggest the following:  

 For every 10,000m2  of commercial office space, up to an estimated 620 jobs can be generated based on 
16.2m2 of commercial office floorspace per worker, or 290 jobs assuming 34.5m2 per worker. 

 For every 10,000m2 of retail floorspace, up to an estimated 330 jobs can be generated based on 30.2m2 of retail 
floorspace per worker, or 290 jobs assuming 45.0m2 per worker.  

 For every 10,000m2 of health related floorspace, up to an estimated 230 jobs can be generated based on  
43.6m2 of health floorspace per worker, or 250 jobs assuming 40.3m2 per worker. 

 For every 10,000m2 of education related floorspace, up to an estimated 200 jobs can be generated based on  
50.0m2 of education space per worker, or 170 jobs assuming 57.2m2 per worker. 

A total of 1,380 jobs would be generated with a combined floorspace of 40,000m2 when adopting the City of Sydney 
LGA workspace ratios, or 930 jobs when using the workspace ratios for the Green Square and City South Village. 

This highlights the potential level of employment that may be supportable at the Site in the future. While commercial 
office uses can generate a higher number of workers; other uses also contribute positively to employment 
generation. The provision of a range of uses at the Site, allows for maximum flexibility of the development, and will 
result in overall improvement in the level of activation and appeal to a broad range of occupiers (including 
commercial uses) that may not otherwise be attracted to the Site as a pure commercial development. This would 
result in a project that could be occupied sooner and result in an overall net gain to employment generation. 

  

165



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 48 
 

Table 8 Ongoing employment estimates 

  City of Sydney LGA workspace ratios Green Square and City South 
workspace ratios 

 Floorspace (m2) Floorspace ratio Estimated workers Floorspace ratio Estimated workers 

Commercial 10,000m2 16.2m2 per worker 620 34.5m2 per worker 290 

Retail 10,000m2 30.2m2 per worker 330 45.0m2 per worker 220 

Health 10,000m2 43.6m2 per worker 230 40.3m2 per worker 250 

Education 10,000m2 50.0m2 per worker 200 57.2m2 per worker 170 

Total  40,000m2 - 1,380 - 930 

Source: City of Sydney Floor Space and Employment Survey 2017, Ethos Urban 
 

7.4 Economic Output  

In addition to employment benefits, the ongoing workforce at the Site will also generate additional economic activity 
on an ongoing basis, that will further support the local and regional economy. 
 
Value added has been estimated using the employment figures for each industry group based on the analysis 
presented in the previous sub-section. In this instance adopting the ongoing employment estimates from the City of 
Sydney LGA workspace ratios highlighted in Table 8.  
 
Value added by industry is an indicator of business productivity. It shows the net economic uplift by excluding the 
value of production inputs. Value added likely to be generated based on the estimated 1,380 FTE workers is 
estimated at around $150.8 million pa (2019 dollars) at completion (refer to Table 9). 
 
The analysis has been derived using data from economy.id (based on modelling by the National Institute of 
Economic and Industry Research) for the City of Sydney LGA, with ‘best fit’ industry sectors applied to likely 
economic activities at the new development. The results of the analysis assume no substitution effects from outside 
the regional economy, rather, the activities undertaken at the new asset represent increased net demand 
associated with population, labour force and industry growth.  
 

Table 9 Sites 8A and 8B – Estimated Economic Output at Completion 

Activity Commercial 
Office Retail  Education   Health Total 

Economy.id Category  
Professional, 
scientific and 

technical services  
Food retailing  Education and 

Training  

Medical and other 
health care 

services 
 

Employment (jobs)* 620 330 230 200 1,380 

Value added per job $144,622 $64,770 $114,533 $67,573 - 

Value added total $89,665,640 $21,374,100 $26,342,590 $13,514,600 $150,896,930 

Source: Economy.id, Ethos Urban 
*Note: Based on employment using the City of Sydney LGA ratios 

7.5 Additional expenditure generated by the project 

An increase in the population at the Site through additional workers and potential students will result in increased 
retail expenditure available in the local area. This local retail expenditure is expected to be directed toward food-
related purchases such as take-away, cafés, restaurant dining and take-home groceries.  
 

166



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 49 
 

Assuming that the estimated 930-1,380 workers spend an average of $10 per working day on local food and 
beverages near their place of work (Urbis Office Survey 2013), this would result in an increase in annual spending 
to local businesses between $2.2 – $3.3 million per annum.  
 
In addition, education facilities at the site will also accommodate a number of students at any given time. Based on 
spending information sourced from the University of Sydney and University of Melbourne, it is estimated students 
spend on average $200 a week on food and entertainment. Assuming a third of this expenditure occurs near their 
place of study, this would represent around $10 per day. Assuming that there is a total of 500 students on the site at 
full capacity, this equates to total student retail spending of $1.2 million per year.  
 
Considering a total student population of 500, and worker population of 1,380 on the site at full occupancy, total 
retail expenditure is estimated at up to $4.5 million per year.  
 
A breakdown of estimated retail expenditure is shown in Table 10 below.  

Table 10 Estimated additional retail expenditure  

 Total Estimated 
Employment 

Expenditure per day 
($) 

Total expenditure per 
day ($) 

Total expenditure per 
year ($) 

Employment - lower 
range* 930 $10 $9,300 $2,232,000 

Employment – upper 
range** 1,380 $10 $13,800 $3,312,000 

Students 500 $10 $3,500 $1,222,500 

Source: City of Sydney Floor Space and Employment Survey 2017, Ethos Urban 
* total employment estimated using the Green Square and City South workspace ratios 
**total employment estimated using the City of Sydney LGA workspace ratios 

 
By providing a mix of office workers, students, health and education workers at the site, the types of retail goods 
and services required in the area will be more diverse, benefiting the range of tenants at GSTC including 
supermarkets, restaurants, takeaway food operators and cafes. In particular, while office workers will likely have a 
higher spending capacity overall, the likely expenditure capacity each day is anticipated to remain the same as the 
student population (at $10 per day). This is due to the fact that facilities at Green Square Town Centre and in the 
immediate precinct will be focused on food and dining services that will be available to all customer segments. The 
proposed retail provision will not be targeted towards a specific market or price point, such as luxury retail shops or 
restaurants (that may associate more strongly with office workers), and as such, all existing and future operators will 
continue to benefit equally from increased expenditure from either students or office workers, despite any difference 
in discretionary expenditure overall. 
 
For office workers, expenditure will generally be limited to convenience retail and food and beverage services 
before and after work as well as during lunchtimes. Students or shift workers on the other hand, will access these 
facilities during these times but also for extended hours, including more regularly late at nights and on weekends. 
The inclusion of students and shift workers may have the potential to contribute positively to increased levels of 
activity in the area, and support the night time economy in the South Sydney area.  

7.6 Other economic benefits 

The proposed development of the site 8A and 8B will deliver an array of economic benefits to the local community 
and the region, which are outlined below. In particular, the proposal will deliver a modern and high amenity mixed 
use precinct that responds to the needs of both residents, workers, and students within the local area, and 
surrounding localities. Other benefits associated with the proposed development are now highlighted. 

 The proposed large contiguous floorplates will allow for increased flexibility and support a range of uses, 
enabling the Site to adapt and change over time in response to market requirements as it continues to evolve 
and establish as community and mixed use precinct.  

167



Green Square Town Centre  | Economic Assessment | 29 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 50 
 

The project will generate significant economic benefits for GSTC and South Sydney, including the 
provision of a visionary, campus style commercial office building with large efficient floorplates that will 
appeal to a broad range of occupiers. Other uses at the site including health and education will 
completement the growing residential population in the area and provide critical social infrastructure in 
this part of Sydney. Importantly, these uses will generate high amounts of additional employment and 
business opportunities in the local area, and contribute to significant economic activity each year. These 
additional workers or students on the site will generate additional retail expenditure, both during the day 
and after hours, enhancing local business opportunities and the night time economy in GSTC.  
 
The project will deliver a range of other economic and community benefits including increased activation, 
vibrancy and amenity to the local area as a result of increased uses and visitation to the site, including 
after hours and on weekends. Importantly, the proposed development has the potential to form a key site 
within the GSTC and South Sydney overall, by providing a contemporary commercial development that 
will attract high value businesses but also facilitate increased levels of activity, collaboration and 
knowledge sharing through the provision of complementary uses to commercial office, such as health 
and education facilities. The proposal will align strongly with government objectives and the vision for 
GSTC and South Sydney by delivering a development that will form a natural extension of the Botany 
Road Corridor and, by enabling flexibility at the site, position this emerging precinct for long term growth. 

 By enabling other complementary uses at the Site including health and education facilities, the Site will better 
respond to the demands of the growing population and community in the area, by providing critical social 
infrastructure that is close to homes and employment. 

 The proposed development will offer high quality commercial office space and complementary facilities that will 
align with modern tenant requirements and help attract high value businesses and occupiers to South Sydney.  

 Commercial office uses, and supporting complementary facilities, at the Site have the potential to create a 
natural extension to commercial precincts in the broader area including the Botany Road Corridor and the 
Technology and Innovation Corridor. The Site has the potential to complete the ‘missing middle’ between 
Sydney Airport, South Eveleigh and the Sydney CBD by providing quality mixed use and commercial office 
space within GSTC.  

 Additional uses at the site will enable increased activation, vibrancy and levels of amenity at the Site that can 
cater to the local population, including the ability for the Site to be more active after hours and on weekends. 

 Educational facilities at the Site will better align services to the 27.1% of the Study Area population that are 
currently attending education.  

 The proposal will benefit local retailers and services through generating additional retail expenditure within the 
local area, leading to increased businesses growth opportunities and investment. 

 Support the provision of a range of employment opportunities within a diverse range of industry sectors.  

 Provide educational facilities within one of the fastest growing regions in the country, supporting the growth in 
local resident population and driving innovation and learning in this part of Sydney.  

 Provide important health facilities that will support the growing resident population in the area, improving 
residential amenity and supporting a location that is highly desirable for existing and future residents.  

 Support ongoing investment and renewal in the GSTC, as a key mixed use precinct in South Sydney, enabling 
continued growth and development over time.  

 Support state and local Government strategic policies and vision including:  

- Supporting the 30-minute city aspiration by enhancing the availability of jobs, and key social infrastructure 
close to homes.  

- Providing critical social infrastructure within an area of high population growth, a key challenge identified 
within the City of Sydney LSPS. 

- Alignment with the Southern Employment Lands and Botany Road Corridor objectives by providing a mixed 
use and innovative development in South Sydney. 

- Supporting the strategic objective of the City of Sydney Capacity Study to deliver up to +17,200 new jobs by 
2036 in the Green Square and City South Village. The Site could support around 8.0% of this employment 
target.  

 
 
  

 

168



Attachment A3 

Urban Design Report 

169



P
re

pa
re

d 
fo

r:
 M

irv
ac

D
at

e:
 J

un
e 

28
th

, 2
02

1
(I

ss
ue

 b
)

U
rb

an
 D

es
ig

n 
R

ep
or

t

G
re

en
 S

qu
ar

e 
Si

te
 8

A
 &

 8
B

170



Contents

Project and report Green Square Site 8A & 8B

Date June 28th, 2021

Client  / Domenic Pagano

Document no. 1

Version and date issued Issue B - 28/06/2021 Approved by: Colin Odbert

Report contact Emrana Sikder
Senior Associate

This report is considered 
a draft unless signed by a 
Director or Principal

Approved by: 

Architectus Group Holdings Pty Ltd 
ABN 90 131 245 684

Nominated Architect 
Managing Director 
Ray Brown 
NSWARB 6359

Adelaide 
Lower Ground Floor  
57 Wyatt Street  
Adelaide SA 5000  
Australia 
T +61 8 8427 7300 
adelaide@architectus.com.au

Brisbane 
Level 2, 79 Adelaide Street 
Brisbane Qld 4000   
Australia 
T  +61 7 3221 6077  
brisbane@architectus.com.au

Melbourne 
Level 25, 385 Bourke Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 
Australia 
T +61 3 9429 5733 
F +61 3 9429 8480 
melbourne@architectus.com.au

Perth 
QV1 Upper Plaza West 
250 St. Georges Terrace 
Perth WA 6000 
Australia 
T +61 8 9412 8355  
perth@architectus.com.au 

Sydney 
Level 18, MLC Centre 
19 Martin Place 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Australia 
T +61 2 8252 8400 
F +61 2 8252 8600 
sydney@architectus.com.au

architectus.com.au

General Disclaimer  
 – The information contained here is believed to be correct at the time of preparation, however it is not 

guaranteed. Recipients must rely on their own enquiries to satisfy themselves in all respects. Architectus 
accepts no damages, liabilities or costs, including legal costs of defence, arising from changes made by 
anyone other than Architectus or from the information contained here without prior consent of Architectus.

 – Architectus Group Pty Ltd does not accept any liability to any third party for the contents of this report.
 – This report is not intended for use by anyzz other person or for any other purpose. Only the original drawings 

should be relied on.
 – Further development of the design, measurement and construction tolerances and/ or further client/tenant 

requests will inevitably result in changes to these areas [which could involve significant reductions] and 
Architectus Pty Ltd accepts no legal responsibility for any decision, commercial or otherwise, made on the 
basis of these areas.

 – The Copyright in this report belongs to Architectus Group Pty Ltd.

1 Site Description 3

1.1 Location Plan   4

1.2 Master Plan  6

1.3 LEP   7

1.4 DCP   8

2 Urban Context 12

2.1 Site Overview    13

2.2 Site Context    14

2.3 Constraints 16

2.4 Opportunities 17

2.5 Active Frontage          18

2.6 Wind Mitigation          19

3 Bridge Spatial Study 20

4.1 Bridge Study   21

4.2 Visual Impact Analysis 23

4.3 Precedent Images 28

4 Building Form & Articulation 31

5.1 GFA Surplus   32

5.2 GFA Distribution Opportunities 33

A Appendices - Building Envelope 38

 Building Envelope 39

B Appendices - Reference Design 40

 Reference Design  41

171



1 Site Description
Location Plan
Master Plan
LEP
DCP

172



December 20203

SITE LOCATION

4Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Site Description

Green Square snapshot:

• 3.5km from the city and 4km from the airport

• 278 hectare urban renewal area 

• $13 billion urban renewal construction 

• 30,500 new residential dwellings

• $540 million contribution from the City over next 10 
years

• 61,000 people are expected to live in Green Square 
by 2030

The site comprises of sites 8A and 8B within the Green 
Square Town Centre (GSTC), outlined in red. This land 
forms part of Stage 5 of the development of the GSTC. 
It is bound by Botany Road to the west, Geddes Avenue 
to the south, future residential development to the east, 
and the future Green Square Plaza to the north.

1.1   Location Plan

173



5Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Site Description

Legend

Train Stations

Bus Stops

Potential Future Light Rail

Subject Site

SITE

 8A & 8B

B
ot

an
y 

R
oa

d

B
ot

an
y 

R
oa

d

Ebsw
orth St

Green Square 
Station

P
au

l S
tr

ee
t

Geddes Avenue

Po
rt

m
an

 S
t

Portm
an St

C
hristies Lane

Elizabeth St

Barker S
tre

et

Merto
n St

O
’ R

io
dr

an
 S

tre
et

Bourke Stre
et

Bourke Road

Green Square 
Library

Infinity by 
Crown Group

Uno by 
Bridgehill

Ovo by Mirvac

The Drying 
Green

1.1   Location Plan

The land is zoned B4 Mixed Use, with a maximum 
building height of RL 115m (site 8A) and RL 90m (Site 
8B), and maximum floor space ratio (FSR) of 0.3:1 
under the Sydney Local Environmental Plan (LEP) 
(Green Square Town Centre) 2013. Clause 4.4A(2) of 
the LEP permits up to 44,400sqm of additional floor 
space for ‘office premises’ or ‘business premises’. 

To the west of the site, the area is predominantly low 
rise, light industrial uses operating under a B7 Business 
Park zone. To the north of the site is the future Green 
Square Plaza, other mixed uses and the Green Square 
train station. Proposed future uses to the east of the site 
are mixed uses and a proposed public park. Proposed 
future uses immediately to the south of the site will be 
similarly mixed-use, transitioning to low rise, medium 
density development within the Hansard St heritage 
conservation area. 

174



6Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

1.2   Master Plan

The site and its context are currently undergoing 
considerable change, including through the following: 

 – The urban renewal of 278ha of a former industrial 
precinct. The Green Square urban regeneration 
project is identified as one of the most significant 
mixed-use urban transformation programs under 
construction in Australia, predicted to accommodate 
30,500 new residential dwellings, 61,000 residents, 
and 22,000 new workers by 2030, and over $13 
billion worth of urban renewal construction.

 – The Town Centre (GSTC) is a 14ha site at the centre 
of Green Square. It is envisaged as a vibrant, 
sustainable and connected community:

 – “We’re revitalising the heritage and charm of this 
inner-city area using innovative design to create 
a great place to live, work and visit. Close to the 
airport and city centre, Green Square is connected 
by rail, bus and cycleway. Green Square has a 
rich past and an exciting future.”  (City of Sydney)

 – The GSTC is adjacent to the Green Square train 
station and will be the civic, commercial and 
retail hub of the broader Green Square urban 
regeneration area. It will include a public plaza, 
library, commercial space and a retail centre. 
Other notable developments include a new aquatic 
centre on Joynton Avenue, and a number of smaller 
community and creative space throughout the town 
centre.

 – It is anticipated the GSTC will deliver 410,000sqm 
of mixed use floor area,  comprising 44,000sqm 
of office space and 14,000sqm of retail space with 
4,000 new residential dwellings, accommodating 
6,000 jobs and 6,800 new residents.

8A

8B

8C

8D

19A

19B

Site Description

WIP - TO BE FURTHER UPDATED

175



7Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Site Description

Height of Buildings
 – Northern edge: 52 RL (8 storeys/33m DCP)

 – Northern half: 115 RL (24 storeys/97.5m DCP)

 – Southern half: 90 RL (17 storeys/72.5m DCP)

 – Through Site Link: 22 RL 

 – Public Domain: 22 RL

Floor Space Ratio
 – Site area = 4,322 sqm

 – FSR 0.3:1 = 1,296.6 sqm

 – Bonus FSR = 44,400 sqm (for office or business 
use)

 – TOTAL = 45,696 sqm

Land Zoning
 – B4 - Mixed Use

Active Frontages
 – DCP also identifies active frontages along Botany 

Road

 – Uses along active frontages average width 5-8m 
(DCP)

 – Minimum of 15 tenancy entrances per 100m 
(DCP)

0.3 : 1

4.57 : 1

 5.36 : 1

5.47  : 1

6.23  : 1

6.45  : 1

Areas - refer to clause 4.4A

1.3   Sydney LEP (Green Square Town Centre) 2013

176



Street Network & Hierarchy
 – 12m wide local street is proposed along the 

eastern boundary of the site

Access & Circulation
 – Northern boundary interface with Green Square 

Plaza (no private vehicle access)

 – Pedestrian priority (potential shared zone) along 
eastern boundary of site 8A

 – No vehicle entry off Botany Rd

as amended May 2014 18

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

Note:  Land uses provided in the Figures 3.8 to 3.23: Indicative Street Sections 
are indicative only.  For required land use at ground  oor,  rst  oor, and 
second  oor and above, refer to Figure 4.1, Figure 4.2 and Figure 4.3 
Land Use.

Figure 3.6: Street network and hierarchy

ZETLAND AVENUE

36.0m

19.0m

20
.0
m

20.0m

15.0m

15.0m

15
.0
m

16
.0
m

16.0m

12
.0
m

12.
0m

12.
0m

20.
1m

12.
0m

12.
0m

15.0m

6.0m

6.0
m

6.0
m

9.0
m

GEDDES AVENUE 20.5m

KEY
Collector Streets

Local Street Type 1

Local Street Type 2

Local Street Type 3

Potential Plaza Crossing

Shared Zones          Pedestrian priority - potential shared zones

Temporary vehicular access

Plaza access subject to detailed design

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

as amended May 2014 29

Figure 3.24: Access and circulation

OR

KEY
Pedestrian priority - potential shared or pedestrian zones

Area closed to private vehicles (vehicular entry to adjacent sites not permitted on perimeter)

Area potentially closed to private vehicles

Future public transport corridor - light rail (dashed line - long term light rail, possible short term bus connection

Vehicular entry not permitted

No vehicular access to or from lanes

Temporary vehicular access

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

or general vehicular access)

as amended May 2014 36

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

Figure 3.27: Through-site links and arcades

A

E

A

D

B

A

C

F

C

KEY
Through site links  A - 6m open to sky 
                              B - 9m open to sky, 
                              C - indicative pedestrian desire line
         D - 6m open to sky - 3m wide fully clear glazed sky bridges may connect sites 8A to 8B 
    at levels greater than 10m above ground level)
         E - 4m wide 6m high
         F - Required pedestrian crossing

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

as amended May 2014 108

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

Figure 10.2: Integrated basement car parking

OR

OR

OR

KEY

Choice between two vehicular access points

Integrated basement car parking with shared access

Basement below public domain permissible

Vehicular access points

Service vehicle access point 
(If basements for sites 7 and 17 and/or 18 are linked, then resident 
vehicular access will occur via Tweed Place, not Barker Street)

14

12A10A

12B

10B

9B

13C

13A

13B

1

2
3

4

11A

11B11C

9A

8B

8A

8C
19A

8D
19B

6

20

7

17

18

16A

5B

5A

16B

15B

15A

15D
15C

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

Through-Site Links & Arcades
 – 6m open to the sky east-west through-site link

 – 3m wide fully clear glazed sky bridges may 
connect sites 8A to 8B at levels greater than 10m 
above ground level

 – In retail and commercial developments, through 
site links may be internalised (i.e. an arcade) if 
then - meet the specific  provisions outlined in 
DCP GSTC 3.3.5(7)

Integrated Basement Car Parking
 – Integrated basement potential between blocks 8A 

and 8B

 – Basement below internal access roads permitted

 – Vehicle access point at 8B from eastern road

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

as amended May 2014 29

Figure 3.24: Access and circulation

OR

KEY
Pedestrian priority - potential shared or pedestrian zones

Area closed to private vehicles (vehicular entry to adjacent sites not permitted on perimeter)

Area potentially closed to private vehicles

Future public transport corridor - light rail (dashed line - long term light rail, possible short term bus connection

Vehicular entry not permitted

No vehicular access to or from lanes

Temporary vehicular access

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

or general vehicular access)

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

as amended May 2014 29

Figure 3.24: Access and circulation

OR

KEY
Pedestrian priority - potential shared or pedestrian zones

Area closed to private vehicles (vehicular entry to adjacent sites not permitted on perimeter)

Area potentially closed to private vehicles

Future public transport corridor - light rail (dashed line - long term light rail, possible short term bus connection

Vehicular entry not permitted

No vehicular access to or from lanes

Temporary vehicular access

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

or general vehicular access)

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

as amended May 2014 29

Figure 3.24: Access and circulation

OR

KEY
Pedestrian priority - potential shared or pedestrian zones

Area closed to private vehicles (vehicular entry to adjacent sites not permitted on perimeter)

Area potentially closed to private vehicles

Future public transport corridor - light rail (dashed line - long term light rail, possible short term bus connection

Vehicular entry not permitted

No vehicular access to or from lanes

Temporary vehicular access

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

or general vehicular access)

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

as amended May 2014 29

Figure 3.24: Access and circulation

OR

KEY
Pedestrian priority - potential shared or pedestrian zones

Area closed to private vehicles (vehicular entry to adjacent sites not permitted on perimeter)

Area potentially closed to private vehicles

Future public transport corridor - light rail (dashed line - long term light rail, possible short term bus connection

Vehicular entry not permitted

No vehicular access to or from lanes

Temporary vehicular access

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

or general vehicular access)

Pedestrian priority - potential shared or pedestrian zones

Area closed to private vehicles (vehicular entry to 

adjacent sites not permitted on perimeter)

Area potentially closed to private vehicles

Future public transport corridor - light rail (dashed line - 

long term light rail, possible short term bus connection or 

general vehicular access)

Vehicular entry not permitted

No vehicular access to or from lanes

Temporary vehicular access

Integrated basement car parking with shared access

Basement below public domain permissible

Vehicular access points

as amended May 2014 108

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

Figure 10.2: Integrated basement car parking

OR

OR

OR

KEY

Choice between two vehicular access points

Integrated basement car parking with shared access

Basement below public domain permissible

Vehicular access points

Service vehicle access point 
(If basements for sites 7 and 17 and/or 18 are linked, then resident 
vehicular access will occur via Tweed Place, not Barker Street)

14

12A10A

12B

10B

9B

13C

13A

13B

1

2
3

4

11A

11B11C

9A

8B

8A

8C
19A

8D
19B

6

20

7

17

18

16A

5B

5A

16B

15B

15A

15D
15C

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

1.4   Green Square Town Centre DCP 2012

8Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Site Description

177



Maximum Floorplate
 – Site 8A: 1,340 sqm

 – Site 8B: 1,410 sqm

 – Dictates the location of the laneway

Design & Architectural Diversity
 – Buildings to be separated min. 6m between 8A and 

8B

 – Buildings in excess of 45m long to be designed as 
at least two distinct ‘building components’

Floor-to-Floor Heights

DCP Controls
The maximum frontage length of a building is 65m. 
Where a development site frontage is in excess of 
65m in length, two or more buildings with different 
architectural expressions should be developed to front 
the street or public domain with a building separation 
of not less than 6m for the full height of the building. 
This provision may be varied where the development 
provides significant architectural diversity consistent 
with provisions (3) to (6).

Buildings in excess of 45m long must be designed as 
at least two distinct ‘building components’ which are 
to: 

 – have their own architectural character as illustrated 
in Figure 6.3: Distinct ‘building components’; 

 – not exceed 25m in length with a preferred length 
of 20m; and 

 – reflect the building’s internal organisation. 

Floor to floor height in metres

Use Minimum Maximum

Retail 4.5 5.5

Commercial 3.6 -

Adaptable 3.6 -

Residential 3.0 3.3

Community 3.6 -

Façade Length

DCP Controls (Green Square Tower Centre) 2012
1. The maximum frontage length of a building is 65m. Where a development 

site frontage is in excess of 65m in length, two or more buildings with 
different architectural expressions should be developed to front the street or 
public domain with a building separation of not less than 6m for the full height 
of the building. This provision may be varied where the development provides 
significant architectural diversity consistent with provisions (3) to (6). 

2. Buildings in excess of 45m long must be designed as at least two distinct 
‘building components’ which are to: 

a) have their own architectural character as illustrated in Figure 6.3: 
Distinct ‘building components’; 

b) not exceed 25m in length with a preferred length of 20m; and 
c) reflect the building’s internal organisation. 

50m 49m

Allowance for building form, 
articulation and architectural 
expression 

Allowance for building form, 
articulation and architectural 
expression 

Figure 6.3:

1.4   Green Square Town Centre DCP 2012

9Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Site Description

178



Land Use - Ground Floor
 – Retail

Land Use - First Floor
 – Commercial

Land Use - Second Floor and Above
 – Commercial

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

as amended May 2014 45

Figure 4.1: Land use - ground  oor

A

KEY
Retail

Commercial

Retail or commercial (orange hatch - residential permissible)

Community (including green infrastructure) or open space (A - potential site of green infrastructure hub)

Residential, retail or commercial

Parking, retail or commercial

Grey hatch - limited back of house and basement access

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

as amended May 2014 46

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

Figure 4.2: Land use -  rst  oor

A

KEY
Retail

Commercial

Retail or commercial (orange hatch - residential permissible)

Community (including green infrastructure) or open space  (A - potential site of green infrastructure hub)

Residential, retail or commercial

Car parking, retail or commercial

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD
BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

as amended May 2014 46

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

Figure 4.2: Land use -  rst  oor

A

KEY
Retail

Commercial

Retail or commercial (orange hatch - residential permissible)

Community (including green infrastructure) or open space  (A - potential site of green infrastructure hub)

Residential, retail or commercial

Car parking, retail or commercial

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

as amended May 2014 47

Figure 4.3: Land use - second  oor and above

A

KEY
Retail

Commercial

Retail or commercial

Community (including green infrastructure) or open space  (A - potential site of green infrastructure hub)  

Residential, retail or commercial

Hatch - car parking permissible up to level 4

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

1.4   Green Square Town Centre DCP 2012

10Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Site Description

179



Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

as amended May 2014 25

Figure 3.16: Local Street Type 3 Indicative Street Section – 12m (Section I)

Figure 3.17: Indicative Colonnade Cross Section (Section J)

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

as amended May 2014 25

Figure 3.16: Local Street Type 3 Indicative Street Section – 12m (Section I)

Figure 3.17: Indicative Colonnade Cross Section (Section J)

Street Frontage Alignments & 
Primary Setbacks
 – Colonnade setback along northern boundary (6m 

clear at ground and first floor)

 – Footpath widening setback along Botany Road 
(1.4m at ground and first floor)

Street Frontage Heights & 
Secondary Setbacks
 – 9 storey street frontage height along northern 

boundary, with 6m secondary setback above 
street frontage height

Street Sections

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

as amended May 2014 73

Figure 6.15: Street frontage heights and secondary setbacks

KEY
9 storey street frontage height, 6m secondary setback

8 storey street frontage height, 6m secondary setback

8 storey street frontage height, secondary setback varies
(min. 8m - refer to maximum height in storeys)

10 storey street frontage height, 3m secondary setback

8 storey street frontage height, 3m secondary setback

6 storey street frontage height, no secondary setback

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

9 storey street frontage height, 6m secondary setback

Legend: Street frontage heights and secondary setbacks

Section J
Type 3: Indicative Street Section 12m (Section h)

as amended May 2014 72

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

Figure 6.14: Street frontage alignments and primary setbacks

A

D

B

C

C

C

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

KEY
Colonnade setback (6m clear at ground and first floor)

Footpath widening setback (5m from kerb at ground and first floor)

Footpath widening setback (3m at ground floor)

Footpath widening setback (1.4m at ground and first floor)

Heritage curtilage (varies - refer to Conservation Management Plan)

Landscape setback (A - 7m, B - 6m)

Laneway landscape setback (C - 2.75m, D - 6m)

Landscape setback (1.5m full height and 4m at ground and first floors for residential uses)
Note: these setbacks apply wherever there are ground floor residential uses

Landscape setback (1.5m full height)

 

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

as amended May 2014 73

Figure 6.15: Street frontage heights and secondary setbacks

KEY
9 storey street frontage height, 6m secondary setback

8 storey street frontage height, 6m secondary setback

8 storey street frontage height, secondary setback varies
(min. 8m - refer to maximum height in storeys)

10 storey street frontage height, 3m secondary setback

8 storey street frontage height, 3m secondary setback

6 storey street frontage height, no secondary setback

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

as amended May 2014 72

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

Figure 6.14: Street frontage alignments and primary setbacks

A

D

B

C

C

C

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

KEY
Colonnade setback (6m clear at ground and first floor)

Footpath widening setback (5m from kerb at ground and first floor)

Footpath widening setback (3m at ground floor)

Footpath widening setback (1.4m at ground and first floor)

Heritage curtilage (varies - refer to Conservation Management Plan)

Landscape setback (A - 7m, B - 6m)

Laneway landscape setback (C - 2.75m, D - 6m)

Landscape setback (1.5m full height and 4m at ground and first floors for residential uses)
Note: these setbacks apply wherever there are ground floor residential uses

Landscape setback (1.5m full height)

 

6m Colonnade setback 

1.4m Footpath widening setback

Legend: Street frontage alignments and primary setbacks

as amended May 2014 72

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

Figure 6.14: Street frontage alignments and primary setbacks

A

D

B

C

C

C

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

KEY
Colonnade setback (6m clear at ground and first floor)

Footpath widening setback (5m from kerb at ground and first floor)

Footpath widening setback (3m at ground floor)

Footpath widening setback (1.4m at ground and first floor)

Heritage curtilage (varies - refer to Conservation Management Plan)

Landscape setback (A - 7m, B - 6m)

Laneway landscape setback (C - 2.75m, D - 6m)

Landscape setback (1.5m full height and 4m at ground and first floors for residential uses)
Note: these setbacks apply wherever there are ground floor residential uses

Landscape setback (1.5m full height)

 

1.4   Green Square Town Centre DCP 2012

11Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Site Description

180



2 Urban Context
Site Overview
Site Context
Constraints
Opportunities
Active Frontage
Wind Mitigation

181



13Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Urban Context

2.1   Site Overview

182



14Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Urban Context

2.2   Site Context

Botany Road is a barrier to pedestrian movement and source of noise pollution Relationship to neighbouring existing and future residential developments to be considered
Close walking proximity to Green Square Train Station

Close walking proximity to bus stops along Botany Road Pedestrian underpass improves access across Botany Road to public transport Existing vegetation provides buffer to Botany Road and softens urban edge. Potential 
opportunity to retain or reinstate vegetation buffer.

1 9

13 14

183



15Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

2.2   Site Context

Urban Context

Close walking proximity to important community infrastructure including Green Square Library and Town Square Close walking proximity to day to day retail needs, cafe and dining use

Future signalised intersection at corner of Botany Road and Geddes Avenue reduces distance between 
crossing points improving pedestrian accessibility and safety

15 16

17

Proposed new road to connect Geddes Avenue with Bowden Street in Alexandria. It will include a separated cycleway, and 
provide better access for people walking and using public transport

<https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/council/your-say/green-square-ashmore-connector-review-environmental-factors>

21

184



29m

B
ot

an
y 

R
oa

d

P
au

l S
tr

ee
t

O
’R

io
dr

an
 S

tre
et

Geddes Avenue

Wollpack Street

B
ar

ke
r 

S
tr

ee
t

Barker S
tre

et

Ebsw
orth Street

Barker S
tre

et

Fellm
onger P

lace

Tweed Place

H
in

ch
cl

iff
e 

S
tr

ee
t

Constraints Mapping 0 10 20 30 40 50M

16Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

8B

Tow
n C

enter Boundary

To
w

n 
C

en
te

r 
B

ou
nd

ar
y

Town Center Boundary

Toga 
Development Site

D/2019/87

D/2019/657

8A

7

19B

8D

8C

18

15C

16B

16A

15B

6

19A

17

 – Botany Road is a barrier to pedestrian movement 
and source of noise pollution

 – 500 metres (6 minute walk) between crossing 
points

 – Relationship to neighbouring future residential 
developments to be considered. Future 
development on the western side of Botany Road 
is zoned B7 Business Park with a maximum height 
limit of 40m. 

 – Narrow block depth impacts development potential

 – Limited choice for vehicle access

 – 16 O’Riordan Street: Demolition of the existing 
factory and workshop and construction of an 8 
storey building for use as hotel accommodation

 – 18 O’Riordan Street: Demolition of existing car 
service centre, site remediation and construction 
and use of an 8 storey hotel

 – 338 Botany Road (D/2019/87): St George 
Community Housing - Stage 1 consent in 2019 for 
10 storey community housing building

 – 326-328 Botany (D/2019/657): Stage 1 consent 
in 2020 for 10 storey / 40m commercial building.
Design comp won by Cox in Dec 2020, Stage 2 DA 
not yet lodged

 – Toga Development Site: Sites 2,3,4. Design comp 
won by Bates Smart in Mar 2021, Stage 2 DA not 
yet lodged.

Urban Context

1

2

3

4

5

7

8

9

10

6

2.3   Constraints

1

2

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

5

4

7

6

8

9

10

185



B
ot

an
y 

R
oa

d

P
au

l S
tr

ee
t

O
’R

io
dr

an
 S

tre
et

Geddes Avenue

Wollpack Street

B
ar

ke
r 

S
tr

ee
t

Barker S
tre

et

Ebsw
orth Street

Barker S
tre

et

Fellm
onger P

lace

Tweed Place

H
in

ch
cl

iff
e 

S
tr

ee
t

Opportunities Mapping 0 10 20 30 40 50M

Green Square 
Plaza

3

4

8B
To

w
n 

C
en

te
r 

B
ou

nd
ar

y

Town Center Boundary

Toga 
Development Site

D/2019/87

D/2019/657/A

8A

7

19B

8D

8C

18

15C

16B

16A

15B

6

19A

17

Tow
n C

enter Boundary

17Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

 – Close walking proximity to Green Square Train 
Station

 – Close walking proximity to bus stops along Botany 
Road

 – Pedestrian underpass improves access across 
Botany Road to public transport

 – Existing vegetation provides buffer to Botany Road 
and softens urban edge. Potential opportunity to 
retain or reinstate vegetation buffer.

 – Close walking proximity to important community 
infrastructure including Green Square Library and 
Town Square

 – Close walking proximity to day to day retail needs, 
cafe and dining use

 – Future signalised intersection at corner of Botany 
Road and Geddes Avenue reduces distance 
between crossing points improving pedestrian 
accessibility and safety

 – Opportunity to introduce active retail tenancies 
fronting public square and Botany Road

 – Pedestrian prioritised lane enhances pedestrian 
amenity and safety surrounding development

 – Future through-site link ensures pedestrian 
permeability along length of block

 – Land to the west of Botany Road form part of 
the Southern Employment Lands. Opportunity to 
provide land uses that complement this future role

 – Future potential Light Rail Stop located in Green 
Square Plaza.

11

12

13

14

15

17

18

19

16

20

21

22

11

12

13

14

17

16

20

18

17

19

20

21

21

Estimated 2,250 new 
jobs* (Target for 15,500 
new jobs within Green 

Square-Mascot Strategic 
Centre by 2036)

2.4   Opportunities

Urban Context

22

186



as amended May 2014 50

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

Figure 4.5: Location of active frontages

KEY
Retail

Retail or commercial

Community or green infrastructure

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

as amended May 2014 50

Development Guidelines
GREEN SQUARE TOWN CENTRE DCP 2012

Figure 4.5: Location of active frontages

KEY
Retail

Retail or commercial

Community or green infrastructure

BO
TA

N
Y 

R
O

AD

BOURKE STREET

PORTM
AN STREET

JO
YN

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

HANSARD STREET

18Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

2.5   Active Frontage

Green Square Town Centre consists of a high quality 
public domain to be used by the general community 
for active and passive recreation, living and working 
purposes.

Aligning to council’s future urban vision, active 
frontages for site 8A & 8B will contribute to the liveliness 
and vitality of streets by maximising entries or display 
windows to shops and/or food and drink premises or 
other uses, customer service areas and activities which 
provide pedestrian interest and interaction.

Urban Context

BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   
SQUARE  
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S  

   
   

 A
VE

NU
E

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail Tenancy
Retail 

Tenancy

Lobby Retail CafeLobby Entry

6 m
6 m

Colonnade  Setback 
Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

High Rise 
Lift 1.

Low Rise 
Lift 7.

Low Rise 
Lift 8.

Low Rise 
Lift 9.

Low Rise 
Lift 12.

Low Rise 
Lift 11.

Low Rise 
Lift 10.

High Rise 
Lift 4.

High Rise 
Lift 2.

High Rise 
Lift 5.

High Rise 
Lift 3.

High Rise 
Lift 6.Goods Lift 

Basement 
Lift 1. 

Basement  
Lift 2. 

Bicycle 
Ramp Vehicular 

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Ni
l  S

et b
a c

k  

RL 14.4RL 13.6

RL 14.3 RL 14.7

RL 15.1

RL 15.7

RL 14.5

RL 14.5

RL 14.6

RL 14.7

RL 14.5

RL 14.7 RL 14.9

RL 15.2

RL 14.5

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY Retractable 
Awning Above

Site 8A & 8B Public Domain Plan showing Active Frontages and Colonnade facing Green Square Plaza.

Green Square Town Centre DCP 2012 (Page 50)

SITE 8A&B Colonnade 
facing Green Square Plaza

187



2.6   Wind Mitigation

Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

RL 90.0

RL 115.0
Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

LMRPlant Room

LMRWorkplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Plant Room

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

Co-Working

BO
TA

NY
 R

OA
D

PE
DE

ST
RI

AN
 L

AN
EW

AY

Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

RL 90.0

RL 115.0
Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

6m 
Bridge 
Recess 

3m 
Bridge 
Recess 

10m Through 
Site Link Height

Bridge Link

BO
TA

NY
 R

OA
D

PE
DE

ST
RI

AN
 L

AN
EW

AY

Wind mitigation measures may be 
required in this location, which will be the 
subject of more detailed design/technical 
testing ahead of finalising the architectural 
design competition brief together with the 
City of Sydney.

Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

RL 90.0

RL 115.0
Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

4.5m 
Roof  

Setback 

4.5m 
Roof  

Setback 

Plant Room

Co-Working / Retail

Retail Retail

BO
TA

NY
 R

OA
D

PE
DE

ST
RI

AN
 L

AN
EW

AY

0 TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2.5 5 7.5 10 12.5

m

2511  ::  660000

GGrreeeenn  SSqquuaarree  SSiittee  88AA  &&  88BB RRDD--0022--0022
Section 2,3,4 (East West)

0044//0066//2211

SCALE: 1 : 600
2

Complying DCP - Section 2
SCALE: 1 : 600

3
Complying DCP - Section 3

SCALE: 1 : 600
4

Complying DCP - Section 4

LEP Height RL 115 
DCP Height 97.5M / 24 Storeys

LEP Height RL 90
DCP Height 72.5M / 17 Storeys

PAN OPS RL 115

19Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Urban Context

188



3   Bridge Spatial Study
Bridge Study 
Visual Impact Analysis 
Precedent Images

189



Bridge Opportunities

DCP Compliant - 3m Wide Bridge

Proposed - 20m Wide Bridge

6m

20m

3m

15.5m

3m

10.5m

6m

6m

Bridge Opportunities

DCP Compliant - 3m Wide Bridge

Proposed - 20m Wide Bridge

6m

20m

3m

15.5m

3m

10.5m

6m

6m

DCP Compliant - 3m Wide Bridge

There is no impact to the appearance of the envelope’s longitudinal section between the 
3 meter and 20 meter width.  

21Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Bridge Spatial Study

3.1   Bridge Study

The pursuit of a wider bridge connection –from 3m to 20m, allows the two buildings 
to function as a large contiguous floor plate with improved internal amenity.

• There is strong tenant demand for larger plates in this location, with appropriate 
economic justification to be provided.

• This arrangement would provide Mirvac with greater flexibility in the marketplace, 
which would directly contribute to viability for this development to proceed.

• Any additional GFA would result in either a reduced height, increased public 
circulation at ground level, or façade articulation to the north or south elevations – 
subject to further discussion with Council.

Site 8A & 8B Long Section

Workplace

GFA: 1050m2

NLA: 1009m2

Workplace

GFA: 1050m2

NLA: 1009m2

Bridge Area: 

17m2

Bridge Area: 

126m2

Workplace

GFA: 1294m2

NLA: 1213m2

Workplace

GFA: 1294m2

NLA: 1213m2

Proposed - 20m Wide Bridge

DCP 3m Bridge Combined GFA:  46,226m2

Combined NLA:  41,743m2

Combined GFA: 47,816m2

Combined NLA: 43,378m2
Proposed 20m Bridge

10
 m

10
 m

THROUGH SITE LINK

SITE 8A SITE 8B

SK
Y 

BR
ID

G
E 

C
O

N
N

EC
TI

O
N

G
ED

D
ES

 A
VE

N
U

E

G
R

EE
N

 S
Q

U
AR

E 
PL

AZ
A

SI
TE

 B
O

UN
D

AR
Y

6 m6.4 m
COLONNADE SETBACK

BR
ID

G
E 

H
EI

G
H

T 
C

LE
AR

AN
C

E

H
EI

G
H

T 
C

LE
AR

AN
C

E

6.4 m

TO
W

ER
 S

ET
BA

C
K

SI
TE

 B
O

UN
D

AR
Y

6 m

190



Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3
45

00
30

00
30

00

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0
48

00
55

00
38

00
72

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
70

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00
38

00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

RL 90.0

RL 115.0
Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

6m 
Bridge 
Recess 

3m 
Bridge 
Recess 

10m Through 
Site Link Height

Bridge Link

BO
TA

NY
 R

OA
D

PE
DE

ST
RI

AN
 L

AN
EW

AY

Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Workplace

Plant Room

Outdoor 
Breakout

Lobby / Retail

LMR

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

Plant Room

Plant Room

LMRLMR

LMRLMR

Transfer Level

High Rise 
Lifts

Goods 
Lifts

Basement 
Lifts

Outdoor 
Breakout

Outdoor 
Breakout

High Rise 
Lifts

Low Rise 
Lifts

Low Rise 
Lifts

Retail

Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Workplace

Co-Working / Function Co-Working / Retail

Workplace Workplace

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

6m 
Tower 

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

10m 
high through 

site link 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Building

Separation

EOTF 

GE
DD

ES
 A

VE
NU

E

GR
EE

N 
SQ

AU
RE

 P
LA

ZA

22Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

3.1   Bridge Study

Site 8A & 8B - Long Section Site 8A & 8B - Short Section through the bridge

Bridge Spatial Study

6m Bridge Recess
6m Bridge Recess

10m Through Site 
Link Height

10m Through Site 
Link Height

191



23Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

3.2   Visual Impact Analysis - Botany Road (Looking South)

Bridge Spatial Study

Vehicular Access 
Location

Site 8A
Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B
Envelope Area: 1,340m2

Vehicular Access 
Location

Site 8A
Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B
Envelope Area: 1,340m2

1. 3m Bridge: Botany Road - Looking South3m Long Bridge Key Plan

2. 20m Bridge: Botany Road - Looking South20m Long Bridge Key Plan

192



24Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Bridge Spatial Study

3.2   Visual Impact Analysis - Botany Road (Looking North)

Vehicular Access 
Location

Site 8A
Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B
Envelope Area: 1,340m2

Vehicular Access 
Location

Site 8A
Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B
Envelope Area: 1,340m2

1. 3m Bridge: Botany Road - Looking North3m Long Bridge Key Plan

2. 20m Bridge: Botany Road - Looking North20m Long Bridge Key Plan

193



25Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Bridge Spatial Study

3.2   Visual Impact Analysis - Botany Road (Looking North)

Vehicular Access 
Location

Site 8A
Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B
Envelope Area: 1,340m2

Vehicular Access 
Location

Site 8A
Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B
Envelope Area: 1,340m2

1. 3m Bridge: Botany Road - Looking North3m Long Bridge Key Plan

2. 20m Bridge: Botany Road - Looking North20m Long Bridge Key Plan

194



26Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Bridge Spatial Study

3.2   Visual Impact Analysis - Botany Road (Looking South)

Vehicular Access 
Location

Site 8A
Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B
Envelope Area: 1,340m2

Vehicular Access 
Location

Site 8A
Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B
Envelope Area: 1,340m2

1. 3m Bridge: Botany Road - Looking South3m Long Bridge Key Plan

2. 20m Bridge: Botany Road - Looking South20m Long Bridge Key Plan

195



27Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Bridge Spatial Study

3.2   Visual Impact Analysis - Botany Road (Through-Site Link)

Vehicular Access 
Location

Site 8A
Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B
Envelope Area: 1,340m2

Vehicular Access 
Location

Site 8A
Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B
Envelope Area: 1,340m2

1. 3m Bridge: Botany Road - Through Site Link3m Long Bridge Key Plan

2. 20m Bridge: Botany Road - Through Site Link20m Long Bridge Key Plan

196



Commercial Buildings 52Floor Plate Research

3 PSQ Parramatta - 2015 Scheme

(Left)
Typical Podium Floor 
Plan

(Right)
Typical Tower Floor 
Plan

  GFA NLA

Typical Podium Floor  3265 3080

Typical Tower Floor 1545 1453

Building Total 41060 32055

Project Details
Client: Charter Hall                                                                 
Location: Parramatta, NSW 
Completed: 2015 (design competition)

Bridge Zone

49m

16.5m

Bridge Zone

28Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

3.3   Precedent Images - Floor Plate Study  /  3 PSQ Parramatta 

Bridge Spatial Study

197



Commercial Buildings 23Floor Plate Research

271 Lane Cove Road Macquarie Park

LANE      COVE      ROAD

1. 2. 3.

4. 5. 6.

PLAZA
BELOW

CARPARKING ACCESS
FROM BASEMENT 2

LEVEL

LOADING DOCK
ACCESS FROM

BASEMENT 2 LEVEL

8.

B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

 L
O

C
A

T
IO

N
 -

 T
B

C

Ground Floor Plan

  GFA NLA

Typical Floor 4270 4140

Building Total 30570 28860

Project Details
Client: Mirvac                                                             
Location: Macquarie Park, NSW                                 
Approx. Value: TBC 
Completed: 2014

Bridge Zone

Bridge Zone

37.9 m

19m

29Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

3.3   Precedent Images - Floor Plate Study  /  271 Lane Cove Road Macquarie Park

Bridge Spatial Study

198



Commercial Buildings 56Floor Plate Research

Werrington Park Corporate Centre Penrith

(Left)
Ground Floor Plan

(Right)
Level 2 Plan

  GFA NLA

Typical Floor (LR) 2080 1800

Building Total 6579 5500

Project Details
Client: Western Sydney University                                                                 
Location: Penrith, NSW 
Approx. Value: $23m 
Completed: 2016

Bridge Zone Bridge Zone

42m 33.5m

19m 18m

Bridge Zone

30Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

3.3   Precedent Images - Floor Plate Study  /  Werrington Park Corporate Centre Penrith

Bridge Spatial Study

199



4   Building Form & Articulation 

   GFA Surplus
GFA Distribution Opportunities

200



32Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Greensquare Site 8A & 8B

Site Area 8A + 8B: 4,322  m2

Permissible FSR 0.3:1 1,297  m2

 Permissible Bonus GFA 44,400  m2

Total Permissible GFA 45,697  m2

Development Summary
Achieved GBA 69,782  m2

Achieved GFA 47,816  m2

Achieved FSR 11.06 :1

Achieved Parking 211 spaces

Surplus GFA 2,119  m2

Type Height (m) RL GBA (m2) EOTF (m2) No. Carspaces

Basement 3 - Parking 3 4 3877 87
Basement 2 - Parking 3 7 3877 88
Basement 1 - Parking/EOTF 4.5 10 3877 322 23
Total 10.5 11630 322 211

Site 8A Site 8B  Sky Bridge 
20m 20m

Type Height (m) RL GBA (m2) GFA (m2) Type Height (m) RL GBA (m2) GFA (m2) GFA (m2) GBA (m2)
Podium

Ground Floor Retail / Lobby 5.5 14.50 1235 960 Ground Floor Retail / Lobby 5.5 17.50 1340 775
Level 1 Office Tenancy 4.8 20.00 820 582 Level 1 Co-Working / Retail 4.8 23.00 1340 1245

Level 2 Office Tenancy 3.8 24.80 1520 1229 Level 2 Office Tenancy 3.8 27.80 1405 1294 122 126
Level 3 Office Tenancy 3.8 28.60 1520 1229 Level 3 Office Tenancy 3.8 31.60 1405 1294 122 126
Level 4 Office Tenancy 3.8 32.40 1520 1229 Level 4 Office Tenancy 3.8 35.40 1405 1294 122 126
Level 5 Office Tenancy 3.8 36.20 1520 1229 Level 5 Office Tenancy 3.8 39.20 1405 1294 122 126
Level 6 Office Tenancy 3.8 40.00 1520 1229 Level 6 Office Tenancy 3.8 43.00 1405 1294 122 126
Level 7 Office Tenancy 3.8 43.80 1520 1229 Level 7 Office Tenancy 3.8 46.80 1405 1294 122 126

Tower

Level 8 Office Tenancy 3.8 47.60 1335 1050 Level 8 Office Tenancy 3.8 50.60 1405 1294 122 126
Level 9 Office Tenancy 3.8 51.40 1335 1050 Level 9 Office Tenancy 3.8 54.40 1405 1294 122 126
Level 10 Office Tenancy 3.8 55.20 1335 1050 Level 10 Office Tenancy 3.8 58.20 1405 1294 122 126
Level 11 Office Tenancy 3.8 59.00 1335 1050 Level 11 Office Tenancy 3.8 62.00 1405 1294 122 126
Level 12 Office Tenancy 3.8 62.80 1335 1117 Level 12 Office Tenancy 3.8 65.80 1405 1294 122 126
Level 13 Office Tenancy 3.8 66.60 1335 1117 Level 13 Office Tenancy 3.8 69.60 1405 1294 122 126
Level 14 Office Tenancy 3.8 70.40 1335 1117 Level 14 Office Tenancy 3.8 73.40 1405 1294 122 126
Level 15 Office Tenancy 3.8 74.20 1335 1117 Level 15 Office Tenancy 3.8 77.20 1405 1294 122 126
Level 16 Office Tenancy 3.8 78.00 1335 1117 Level 16 Office Tenancy 3.8 81.00 1405 1294 122 126
Level 17 Plant 7 81.80 1335 260 Level 17 Plant 5.2 84.80 732

Level 18 Office Tenancy 3.8 88.80 1335 1119
Level 19 Office Tenancy 3.8 92.60 1335 1119
Level 20 Office Tenancy 3.8 96.40 1335 1119
Level 21 Office Tenancy 3.8 100.20 1335 1119
Level 22 Office Tenancy 3.8 104.00 1335 1119
Level 23 Plant 7.2 107.80 575

Total 100.5 115.0 31775 24556 72.5 90.0 24487 21430 1830 1890

14.5

90

Surplus GFA will be subtracted from developed scheme to allow 
for building from articulation and architectural expression. Total 
permissible GFA = 45,697m2

Building Form & Articulation

4.1   GFA Surplus - Reference Design (20m wide bridge)

BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN  
SQUARE  
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S  

 A
VE

NU
E

1
RD-02-01

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail Tenancy
Retail 

Tenancy

Lobby Retail CafeLobby Entry

6 m
6 m

Colonnade  Setback 
Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

High Rise 
Lift 1.

Low Rise 
Lift 7.

Low Rise 
Lift 8.

Low Rise 
Lift 9.

Low Rise 
Lift 12.

Low Rise 
Lift 11.

Low Rise 
Lift 10.

High Rise 
Lift 4.

High Rise 
Lift 2.

High Rise 
Lift 5.

High Rise 
Lift 3.

High Rise 
Lift 6.Goods Lift 

Basement 
Lift 1. 

Basement  
Lift 2. 

Bicycle 
Ramp Vehicular 

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Ni
l  S

et b
a c

k  

2
RD-02-02

3
RD-02-02

4
RD-02-02

RL 14.4RL 13.6

RL 14.3 RL 14.7

RL 15.1

RL 15.7

RL 14.5

RL 14.5

RL 14.6

RL 14.7

RL 14.5

RL 14.7 RL 14.9

RL 15.2

RL 14.5

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

SITE BOUNDARYSITE BOUNDARY

Retractable 
Awning Above

0 TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

2011 :: 440000

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB RRDD--0011--0044
Ground Level

0044//0066//2211

BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN  
SQUARE  
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S  

 A
VE

NU
E

1
RD-02-01

6 m

Sky Bridge 

Low Rise 
Lift 7.

Low Rise 
Lift 8.

Low Rise 
Lift 9.

Low Rise 
Lift 12.

Low Rise 
Lift 11.

Low Rise 
Lift 10.

Goods Lift 

High Rise 
Lift 1.

High Rise 
Lift 4.

High Rise 
Lift 2.

High Rise 
Lift 5.

High Rise 
Lift 3.

High Rise 
Lift 6.

Workplace
GFA: 1229m2

NLA: 1157m2

Workplace
GFA: 1294m2

NLA: 1213m2

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Ni
l  S

et b
a c

k  

Ni
l  S

etb
ac

k 

Building 
Separation

2
RD-02-02

3
RD-02-02

4
RD-02-02

8000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 8000

13
00

0
13

39
0

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

SITE BOUNDARYSITE BOUNDARY

0 TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

2011 :: 440000

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB RRDD--0011--0066
Levels 2 - 7 (Typical Podium Levels)

0044//0066//2211

BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN  
SQUARE  
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S  

 A
VE

NU
E

1
RD-02-01

High Rise 
Lift 1.

High Rise 
Lift 4.

High Rise 
Lift 2.

High Rise 
Lift 5.

High Rise 
Lift 3.

High Rise 
Lift 6.Goods Lift 

Workplace
GFA: 1119m2

NLA: 1023m2

2
RD-02-02

3
RD-02-02

4
RD-02-02

Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback 

Ni
l  S

etb
ac

k 

8000 9000 9000 9000

13
00

0
13

39
0

Site 8B Roof

Tower  Setback 

6 m

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

SITE BOUNDARYSITE BOUNDARY

0 TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

2011 :: 440000

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB RRDD--0011--1111
Levels 18 - 22 (Typical High Rise Levels)

0044//0066//2211
1

RD-02-01

BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN  
SQUARE  
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S  

 A
VE

NU
E

6 m

6 m
Plant Room

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Tower  Setback 

Goods Lift 

6 m

6 m
6 m

2
RD-02-02

3
RD-02-02

4
RD-02-02

Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback 

Ni
l  S

etb
ac

k 

8000 9000 9000 9000

13
00

0
13

39
0

Site 8B Roof

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

SITE BOUNDARYSITE BOUNDARY

0 TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

2011 :: 440000

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB RRDD--0011--1122
Level 23 (Roof Plant)

0044//0066//2211

Ground Floor Plan

Typical Level 2-7

Typical Level 18-22

Level 23 (Roof)

201



33Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Building Form & Articulation

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

4.2   GFA Distribution Opportunities - Base Case (Mirvac Proposed)











 
















































 

















































 



 


 

 
 
 

















 








   













 
















































 

















































 



 


 

 
 
 

















 








   













 
















































 

















































 



 


 

 
 
 

















 








   


The preferred reference scheme with 20m wide skybridges, results in an overall GFA 
which exceeds the maximum provisions. The proponent is committed to offset any 
surplus GFA to stay within the maximum allowable provisions.Accordingly, there are 
4 surplus GFA relocation options which aim to provided additional building mass 
articulation zones to offset the wider skybridges, which have a surplus GFA of some 
2,119sqm. It is noted that these options are theoretical and indicative only, with a 
specific option or combination of options to be identified through the design excellence 
competition, which will follow the Planning Proposal process.

202



34Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

4.2   GFA Distribution Opportunities - Option 1

BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE 
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Lobby Retail Cafe

6 m
6 m

5.7
 m

5.7
 m

Colonnade Setback Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle 
Ramp Vehicular 

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

8.9 m 8.6 m 3.3 m

-772266m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-1,393m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22001188
GFA Relocation Scenario 1

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 1

-772266m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-1,393m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

Ground Level

Typical Commercial Level

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

Stacking Mass

BOTANY ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Lobby Retail Cafe

6 m
6 m

5.7
 m

5.7
 m

ColonnadeSetback Through site link

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle
Ramp Vehicular

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

8.9 m 8.6 m 3.3 m

-772266m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-1,393m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22001188
GFA Relocation Scenario 1

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 1

-772266m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-1,393m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

Ground Level

Typical Commercial Level

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

Stacking Mass

BOTANY ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Lobby Retail Cafe

6 m
6 m

5.7
 m

5.7
 m

ColonnadeSetback Through site link

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle
Ramp Vehicular

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

8.9 m 8.6 m 3.3 m

-772266m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-1,393m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22001188
GFA Relocation Scenario 1

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 1

-772266m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-1,393m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

Ground Level

Typical Commercial Level

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

Stacking Mass

BOTANY ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Lobby Retail Cafe

6 m
6 m

5.7
 m

5.7
 m

ColonnadeSetback Through site link

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle
Ramp Vehicular

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

8.9 m 8.6 m 3.3 m

-772266m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-1,393m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22001188
GFA Relocation Scenario 1

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 1

-772266m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-1,393m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

Ground Level

Typical Commercial Level

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

Stacking Mass

BOTANY ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Lobby Retail Cafe

6 m
6 m

5.7
 m

5.7
 m

ColonnadeSetback Through site link

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle
Ramp Vehicular

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

8.9 m 8.6 m 3.3 m

-772266m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-1,393m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22001188
GFA Relocation Scenario 1

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 1

-772266m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-1,393m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

Ground Level

Typical Commercial Level

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

Stacking Mass

Building Form & Articulation

203



35Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

4.2   GFA Distribution Opportunities - Option 2

Typical Commercial Podium Level

Typical Commercial Tower LevelStacking Mass

-84m2 Western horizontal façade
articulation (Level 8)

-24m2 per level
setback tower to

the north

-116611m2 Setback tower to the south

-45m2 per level
setback tower to the

north

-115588m2 Setback tower to the south

-24m2 Setback
tower to the north

-84m2 Western horizontal façade
articulation (Level 8)

-45m2 Setback
tower to the north

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22001199
GFA Relocation Scenario 2

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 2

Typical Commercial Podium Level

Typical Commercial Tower Level

-84m2 Western horizontal façade articulation
-612m2 Setback tower corner to the north
-1,442233m2 Setback tower to the south

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

Stacking Mass

-84m2 Western horizontal façade
articulation (Level 8)

-24m2 per level
setback tower to

the north

-116611m2 Setback tower to the south

-45m2 per level
setback tower to the

north

-115588m2 Setback tower to the south

-24m2 Setback
tower to the north

-84m2 Western horizontal façade
articulation (Level 8)

-45m2 Setback
tower to the north

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22001199
GFA Relocation Scenario 2

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 2

Typical Commercial Podium Level

Typical Commercial Tower Level

-84m2 Western horizontal façade articulation
-612m2 Setback tower corner to the north
-1,442233m2 Setback tower to the south

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

Stacking Mass

-84m2 Western horizontal façade
articulation (Level 8)

-24m2 per level 
setback tower to

the north

-116611m2 Setback tower to the south

-45m2 per level 
setback tower to the 

north

-115588m2 Setback tower to the south

-24m2 Setback
tower to the north

-84m2 Western horizontal façade
articulation (Level 8)

-45m2 Setback
tower to the north

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22001199
GFA Relocation Scenario 2

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 2

Typical Commercial Podium Level

Typical Commercial Tower Level

-84m2 Western horizontal façade articulation
-612m2 Setback tower corner to the north
-1,442233m2 Setback tower to the south

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

Stacking Mass

-84m2 Western horizontal façade
articulation (Level 8)

-24m2 per level
setback tower to

the north

-116611m2 Setback tower to the south

-45m2 per level
setback tower to the

north

-115588m2 Setback tower to the south

-24m2 Setback
tower to the north

-84m2 Western horizontal façade
articulation (Level 8)

-45m2 Setback
tower to the north

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22001199
GFA Relocation Scenario 2

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 2

Typical Commercial Podium Level

Typical Commercial Tower Level

-84m2 Western horizontal façade articulation
-612m2 Setback tower corner to the north
-1,442233m2 Setback tower to the south

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

Stacking Mass

-84m2 Western horizontal façade
articulation (Level 8)

-24m2 per level
setback tower to

the north

-116611m2 Setback tower to the south

-45m2 per level
setback tower to the

north

-115588m2 Setback tower to the south

-24m2 Setback
tower to the north

-84m2 Western horizontal façade
articulation (Level 8)

-45m2 Setback
tower to the north

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22001199
GFA Relocation Scenario 2

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 2

Typical Commercial Podium Level

Typical Commercial Tower Level

-84m2 Western horizontal façade articulation
-612m2 Setback tower corner to the north
-1,442233m2 Setback tower to the south

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

Stacking Mass

Building Form & Articulation

204



36Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Building Form & Articulation

4.2   GFA Distribution Opportunities - Option 3

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE 
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Lobby Entry Lobby Entry

6 m
6 m

4.7
 m

4.7
 m

Colonnade Setback Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle 
Ramp Vehicular 

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Ni
l  S

et b
a c

k  

6.9 m 2.3 m

-662211m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-774488m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22002211
GFA Relocation Scenario 4

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 3

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

-750m2 Atrium bridge location
-662211m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-774488m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

BOTANY ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Lobby Entry Lobby Entry

6 m
6 m

4.7
 m

4.7
 m

ColonnadeSetback Through site link

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle
Ramp Vehicular

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback

Ni
l S

et b
a c

k

6.9 m 2.3 m

-662211m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-774488m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22002211
GFA Relocation Scenario 4

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 3

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

-750m2 Atrium bridge location
-662211m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-774488m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

BOTANY ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Lobby Entry Lobby Entry

6 m
6 m

4.7
 m

4.7
 m

ColonnadeSetback Through site link

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle
Ramp Vehicular

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback

Ni
l S

et b
a c

k

6.9 m 2.3 m

-662211m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-774488m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22002211
GFA Relocation Scenario 4

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 3

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

-750m2 Atrium bridge location
-662211m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-774488m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-9933m2 Per level Western vertical façade 
articulation

BOTANY ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Lobby Entry Lobby Entry

6 m
6 m

2.8
 m

2.8
 m

ColonnadeSetback Through site link

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle
Ramp Vehicular

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Ni
l S

et b
a c

k

-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22002222
GFA Relocation Scenario 5

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 4

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

-1111166m2 Western vertical façade articulation

-750m2 Atrium bridge location
-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

a minimal increased setback to the western faça

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

BOTANY ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail
Tenancy

Lobby Entry Lobby Entry

6 m
6 m

4.7
 m

4.7
 m

ColonnadeSetback Through site link

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle
Ramp Vehicular

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback

Ni
l S

et b
a c

k

6.9 m 2.3 m

-662211m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-774488m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11 :: 775500

GGrreeeenn SSqquuaarree SSiittee 88AA && 88BB SSKK--22002211
GFA Relocation Scenario 4

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 3

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

-750m2 Atrium bridge location
-662211m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-774488m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

205



37Architectus |   | Urban Design Report

Building Form & Articulation

4.2   GFA Distribution Opportunities - Option 4 

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-9933m2  Per level Western vertical façade 
articulation

BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE 
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Lobby Entry Lobby Entry

6 m
6 m

2.8
 m

2.8
 m

Colonnade Setback Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle 
Ramp Vehicular 

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Ni
l  S

et b
a c

k  

-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11  ::  775500

GGrreeeenn  SSqquuaarree  SSiittee  88AA  &&  88BB SSKK--22002222
GFA Relocation Scenario 5

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 4

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

-1111166m2 Western vertical façade articulation

-750m2 Atrium bridge location
-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

a minimal increased setback to the western faça

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-9933m2  Per level Western vertical façade 
articulation

BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE 
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Lobby Entry Lobby Entry

6 m
6 m

2.8
 m

2.8
 m

Colonnade Setback Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle 
Ramp Vehicular 

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Ni
l  S

et b
a c

k  

-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11  ::  775500

GGrreeeenn  SSqquuaarree  SSiittee  88AA  &&  88BB SSKK--22002222
GFA Relocation Scenario 5

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 4

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

-1111166m2 Western vertical façade articulation

-750m2 Atrium bridge location
-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

a minimal increased setback to the western faça

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-9933m2  Per level Western vertical façade 
articulation

BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE 
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Lobby Entry Lobby Entry

6 m
6 m

2.8
 m

2.8
 m

Colonnade Setback Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle 
Ramp Vehicular 

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Ni
l  S

et b
a c

k  

-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11  ::  775500

GGrreeeenn  SSqquuaarree  SSiittee  88AA  &&  88BB SSKK--22002222
GFA Relocation Scenario 5

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 4

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

-1111166m2 Western vertical façade articulation

-750m2 Atrium bridge location
-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

a minimal increased setback to the western faça

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-9933m2  Per level Western vertical façade 
articulation

BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE 
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Lobby Entry Lobby Entry

6 m
6 m

2.8
 m

2.8
 m

Colonnade Setback Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle 
Ramp Vehicular 

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Ni
l  S

et b
a c

k  

-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11  ::  775500

GGrreeeenn  SSqquuaarree  SSiittee  88AA  &&  88BB SSKK--22002222
GFA Relocation Scenario 5

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 4

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

-1111166m2 Western vertical façade articulation

-750m2 Atrium bridge location
-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

a minimal increased setback to the western faça

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-50m2 Atrium bridge location

-9933m2  Per level Western vertical façade 
articulation

BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 
SQUARE 
PLAZA

G
ED

DE
S

AV
EN

UE

Retail Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail TenancyRetail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Lobby Entry Lobby Entry

6 m
6 m

2.8
 m

2.8
 m

Colonnade Setback Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

Bicycle 
Ramp Vehicular 

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Ni
l  S

et b
a c

k  

-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction 
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

11  ::  775500

GGrreeeenn  SSqquuaarree  SSiittee  88AA  &&  88BB SSKK--22002222
GFA Relocation Scenario 5

2244//0055//2211

GFA Relocation Option 4

Ground Level

Typical Commercial LevelStacking Mass

Surplus GFA = 22111199m2

-1111166m2 Western vertical façade articulation

-750m2 Atrium bridge location
-16633m2 Ground Level lobby and retail GFA reduction
-90m2 Level 1 lobby and retail GFA reduction

a minimal increased setback to the western faça

206



APPENDIX A  
Building Envelope207



TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-00-00
Cover

23/06/21

Green Square Sydney 
Site 8A & 8B
Building Envelope

Sheet Number Sheet Name

PP-01-00 Site Plan

PP-01-01 Building Envelope - Level 1

PP-01-02 Building Envelope - Ground

PP-01-03 Building Envelope - Level 1

PP-01-04 Building Envelope - Podium Levels

PP-01-05 Building Envelope - Lower Tower Levels

PP-01-06 Building Envelope – Site 8B Roof Setback Level

PP-01-07 Building Envelope – Upper Tower Levels

PP-01-08 Building Envelope – Site 8A Roof Setback Level

PP-01-09 Building Envelope – Roof Levels

PP-02-01 Building Envelope - Sections

PP-03-01 Building Envelope - North & West Elevation

PP-03-02 Building Envelope - South & East Elevation

PP-04-01 Building Envelope – Massing

PP-05-01 VIA – Botany Road (looking south)

PP-05-02 VIA – Botany Road (looking north)

PP-05-03 VIA - Green Square Plaza (looking south east)

PP-05-04 VIA – Botany Road (through site link)

208



1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

Site 8A & Site 8B 

Consolidated Basement 

Envelope Area: 3,877m2

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-01
Building Envelope - Level 1

23/06/21

209



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

6 m

1.
4 

m

1.
4 

m

Colonnade  setback 

Through 
site link 

Road widening setback

Vehicular Access 

Location

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

N
i l 

 s
e

t b
a

c k
 

6 m

Road widening setback

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-02
Building Envelope - Ground

23/06/21

210



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

6 m

1.
4 

m

1.
4 

m

Colonnade  setback 

Through 
site link 

Road widening setback

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

N
i l 

 s
e

t b
a

c k
 

6 m

Road widening setback

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-03
Building Envelope - Level 1

23/06/21

211



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

6 m

Sky Bridge

Area: 120m2

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

N
i l 

 s
e

t b
a

c k
 

N
il 

 s
et

ba
ck

 

Building 
separation

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,523m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,409m2

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

6 
m

3 
m

R
ec

es
s 

to
 

B
o

ta
n

y 
R

o
a

d
R

e
ce

ss
 to

 
p

ed
e

st
ria

n
 la

n
ew

a
y

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-04
Building Envelope - Podium Levels

23/06/21

212



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

Tower  setback 

6 m

Sky Bridge

Area: 120m2

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

N
i l 

 s
e

t b
a

c k
 

Building 
separation

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,339m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,409m2

6 m

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

6 
m

3 
m

R
ec

es
s 

to
 

B
o

ta
n

y 
R

o
a

d
R

e
ce

ss
 to

 
p

ed
e

st
ria

n
 la

n
ew

a
y

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-05
Building Envelope - Lower Tower Levels

23/06/21

213



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

Tower  setback 

Nil  setback 

Nil  setback 

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,339m2

6 m

6 m
Building 

separation

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 733m2

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

4.
5 

m

4.
5 

m

6 m 6 m

4.5 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  setback 6 
m

3 
m

R
ec

es
s 

to
 

B
o

ta
n

y 
R

o
a

d
R

e
ce

ss
 to

 
p

ed
e

st
ria

n
 la

n
ew

a
y

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-06
Building Envelope – Site 8B Roof Setback Level

23/06/21

214



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

Tower  setback 

Nil  setback 

Nil  setback 

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,339m2

6 m

6 m
Building 

separation

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

4.
5 

m

4.
5 

m

6 m 6 m

4.5 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  setback 6 
m

3 
m

R
ec

es
s 

to
 

B
o

ta
n

y 
R

o
a

d
R

e
ce

ss
 to

 
p

ed
e

st
ria

n
 la

n
ew

a
y

Site 8A Roof

RL 90.0

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-07
Building Envelope – Upper Tower Levels

23/06/21

215



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E6 m

6
 m

6 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  setback 

Tower  setback 

6 m

6 m

Building 
separation

6
 m

3
 m

6
 m

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 575m2

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

4
.5

 m

4
.5

 m

6 m 6 m

4
.5

 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  setback 

R
ec

es
s 

to
 

B
o

ta
n

y 
R

o
a

d
R

e
ce

ss
 to

 
p

ed
e

st
ria

n
 la

n
ew

a
y

Site 8A Roof

RL 90.0

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-08
Building Envelope – Site 8A Roof Setback Level

23/06/21

216



BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 

SQUARE 

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

A
V

E
N

U
E6 m

6
 m

6 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof setback 

Tower setback 

6 m

4
.5

 m

4
.5

 m

6 m 6 m

4
.5

 m

6 m

Building 
separation

6
 m

3
 m

6
 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  setback

Site 8A Roof

RL 115.0

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

Site 8A Roof

RL 90.0

PEDESTRIAN  LANEWAY

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-09
Building Envelope – Roof Levels

23/06/21

217



RL 52

RL 115

RL 90

RL 24.5 RL 24.5

RL 14.5

100.5m

37.5m

10m 10m

75.5m

10
 m

10
 m

6m 

Tower 
setbac

k 

6m 

Roof 
setbac

k 

6m

Roof  
setbac

k 

6m 

Roof 
setbac

k 

6m 

Roof 
setbac

k 6m 

Buildin
g

separa
tion

6m 

Colonn
ade 

setbac
k 

6m 

Throug
h site 
link

Site 8A 

Building Envelope

Site 8B

Building Envelope

S
ky

 B
ri

d
ge

 C
o

n
ne

ct
io

n

G
E

D
D

E
S

 A
V

E
N

U
E

G
R

E
E

N
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 P

LA
Z

A

S
IT

E
 

B
O

U
N

D
A

R

Y

S
IT

E
 

B
O

U
N

D
A

R

Y

S
IT

E
 

B
O

U
N

D
A

R

Y

S
IT

E
 

B
O

U
N

D
A

R

Y

BASEMENT ENVELOPE

RL 24.5

RL 115

RL 14.5

100.5m

10m

10
 m

6 m

3 m

20 m

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

1.4m 
Road widening 

setback

Through 
site link

Sky Bridge 

Connection

Recess to 
Botany Road

Recess to 
pedestrian laneway

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

BASEMENT ENVELOPE

RL 90

RL 24.5

RL 115

RL 14.5

100.5m

75.5m

10m

10
 m

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

4.5m 
Roof  

setback 

4.5m 
Roof  

setback 

1.4m 
Road widening 

setback

Site 8B

Building Envelope

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

BASEMENT ENVELOPE

RL 115

RL 24.5

RL 14.5

100.5m

10m

10
 m

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

1.4m 
Road widening 

setback

Site 8A 

Building Envelope

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

BASEMENT ENVELOPE

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

4 8 12 16 20

m

401 : 800

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-02-01
Building Envelope - Sections

23/06/21

SCALE: 1 : 800
1

Section 1 - North South

SCALE: 1 : 800
3

Section 3 - East West - Bridge Connection

SCALE: 1 : 800
4

Section 4 - East West - Site 8B

SCALE: 1 : 800
2

Section 2 - East West - Site 8A

LEP Height RL 115 

DCP Height 97.5M / 24 Storeys

LEP Height RL 90

DCP Height 72.5M / 17 Storeys

LEP Height RL 52

DCP Height 33M / 8 Storeys

PAN OPS 

RL 115

218



100.5m

37.5m

10m 10m

75.5m

G
R

E
E

N
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 P

LA
Z

A

G
E

D
D

E
S

 A
V

E
N

U
E

6m 
Tower 

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Building

separation

6m 
Colonnade 

setback 

6m 
Through 
site link

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

RL 14.5

75.5m

100.5m

37.5m

10m

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

1.4m 
Road widening 

setback

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

4 8 12 16 20

m

401 : 800

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-03-01
Building Envelope - North & West Elevation

23/06/21

SCALE: 1 : 800
1

Elevation West

SCALE: 1 : 800
2

Elevation North

LEP Height RL 115 

DCP Height 97.5M / 24 Storeys

LEP Height RL 90

DCP Height 72.5M / 17 Storeys

LEP Height RL 52

DCP Height 33M / 8 Storeys

PAN OPS 

RL 115

219



100.5m

75.5m

37.5m

10m10m

G
R

E
E

N
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 P

LA
Z

A

G
E

D
D

E
S

 A
V

E
N

U
E

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Colonnade 

setback 

6m 
Through 
site link

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

100.5m

75.5m

37.5m

10m

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

4 8 12 16 20

m

401 : 800

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-03-02
Building Envelope - South & East Elevation

23/06/21

SCALE: 1 : 800
1

Elevation East

SCALE: 1 : 800
2

Elevation South

LEP Height RL 115 

DCP Height 97.5M / 24 Storeys

LEP Height RL 90

DCP Height 72.5M / 17 Storeys

LEP Height RL 52

DCP Height 33M / 8 Storeys

PAN OPS 

RL 115

220



RL 115

RL 90

RL 52RL 24.5

100.5m

37.5m10m

75.5m

RL 24.5

10m

RL 14.5

0m

100.5m

75.5m

10m

10m

10m

37.5m

0m

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-04-01
Building Envelope – Massing

23/06/21

Building Envelope - North East Building Envelope - South West

221



Vehicular Access 

Location

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

VIEW POINT 

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

1 : 1200

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-05-01
VIA – Botany Road (looking south)

23/06/21

Visual Impact Assessment - Botany Road (looking south)

222



Vehicular Access 

Location

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

VIEW POINT 

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

1 : 1200

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-05-02
VIA – Botany Road (looking north)

23/06/21

Visual Impact Assessment - Botany Road (looking north)

223



Vehicular Access 

Location
Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

VIEW POINT 

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

1 : 1200

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-05-03
VIA - Green Square Plaza (looking south east)

23/06/21

Visual Impact Assessment - Green Square Plaza (looking south east)

224



Vehicular Access 

Location

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

VIEW POINT 

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

1 : 1200

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-05-04
VIA – Botany Road (through site link)

23/06/21

Visual Impact Assessment - VIA – Botany Road (through site link)

225



APPENDIX B 
Reference Design226



TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-00-00
Cover

29/06/21

Sheet Number Sheet Name

RD-00-01 Site Plan

RD-01-01 Basement 3

RD-01-02 Basement 2

RD-01-03 Basement 1

RD-01-04 Ground Level

RD-01-05 Level 1

RD-01-06 Levels 2 - 7 (Typical Podium Levels)

RD-01-07 Level 8

RD-01-08 Levels 9 - 11 (Typical Low Rise Levels)

RD-01-09 Levels 12 - 16 (Typical High Rise Levels)

RD-01-10 Level 17 (Plant Level)

RD-01-11 Levels 18 - 22 (Typical High Rise Levels)

RD-01-12 Level 23 (Roof Plant)

RD-02-01 Section 1 (North South)

RD-02-02 Section 2,3,4 (East West)

RD-03-01 Stacking Plan & Area Schedule

Green Square Sydney 
Site 8A & 8B
Reference Design

227



E
B

S
W

O
R

T
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

GEDDES AVENUE

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

GREENSQUARE PLAZA

Site 8A

Site 8B

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

1 : 1000

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-00-01
Site Plan

29/06/21

228



1

02-01

Generator Bulk Fuel TanksPump Room
Recycled Water 

Tank / Pumps

Goods Lift 

Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Lift Pitt
Basement 

Lift 1. 

Basement  

Lift 2. 

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Tenant

Store Room Tenant

Store Room

Tenant

Store Room
Tenant

Store Room

SITE BOUNDARY
SITE BOUNDARY

RL 4.0

8 m 9 m 9 m 9 m 20 m 9 m 9 m 9 m 9 m 8 m

1
3
 m

1
3
.5

 m
1
2
.5

 m

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-01
Basement 3

29/06/21

229



1

02-01

Fire Pump Room
Fire Water Storage

Goods Lift 

Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Lift Pitt
Basement 

Lift 1. 

Basement  

Lift 2. 

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Tenant

Store Room Tenant

Store Room

Tenant

Store Room
Tenant

Store Room

RL 7.0

SITE BOUNDARY
SITE BOUNDARY

8 m 9 m 9 m 9 m 20 m 9 m 9 m 9 m 9 m 8 m

1
3
 m

1
3
.5

 m
1
2
.5

 m

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-02
Basement 2

29/06/21

230



1

02-01 Loading Zone

Bike ParkingEOTF Male

Main Switchroom 

Site 8b

Substation

Grease Arrestor

Heat 

Pump

Water Storage Tank / 

Cold Water Pumps

DAS
Main Switchroom 

Site 8a

EOTF Female

Goods Lift 

Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Bicycle 

Ramp

Vehicular 

Ramp

Waste RoomWaste 

Room

Waste 

Room

Basement 

Lift 1. 

Basement  

Lift 2. 

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Waste 

Room

RL 10.0

SITE BOUNDARY
SITE BOUNDARY

8 m 9 m 9 m 9 m 20 m 9 m 9 m 9 m 9 m 8 m

1
3
 m

1
3
.5

 m
1
2
.5

 m

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-03
Basement 1

29/06/21

231



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

1

RD-02-01

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Lobby Retail Cafe
Lobby Entry

6 m

6 m

Colonnade  Setback 

Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

High Rise 

Lift 1.
Low Rise 

Lift 7.

Low Rise 

Lift 8.

Low Rise 

Lift 9.

Low Rise 

Lift 12.

Low Rise 

Lift 11.

Low Rise 

Lift 10.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 5.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 6.
Goods Lift 

Basement 

Lift 1. 

Basement  

Lift 2. 

Bicycle 

Ramp Vehicular 

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

RL 14.4RL 13.6

RL 14.3 RL 14.7

RL 15.1

RL 15.7

RL 14.5

RL 14.5

RL 14.6

RL 14.7

RL 14.5

RL 14.7 RL 14.9

RL 15.2

RL 14.5

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY Retractable 
Awning Above

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-04
Ground Level

29/06/21

232



1

RD-02-01

BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

6 m

6 m

1
.4

 m

1
.4

 m

Colonnade  Setback 

Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

Road widening 
setback

Mixed Use / Retail

Void above lobby

GFA: 578m2

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Low Rise 

Lift 7.

Low Rise 

Lift 8.

Low Rise 

Lift 9.

Low Rise 

Lift 12.

Low Rise 

Lift 11.

Low Rise 

Lift 10.

Goods Lift 

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 5.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 6.

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY Retractable 
Awning Above

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-05
Level 1

29/06/21

233



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

1

RD-02-01

6 m

Sky Bridge 

Low Rise 

Lift 7.

Low Rise 

Lift 8.

Low Rise 

Lift 9.

Low Rise 

Lift 12.

Low Rise 

Lift 11.

Low Rise 

Lift 10.

Goods Lift 

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 5.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 6.

GFA: 1229m2 GFA: 1294m2

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

N
il 

 S
et

ba
ck

 

Building 
Separation

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

8000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 8000

13
00

0
13

39
0

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-06
Levels 2 - 7 (Typical Podium Levels)

29/06/21

234



1

RD-02-01

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

Tower  Setback 

Sky Bridge 

Low Rise 

Lift 7.

Low Rise 

Lift 8.

Low Rise 

Lift 9.

Low Rise 

Lift 12.

Low Rise 

Lift 11.

Low Rise 

Lift 10.

Goods Lift 

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 5.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 6.

GFA: 1050m2 GFA: 1294m2

6 m
Building 

Separation

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

N
il 

 S
et

ba
ck

 

8000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 8000

13
00

0
13

39
0

6 m

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-07
Level 8

29/06/21

235



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

1

RD-02-01

Sky Bridge 

Low Rise 

Lift 7.

Low Rise 

Lift 8.

Low Rise 

Lift 9.

Low Rise 

Lift 12.

Low Rise 

Lift 11.

Low Rise 

Lift 10.

Goods Lift 

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 5.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 6.

6 m
Building 

Separation

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

N
il 

 S
et

ba
ck

 

8000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 8000

13
00

0
13

39
0

Tower  Setback 

6 m

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

GFA: 1050m2 GFA: 1294m2

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-08
Levels 9 - 11 (Typical Low Rise Levels)

29/06/21

236



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

1

RD-02-01

Sky Bridge 

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 5.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 6.
Goods Lift 

6 m
Building 

Separation

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

N
il 

 S
et

ba
ck

 

8000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 8000

13
00

0
13

39
0

Tower  Setback 

6 m

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

GFA: 1117m2 GFA: 1294m2

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-09
Levels 12 - 16 (Typical High Rise Levels)

29/06/21

237



1

RD-02-01

BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

6 m

4
.5

 m

4
.5

 m

6 m

Plant Room

Plant Room

Roof Terrace

Roof Terrace

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 5.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 6.
Goods Lift 

6 m
Building 

Separation

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

N
il 

 S
et

ba
ck

 

8000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 8000

13
00

0
13

39
0

Tower  Setback 

6 m

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-10
Level 17 (Plant Level)

29/06/21

238



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

1

RD-02-01

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 5.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 6.
Goods Lift 

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
et

ba
ck

 

8000 9000 9000 9000

13
00

0
13

39
0

Site 8B Roof

Tower  Setback 

6 m

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

GFA: 1119m2

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-11
Levels 18 - 22 (Typical High Rise Levels)

29/06/21

239



1

RD-02-01

BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

6
 m

6 m
Plant Room

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Tower  Setback 

Goods Lift 

6
 m

6 m

6 m

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e
tb

a
c
k
 

8000 9000 9000 9000

1
30

00
1
33

90

Site 8B Roof

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-12
Level 23 (Roof Plant)

29/06/21

240



Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Plant Room

Outdoor 
Breakout

Lobby / Retail

LMR

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

Plant Room

Plant Room

LMRLMR

LMRLMR

Transfer Level

High Rise 

Lifts

Goods 

Lifts

Basement 

Lifts

Outdoor 
Breakout

Outdoor 
Breakout

High Rise 

Lifts

Low Rise 

Lifts

Low Rise 

Lifts

Retail

Mixed Use / Retail

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

RL 52.0

RL 90.0

RL 115.0

RL 90.0

RL 115.0

Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

Podium Height Limit

6m 
Tower 

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

10m 
high through 

site link 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Building

Separation

EOTF 

G
E

D
D

E
S

 A
V

E
N

U
E

G
R

E
E

N
 S

Q
A

U
R

E
 P

LA
Z

A

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2.5 5 7.5 10 12.5

m

251 : 600

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-02-01
Section 1 (North South)

29/06/21

LEP Height RL 115 

DCP Height 97.5M / 24 Storeys

LEP Height RL 90

DCP Height 72.5M / 17 Storeys

LEP Height RL 52

DCP Height 33M / 8 Storeys

PAN OPS RL 115

241



Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

RL 90.0

RL 115.0
Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

LMRPlant Room

LMR

Plant Room

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

Co-Working

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

RL 90.0

RL 115.0
Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

6m 
Bridge 
Recess 

3m 
Bridge 
Recess 

10m Through 
Site Link Height

Bridge Link

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

Wind mitigation measures may be 
required in this location, which will be the 
subject of more detailed design/technical 
testing ahead of finalising the architectural 
design competition brief together with the 
City of Sydney.

Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

RL 90.0

RL 115.0
Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

4.5m 
Roof  

Setback 

4.5m 
Roof  

Setback 

Plant Room

Mixed Use / Retail

Retail Retail

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2.5 5 7.5 10 12.5

m

251 : 600

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-02-02
Section 2,3,4 (East West)

29/06/21

SCALE: 1 : 600
2

Complying DCP - Section 2

SCALE: 1 : 600
3

Complying DCP - Section 3

SCALE: 1 : 600
4

Complying DCP - Section 4

LEP Height RL 115 

DCP Height 97.5M / 24 Storeys

LEP Height RL 90

DCP Height 72.5M / 17 Storeys

PAN OPS RL 115

242



TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-03-01
Stacking Plan & Area Schedule

29/06/21

Stacking Plan & Area Schedule

Stacking Plan

243



244



Attachment A4 

Environmental Wind Assessment 

245



 

 

 

 

 
Mirvac 

Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 

Environmental Wind Assessment 

Wind 

Initial release  |  1 July 2021 
 

 

This report takes into account the particular  

instructions and requirements of our client.   

It is not intended for and should not be relied  

upon by any third party and no responsibility  

is undertaken to any third party. 

 
Job number      

  

 
Arup Australia Pty Ltd  

ABN 76 625 912 665  
 

Arup 

Level 5, 151 Clarence Square 

Sydney, NSW 2000 

Australia 

www.arup.com 

246



 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND 

REP_20210701.DOCX 

 

 

Document Verification 
 

 
 

   Job title Green Square Sites 8A & 8B Job number 

  

   Document title Environmental Wind Assessment File reference 

 

  Document ref Wind 

    Revision Date Filename Green Square 8A&B_Arup wind REP_20210701 

    Initial 

release 

01 July 

2021  

Description Pedestrian level wind report 

 Prepared by Checked by Approved by 

Name Graeme Wood Lauren Boysen Graeme Wood 

      Filename  
Description  

 Prepared by  Checked by Approved by 

Name    

      Filename  
Description  

 Prepared by Checked by Approved by 

Name    

      Filename  

Description  

 Prepared by Checked by Approved by 

Name    

  Issue Document Verification with Document  ✓  
 

 

247



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 1 

 

Executive summary 

Arup have been commissioned by Mirvac to provide an experienced-based 

assessment of the impact of the width of the connecting bridge linking Green 

Square Sites 8A & 8B, located on the north-east corner of Botany Road and 

Geddes Avenue, Zetland, on the pedestrian level wind conditions for comfort and 

safety at specific locations within the site.  

The purpose of this report is to assess the impact of changing the width of the 

bridge above the through-site link from 3 m to 20 m wide, on the pedestrian level 

wind conditions within the through-site link. The remainder of the development is 

DCP compliant.  

Qualitatively, integrating the expected directional wind conditions around the site 

with the wind climate, it is considered that the width of the bridge would have 

negligible impact on the wind conditions at all locations remote from the link, as 

these are governed by the massing of the buildings and surrounds. The wind 

comfort conditions in the link are expected to be classified as suitable for 

pedestrian standing/walking with windier locations experienced under the bridge. 

The difference in wind conditions between the zones in Figure 6 would be 

expected to be about one classification level. All locations are expected to meet 

the Lawson safety criterion. These wind conditions would be considered suitable 

for the intended use of the space. 

To quantify the qualitative advice provided in this report, numerical or physical 

modelling of the development would be required, which is best conducted during 

detailed design.  

  

248



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 2 

 

Contents 

 
 Page 

1 Introduction 3 

2 Site description 3 

3 Wind assessment 5 

3.1 Local wind climate 5 

3.2 Specific wind controls 6 

3.3 Impact of bridge width on wind conditions 7 

4 References 9 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disclaimer 

This assessment of the site environmental wind conditions is presented based on 

engineering judgement. In addition, experience from more detailed simulations 

have been used to refine recommendations. No detailed simulation, physical or 

computational, has been made to develop the recommendations presented in this 

report.  

249



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 3 

 

1 Introduction 

This qualitative environmental wind assessment report has been prepared on 

behalf of Mirvac in support of a Planning Proposal for the Green Square Site 8A 

and 8B development located to the north-east of the intersection between Botany 

Road and Geddes Avenue, Zetland.  

To accompany the Planning Proposal, two reference schemes have been prepared 

in accordance with the DCP controls. Both designs feature compliant building 

envelopes, one with a compliant 3 m wide connecting bridge, and one with a 20 m 

wide connecting bridge. The bridge is located within the podium above the 

through-site link between Sties 8A and 8B. 

The report outlines the assessment and subsequent recommendations for wind 

engineering services related to pedestrian wind comfort and safety at ground level 

within and directly surrounding the through-site link. 

2 Site description 

Green Square is an area currently experiencing rapid development. The current 

maximum building height plan is reproduced in Figure 1 showing indicative 

layout and massing of potential future developments. Discussion in this report 

covers the existing as well as the implications for future development in the area. 

 

Figure 1: Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 (L) Stage 

2 (R) 

The proposed Green Square Sites 8A & 8B site is located on the north-east corner 

of the intersection of Botany Road and Geddes Avenue, Zetland, Figure 2. 

Currently, the site is generally surrounded by low-rise buildings in all directions, 

with nearby isolated medium-rise buildings to the north and south-east. The 

potential maximum height and orientation of buildings are shown in Figure 1. The 

surrounding topography is generally flat. 

Site  

N 

250



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 4 

 

  

Figure 2: Site location (source: Google Maps 2020) 

In both configurations, the proposed development consists of two commercial 

buildings, Figure 3 and Figure 4,, with an interconnecting sky bridge on Levels 2-

17 between the 6 m building separation. The primary difference between the 

designs is the width of the bridge above the through-site link.  

Site 8A, located to the north, is 24 storeys, which includes an 8-storey podium and 

16-storey tower. There is a 2-level high and 6 m wide colonnade to the north, and 

1.4 m overhang to the west. The tower is setback from the podium edge by 6 m to 

the north at Level 8.  

Site 8B, located to the south, is 18 storeys and a 1.4 m colonnade to the west. In 

the Reference Design there are outdoor terraces proposed to the north of Level 8 

of Site 8A, and at roof level of Site 8B (Level 17), with access to all sides of the 

roof, Figure 4.   

  

Figure 3: North-south sections looking east– 20 m wide bridge (L), 3 m wide bridge (R) 

 

N 
Site 8A 

Site 8B 

Bridge 

 

Through-site link 

251



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 5 

 

  

       

 

  

  

Figure 4: Various floor plans – 20 m wide bridge (L), 3 m wide bridge (R)  

The north boundary of the Site 8A fronts Green Square Plaza. There are 

pedestrian thoroughfares all around the site and via the 6 m wide two-storey, 10 m 

high ‘through-site link’ between the buildings. There are a number of ground level 

entries to the lobby and various retail tenancies from all sides of the development, 

Figure 4. 

3 Wind assessment 

3.1 Local wind climate 

Weather data recorded at Sydney Airport by the Bureau of Meteorology has been 

analysed for this project, Figure 5. The anemometer is located about 6 km to the 

south-south-west of the site. The arms of the wind rose point in the direction from 

where the wind is coming from. The directional wind speeds measured here are 

considered representative of the incident wind conditions at the site, due to close 

proximity to the site and similar distance from the coast.  

Ground 

Podium (typical – levels 2-7) 

Tower (typical – levels 12-16) 

Level 17 (Site 8B plant/rooftop terrace) 

Tower (Site 8A typical high-rise levels) 

N 

Through-site link 
 

Bridge 

252



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 6 

 

 

Figure 5: Wind rose showing probability of time of wind direction and speed 

It is evident from Figure 5 that the prevailing wind directions are from the north-

east, south, and north-west quadrants with stronger winds from these directions. 

The measured mean wind speed is 4.5 m/s, and the 5% exceedance mean wind 

speed is 9.5 m/s.  

Strong summer winds occur mainly from the south and the north-east quadrants. 

Winds from the south are associated with large synoptic frontal systems and 

generally provide the strongest gusts during summer. Moderate intensity winds 

from the north-east tend to bring cooling relief on hot summer afternoons 

typically lasting from noon to dusk. These are small-scale temperature driven 

effects; the larger the temperature differential between land and sea, the stronger 

the wind. 

Winter and early spring strong winds typically occur from the north-west, and 

west quadrants. West quadrant winds provide the strongest winds affecting the 

area throughout the year and tend to be associated with large scale synoptic events 

that can be hot or cold depending on inland conditions. 

A general description on flow patterns around buildings is given in Appendix 1. 

3.2 Specific wind controls 

Wind comfort is generally measured in terms of wind speed and rate of change of 

wind speed, where higher wind speeds and gradients are considered less 

comfortable. Air speed has a large impact on thermal comfort and are generally 

welcome during hot summer conditions. This assessment is focused on wind 

speed in terms of mechanical comfort. 

253



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 7 

 

There have been many wind comfort criteria proposed, and a general discussion is 

presented in Appendix 2. 

Wind controls applicable to this project are based on the work of Lawson (1990), 

described in Figure 15 and Table 1. The comfort classification is based on the 

wind speed exceed for 5% of the time. These categories are subjective to the 

individual. The wind speed is the greater of the mean or gust-equivalent mean 

(GEM) wind speed. The GEM is defined as the peak 3 s gust wind speed divided 

by 1.85; and aims to account for location where gustiness is prevalent.  

Table 1: Pedestrian comfort criteria for various activities 

Comfort (max. of mean or GEM wind speed exceeded 5% of the time) 

<2 m/s Dining 

2-4 m/s Sitting 

4-6 m/s Standing 

6-8 m/s Walking 

8-10 m/s Objective walking or cycling 

>10 m/s Uncomfortable 

Safety (max. of mean or GEM wind speed exceeded 0.022% of the time) 

<15 m/s General access 

<20 m/s Able-bodied people (less mobile or cyclists not expected) 

Transferring the measured 5% of the time wind speed to ground level around the 

site would result in a mean wind speed of about 6 m/s. From Table 1, these 

conditions would be classified as on the border of pedestrian standing and 

walking. From knowledge of the wind conditions in the locale, this would be a 

considered a correct classification for the area. 

3.3 Impact of bridge width on wind conditions 

The through-site link is in the same location and has the same cross-sectional area 

in both schemes with a width of 6 m and height of 10 m, Figure 4. The bridge 

above extends above the through-site link for a height of 57 m and 58.7 m for the 

20 m wide and 3 m wide bridges respectively, Figure 3. The 3 m wide bridge is 

recessed further from both the east and west facades. 

The wind conditions in any through-site link are governed by the pressure 

difference between the entrances from the east and west, Figure 7 in Appendix 1. 

The pressure difference is generated by the massing of the subject and 

surrounding buildings, as well as the incident wind speed and direction.  

As the site is relatively exposed, particularly to prevailing winds from the west, 

wind would be expected to be occur in the link for all incident wind directions. As 

the general massing of Sites 8A and 8B is very similar between the two schemes, 

the pressure distribution at either end of the through-site link would be expected 

to be similar. For the 3 m wide bridge design, the greater recess from the building 

façade would be expected to slightly increase the magnitude of the mean pressure 

on the windward side, and reduce the turbulence. The narrow bridge would be 

expected to slightly increase the magnitude of the negative mean pressure on the 

leeward side. Thus the pressure differential for the narrow bridge would be 

254



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 8 

 

expected to be slightly greater than for the 20 m wide bridge. As the mean 

pressure differential between either end of the link is similar, the fastest wind 

speed, related to the square root of the pressure difference, would be similar for all 

bridge widths, Figure 6. 

However, for the 20 m wide bridge being of constant cross-section area along the 

entire length of the through-site link, the wind speed would be similar along the 

entire length of the link, Figure 6. Reducing the width of the bridge to 3 m would 

not change the wind speed significantly, but would reduce the extent of the faster 

flow. The bridge forming a calmer region on the windward side, like a dam on a 

river. Introducing a constriction to the cross-sectional area within the link controls 

the flow rate improving wind conditions everywhere except close to the 

constriction, Figure 6 where similar faster wind speeds would be experienced. 

This localises the fast flow, reducing the speed in the rest of the link, similar to a 

partially closed tap in a pipe. If a constriction is not incorporated, the wind speed 

will be at the faster speed along the entire length of the laneway. 

 

                

Figure 6: Section of through site link  

  

+                        - 

Similar speed 

+       - 

+         - 

Slow 

Bridge 
Wind 

Wind 

255



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 9 

 

4 References 

City of Auckland, (2016), Auckland Unitary Plan Operative.  

City of Sydney (2016), Central Sydney Planning Strategy 2016-2036. 

City of Melbourne (2017), Melbourne Planning Scheme. 

Hunt, J.C.R., Poulton, E.C., and Mumford, J.C., (1976), The effects of wind on 

people; new criteria based on wind tunnel experiments, Building and 

Environment, Vol.11. 

Isyumov, N. and Davenport, A.G., (1975), The ground level wind environment in 

built-up areas, Proc. 4th Int. Conf. on Wind Effects on Buildings, Cambridge 

University Press, U.K. 

Lawson, T.V., and Penwarden, A.D., (1975), The effects of wind on people in the 

vicinity of buildings, Proc. 4th Int. Conf. on Wind Effects on Buildings, 

Cambridge University Press, U.K. 

Lawson, T.V., (1990), The Determination of the wind environment of a building 

complex before construction, Department of Aerospace Engineering, University 

of Bristol, Report Number TVL 9025. 

Melbourne, W.H., (1978), Criteria for environmental wind conditions, J. Wind 

Engineering and Industrial Aerodynamics, Vol.3, No.2-3, pp.241-249. 

Netherlands Standardization Institute, NEN, (2006). Wind comfort and wind 

danger in the built environment, NEN 8100 (in Dutch) Dutch Standard. 

NSW Government (2021), Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square 

Town Centre) 2013. 

NSW Government (2021), Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square 

Town Centre—Stage 2) 2013 

Penwarden, A.D. and Wise, A.F.E. (1975), Wind environment around buildings, 

Building Research Establishment Report, HMSO. 

San Francisco Planning Department, (2015) San Francisco Planning Code Section 

148.  

256



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 10 

 

Appendix 1: Wind flow mechanisms 

An urban environment generates a complex wind flow pattern around closely 

spaced structures, hence it is exceptionally difficult to generalise the flow 

mechanisms and impact of specific buildings as the flow is generated by the entire 

surrounds. However, it is best to start with an understanding of the basic flow 

mechanisms around an isolated structure.  

Isolated building 

When the wind hits an isolated building, the wind is decelerated on the windward 

face generating an area of high pressure, Figure 7, with the highest pressure at the 

stagnation point at about two thirds of the height of the building. The higher 

pressure bubble extends a distance from the building face of about half the 

building height or width, whichever is lower. The flow is then accelerated down 

and around the windward corners to areas of lower pressure, Figure 7. This flow 

mechanism is called downwash and causes the windiest conditions at ground 

level on the windward corners and along the sides of the building.  

Rounding the building corners or chamfering the edges reduces downwash by 

encouraging the flow to go around the building at higher levels. However, 

concave curving of the windward face can increase the amount of downwash. 

Depending on the orientation and isolation of the building, uncomfortable 

downwash can be experienced on buildings of greater than about 6 storeys.  

 

 

Figure 7: Schematic wind flow around tall isolated building 

Flow separates from 

windward edges 

Flow radiates from 

stagnation point 

Positive pressure on 

windward wall 

Negative pressure in 

wake region, downwind 

of flow separation 

+ 
- High wind speed around 

corners and in passageway 

due to flow into wake region 

257



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 11 

 

Techniques to mitigate the effects of downwash winds at ground level include the 

provision of horizontal elements, the most effective being a podium to divert the 

downward flow away from pavements and building entrances, but this will 

generate windy conditions on the podium roof, Figure 11. Generally, the lower the 

podium roof and deeper the setback from the podium edge to the tower improves 

the ground level wind conditions. The provision of an 8 m setback on an isolated 

building is generally sufficient to improve ground level conditions, but is highly 

dependent on the building isolation, orientation to prevailing wind directions, 

shape and width of the building, and any plan form changes at higher level.  

 

Figure 8: Schematic flow pattern around building with podium 

Awnings along street frontages perform a similar function as a podium, and 

generally the larger the horizontal projection from the façade, the more effective it 

will be in diverting downwash flow, Figure 9. Awnings become less effective if 

they are not continuous along the entire façade, or on wide buildings as the 

positive pressure bubble extends beyond the awning resulting in horizontal flow 

under the awning.  

 

Figure 9: Schematic flow pattern around building with awning 

It should be noted that colonnades at the base of a building with no podium 

generally create augmented windy conditions at the corners due to an increase in 

the pressure differential, Figure 10. Similarly, open through-site links through a 

building cause wind issues as the environment tries to equilibrate the pressure 

generated at the entrances to the link, Figure 7. If the link is blocked, wind 

Podium highly 

beneficial to 

ground plane, 

but windy on 

podium roof. 

Awning less 

effective unless 

continuous. 

258



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 12 

 

conditions will be calm unless there is a flow path through the building, Figure 11. 

This area is in a region of high pressure and therefore the is the potential for 

internal flow issues. A ground level recessed corner has a similar effect as an 

undercroft, resulting in windier conditions, Figure 11. 

 

Figure 10: Schematic of flow patterns around isolated building with undercroft 

 

Figure 11 Schematic of flow patterns around isolated building with ground articulation 

Multiple buildings 

When a building is located in a city environment, depending on upwind buildings, 

the interference effects may be positive or negative, Figure 12. If the building is 

taller, more of the wind impacting on the exposed section of the building is likely 

to be drawn to ground level by the increase in height of the stagnation point, and 

the additional negative pressure induced at the base. If the upwind buildings are of 

similar height then the pressure around the building will be more uniform hence 

downwash is typically reduced with the flow passing over the buildings.  

 

Figure 12: Schematic of flow pattern interference from surrounding buildings 

Recessed entry 

provides low wind 

speed at door 

location, but high 

pressure and potential 

internal flow issues. 

Corner entry in high 

wind zone at building 

corner. Recess side 

typically windier than 

sheer side. 

Undercroft all round a 

building typically 

increases wind speed at 

ground level, but 

depends on height and 

depth of undercroft. 

Stagnation 

point 

increases in 

height 

resulting in 

more 

downwash 

259



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 13 

 

The above discussion becomes more complex when three-dimensional effects are 

considered, both with orientation and staggering of buildings, and incident wind 

direction, Figure 13. 

       
Figure 13: Schematic of flow patterns through a grid and random street layout 

Channelling occurs when the wind is accelerated between two buildings, or along 

straight streets with buildings on either side, Figure 13(L), particularly on the edge 

of built-up areas where the approaching flow is diverted around the city massing 

and channelled along the fringe by a relatively continuous wall of building 

facades. This is generally the primary mechanism driving the wind conditions for 

this perimeter of a built-up area, particularly on corners, which are exposed to 

multiple wind directions. The perimeter edge zone in a built-up area is typically 

about two blocks deep. Downwash is more important flow mechanism for the 

edge zone of a built-up area with buildings of similar height. 

As the city expands, the central section of the city typically becomes calmer, 

particularly if the grid pattern of the streets is discontinued, Figure 13(R). When 

buildings are located on the corner of a central city block, the geometry becomes 

slightly more important with respect to the local wind environment. 

Single barriers and screens 

The wind flow pattern over a vertical barrier is illustrated in Figure 14, showing 

there will be recirculation zones near the windward wall and in the immediate lee 

of the barrier. The typical extent of these recirculation zones relative to the height 

of the barrier, h, is illustrated in Figure 14. These regions are not fixed but 

fluctuate in time. The mean wind speed in the wake areas drops significantly 

compared with the incident flow. With increasing distance from the barrier the 

flow pattern will resort to the undisturbed state. Typically the mean velocity and 

turbulence intensity at barrier height would be expected to be within 10% of the 

free stream conditions at 10 times the height of the structure downwind from the 

barrier.  

 
Figure 14: Sketch of the flow pattern over an isolated structure  

h 

h 

½h 

3 
1 

5h 

Wake 

Fluctuating shear layer at wake boundary 

260



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 14 

 

Appendix 2: Wind speed criteria 

General discussion 

Primary controls that are used in the assessment of how wind affects pedestrians 

are the wind speed, and rate of change of wind speed. A description of the effect 

of a specific wind speed on pedestrians is provided in Table 2. It should be noted 

that the turbulence, or rate of change of wind speed, will affect human response to 

wind and the descriptions are more associated with response to mean wind speed. 

Table 2: Summary of wind effects on pedestrians 

Description 
Speed 

(m/s) 
Effects 

Calm, 

light air 
0–2 

Human perception to wind speed at about 0.2 m/s.  

Napkins blown away and newspapers flutter at about 1 m/s. 

Light breeze 2–3 
Wind felt on face. Light clothing disturbed.  

Cappuccino froth blown off at about 2.5 m/s. 

Gentle 

breeze 
3–5 Wind extends light flag. Hair is disturbed. Clothing flaps.  

Moderate 

breeze 
5–8 

Raises dust, dry soil. Hair disarranged.  

Sand on beach saltates at about 5 m/s.  

Full paper coffee cup blown over at about 5.5 m/s.  

Fresh 

breeze 
8–11 

Force felt on body. Limit of agreeable wind on land.  

Umbrellas used with difficulty.  

Wind sock fully extended at about 8 m/s. 

Strong 

breeze 
11–14 

Hair blown straight. Difficult to walk steadily.  

Wind noise on ears unpleasant.  

Windborne snow above head height (blizzard). 

Near gale 14–17 Inconvenience felt when walking. 

Gale 17–21 Generally impedes progress. Difficulty with balance in gusts. 

Strong gale 21–24 People blown over by gusts. 

Local wind effects can be assessed with respect to a number of environmental 

wind speed criteria established by various researchers. These have all generally 

been developed around a 3 s gust, or 1 hour mean wind speed. During strong 

events, a pedestrian would react to a significantly shorter duration gust than a 3 s, 

and historic weather data is normally presented as a 10 minute mean.  

Despite the apparent differences in numerical values and assumptions made in 

their development, it has been found that when these are compared on a 

probabilistic basis, there is some agreement between the various criteria. 

However, a number of studies have shown that over a wider range of flow 

conditions, such as smooth flow across water bodies, to turbulent flow in city 

centres, there is less general agreement among. The downside of these criteria is 

that they have seldom been benchmarked, or confirmed through long-term 

261



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 15 

 

measurements in the field, particularly for comfort conditions. The wind criteria 

were all developed in temperate climates and are unfortunately not the only 

environmental factor that affects pedestrian comfort. 

For assessing the effects of wind on pedestrians, neither the random peak gust 

wind speed (3 s or otherwise), nor the mean wind speed in isolation are adequate. 

The gust wind speed gives a measure of the extreme nature of the wind, but the 

mean wind speed indicates the longer duration impact on pedestrians. The 

extreme gust wind speed is considered to be suitable for safety considerations, but 

not necessarily for serviceability comfort issues such as outdoor dining. This is 

because the instantaneous gust velocity does not always correlate well with mean 

wind speed, and is not necessarily representative of the parent distribution. Hence, 

the perceived ‘windiness’ of a location can either be dictated by strong steady 

flows, or gusty turbulent flow with a smaller mean wind speed. 

To measure the effect of turbulent wind conditions on pedestrians, a statistical 

procedure is required to combine the effects of both mean and gust. This has been 

conducted by various researchers to develop an equivalent mean wind speed to 

represent the perceived effect of a gust event. This is called the ‘gust equivalent 

mean’ or ‘effective wind speed’ and the relationship between the mean and 3 s 

gust wind speed is defined within the criteria, but two typical conversions are: 

UGEM =
(U1 hour mean+3∙σu)

1.85
  and  UGEM =

1.3∙(U1 hour mean+2∙σu)

1.85
 

It is evident that a standard description of the relationship between the mean and 

impact of the gust would vary considerably depending on the approach 

turbulence, and use of the space. 

A comparison between the mean and 3 s gust wind speed criteria from a 

probabilistic basis are presented in Figure 15 and Figure 17. The grey lines are 

typical results from modelling and show how the various criteria would classify a 

single location. City of Auckland has control mechanisms for accessing usability 

of spaces from a wind perspective as illustrated in Figure 15 with definitions of 

the intended use of the space categories defined in Figure 16. 

262



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 16 

 

 

Figure 15: Probabilistic comparison between wind criteria based on mean wind speed 

 

Figure 16: Auckland Utility Plan (2016) wind categories  

0.01

0.1

1

10

100

0 5 10 15 20 25

P
r
o
b
a
b
il

it
y
 

o
f 

e
x
c
e
e
d
in

g
 w

in
d
 

s
p
e
e
d
  

/%

Mean wind speed / m/s

Davenport (1972)

Lawson (1990)

Penwarden and Wise (1975)

Isyumov and Davenport
(1975)

Lawson and Penwarden
(1975)

Hunt et al. (1976)

Dutch (2006)

Auckland City

Melbourne Planning Scheme
(2016)

San Francisco

Typical results

No remedial    Remedial

Dine    Sit   Stand Walk   Bus    Uncomfortable

Pass    Able           Fail

Pass   Fail

Pass   Fail

Pass     Fail

Sit Stand  Walk    Uncomfortable

Sit   Stand Walk   Bus    Uncomfortable

Sit   Stand Walk     Bus     Uncomfortable

Si
t

St
an

d
  W

al
k 

  

P
as

s 
   

   
   

   
Li

m
it

e
d

   
   

   
   

   
   

Fa
il

A         B              C            D           E

Long  ShortStroll Walk    Uncomfortable

Sit St. Wa  Uncomfortable

Sit Comfort Uncomfortable

Pass   Fail

263



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 17 

 

 

Figure 17: Probabilistic comparison between wind criteria based on 3 s gust wind speed 

  

0.01

0.1

1

10

100

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

P
ro

b
a
b

il
it

y
 

o
f 

e
x
ce

e
d

in
g
 w

in
d

 
sp

e
e

d
 /%

Gust wind speed /m/s

Penwarden and Wise (1975)

Lawson and Penwarden (1975)

Hunt et al. (1976)

Melbourne (1978)

Lawson (1990) (GEM to gust)

Dutch (2006) (Mean to gust)

Lawson (1990) (GEM to gust)

Auckland City

Wellington and Melbourne

Mongolia

AWES

Typical results
Pass    Fail

Sit Stand  Walk      Uncomfortable

Sit   Stand  Walk   Uncomfort     Danger

Sit Stand    Walk

Pass Able bodied          Fail

Dine     Sit       Stand   Walk  Bus Walk  Uncomfortable

P
a
ss

  
  
  
  
  
  
 L

im
it
e
d
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  
F

a
il

Pass    Remedial

Pass    Fail

Pass    Fail

Sit

Stand

Walk

Pass    Fail

264



Mirvac Green Square Sites 8A & 8B 
Environmental Wind Assessment 

 

Wind | Initial release | 1 July 2021 | Arup 

\\GLOBAL.ARUP.COM\AUSTRALASIA\SYD\GROUP\BLD_528 BUILDINGS NSW\BD\POSSIBLE_PROJECTS\2021\00_WIND\06 JUNE\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B\DESKTOP 

REPORT\GREEN SQUARE 8A&B_ARUP WIND REP_20210701.DOCX 

Page 18 

 

Appendix 3: Reference documents 

In preparing the assessment, the following documents have been referenced to 

understand the building massing and features. The drawings are dated 4 June 

2021. 

 

265



Attachment A5 

Proponent’s Draft DCP Amendment 

266



 

 
T. +61 2 9956 6962 E. sydney@ethosurban.com 

W. ethosurban.com 
173 Sussex St 
Sydney NSW 2000 

ABN.  
13 615 087 931 

 

30 June 2021 

Site Specific Development Controls – Green Square Sites 8A and 8B 

Draft amendments to Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan 2012 

The following text and graphics are drafted to support specific amendments proposed which are specific to Green 

Square Town Centre Sites 8A and 8B. All other relevant provisions of the Green Square Town Centre Development 

Control Plan 2012will continue to apply. The provisions of this section prevail in the event of any inconsistency. 

GSTC 3 – Local infrastructure 

 

GSTC 3.3 Street network 

 

GSTC 3.3.5 Through-site links 

 

Provisions 

… 

 

6) Through-site links are only to pass through or under a building where: 

(a) the building’s height is greater than 3 storeys; and 

(b) the maximum distance of the link under any structure is 18m (with exception to sites 8A and 8B). 

… 

 

10) Between sites 8A and 8B, 3m 20m wide fully clear glazed sky bridges may connect the development sites 

at levels greater than 10m above ground level, in accordance with Figure 3.27: Through-site links and 

arcades, Figure 3.28: Through-Site Link Sites 8A and 8B – Section and Figure 3.29: Through-Site 

Link Sites 8A and 8B – Plan 

… 

 

(Replacement and new graphics further detailed over the page)  

 
  

267

mailto:sydney@ethosurban.com
http://www.ethosurban.com/


Green Square Sites 8A and 8B  |  Site Specific DCP  |  30 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 2 
 

Figure 3.27 Through-site links and arcades 

(Existing graphic below proposed to be deleted and replaced) 

 

 

  

268



Green Square Sites 8A and 8B  |  Site Specific DCP  |  30 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 3 
 

Figure 3.27 Through-site links and arcades 

(New graphic below proposed to be inserted) 

 

  

269



Green Square Sites 8A and 8B  |  Site Specific DCP  |  30 June 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 4 
 

Figure 3.28 Through-Site Link Sites 8A and 8B – Section 

(New graphic below proposed to be inserted) 

 

 
 

Figure 3.29: Through-Site Link Sites 8A and 8B – Plan 

(New graphic below proposed to be inserted) 

 

 
 

 

(Subsequent Figure numbering and references in document to be amended as applicable) 

 

 

270



Attachment A6 

Supplementary Information, dated 27 
August 2021

271



 

173 Sussex St, Sydney 
(Gadigal Land) NSW 2000 

E. sydney@ethosurban.com 
W. ethosurban.com 

T. +61 2 9956 6962 ABN. 13 615 087 931 

 

27 August 2021 
 
2190436 
 
Ms Monica Barone 
Chief Executive Officer 
City of Sydney Council 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

 

Attention: Tamara Bruckshaw, Manager Green Square & Major Development Projects 

 

 

Dear Tamara, 

 

RE: Planning Proposal – Clarification of Intent (Ref No. X026151) 

Mirvac Green Square Town Centre Sites 7, 8A, 8B and 17 

 

We write to you in relation to the above Planning Proposal within the Green Square Town Centre (GSTC). In 

response to discussions on 11 August 2021 and 18 August 2021 involving Council, Mirvac and the project team, we 

wish to clarify and amend key aspects of the Planning Proposal, in order to respond to Council’s feedback. 

 

In relation to Sites 8A and 8B, Section 1.0 provides a request to refine the proposed land uses and gross floor 

areas (GFA) the subject of ‘Area 1’ specified use floor space provisions, within Clause 4.4A(2)(a) of the Sydney 

Local Environmental Plan (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 (GSTC LEP). 

 

In addition, Section 2.0 of this letter requests the addition of Sites 7 and 17 to the scope of the Planning Proposal, 

for simplicity and expediency. Similarly for this site, additional land uses are sought to be included within the ‘Area 4’ 

specified use floor space provisions, within Clause 4.4A(2)(d) of the GSTC LEP. 

 

Further, it is noted that separate correspondence will be provided in the short term in relation to Mirvac’s preferred 

approach for the changes to the podium level and interconnecting bridges within Sites 8A and 8B. 

1.0 Revision provisions applicable to Sites 8A and 8B 

1.1 Background and further considerations 

By way of background, Clause 4.4 of the GSTC LEP provides a base floor space ratio (FSR) of 0.3:1 or 1,297sqm 

of GFA for Sites 8A and 8B. The base FSR is achievable on all land uses permissible within the B4 Mixed Use 

zone. Clause 4.4A of the GSTC LEP provides exceptions to this base FSR. Sites 8A and 8B fall within a location 

defined as ‘Area 1’. Under subclause (2)(a), ‘Area 1’ is eligible for additional GFA not exceeding 44,400sqm for 

‘office premises’ or ‘business premises’ only. This provides the total allowable GFA on the site of some 45,697sqm. 

 

In addition to ‘office premises’ or ‘business premises’, the subject Planning Proposal made the request for the 

addition of the following uses to form part of the additional 44,400sqm of GFA: 

“retail premises, centre-based child care facilities, educational establishments, entertainment facilities, function 

centres, health service facilities and recreation facilities (indoor).” 

 

 

 

272

mailto:sydney@ethosurban.com
http://www.ethosurban.com/


Mirvac Green Square Town Centre, Sites 7, 8A, 8B and 17  |  Planning Proposal (Ref No. X026151)  |  27 August 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 2 
 

We note that Council is generally accepting of the economic justification report, provided with the Planning Proposal 

submission. Of the above listed land uses, Council acknowledge that ‘centre-based child care facilities’, ‘educational 

establishments’ and ‘health service facilities’ are land uses which are self-limiting in nature, in that market forces will 

determine what floor space size is appropriate to support the needs of the surrounding area. Accordingly, these 

three land uses are capable of being added together with ‘office premises’ and ‘business premises’ as being eligible 

for the full extent of the specified use floor space provisions for the site.  

 

However, in recent discussions Council have requested that Mirvac consider a revision to the Planning Proposal to 

place GFA limits on the remaining land uses proposed. This is to ensure that job-creating land uses are prioritised 

within Sites 8A and 8B. This is supported by Mirvac and in response the following land uses are sought to be added 

to the specified use floor space provisions, subject to the following parameters: 

 ‘Retail premises’ 

− The reference scheme provided with the Planning Proposal submission has a combined retail/lobby GFA at 

the Ground Floor (Sites 8A and 8B) of 1,735sqm and of that, approximately 1,050sqm is dedicated to retail 

premises. In addition, at Level 1 the reference scheme indicated 1,245sqm GFA within Site 8B at Level 1, 

as a combined co-working office and retail premises conceptual land use. 

− Mirvac wish to request a maximum specified use floor space for retail premises of 2,500sqm GFA. 

Conceptually, this may facilitate development of food and drink premises and boutique retail shops and 

potentially a neighbourhood supermarket, primarily to serve the needs of the building’s occupants.  

 ‘Entertainment facilities’ and ‘function centres’ 

− Initial considerations by Mirvac indicate there may be a market appetite for a component of these land uses 

within the building. Accordingly, the ability to dedicate an entire floor for these purposes is requested.  

− These uses are considered similar in nature, and it is therefore recommended that the maximum specified 

use floor space for these uses is treated as a combined GFA of 2,500sqm GFA. 

 ‘Recreation facilities (indoor)’ 

− Preliminary investigations have considered that there may be a demand for floor space within the building 

the purposes of a gym, exercise rooms or potentially a swimming centre, sports courts and the like.  

− Mirvac request a maximum specified use floor space for recreation facilities (indoor) of 1,500sqm GFA. 

1.2 Translation into development standards 

Mirvac’s intent is to retain the overall maximum GFA of 45,697sqm, to ensure a consistent built envelope outcome 

associated with the specified additional floorspace amendments sought for Sites 8A and 8B. Accordingly, the 

following is requested: 

 Retain the base 0.3:1 FSR applicable to all B4 Mixed Use permitted land uses under Clause 4.4 and the current 

associated mapping. 

 Seek to re-word Clause 4.4A(2)(a). Words proposed to be deleted are shown in bold strike through and words 

to be inserted are shown in bold italics. 

(2) Specified use floor space 

A building that is on land in an Area, and is used for a purpose specified in relation to the Area in paragraph 

(a), (b), (c) or (d), is eligible for an amount of additional floor space (specified use floor space) as follows— 

(a) Area 1, office premises or business premises additional floor space not exceeding a total of 

44,400 square metres, associated with following land uses: 

(i) office premises, 

(ii) business premises, 

(iii) centre-based child care facilities, 

(iv) educational establishments, 

273



Mirvac Green Square Town Centre, Sites 7, 8A, 8B and 17  |  Planning Proposal (Ref No. X026151)  |  27 August 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 3 
 

(v) health service facilities, 

(vi) retail premises with a combined maximum gross floor area of 2,500 square metres, 

(vii) entertainment facilities and function centres with a combined maximum gross floor 

area of 2,500 square metres, 

(viii) recreation facilities (indoor) with a combined maximum gross floor area of 1,500 

square metres. 

2.0 Addition of provisions applicable to Sites 7 and 17 

2.1 Background and further considerations 

During discussions on 17 August 2021 involving Council, Mirvac and the project team, it was requested by Council 

that the submitted Planning Proposal be amended to accommodate 960A Bourke Street, Zetland, known as GSTC 

Sites 7 and 17. Development consent was granted for Sites 7 and 17 on 20 June 2019 (D/2017/564) for the 

purposes of a mixed-use development comprising retail, commercial, entertainment and residential uses. The 

detailed design included a 5-screen cinema complex.  

 

In response to changing market demands, Mirvac has reviewed the viability of the approved cinema use. Further 

research has indicated that there is a shortfall of other entertainment, cultural, lifestyle and recreation opportunities 

within the GSTC for the surrounding community. Accordingly, Mirvac have made the decision to proceed with 

seeking additional land uses for the cinema component of the development. These additional uses are centred on 

providing a more diverse range of land uses to realise the GSTC as an activated and desirable Strategic Centre, 

with greater flexibility to more closely align to emerging trends.  

 

Development consent D/2017/564 approved approximately 2,000sqm of entertainment facility floorspace in the form 

of a cinema, from Levels 1 to 5, in addition to other retail and commercial space within the development. Mirvac’s 

catchment analysis has identified that there is a local demand for entertainment and recreation uses, contemporary 

music and architecture and design sectors for uses such as a creative bar, distillery or brewery, fashion design and 

textile incubator, and digital services. Figure 1 below illustrates a potential concept to repurpose the cinema 

floorspace for these alternative uses. Importantly, the proposed repurposing maintains the volume necessary to 

allow for a cinema use in the future. 

 

 
 

Figure 1 – Illustrative concept Ground Floor (Level 1) 

Source: Mirvac  

274



Mirvac Green Square Town Centre, Sites 7, 8A, 8B and 17  |  Planning Proposal (Ref No. X026151)  |  27 August 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 4 
 

 

Clause 4.4 of the GSTC LEP provides a base FSR of 5.47:1 for Lot 6 DP 1199427 (which includes Sites 7, 17 and 

18 and two stratum roads). This equates to a maximum of 18,964.7sqm of GFA which is applicable to Sites 7 and 

17. Clause 4.4A(2)(d) affords additional specific use floor space provisions for ‘Area 4’ which provides a further 

4,200sqm of GFA for ‘office premises’ or ‘business premises’, ‘entertainment facilities’ and ‘centre-based childcare 

facilities’. This provides the total allowable GFA on the site of some 23,164.7sqm. 

 

It is proposed to amend Clause 4.4A(2)(d) of the GSTC LEP to allow the following land uses to form part of the 

specified use floor space provisions within ‘Area 4’: 

“Information and education facilities, artisan food and drink industry and recreation facilities (indoor).” 

Accordingly, these three land uses are capable of being added together with ‘office premises’, ‘business premises’ 

‘entertainment facilities’ and ‘centre-based childcare facilities’ as being eligible for the full extent of the specified use 

floor space provisions for the site. 

2.2 Translation into development standards 

Accordingly, Mirvac seek to re-word Clause 4.4A(2)(d). Words proposed to be deleted are shown in bold strike 

through and words to be inserted are shown in bold italics. 

(2) Specified use floor space 

A building that is on land in an Area, and is used for a purpose specified in relation to the Area in paragraph 

(a), (b), (c) or (d), is eligible for an amount of additional floor space (specified use floor space) as follows— 

… 

(d)  Area 4, office premises or business premises, entertainment facilities, information and education 

facilities, artisan food and drink industry, recreation facilities (indoor) and centre-based child care 

facilities—additional floor space not exceeding 4,200 square metres. 

 

2.3 Site and strategic merit justifications 

The justifications provided in relation to site and strategic merit for the original Site 8A and 8B Planning Proposal are 

generally applicable and relevant to the proposed amendments for Sites 7 and 17. The changes intended will 

enable Mirvac to deliver a visionary and forward thinking development, which is able to adapt to changing trends 

and demands in the market.  

 

Importantly, the proposed planning provisions will give effect to the Greater Sydney Region Plan, the Eastern City 

District Plan and the Local Strategic Planning Statement – in that the proposed amendments seek to optimise 

complimentary land uses, which support and respond to the current and future increase in the residential population 

of the Green Square Strategic Centre and surrounding urban renewal area. Further, the introduction of the 

additional, complementary uses to Sites 7 and 17 will strengthen the site in meeting the needs of the community, as 

well as creating diverse employment opportunities within an emerging and highly accessible precinct. 

 

Overall, the amended Planning Proposal will provide recreation, entertainment and employment opportunities to 

meet the evolving needs of the Green Square community. It is this diversity of land uses that provides flexibility and 

will assist in creating an active and vibrant destination. The proposed amendments will also add to the high amenity 

environment of GSTC contributing to its vitality and viability and helping to deliver a 30-minute city. The proposal will 

provide accessible recreation and entertainment uses that are inclusive for diverse people and communities and 

contribute to the social life of the city.  

 

The amended Planning Proposal will have positive social effects, meeting identified shortfall in the local area for 

recreation and entertainment uses. The amended Planning Proposal as it applies to a wider site, will have positive 

economic impacts as it will allow for a greater range of employment opportunities to be provided, including the 

potential for start-up or incubator businesses.  

 

275



Mirvac Green Square Town Centre, Sites 7, 8A, 8B and 17  |  Planning Proposal (Ref No. X026151)  |  27 August 2021 

 

Ethos Urban  |  2190436 5 
 

Mirvac is receptive to Council’s desire to maintain the existing building volume within Site 7 and 17, in order to allow 

the flexibility for the floorspace to be adapted to a cinema use in the future, should it be viable and desired. It is 

noted that subject to the detailed design process, the composition and layout of the development is capable of being 

adapted to the identified additional land uses with appropriate measures to mitigate any potential impacts of these 

commercial uses on local residential amenity. 

3.0 Conclusion 

Mirvac together with the project team, is motivated to deliver the remaining elements of the GSTC in a timely matter.  

We believe that sufficient assessment has been provided to amend the Planning Proposal and as detailed within 

this correspondence, and request that any additional or supplementary reporting / assessment is undertaken prior to 

public exhibition.  

 

We appreciate the assistance of Council in its prompt assessment of the Planning Proposal, in order to achieve 

consideration at the Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on Monday 11 October 2021. Accordingly, we 

now recommend that the Planning Proposal proceed, in order for it to be reported to the Department of Planning, 

Industry and Environment for a Gateway determination.  

 

Should you require further information or clarification, in relation to this correspondence and the requested 

amendments to the subject Planning Proposal, please don’t hesitate to contact the undersigned. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Daniel Howard 
Principal, Planning 
0412 106 244 
dhoward@ethosurban.com 

 

276



Attachment A7 

Revised Building Envelopes, dated 15 
September 2021

277



TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-00-00
Cover

15/09/21

Green Square Sydney 
Site 8A & 8B
Building Envelope

Sheet Number Sheet Name

PP-01-00 Site Plan

PP-01-01 Building Envelope - Basement

PP-01-02 Building Envelope - Ground

PP-01-03 Building Envelope - Level 1

PP-01-04 Building Envelope - Podium Levels

PP-01-05 Building Envelope - Lower Tower Levels

PP-01-06 Building Envelope – Site 8B Roof Setback Level

PP-01-07 Building Envelope – Upper Tower Levels

PP-01-08 Building Envelope – Site 8A Roof Setback Level

PP-01-09 Building Envelope – Roof Levels

PP-02-01 Building Envelope - Sections

PP-03-01 Building Envelope - North & West Elevation

PP-03-02 Building Envelope - South & East Elevation

PP-04-01 Building Envelope – Massing

PP-05-01 VIA – Botany Road (looking south)

PP-05-02 VIA – Botany Road (looking north)

PP-05-03 VIA - Green Square Plaza (looking south east)

PP-05-04 VIA – Botany Road (through site link)

278



E
B

S
W

O
R

T
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

GEDDES AVENUE

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

GREENSQUARE PLAZA

Site 8A

Site 8B

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

1 : 1000

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-00
Site Plan

15/09/21

279



1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

Site 8A & Site 8B 

Consolidated Basement 

Envelope Area: 3,877m2

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-01
Building Envelope - Basement

15/09/21

280



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

6 m

1.
4 

m

1.
4 

m

Colonnade  setback 

Through 
site link 

Road widening setback

Vehicular Access 

Location

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

N
i l 

 s
e

t b
a

c k
 

6 m

Road widening setback

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01
1

PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-02
Building Envelope - Ground

15/09/21

281



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

6 m

1.
4 

m

1.
4 

m

Colonnade  setback 

Through 
site link 

Road widening setback

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

N
i l 

 s
e

t b
a

c k
 

6 m

Road widening setback

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-03
Building Envelope - Level 1

15/09/21

282



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

6 m

Sky Bridge

Area: 120m2

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

N
i l 

 s
e

t b
a

c k
 

N
il 

 s
et

ba
ck

 

Building 
separation

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,520m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,405m2

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

4 
m

5 
m

R
ec

es
s 

to
 

B
o

ta
n

y 
R

o
a

d
R

e
ce

ss
 to

 
p

ed
e

st
ria

n
 la

n
ew

a
y

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-04
Building Envelope - Podium Levels

15/09/21

283



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

Tower  setback 

6 m

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

Nil  setback Nil  setback 

N
i l 

 s
e

t b
a

c k
 

Building 
separation

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,335m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,405m2

6 m

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

4 
m

5 
m

R
ec

es
s 

to
 

B
o

ta
n

y 
R

o
a

d
R

e
ce

ss
 to

 
p

ed
e

st
ria

n
 la

n
ew

a
y

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-05
Building Envelope - Lower Tower Levels

15/09/21

284



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

Tower  setback 

Nil  setback 

Nil  setback 

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,335m2

6 m

6 m
Building 

separation

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 733m2

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

4.
5 

m

4.
5 

m

6 m 6 m

4.5 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  setback 

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

4 
m

5 
m

R
ec

es
s 

to
 

B
o

ta
n

y 
R

o
a

d
R

e
ce

ss
 to

 
p

ed
e

st
ria

n
 la

n
ew

a
y

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-06
Building Envelope – Site 8B Roof Setback Level

15/09/21

285



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E

Tower  setback 

Nil  setback 

Nil  setback 

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,335m2

6 m

6 m
Building 

separation

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

4.
5 

m

4.
5 

m

6 m 6 m

4.5 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  setback 

Site 8A Roof

RL 90.0

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

Articulation zone to follow DCP 

requirement.

4 
m

5 
m

R
ec

es
s 

to
 

B
o

ta
n

y 
R

o
a

d
R

e
ce

ss
 to

 
p

ed
e

st
ria

n
 la

n
ew

a
y

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-07
Building Envelope – Upper Tower Levels

15/09/21

286



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E6 m

6
 m

6 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  setback 

Tower  setback 

6 m

6 m

Building 
separation

4
 m

5
 m

6
 m

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 575m2

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

4
.5

 m

4
.5

 m

6 m 6 m

4
.5

 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  setback 

Site 8A Roof

RL 90.0

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

R
ec

es
s 

to
 

B
o

ta
n

y 
R

o
a

d
R

e
ce

ss
 to

 
p

ed
e

st
ria

n
 la

n
ew

a
y

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-08
Building Envelope – Site 8A Roof Setback Level

15/09/21

287



BOTANY             ROAD

GREEN   

SQUARE  

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

  
  

  
  

A
V

E
N

U
E6 m

6
 m

6 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  setback 

Tower  setback 

6 m

4
.5

 m

4
.5

 m

6 m 6 m

4
.5

 m

6 m

Building 
separation

6
 m

Roof  setback 

Roof  setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  
setback 

Roof  setback 

Site 8A Roof

RL 115.0

1

PP-02-01

3

PP-02-01

2

PP-02-01

4

PP-02-01

1
PP-03-02

1
PP-03-01

2
PP-03-01 2

PP-03-02

Site 8A Roof

RL 90.0

PEDESTRIAN             LANEWAY

R
ec

es
s 

to
 

B
o

ta
n

y 
R

o
a

d
R

e
ce

ss
 to

 
p

ed
e

st
ria

n
 la

n
ew

a
y

4
 m

5
 m

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-01-09
Building Envelope – Roof Levels

15/09/21

288



RL 52

RL 115

RL 90

RL 24.5 RL 24.5

RL 14.5

100.5m

37.5m

10m 10m

75.5m

10
 m

10
 m

6m 

Tower 
setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

6m 

Roof  
setback 

6m 

Roof  
setback 

6m 

Building
separation

6m 

Colonnad
e setback 

6m 

Through 
site link

Site 8A 

Building Envelope

Site 8B

Building Envelope

S
ky

 B
ri

d
ge

 C
o

n
ne

ct
io

n

G
E

D
D

E
S

 A
V

E
N

U
E

G
R

E
E

N
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 P

LA
Z

A

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

BASEMENT ENVELOPE

RL 55.7

RL 24.5

RL 115

RL 14.5

100.5m

10m

10
 m

4 m 5 m

20 m

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

1.4m 
Road widening 

setback

Through 
site link

Sky Bridge 

Connection
Recess to 

Botany Road
Recess to 
pedestrian 
laneway

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

BASEMENT ENVELOPE

RL 55.7

RL 90

RL 24.5

RL 115

RL 14.5

100.5m

75.5m

10m

10
 m

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

4.5m 
Roof  

setback 

4.5m 
Roof  

setback 

1.4m 
Road widening 

setback

Site 8B

Building Envelope

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

BASEMENT ENVELOPE

RL 115

RL 24.5

RL 14.5

100.5m

10m

10
 m

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

1.4m 
Road widening 

setback

Site 8A 

Building Envelope

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

BASEMENT ENVELOPE

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

4 8 12 16 20

m

401 : 800

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-02-01
Building Envelope - Sections

15/09/21

SCALE: 1 : 800
1

Section 1 - North South

SCALE: 1 : 800
3

Section 3 - East West - Bridge Connection

SCALE: 1 : 800
4

Section 4 - East West - Site 8B

SCALE: 1 : 800
2

Section 2 - East West - Site 8A

LEP Height RL 115 

DCP Height 97.5M 

LEP Height RL 90

DCP Height 72.5M 

LEP Height RL 52

DCP Height 33M 

PAN OPS 

RL 115

10 Storeys RL 55.7

289



RL 14.5

RL 24.5

RL 52

RL 115

RL 90

RL 24.5

100.5m

37.5m

10m 10m

75.5m

G
R

E
E

N
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 P

LA
Z

A

G
E

D
D

E
S

 A
V

E
N

U
E

6m 
Tower 

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Building

separation

6m 
Colonnade 

setback 

6m 
Through 
site link

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

RL 55.7

RL 90

RL 115

RL 52

RL 24.5

RL 14.5

75.5m

100.5m

37.5m

10m

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

1.4m 
Road widening 

setback

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

4 8 12 16 20

m

401 : 800

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-03-01
Building Envelope - North & West Elevation

15/09/21

SCALE: 1 : 800
1

Elevation West

SCALE: 1 : 800
2

Elevation North

PAN OPS 

RL 115

10 Storeys RL 55.7

LEP Height RL 115 

DCP Height 97.5M 

LEP Height RL 90

DCP Height 72.5M 

LEP Height RL 52

DCP Height 33M 

290



RL 90

RL 115

RL 52

RL 24.5RL 24.5

RL 14.5

100.5m

75.5m

37.5m

10m10m

G
R

E
E

N
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 P

LA
Z

A

G
E

D
D

E
S

 A
V

E
N

U
E

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Colonnade 

setback 

6m 
Through 
site link

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

RL 55.7

RL 24.5

RL 90

RL 115

RL 14.5

100.5m

75.5m

37.5m

10m

RL 52

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

6m 
Roof  

setback 

6m
Roof  

setback 

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

4 8 12 16 20

m

401 : 800

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-03-02
Building Envelope - South & East Elevation

15/09/21

SCALE: 1 : 800
1

Elevation East

SCALE: 1 : 800
2

Elevation South

PAN OPS 

RL 115

LEP Height RL 115 

DCP Height 97.5M 

LEP Height RL 90

DCP Height 72.5M 

LEP Height RL 52

DCP Height 33M 

10 Storeys RL 55.7

291



RL 115

RL 90

RL 52RL 24.5

100.5m

37.5m10m

75.5m

RL 24.5

10m

RL 14.5

0m

RL 55.7

RL 115

RL 52

RL 90

RL 24.5

RL 24.5

RL 24.5

100.5m

75.5m

10m

10m

10m

37.5m

0m

RL 14.5

RL 55.7

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-04-01
Building Envelope – Massing

15/09/21

Building Envelope - North East Building Envelope - South West

292



Vehicular Access 

Location

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

VIEW POINT 

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

1 : 1200

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-05-01
VIA – Botany Road (looking south)

15/09/21

Visual Impact Assessment - Botany Road (looking south)

293



Vehicular Access 

Location

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

VIEW POINT 

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

1 : 1200

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-05-02
VIA – Botany Road (looking north)

15/09/21

Visual Impact Assessment - Botany Road (looking north)

294



Vehicular Access 

Location

VIEW POINT 

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

1 : 1200

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-05-03
VIA - Green Square Plaza (looking south east)

15/09/21

Visual Impact Assessment - Green Square Plaza (looking south east)

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

295



Vehicular Access 

Location

Site 8A

Envelope Area: 1,269m2

Site 8B

Envelope Area: 1,340m2

VIEW POINT 

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

1 : 1200

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
PP-05-04
VIA – Botany Road (through site link)

15/09/21

Visual Impact Assessment - VIA – Botany Road (through site link)

296



Attachment A8 

Revised Reference Design, dated 15 
September 2021

297



TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-00-00
Cover

15/09/21

Sheet Number Sheet Name

RD-00-01 Site Plan

RD-01-01 Basement 3

RD-01-02 Basement 2

RD-01-03 Basement 1

RD-01-04 Ground Level

RD-01-05 Level 1

RD-01-06 Levels 2 - 8 (Typical Podium Levels)

RD-01-07 Level 9

RD-01-08 Levels 10 - 16 (Typical High Rise Levels)

RD-01-09 Level 17 (Plant Level)

RD-01-10 Levels 18 - 22 (Typical High Rise Levels)

RD-01-11 Level 23 (Roof Plant)

RD-02-01 Section 1 (North South)

RD-02-02 Section 2,3,4 (East West)

RD-03-01 Stacking Plan & Area Schedule

RD-03-02 Levels 10

Green Square Sydney 
Site 8A & 8B
Reference Design

298



E
B

S
W

O
R

T
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

GEDDES AVENUE

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

GREENSQUARE PLAZA

Site 8A

Site 8B

TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

1 : 1000

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-00-01
Site Plan

15/09/21

299



Generator Bulk Fuel Tanks

Pump Room

Recycled Water 

Tank / Pumps

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Tenant

Store Room

SITE BOUNDARY
SITE BOUNDARY

RL 4.0

1
RD-02-01

Goods Lift 

Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Lift Pitt
Basement 

Lift 1. 

Basement  

Lift 2. 

Tenant

Store Room

Tenant

Store Room

Tenant

Store Room

Goods Lift 

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-01
Basement 3

15/09/21

300



Fire Pump RoomFire Water 

Storage

Goods Lift 

Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Lift Pitt
Basement 

Lift 1. 

Basement  

Lift 2. 

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Tenant

Store Room

Tenant

Store Room

Tenant

Store Room

Tenant

Store Room

RL 7.0

SITE BOUNDARY
SITE BOUNDARY

Goods Lift 

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-02
Basement 2

15/09/21

1
RD-02-01

301



Loading Zone

Bike ParkingEOTF Male

Substation

Grease Arrestor

Heat 

Pump

Water Storage Tank / 

Cold Water Pumps

EOTF Female

Goods Lift 

Lift Pitt Lift Pitt Lift Pitt

Bicycle 

Ramp

Waste 

RoomBasement 

Lift 1. 

Basement  

Lift 2. 

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Waste 

Room

RL 10.0

SITE BOUNDARY
SITE BOUNDARY

Basement 

Lift 1. 

Basement  

Lift 2. 

Grease Arrestor

DAS

Vehicular 

Ramp

Waste RoomsLift Pitt Lift Pitt

Goods Lift 

Main Switchroom 

Site 8b

Main Switchroom 

Site 8a

Services

Waste 

Room
Waste Rooms

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-03
Basement 1

15/09/21

1
RD-02-01

302



BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 

SQUARE 

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

A
V

E
N

U
E

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Retail Tenancy

Retail 
Tenancy

Lobby Retail Cafe
Lobby Entry

6 m

6 m

Colonnade Setback 

Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

Vehicular 

Ramp

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

RL 14.4RL 13.6

RL 14.3 RL 14.7

RL 15.1

RL 15.7

RL 14.5

RL 14.5

RL 14.6

RL 14.7

RL 14.7 RL 14.9

RL 15.2

RL 14.5

PEDESTRIAN  LANEWAY Retractable 
Awning Above

High Rise 

Lift 1.
Low Rise 

Lift 5.

Low Rise 

Lift 6.

Low Rise 

Lift 7.

Low Rise 

Lift 10.

Low Rise 

Lift 9.

Low Rise 

Lift 8.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

Goods Lift 

Basement 

Lift 1. 

Basement  

Lift 2. 

Bicycle 

Ramp

Lobby Entry

Goods 

Lift 

High Rise 

Lift 11.

High Rise 

Lift 12.

High Rise 

Lift 13.

GFA: 964m2

GFA: 735m2

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-04
Ground Level

15/09/21

1
RD-02-01

303



BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 

SQUARE 

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

A
V

E
N

U
E

6 m

6 m

1
.4

 m

1
.4

 m

Colonnade Setback 

Through site link 

Road widening 
setback

Road widening 
setback

Mixed Use / Co-Working

Void above lobby

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

PEDESTRIAN  LANEWAY Retractable 
Awning Above

1

SK-0001

1

SS-0002

2

SS-0002

3

SS-0002

Low Rise 

Lift 5.

Low Rise 

Lift 6.

Low Rise 

Lift 7.

Low Rise 

Lift 10.

Low Rise 

Lift 9.

Low Rise 

Lift 8.

Goods Lift 

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 11.

High Rise 

Lift 12.

High Rise 

Lift 13.

Goods Lift 

Basement 

Lift 2.

Basement 

Lift 1.

GFA: 573m2

NLA: 514m2

GFA: 1201m2

NLA: 1147m2

Mixed Use / Co-Working

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-05
Level 1

15/09/21

1
RD-02-01

304



BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 

SQUARE 

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

A
V

E
N

U
E

6 m

GFA: 2593m2

NLA: 2459m2

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

N
il 

 S
et

ba
ck

 

Building 
Separation

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000

13
70

0
12

39
0

PEDESTRIAN  LANEWAY

Workplace

Low Rise 

Lift 5.

Low Rise 

Lift 6.

Low Rise 

Lift 7.

Low Rise 

Lift 10.

Low Rise 

Lift 9.

Low Rise 

Lift 8.

Goods Lift 

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 11.

High Rise 

Lift 12.

High Rise 

Lift 13.

Goods Lift 

6 m
Building 

Separation

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-06
Levels 2 - 8 (Typical Podium Levels)

15/09/21

1
RD-02-01

305



2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 

SQUARE 

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

A
V

E
N

U
E

Tower  Setback 

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

N
il 

 S
et

ba
ck

 

9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000

13
70

0
12

39
0

6 m

PEDESTRIAN  LANEWAY

GFA: 2414m2

NLA: 2280m2

Workplace

Low Rise 

Lift 5.

Low Rise 

Lift 6.

Low Rise 

Lift 7.

Low Rise 

Lift 10.

Low Rise 

Lift 9.

Low Rise 

Lift 8.

Goods Lift 

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 11.

High Rise 

Lift 12.

High Rise 

Lift 13.

Goods Lift 

6 m
Building 

Separation

6 m
Building 

Separation

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-07
Level 9

15/09/21

1
RD-02-01

306



BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 

SQUARE 

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

A
V

E
N

U
E

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

N
il 

 S
et

ba
ck

 

9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000 9000

13
70

0
12

39
0

Tower  Setback 

6 m

PEDESTRIAN  LANEWAY

GFA: 1116m2

NLA: 1020m2

Workplace

GFA: 1257m2

NLA: 1164m2

Workplace

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

Goods Lift 

High Rise 

Lift 11.

High Rise 

Lift 12.

High Rise 

Lift 13.

Goods Lift 

6 m
Building 

Separation

6 m

Building 
Separation

6 m

6 m

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-08
Levels 10 - 16 (Typical High Rise Levels)

15/09/21

1
RD-02-01

307



BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 

SQUARE 

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

A
V

E
N

U
E

6 m

4
.5

 m

4
.5

 m

6 m

Plant Room

Plant Room

Roof Terrace

Roof Terrace

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e

t b
a

ck
 

N
il 

 S
et

ba
ck

 

Tower  Setback 

6 m

PEDESTRIAN  LANEWAY

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 3.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

Goods Lift 

Goods Lift 

Building 
Separation

Building 
Separation

6 m

6 m

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-09
Level 17 (Plant Level)

15/09/21

1
RD-02-01

308



BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 

SQUARE 

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

A
V

E
N

U
E

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
et

ba
ck

 

9000 9000 9000 9000

13
70

0
12

39
0

Site 8B Roof

Tower  Setback 

6 m

PEDESTRIAN  LANEWAY

GFA: 1116m2

NLA: 1020m2

Workplace

High Rise 

Lift 1.

High Rise 

Lift 4.

High Rise 

Lift 2.

High Rise 

Lift 5.

Goods Lift 

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-10
Levels 18 - 22 (Typical High Rise Levels)

15/09/21

1
RD-02-01

309



BOTANY  ROAD

GREEN 

SQUARE 

PLAZA

G
E

D
D

E
S

A
V

E
N

U
E

6
 m

6 m
Plant Room

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Roof  Setback 

Tower  Setback 

Goods Lift 

6
 m

6 m

6 m

2

RD-02-02

3

RD-02-02

4

RD-02-02

Nil  Setback 

Nil  Setback 

N
il 

 S
e
tb

a
c
k
 

9000 9000 9000 9000

1
37

00
1
23

90

Site 8B Roof

PEDESTRIAN  LANEWAY

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2 4 6 8 10

m

201 : 400

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-01-11
Level 23 (Roof Plant)

15/09/21

1
RD-02-01

310



Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Plant Room

Outdoor 
Breakout

Lobby / Retail

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

Plant Room

Plant Room

High Rise 

Lifts

Goods 

Lifts

Basement 

Lifts

Outdoor 
Breakout

Outdoor 
Breakout

High Rise 

Lifts

Low Rise 

Lifts

Retail

Mixed Use / Retail

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

RL 52.0

RL 90.0

RL 115.0

RL 90.0

RL 115.0

Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

Podium Height Limit

6m 
Tower 

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

10m 
high through 

site link 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Building

Separation

EOTF 

G
E

D
D

E
S

 A
V

E
N

U
E

G
R

E
E

N
 S

Q
A

U
R

E
 P

LA
Z

A

LMR

LMR

High Rise 

Lifts

Goods 

Lifts

Low Rise 

Lifts

10 Storeys
RL 55.7

10 Storeys
RL 55.7

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2.5 5 7.5 10 12.5

m

251 : 600

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-02-01
Section 1 (North South)

15/09/21

LEP Height RL 115 

DCP Height 97.5M

LEP Height RL 90

DCP Height 72.5M

LEP Height RL 52

DCP Height 33M 

PAN OPS RL 115

311



Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

RL 90.0

RL 115.0
Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

LMRPlant Room

LMR

Plant Room

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

6m 
Roof  

Setback 

Co-Working

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

10 Storeys

RL 55.7

Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

RL 90.0

RL 115.0
Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

Bridge Link

4m 
Bridge 
Recess 

5m 
Bridge 
Recess 

10m Through 
Site Link Height

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

Wind mitigation measures may be 
required in this location, which will be the 
subject of more detailed design/technical 
testing ahead of finalising the architectural 
design competition brief together with the 
City of Sydney.

10 Storeys

RL 55.7

Ground

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

Level 10

Level 11

Level 12

Level 13

Level 14

Level 15

Level 16

Level 17

Level 18

Level 19

Level 20

Level 21

Level 22

Level 23

Roof

Basement 1

Basement 2

Basement 3

45
00

30
00

30
00

RL 20.0

RL 14.5

RL 10.0

RL 7.0

RL 4.0

48
00

55
00

38
00

72
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

70
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

38
00

RL 24.8

RL 28.6

RL 32.4

RL 36.2

RL 40.0

RL 43.8

RL 47.6

RL 51.4

RL 55.2

RL 59.0

RL 62.8

RL 66.6

RL 70.4

RL 74.2

RL 78.0

RL 81.8

RL 88.8

RL 92.6

RL 96.4

RL 100.2

RL 104.0

RL 107.8

RL 115.0

Parking 

Parking 

Loading / Plant

RL 90.0

RL 115.0
Site 8A Height Limit

Site 8B Height Limit

4.5m 
Roof  

Setback 

4.5m 
Roof  

Setback 

Plant Room

Mixed Use / Retail

Retail Retail

B
O

T
A

N
Y

 R
O

A
D

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

A
N

E
W

A
Y

10 Storeys

RL 55.7

0
TM

Drawing:
Drawing no:
Issue:
Scale @ A3:
Date:

Architectus Sydney
Level 18 MLC Centre
19 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@architectus.com.au

2.5 5 7.5 10 12.5

m

251 : 600

Green Square Site 8A & 8B
RD-02-02
Section 2,3,4 (East West)

15/09/21

SCALE: 1 : 600
2

Complying DCP - Section 2

SCALE: 1 : 600
3

Complying DCP - Section 3

SCALE: 1 : 600
4

Complying DCP - Section 4

LEP Height RL 115 

DCP Height 97.5M

LEP Height RL 90

DCP Height 72.5M

PAN OPS RL 115

312



Attachment B 

Draft Green Square Town Centre 

Development Control Plan 2012 

Amendment 

Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 

Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, 

Zetland 

 

313



 

 

Draft Green Square Town Centre 
Development Control Plan: 377 - 495 
Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, 
Zetland 

 

Draft DCP 
October 2021 

 
 

314



Draft Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A 
Bourke Street, Zetland 

2 

The purpose of the Development Control Plan 
This Draft Development Control Plan (draft DCP) is to amend the Green Square Town Centre 

Development Control Plan 2012 (Town Centre DCP). 

The purpose of the draft DCP is to align the Town Centre DCP provisions with proposed 

amendments to the Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 (Town 

Centre LEP) as it applies to 377-495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland.  

In summary, the draft DCP will: 

 continue to identify a through site link between the buildings on the Botany Road site (from 

Botany Road to Hinchcliffe Street), 10 metres in height (the first 2 storeys);  

 limit the length of the sky bridge on the Botany Road site to 20 metres, measured from Botany 

Road to Hinchcliffe Street, and the height of the sky bridge to below level 10 of the building; and 

 amend key figures in the Town Centred DCP to facilitate a wider range of uses on the first two 

storeys on the Botany Road site. 

This draft DCP is to be read in conjunction with Planning Proposal: Green Square Town Centre: 

377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland. 

Citation 
This amendment may be referred to as Draft Green Square Town Centre Development Control 

Plan: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland. 

Land covered by this plan 
This plan applies to the Green Square Town Centre, specifically 377-495 Botany Road and 960A 

Bourke Street, Zetland.  

Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 
This plan amends the Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan 2013 in the manner 

set out in below. 

Amendment to Green Square Town Centre Development 
Control Plan 2012 
Amend Section 3 and Section 4 in accordance with Appendix 1. 

 

 

315



Draft Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A 
Bourke Street, Zetland 

3 

Appendix 1 
(a) Amend provision GSTC 3.3.5(10) as follows: 

… 

(10) Between sites 8A and 8B, a 3m 20m wide long (from Botany Road to the Hinchcliffe Street 
frontage) fully clear glazed sky bridge may connect the development sites between level 2 and 

level 10 inclusive. The sky bridge must be positioned greater than 10m above ground level. from 

10m above ground level up to (but not including) level 10.  

 

  

316



Draft Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A 
Bourke Street, Zetland 

4 

 

(b) Amend Figure 3.2.7 as circled in red below: 

 

 

Figure 3.2.7: Through site links and arcades  

317



Draft Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A 
Bourke Street, Zetland 

5 

(c) Amend Section 4.1 as follows: 

4.1 Location of desired activities 

… 

(7) Development in the areas designated “Retail or commercial” in Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2: Land 

use can be for any combination of these uses, and is to be designed to be adaptable, with a 

minimum floor to ceiling height of 3.0m.  

(8) Development on development site 7 is to include floor space that can be later adapted to 

a cinema.   

(9) (8) Retail/commercial uses are to be provided on the first floor to screen above ground level car 
parking in podium levels, and provide commercial space in the first phase of development of the 
Green Square Town Centre.  
(10) (9) Above ground level car parking is to be designed in accordance with Figure 4.1, Figure 
4.2: and 4.3:Land use, to be able to be adaptable to habitable uses once the public transport 
services are realised and improved.  

318



Draft Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A 
Bourke Street, Zetland 

6 

(d) Amend Figure 4.2 as circled in red below: 

 

 

319



Draft Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A 
Bourke Street, Zetland 

7 

 
 

 

 

 

 

320



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Traffic Treatment - Proposed Permanent Partial Road Closure - Spring Street, 
Sydney 

File No: S122295.005 

Summary 

This report recommends that Council approve the permanent closure of Spring Street for 
traffic entering from Pitt Street, as part of the Pitt Street North Walking and Cycling 
Improvements project. 

Spring Street is currently operating under the recommended arrangements as a result of the 
pop-up cycleway in Pitt Street. Spring Street was previously open to traffic under left in and 
left out arrangements. 

To improve cyclist and pedestrian access and safety at the intersection of Pitt and Spring 
Streets, it is proposed to permanently close access into Spring Street for traffic entering from 
Pitt Street. Vehicles will however still be able to exit Spring Street on to Pitt Street. 

The Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee (LPCTCC) endorsed the 
proposal in its meeting on 19 August 2021. 

In compliance with Section 116 of the Roads Act 1993, the City consulted local residents 
and businesses in the area. The closure was included in consultation on the broader Pitt 
Street North cycleway. There were 2,920 letters sent out and advertisement on the Sydney 
Your Say website and in the Sydney Cycleways newsletter. The Sydney Your Say page was 
created and visited 501 times during the consultation period. The plan was downloaded 257 
times. There were no concerns raised over the Spring Street proposal. 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that Council approve the permanent closure of Spring Street for traffic entering 
from Pitt Street, as part of the Pitt Street North Walking and Cycling Improvements project. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Location Plan and Proposal  

1

Item 4.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Background 

1. In May 2021, Council approved the concept design and estimated costs of the Pitt 
Street North Walking and Cycling Improvements project, which includes the closure of 
Spring Street to incoming traffic from Pitt Street. 

2. The proposal is to improve safety pedestrian, cycling and vehicle safety between Bond 
Street and Spring Street. 

3. The proposal was endorsed by the Local Pedestrian Cycling Traffic Calming 
Committee (LPCTCC) on 19 August 2021. 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

4. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This report is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling - the proposal will considerably 
improve pedestrian safety and accessibility, particularly in an area of high 
demand, and is consistent with the aspirations of City’s Walking Strategy. 

Financial Implications 

5. All costs associated with the proposal will be funded from budget allocations from the 
Pitt Street North Cycleway Project. 

Relevant Legislation 

6. Transport for New South Wales (TfNSW) is responsible for the control of traffic on all 
NSW roads and has delegated to Council certain functions to regulate traffic on local 
roads. 

7. The delegation gives Council authority to approve certain traffic controls, including 
partial road closure, under Part 8, Division 2 of the Roads Act 1993. This delegation 
can only be exercised by the elected Council and is subject to a number of conditions 
and limitations, including the need to obtain the advice of the Local Pedestrian, Cycling 
and Traffic Calming Committee and receive 'in-principal' approval from Transport for 
New South Wales. 

8. This report seeks to formalise the permanent closure of entry traffic lane of Spring 
Street at Pitt Street, in accordance with Section 116 of the Roads Act 1993.  

2



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

Public Consultation 

9. In compliance with Section 116 of the Roads Act 1993, the road closure was included 
in the City's consultation with local residents and businesses on the broader cycleway 
and pedestrian improvements project.  

10. 2,920 letters were sent out and advertisements were placed on the Sydney Your Say 
website and in the Sydney Cycleways newsletter. The Sydney Your Say page was 
visited 501 times during the consultation period. The plan was downloaded 257 times.  

11. No specific concerns were raised over the proposed closure of Spring Street.  

AMIT CHANAN 

Director City Projects and Properties 

Satwinder Saini, Project Manager 

3



Attachment A 

Location Plan and Proposal 

 

  

 

4



C
H
 
3
9
0

C
H
 
4
0
0

C
H
 
4
10

C
H
 
4
2
0

C
H
 
4
3
0

C
H
 
4
4
0

C
H
 
4
5
0

C
H
 
4
6
0

A1

DATE

DESCRIPTIONREV DATE DRAWN CHKD

REV DRN CHKD APPDDRAWING No.

GENERAL NOTES

SCALE

5.   THESE DRAWINGS ARE TO BE PRINTED IN COLOUR

      ALL DAMAGE TO EXISTING WORKS CAUSED BY THE ACTIVITY OF THESE WORKS.

4.   LOCATE AND PROTECT ALL UNDERGROUND SERVICES PRIOR TO ANY EXCAVATION. MAKE GOOD

      ENGINEERING DOCUMENTS.

3.   THESE DRAWINGS ARE TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE DETAILS, SPECIFICATIONS AND

2.   ANY DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED IMMEDIATELY TO THE SUPERINTENDENT.

1.   DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS.  FIGURED DIMENSIONS HAVE PREFERENCE OVER SCALED DIMENSIONS.

REVISIONS PROJECT

CLIENT

www.tract.com.auP: 02 9954 3733
Level 8/80 Mount Street North Sydney N.S.W. 2060

PTY. LTD.

CONSULTANTS TRACT of permission written the without part, in or wholly copied, or reproduced used, be not must and 

LTD. PTY. CONSULTANTS TRACT of property the are therein copyright the and specifications and plans designs, These 

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTIONPRELIMINARY 08.04.2021

220-0060-01-L-DR306

C
O

N
T
IN

U
E

S
 O

N
 D

R
3
0
5

C
O

N
T
IN

U
E

S
 O

N
 D

R
3
0
7

26.04.2021

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

0 LH

GENERAL ARRANGEMENT PLAN

LL

AR LH7 LH

SHEET 7 OF 12

SCALE  1:100 @ A1

0 1 2 5m

PROGRESS PRINT

PROGRESS PRINT 19.05.2051 LHLL

PROGRESS PRINT 07.06.2021 L.H.J.O.

CITY OF SYDNEY

PITT STREET CYCLEWAY

100% DESIGN DEVELOPMENT 17.06.2021 L.H.J.O.

ISSUE FOR REVIEW 25.06.2021 LHLL

80% DETAILED DESIGN 02.07.2021 L.H.J.O.

TRAFFIC COMMITTEE ISSUE - FOR APPROVAL 23.07.2021 L.H.J.O.

ISSUE FOR TENDER 26.08.2021 LHLL

(.2, 5, 9)

(.3, 12, 15) (.2, 12, 15) (.3, 12, 15) (.3, 12, 15)

(.3, 12, 15)

HOTAL SYDNEY

RADISSON BLU PLAZA 

64-66  PITT STREET

PITT STREET

87-95

SPRING STREET

16

SPRING STREET

10

KB 8.64

KB 8.50

KB 8.26

KB 7.91

KB 7.74

KB 7.74

K
B
 7
.6
1

K
B
 7
.6
5

K
B
 7
.6
7

K
B
 7
.7
1

K
B
 7
.8
1

K
B
 7
.8
6

KB 7.92

KB 7.86

KB 7.82

KB 7.76

KB 7.69

KB 7.64

KB 7.54

KB 7.66

KB 7.85

KB 7.92

KB 7.98

KB 8.01

KB 8.01

KB 8.00

KB 7.96

FI 7.08

FI 7.71

FI 7.67

FI 7.63

FI 7.60

FI 7.55

FI 7.52

FI 7.48

FI 7.53

FI 7.52
FI 7.71

FI 7.80

FI 7.89

FI 8.03

FI 8.17
FI 8.53

FI 7.17

FI 7.29

FI 7.35

FI 7.45

FI 7.48

FI 7.52
FI 7.65

FI 8.19

FI 8.20

FI 8.27

FI 8.33

KB 8.46

KB 8.41

KB 8.35

KB 8.30

K
B
 7.93

KB 7.67

KB 7.80

KB 7.50

KB 7.59

KB 7.63
KB 7.30

KB 7.42

7.24

7.38
7.33

7.46

7.60

7.66
7.63

8.20

7.94

7.78

8.56

8.36

7.27

7.32
7.34

7.40

7.25
7.24

7.21
7.18

7.25

7.41

7.48

7.58
7.667.797.97

8.518.528.52

8.52
8.35

8.20

8.11

8.11

7.91

7.78

7.68
7.60

7.53 7.407.407.40

7.54
7.62

7.70
7.797.928.12

8.11

7.30
7.32

7.47

7.54

7.63
7.727.868.04

8.14
8.30

8.46

8.24
7.97

8.19

8.07
8.24

8.18

8.38
8.38

FI 7.93

FI 8.07

FI 8.08

K
B
 8.05

KB 8.07

K
B
 8.22

6.88

7.12

7.16

7.21

FI 7.14

FI 7.14

FI 7.05

FI 6.78

KB 7.27

KB 7.30

KB 7.18

KB 6.92

7.32

7.37

KB 6.89

KB 7.17

KB 7.08

F
I 6
.7
6

F
I 7
.0
3

F
I 7
.0
8

7.30
7.24 7.22

7
.7
9

7
.7
7

7
.9

1

7
.8
9

K
B
 7
.8
8

K
B
 7
.9

0

K
B
 8
.0
0

FI 7.74

FI 7.78

FI 7.88

8.10

7.98

7.88

8.13

7.99

7.94

7.91

7.82

7.75

7.73

7.70

7.67

7.64
7.66

7.64

7.53

FI 7.86

FI 7.73

FI 7.63

FI 7.23

FI 7.17

KB 7.99

KB 7.87

KB 7.76

KB 7.36

KB 7.32

7.52

7.64

8.02

7.90

7.80

7.84

7.61

7.70

7.38

7.52

7.24

7.32

7.33

7.45

7.38

7.15

6.97
6.97

FI 8.10

KB 8.27

8.36

8.38

8.17

8.21

8.18

7.22

7.20

7.82

7.83

7.68

7.78

K
B
 8
.2
0

FI 8.06

PM

PM

PM

PM

PM

PM

PM
PM

EMH

WH

WH

WH

WH
WH

WH
WHWH

WH

WH
WH

WH

WH

T
E
L
S
T

R
A

T
U

N
N
E
L

P
IT
 L
ID

T
E
L
E
P

H
O

N
E

C
A

B
IN

E
T

(.2
, 5
, 9
)

(.3
, 12
, 15

)

(.2
, 12
, 15

)

(.3
, 12
, 15

)

(.3
, 12
, 15

)

(.3
, 12
, 15

)

EP

EP

EP

EP EP
EP

EP

EP

EP EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

EPEP

EP

EP

EP

EP

8
.0
0

7
.2
5

7.50

7
.7
58
.2
5

8
.5
0

TS

TS

TS

TS

TS

TS
TS

TS

TS

TS

TS

TS

TS
TS

TS

TS

TS

TS

TS

TS

TS

TS

TS

TS

TS

DP
DP

DP

DP

DP

DP

DP

DP

EC

EC

GRASS FOOTPATH
GRASS FOOTPATH

TS

DP

TS

G
A

R
D
E

N
 B
ID

S
T

A
IR

S

EP

SEA
T

B
O

N
D

 
S

T

C
U

R
T

I
N

 
P

L

S
P

R
I

N
G
 

S
T

PITT STREET

87-95

SPRING STREET

16

SPRING STREET

10

PHXA 27
PHXA 56

PHXA 28

LIMU 47

LIMU 173
LIMU 179

LIMIT OF WORKS

LIMIT OF WORKS

P103

P104 P105

P106

P107

P109

P110

P111 P112 P113

P112

P114 P115 P116 P117

P118

P119

P120

P122

P124

P125

P126 P127

P128

P130

P129 P137

P132

P134

P135

P139

P131

P107
P108

P121

P123

B
O

N
D

 
S

T

C
U

R
T

I
N

 
P

L

S
P

R
I

N
G
 

S
T

1
1
.1

m

CONTINUE BEHIND PLANTING BLISTER

EXISTING KERB AND GUTTER 

 REFER DETAILS

NEW PAVED KERB RAMP.

 REFER DETAILS

NEW PAVED KERB RAMP.

CYCLEWAY WIDTH TRANSITION FROM 2.6m TO 2.8m

2
.6

m 2
.8

m

MARKING PACKAGE

REFER SIGNAGE AND LINE 

REFER DETAIL

CONCRETE PAD. 

MOUNT TO 

FIXING TO BASE AND 

BLOCK. PROVIDE 

EXISTING CONCRETE 

SIDES OF RAISED KERB

LINE MARKING TO BOTH 

PROVIDE WHITE PAINTED 

STONE BARRIER KERB

NEW PLANTING BED WITHIN 

5



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

 

Approved Variations to Development Standards Reported to the Department of 
Planning, Industry and Environment 

File No: S040864 

Summary 

This report is to inform Council of development applications determined where there has 
been a variation in standards under Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
2012 in the last quarter. 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that the subject report be received and noted.  

Attachments 

Attachment A. Variations Approved and Reported to the Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment for the Period 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021. 

  

1

Item 5.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. On 24 June 2004 the Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) delegated authority 
to the City of Sydney for the determination of development applications involving a 
variation to a development standard and costing less than $50 million.  

2. In accordance with planning circular PS 08-014 the City of Sydney is required to 
submit to the department a quarterly report of variations approved. A copy of this 
submission has been provided to the Central Sydney Planning Committee on a 
quarterly basis since October 2008.  

3. The City also maintains a publicly available register of all variations to development in 
accordance with the above circular. 

4. Planning Circular PS 20-002 requires that a quarterly report of variations approved 
under delegation from Council is also to be provided to a meeting of Council.  

5. Thirty-three applications were approved where there has been a variation to 
development standards during the period 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021.  

Relevant Legislation 

6. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

7. City of Sydney Act 1988. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

James Farrar, Information and Systems Officer 

2



Attachment A 

Variations Approved by Council and 

Reported to the Department of Planning 

and Environment for the Period 1 April 2021 

to 30 June 2021 

 

3



DA Number No 
Street 
name 

Suburb 
Zoning of 
land 

Development 
standard to 
be varied 

Extent of 
variation 

Type of 
development 

Justification of variation 
Date 
Determined 

RD/2020/941/A 277 
Glebe Point 
Road 

GLEBE 
R1 General 
Residential 

FSR 37% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

Proposal does not include habitable floor 
space, no intensification of the site. 

8/06/2021 

D/2020/1158 119 
Redfern 
Street 

REDFERN 
B2 Local 
Centre 

Height 13.83% 
12: Community 
facility 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

28/04/2021 

D/2020/1088 42 
Parramatta 
Road 

FOREST LODGE 
B7 Business 
Park 

FSR 13.33% 
13: Subdivision 
only 

Sufficient environmental planning grounds, 
compliance with FSR objectives and B7 
Business Zone objectives 

9/06/2021 

D/2020/1060 94 
Wilson 
Street 

NEWTOWN 
R1 General 
Residential 

FSR 9% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

5/05/2021 

D/2020/1308 189 Phillip Street WATERLOO 
R1 General 
Residential 

FSR 3.5% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

6/04/2021 

D/2020/1369 71 
Womerah 
Avenue 

DARLINGHURST 
R1 General 
Residential 

Height 44% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

16/04/2021 

D/2021/148 17 
Arcadia 
Road 

GLEBE 
R1 General 
Residential 

Height 4% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

15/06/2021 

D/2021/152 9 
Linthorpe 
Street 

NEWTOWN 
R1 General 
Residential 

Height 52.5% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

10/06/2021 

D/2021/170 520 
Crown 
Street 

SURRY HILLS 
R1 General 
Residential 

Height 29.1% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

16/04/2021 

D/2021/189 13 
Bayswater 
Road 

POTTS POINT 
B2 Local 
Centre 

Height & FSR 
60.1%, 
30.1% 

1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

30/06/2021 

4



DA Number No 
Street 
name 

Suburb 
Zoning of 
land 

Development 
standard to 
be varied 

Extent of 
variation 

Type of 
development 

Justification of variation 
Date 
Determined 

D/2021/193 130 
Wellington 
Street 

WATERLOO 
B4 Mixed 
Use 

FSR 5.42% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

11/06/2021 

D/2021/234 12 
Wigram 
Road 

GLEBE 
R1 General 
Residential 

Height 1.6% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

20/05/2021 

D/2021/278 82 
Darlinghurst 
Road 

POTTS POINT 
B2 Local 
Centre 

Height 19.6% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

2/06/2021 

D/2021/280 16 
Nichols 
Street 

SURRY HILLS 
B4 Mixed 
Use 

FSR 2% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

4/06/2021 

D/2021/320 200 
Goulburn 
Street 

SURRY HILLS 
B4 Mixed 
Use 

FSR 0.32% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

26/05/2021 

D/2021/328 1 
Missenden 
Road 

CAMPERDOWN 
B4 Mixed 
Use 

FSR 33.7% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

17/05/2021 

D/2021/95 13 
Bucknell 
Street 

NEWTOWN 
R1 General 
Residential 

Height 1.7% 
1: Residential - 
Alterations & 
additions 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

3/05/2021 

D/2020/1247 227 
Queen 
Street 

BEACONSFIELD 
R1 General 
Residential 

Height 3.58% 
4: Residential - 
New multi unit 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

22/06/2021 

D/2020/1029 131 
Botany 
Road 

WATERLOO 
B4 Mixed 
Use 

Motorcycle 
parking 

100% 
6: Residential - 
Other 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

7/04/2021 

D/2020/1090 180 
Church 
Street 

NEWTOWN 
B4 Mixed 
Use 

Motorcycle 
parking 

100% 
6: Residential - 
Other 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

7/04/2021 

5



DA Number No 
Street 
name 

Suburb 
Zoning of 
land 

Development 
standard to 
be varied 

Extent of 
variation 

Type of 
development 

Justification of variation 
Date 
Determined 

D/2020/873 18 City Road CHIPPENDALE 
B4 Mixed 
Use 

Motorcycle 
parking, 
Height 

100%, 
21.6% 

6: Residential - 
Other 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

7/04/2021 

D/2020/1178 117 
Flinders 
Street 

SURRY HILLS 
B4 Mixed 
Use 

Height 23.06% 
8: Commercial / 
retail / office 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

19/05/2021 

D/2020/1187 161 
Castlereagh 
Street 

SYDNEY 
B8 
Metropolitan 
Centre 

FSR 19% 
8: Commercial / 
retail / office 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

25/05/2021 

D/2020/1191 161 
Castlereagh 
Street 

SYDNEY 
B8 
Metropolitan 
Centre 

FSR 18.50% 
8: Commercial / 
retail / office 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

25/05/2021 

D/2020/1394 233 Riley Street SURRY HILLS 
B4 Mixed 
Use 

Motorcycle 
parking, 
Height 

100%, 
9.2% 

6: Residential - 
Other 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

19/05/2021 

D/2020/1413 3 
Danks 
Street 

WATERLOO 
B2 Local 
Centre 

FSR 3.9% 
8: Commercial / 
retail / office 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 

25/05/2021 

D/2020/1444               135 King Street SYDNEY 

B8 
Metropolitan 
Centre FSR 0.0% 

 8: Commercial / 
retail / office 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 26/04/2021 

D/2020/968                239 
Abercrombie 
Street DARLINGTON 

B4 Mixed 
Use Height 9.4% 

 8: Commercial / 
retail / office 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 26/04/2021 

D/2021/195                1 
Swanson 
Street ERSKINEVILLE 

B1 
Neighbourho
od Centre FSR 21.7% 

 8: Commercial / 
retail / office 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 26/05/2021 

D/2021/242                52 
Waterloo 
Street SURRY HILLS 

B4 Mixed 
Use FSR 22.0% 

 8: Commercial / 
retail / office 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 30/06/2021 

D/2021/331                135 King Street SYDNEY 

B8 
Metropolitan 
Centre FSR 0.1% 

 8: Commercial / 
retail / office 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 27/04/2021 

6



DA Number No 
Street 
name 

Suburb 
Zoning of 
land 

Development 
standard to 
be varied 

Extent of 
variation 

Type of 
development 

Justification of variation 
Date 
Determined 

D/2021/412                18 
Queen 
Street CHIPPENDALE 

B4 Mixed 
Use FSR 18.9% 

 8: Commercial / 
retail / office 

The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 25/06/2021 

D/2020/549                12 
Rothschild 
Avenue ROSEBERY 

B4 Mixed 
Use Height 4.3% 

 9: Mixed 
The proposal is considered not to have 
unreasonable impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining properties or the street scape 3/05/2021 

 

7



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

 

Fire Safety Reports 

File No: S105001.002 

Summary 

The City of Sydney regularly receives building reports from Fire and Rescue NSW in relation 
to inspections carried out by Fire and Rescue NSW Authorised Officers. These inspection 
reports are to be reported to Council and Council is required to determine whether to 
exercise its power to issue fire safety orders under Division 9.3 and Schedule 5 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act).  

In response to Fire and Rescue NSW reports City staff undertake inspections to ensure fire 
safety measures are in full operation and that building exits are clear and unimpeded. Fire 
and Rescue NSW inspections revealed fire safety concerns that require Council as the 
appropriate regulatory authority to use its discretion and address the concerns observed at 
the time of the inspection. 

Fire and Rescue NSW has powers under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 (the Act) to carry out inspections of buildings and it is required to forward its findings to 
the City. 

Fire and Rescue NSW reports received by the City are required to be tabled before Council. 
Attached are details of the reports received by the City from Fire and Rescue NSW. The 
attachments deal with five properties and includes the Fire and Rescue NSW reports and the 
findings (preliminary or final) by the City’s Officer, along with other documentation relevant to 
that property. 

Recommendations are made in the attachment setting out the most appropriate action in the 
circumstances. 

  

1

Item 6.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) note the contents of the Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet, as shown at Attachment 
A to the subject report; 

(B) note the inspection reports by Fire and Rescue NSW, as shown at Attachments B to F 
of the subject report; 

(C) not exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 at this time but note the compliance action as 
recommended by the City's Investigation Officer at 118 Flinders Street, Darlinghurst as 
detailed in Attachment B to the subject report; 

(D) not exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 at this time but note the compliance action as 
recommended by the City's Investigation Officer at 16-28 Foster Street, Surry Hills as 
detailed in Attachment C to the subject report; 

(E) not exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 at this time but note the compliance action as 
recommended by the City's Investigation Officer at 231 Oxford Street, Darlinghurst as 
detailed in Attachment D to the subject report; 

(F) not exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 at this time but note the compliance action as 
recommended by the City's Investigation Officer at 83 Harbour Street, Haymarket as 
detailed in Attachment E to the subject report; and 

(G) not exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 at this time but note the compliance action as 
recommended by the City's Investigation Officer at 11 Smail Street, Ultimo as detailed 
in Attachment F to the subject report. 

 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet 

Attachment B. Inspection Report - 118 Flinders Street, Darlinghurst 

Attachment C. Inspection Report - 16-28 Foster Street, Surry Hills 

Attachment D. Inspection Report - 231 Oxford Street, Darlinghurst 

Attachment E. Inspection Report - 83 Harbour Street, Haymarket 

Attachment F. Inspection Report - 11 Smail Street, Ultimo  

2



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 11 October 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. The City receives inspection reports and recommendations from Fire and Rescue 
NSW in relation to inspections carried out on buildings located within the City's local 
government area. 

2. Under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, (the Act), Fire and 
Rescue NSW has the power to carry out inspections of buildings to determine if the 
building has adequate provision for fire safety and/or is compliant with legislation. 

3. On average, the City receives approximately 50 such reports each year. They can be 
prompted by reports from the Police or others who have a concern relating to fire 
safety in a building.  

4. The inspections were undertaken to ensure fire safety measures were in full operation 
and that building exits were clear and unimpeded. 

5. When Fire and Rescue NSW carries out such an inspection, a report and any 
recommendations must be provided to the City. 

6. Under the Act, Council is then required to table the report and make a determination 
as to whether it will exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order 1 or 2 in Schedule 
5, Part 2 of the Act. Fire Safety Order 1 requires a person to do or stop doing certain 
specified things to improve fire safety; Fire Safety Order 2 requires a person to cease 
conducting an activity on premises where that activity constitutes, or is likely to 
constitute, a life-threatening hazard or a threat to public health or public safety. 

7. Attached are the details of the reports received from Fire and Rescue NSW, including 
recommendations for further action. The properties have also been reviewed by a City 
Officer. 

8. Personal information has been redacted from the reports in accordance with the 
Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998. 

Relevant Legislation 

9. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Andrew Thomas, Executive Manager Planning and Development  

3



Attachment A 

Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet 

4



 

Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet 
Cl.17, Schedule 5 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, reports to Council, S105001.002  

 

Total number of properties tabled: 5 
 

 
Report – October 2021    

Summary table 
 

Att.  
(A-F) 

Premises Specifics (predominate 
building use) 

Actions/ Recommendation 

A Not applicable – Summary Sheet Summary of clause 17, Schedule 5 matters tabled at Council meeting. 

B  118 Flinders Street, Darlinghurst – single 
dwelling 

Premises inspected, owners have been issued with corrective action correspondence; follow up compliance 
site inspections are to be undertaken to ensure fire safety works are satisfactorily completed. 

C 16-28 Foster Street, Surry Hills – 
restaurant and commercial suites 

Premises inspected, owners have been issued with corrective action correspondence; follow up compliance 
site inspections are to be undertaken to ensure fire safety works are satisfactorily completed. 

D 231 Oxford Street, Darlinghurst – Limelight 
on Oxford Theatre licensed premises 

Premises inspected, no significant fire safety issues identified; fire safety certification current and compliant. 
Report to be noted. No further action required. 

E 83 Harbour Street, Haymarket - residential 
towers and retail  

Premises not inspected because there were confirmed cases of Covid-19 in the building. Owners have been 
issued with corrective action correspondence; follow up compliance site inspections are to be undertaken to 
ensure fire safety works are satisfactorily completed. 

F 11 Smail Street, Ultimo – residential 
apartments 

Premises not inspected because the building manager was self-isolating after contact with Covid-19. 
Owners have been issued with corrective action correspondence; follow up compliance site inspections are 
to be undertaken to ensure fire safety works are satisfactorily completed. 

 

5



Attachment B 

Inspection Report 

118 Flinders Street, Darlinghurst 

 

6



 

 

7



 

Council investigation officer Inspection and Recommendation Report 
Clause 17(2), Part 8 of Schedule 5, of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 

Act 1979 (the Act) 
 

File: CSM 2578008                        Officer: Craig Hann       Date: 3 September 2021 
 
Premises: 118 Flinders Street, Darlinghurst 

 

Executive Summary:  
 
Council received correspondence from the Commissioner of Fire and Rescue NSW (FRNSW) in 
relation to the subject premises with respect to matters of fire safety. 

The premise consists of a three (3) storey terrace building approved as a single dwelling. A fire 
incident occurred at the premises on 19 March 2021, which was investigated by FRNSW. FRNSW 
are concerned that the building may have been operating as a boarding house. The building is a 
heritage item and located in a heritage conservation area under the Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012.  

Inspections of the premises undertaken by a Council investigation officer in the presence of the 
building owner’s representative revealed that the building is currently vacant.  
 
Single dwellings are required to be equipped with operational smoke alarms on each storey. 
Council investigations revealed that repairs to the smoke alarm system are necessary following the 
fire incident. Once the building’s smoke alarm system is operational, provisions for fire safety will 
be considered adequate in the circumstances.  
 
It is considered that the above fire safety works are of a degree which can be addressed by routine 
preventative and corrective maintenance actions undertaken by the owner’s fire service 
contractor(s) through written instruction from Council. An advisory letter has been sent to the 
owner requiring operational smoke alarms on each storey. Additionally, Council will monitor 
building works occurring to repair the fire damage to the building, and has commenced an 
investigation into the prior use as a boarding house, as alleged by FRNSW. These investigations 
will continue to ensure the building is used as a single dwelling after re-occupation.  
 
Observation of the external features of the building did not identify the existence of any 
combustible composite cladding on the façade of the building. 
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to give a fire safety order at this time. 

8



 

Chronology: 
 

Date Event 

24/6/2021 FRNSW correspondence received regarding premises 118 Flinders Street Darlinghurst. 

29/6/2021 Council investigation officer contacted the owner of the building to advise of the report from 
FRNSW and have a preliminary discussion concerning the matter. The owner advised the 
building is a single dwelling. It is currently undergoing repairs to the fire damage and is 
vacant.  
 
The matter of a possible boarding house use raised by FRNSW is referred to council’s 
investigation team for follow up. At the time of writing the investigation is ongoing. 

7/7/2021 A preliminary inspection by a Council officer with the owner’s representative confirmed the 
building is vacant. Repairs to the damaged smoke alarm system have commenced. 
 
As the building was vacant at the time of the inspection and the owner asserts the building is 
being used as a single dwelling, fire safety measures such as smoke alarms inside 
bedrooms, and evacuation lighting, are not required by the building regulations. 

19/8/021 A further inspection by a Council investigation officer with the owner’s representative 
confirmed the building is still vacant while repairs are continuing. Once a compliant 
operational smoke alarm system is installed, fire safety provisions will be satisfactory. 

2/9/2021 Inspection to check progress on repair works after the fire are built safely and within the 
standards, a referral was made for a council building compliance investigation to 
commence. The repairs are ongoing, and the building remains vacant. 
 
To ensure an adequate smoke alarm installation, an advisory letter to confirm the 
requirement and standard for operational smoke alarms in single dwellings was sent.  

 
 

FIRE AND RESCUE NSW REPORT: 
 
References: [BFS21/1441, D21/45650; 2021/283993] 
 
Fire and Rescue NSW conducted an inspection of the subject premises after receiving an enquiry 
about the operation of the building’s smoke detection system during and following a fire incident. 
 
Issues The report from FRNSW detailed a number of issues, in particular noting: 
 

1. concern that the building is being used as a boarding house without appropriate fire safety 
measures installed. 

 
FRNSW Recommendations 
 
FRNSW have made a recommendation within their report. In general, FRNSW have requested that 
Council: 
 

1. Inspect the subject premises and take action to have the identified fire safety issues 
appropriately addressed. 

 
FRNSW advise the matter is referred to Council as the appropriate regulatory authority. Also, they 
await advice of any determination in respect of the recommendations in accordance with clause 
17(4) of Schedule 5 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 
 

 
 

9



 

COUNCIL INVESTIGATION OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 

Issue 
Order 
(NOI) 

Issue 
emergency 
Order 

Issue an advisory 
letter of 
instruction 

Cited 
Matters 
rectified 

Continue to undertake 
compliance action in 
response to issued 
Council correspondence 

Continue with 

compliance actions 

under the current 

Council Order 

 

Other (to 
specify) 

 
As a result of site inspection undertaken by Council investigation officers it was determined to 
issue the owners of the building a compliance advisory letter to rectify the identified fire safety 
deficiencies noted by Council.  
 
The above correspondence has requested that the building owner ensure that a compliant smoke 
alarm system is installed prior to reoccupation of the building. 
 
Follow-up compliance action will be undertaken by a Council investigation officer to confirm 
ongoing use of the building as a single residence, ensure identified fire safety matters are suitably 
addressed and that compliance with the terms of Council’s correspondence occurs. 
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to give a fire safety order at this time. 

That the Commissioner of FRNSW be advised of Council’s actions and determination. 

Trim Reference: 2021/306664   CSM reference No#: 2578008 

10



 

11



 

12



 

13



 

14



 

 
 

15



Attachment C 

Inspection Report 

16-28 Foster Street, Surry Hills 

16



 

 
  

17



 

Council investigation officer Inspection and Recommendation Report 
Clause 17(2) of Schedule 5, of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 

1979 (the Act) 
 

File: CSM 2603441            Officer: T. Zeljkovic      Date: 1 September 2021 
 
Premises: 16-28 Foster Street, Surry Hills 

 

Executive Summary:  
 
Council received correspondence from the Commissioner of Fire and Rescue NSW (FRNSW) in 
relation to the subject premises with respect to matters of fire safety. 

The property is a five-storey brick building, circa early twentieth century, located in Foster Street 
near Campbell Street South, in Surry Hills. This building is not listed as a heritage item or contained 
within a conservation area under Sydney’s Local Environmental Plan 2012. Primarily used as 
commercial suites, the building also contains a licenced restaurant on the ground level. 

The building is subject to a current Council fire safety order issued on 16 March 2021. The specified 
works includes general maintenance and integration of existing and new fire safety systems, affected 
by ground level tenancy works.  
 
An inspection of the building was undertaken by a Council investigation officer on 1 September 2021. 
The inspection did not identify any additional significant fire safety issues that otherwise have been 
identified within the current fire safety order.  
 
The premises are equipped with numerous fire safety systems (both active and passive) that would 
provide adequate fire safety provision for occupants in the event of a fire. 
 
Council investigations have revealed that whilst there remains several fire safety “maintenance and 
management” works to attend to, the overall fire safety systems provided within the subject premises 
are considered adequate in the circumstances.  
 
It is considered that the cited fire safety deficiencies and works are being addressed through 
compliance with the current fire safety order. Council has scheduled future inspections to ensure the 
fire safety order works are carried out to the required specifications.  
 
It is considered that the matters identified by FRNSW have been addressed by the scope of works 
specified under the above fire safety order, and further, a corrective action letter has been issued to 
the building owner so as to bring additional attention and urgent response. 
 
Observation of the external features of the building did not identify the existence of combustible 
composite cladding on the façade of the building. 

  

18



 

 
Chronology: 
 

 
Date 

 
Event 
 

10/08/2021 FRNSW correspondence dated 9 August 2021 received pertaining to their inspection of 
premises identified as “China Heights”, conducted on 26/02/2021 matters raised:  

 lack of the annual fire safety statement and hydrant/sprinkler block plans being 
present, limited access to sprinkler control valves, and general comments pertaining 
to fire sealing/compartments, access & egress and doors being wedged open. 

 FRNSW was in receipt of correspondence pertaining to a historical fire incident and 
warning, sprinkler and storage issues  

12/08/2021 A review of City records was undertaken by a Council officer which revealed that the premises 
has been subject to a number of development works and approvals. 

20/08/2021 Written request sent to owner regarding maintenance items raised by FRNSW 

01/09/2021 Premises inspected by a Council officer, revealed: 
- restaurant closed 
- base building sprinkler and fire detection systems online/ no faults, sprinkler block 

plan present, no storage issues, egress clear 
- maintenance issues pertaining to open doors, hydrant block plan/ AFSS not present 

and fire link query.  
- a compliance letter was issued to the owner requiring rectification of matters within 

30 days  
 

 

 

 
FIRE AND RESCUE NSW REPORT: 

 
References: [BFS19/3005, D21/89257] 
 
Fire and Rescue NSW conducted an inspection of the subject premises after receiving an enquiry 
about an historic fire incident and claims of inoperative fire safety equipment. The inspection was 
carried out on 26 February 2021. 
 
Issues  
 
The report from FRNSW detailed a number of issues, in particular noting the lack of display of fire 
safety certification, absence of required fire system plans, queries on means of egress, and 
deficiencies with fire compartmentation. 
 
FRNSW are therefore of the opinion that there are inadequate provisions for fire safety within the 
building. 
 
 
FRNSW Recommendations  
 
FRNSW has recommended that Council inspect and address the items identified within their report 
and any other fire safety deficiencies that may be determined by Council at the premises. 
 
FRNSW has referred this matter to Council as the appropriate regulatory authority. FRNSW 
therefore awaits Council’s advice regarding its determination in accordance with Schedule 5, Part 
8, Section 17 (4) of the EP&A Act. 
  

19



 

  
COUNCIL INVESTIGATION OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS:  

 
Issue 
Order(NOI) 

Issue 
emergency 
Order 

Issue a 
compliance 
letter of 
instruction 

Cited 
Matters 
rectified 

Continue to 
undertake 
compliance 
action in 
response to 
issued Council 
correspondence 

Continue with 

compliance actions 

under the current 

Council Order 

 

Council investigation 
officer inspect the 
building and prepare 
a further report for 
the next meeting of 
Council 

 
As a result of the above site inspection undertaken by Council investigation officers it is 
recommended that the owners of the building continue to comply with the written fire safety 
compliance instructions as issued by Council officers to rectify the identified fire safety deficiencies 
noted by FRNSW. 
 
Follow-up compliance inspections are currently being undertaken and will continue to be undertaken 
by a Council officer to ensure all identified fire safety matters are suitably addressed and that 
compliance with the terms of Councils correspondence occur. 
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to issue a fire safety order at this time. 
 
That the Commissioner of FRNSW be advised of Council’s actions and outcomes. 
 
Referenced documents: 

No# Document type Trim reference 

A1. Fire and Rescue NSW report 2021/354499 

 
Trim Reference: 2021/389075  CSM reference No: 2603441 

20



 

21



 

22



 

23



 

 

24



Attachment D 

Inspection Report 

231 Oxford Street Darlinghurst 

 

25



 

 
 

  

26



 

Council investigation officer Inspection and Recommendation Report 
Clause 17(2) of Schedule 5, of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 

1979 (the Act) 
 

CSM: 2606710   Officer: B. Badyari                  Date: 23 August 2021 
 
Premises: 231 Oxford Street, Darlinghurst – Limelight On Oxford Theatre 

 
Executive Summary:  
 
Council received correspondence from the Commissioner of Fire and Rescue NSW (FRNSW) in 
relation to the subject premises with respect to matters of fire safety. 

The premises is a 3-storey building containing ground floor retail with a licensed restaurant, and first 
and second floor bar areas, known as Limelight on Oxford Theatre.  

An inspection of the premises was carried out by a Council investigation officer on 1 September 
2021 which confirmed that the building is vacant as a direct result of the Covid-19 Public Health 
orders. 
 
Council records indicate that required fire safety measures  were certified by way of an annual fire 
safety statement submitted to Council in July 2021.  
 
Observation of the external features of the building did not identify the existence of any 
combustible composite cladding on the façade of the building. 
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to give a fire safety order at this time. 

 

Chronology:  

Date Event 

17/08/2021 FRNSW correspondence received regarding premises 231 Oxford Street, Darlinghurst. 
 

17/08/2021 An initial desktop review of the subject building revealed that  the premises is subject to 
annual fire safety certification and is required to submit annual statements to Council and 
FRNSW. The building has a current compliant annual fire safety statement. 

17/08/2021 A telephone conversation with the building owner confirmed the building is not occupied 
because of the Covid-19 public health Orders. 
 

1/09/2021 An external inspection of the building by a Council investigation officer confirmed it is 
vacant. 

 
 
 
 
  

27



 

FIRE AND RESCUE NSW REPORT: 
 
References: [BFS21/1126 (15182) (D21/90791);]   
 
Fire and Rescue NSW (FRNSW) conducted an inspection of the subject premises on 13 April 2021 
in accordance with section 9.32 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act).  
 
The inspection of the premises indicated that the theatre was no longer operating (including 
advertisements displayed on the doors and the website).   
 
Issues  
 
FRNSW have not raised any specific fire safety issues at the premises. 
 
 
FRNSW Recommendations  
 
FRNSW have made no direct recommendation within their report other than advise it is at Council’s 
discretion to determine whether the essential fire safety measures at the premises are maintained.  
 
 

COUNCIL INVESTIGATION OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS:  
Issue 
Order(NOI) 

Issue 
emergency 
Order 

Issue a 
compliance letter 
of instruction 

Cited 
Matters 
rectified 

Continue with 

compliance actions 

under the current 

Council Order 

 

No further action required 

 
The review of Council records has revealed that required fire safety measures are appropriately 

certified.  

It is recommended that Council do not exercise its powers to give a fire safety order at this time. 

That the Commissioner of FRNSW be advised of Council’s actions and determination. 
 
Referenced documents: 

No# Document type Trim reference 

A1. Fire and Rescue NSW report 2021/373637-01 

 
 
Trim Reference: 2021/373637   CSM reference No#: 2606710 

 

28



 

29



 

 

30



Attachment E 

Inspection Report 

83 Harbour Street, Haymarket 

31



 

 
  

32



 

Council investigation officer Inspection and Recommendation Report 
Clause 17(2) of Schedule 5, of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 

1979 (the Act) 
 

File: CSM 2603573           Officer: T. Zeljkovic      Date: 7 September 2021 
 
Premises: 83 Harbour Street, Haymarket 

 

Executive Summary:  
 
Council received correspondence from the Commissioner of Fire and Rescue NSW (FRNSW) in 
relation to the subject premises with respect to matters of fire safety. 

The premises consists of a nineteen-storey brick building known as ‘Harbour Place’ and is contained 
within the commercial and residential precinct known as ‘Darling Square’ in Haymarket.  

The building is located on the Harbour Street frontage, between Hay Street and Piers Street in 
Haymarket. 

The building was approved by the Department of Planning and Infrastructure in 2015 and is one of 
three residential towers containing ground level retail, unified car park, and recreational areas. This 
site is affected by a State Environmental Planning Policy - Darling Harbour Development Policy No. 
1 and the Darling Harbour Act of 1984.  

At the time of writing this report an internal inspection of the building had not been carried out as the 
relevant building manager advised that the subject premises had a current confirmed COVID-19 
case who is self-isolating in the building. Other unidentified cases may also exist in the building which 
may pose a potential health risk to anyone entering the building.  
 
Documentary evidence was requested and has been provided by building management verifying the 
premises are equipped with numerous fire safety systems (both active and passive) that would 
provide adequate provision for fire safety for occupants in the event of a fire.  
 
Council has issued a compliance letter to the building owner instructing to reinstate fire safety 
maintenance items raised by FRNSW. Council officers are currently liaising with building owners to 
ensure required fire systems are online and corrective actions are being undertaken to correct and 
complete the matters raised by FRNSW. 
 
Council has scheduled future compliance inspections to ensure adequate fire safety measures are 
being maintained to the degree necessary. 
 
Observation of the external features of the building did not identify the existence of combustible 
composite cladding on the façade of the building. 
 
 
 
  

33



 

Chronology: 
 

Date Event 

10/08/2021 Fire & Rescue NSW (FRNSW) correspondence dated 9 August 2021 received pertaining to 
their inspection of 22/04/2021 premises identified at 83 Harbour St Sydney “Darling Square”, 
matters raised:  

 hydrant/sprinkler cupboard  
- door verification that it can remain open at 90-degree angle  
- lack of a sprinkler & hydrant block plan(s)  
- lack of boost/test pressure signage  

 noted temporary exit sign within pump room  

 verification of a fire damper above booster assembly area    

12/08/2021 A review of City records was undertaken by a Council officer which revealed: 

 State Significant Development approval issued by Department of Planning and 
Infrastructure - Construction of a mixed-use development including residential towers 
North East Plot 

 Staged Construction certificates were issued and subsequent occupation certificate(s) 
issued.   

30/08/2021 Council officer sought clarification of address from FRNSW, subsequently confirmed as 83 
Harbour St Haymarket (also known as NE1 tower) 

31/08/2021 Compliance letter sent to owner(s); advising to reinstate maintenance items raised by 
FRNSW; 30-day compliance. Strata managers confirmed receipt of said letter  

07/09/2021 Incoming correspondence received verifying fire systems are online and actioning of FRNSW 
matters are being undertaken 

 

 

 
FIRE AND RESCUE NSW REPORT: 

 
References: [BFS2082255 D21/90848] 
 
Fire and Rescue NSW conducted an inspection of the subject premises after receiving an enquiry 
about the performance of a fire sprinkler system. The inspection was carried out on 22 April 2021. 
 
Issues  
 
The report from FRNSW detailed a number of issues of concern in particular noting that (certain) 
required essential fire measures lacked specific system performance compliance to regulated 
standards and therefore are of the opinion that inadequate provisions for fire safety are occurring 
within the subject building. 
 
 
FRNSW Recommendations  
 
FRNSW recommended that Council inspect and appropriately address the items identified together 
with any other deficiencies identified at the premises. 
 
FRNSW will also await Council’s advice regarding its determination in accordance with 
Schedule 5, Part 8, Section 17 (4) of the EP&A Act. 
 
 

  
  

34



 

COUNCIL INVESTIGATION OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 

Issue 
Order(NOI) 

Issue 
emergency 
Order 

Issue a 
compliance 
letter of 
instruction 

Cited 
Matters 
rectified 

Continue to 
undertake 
compliance 
action in 
response to 
issued Council 
correspondence 

Continue with 

compliance actions 

under the current 

Council Order 

 

Council investigation 
officer inspect the 
building and prepare 
a further report for 
the next meeting of 
Council 

 
It is recommended that the owners of the building continue to comply with the written fire safety 
compliance instructions as issued by Council officers to rectify the identified fire safety deficiencies 
noted by FRNSW. 
 
Follow-up compliance inspections are to be undertaken by a Council officer when it is safe to do so, 
to ensure all identified fire safety matters are suitably addressed and that compliance with the terms 
of Councils correspondence occur. 
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to give a fire safety order at this time. 
 
That the Commissioner of FRNSW be advised of Council’s actions and outcomes. 
 
Referenced documents: 

No# Document type Trim reference 

A1. Fire and Rescue NSW report 2021/394866-01 

 
Trim Reference: 2021/394866     CSM reference No#: 2603573 

35



 

36



 

37



 

 

38



Attachment F 

Inspection Report 

11 Smail Street, Ultimo 

 

39



 

 

  

40



 

Council investigation officer Inspection and Recommendation Report 
Clause 17(2) of Schedule 5, of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 

1979 (the Act) 
 

CSM: 2600207   Officer: G. Scotton       Date: 6 September 2021 
 
Premises: 11 Smail Street, Ultimo 
Executive Summary:  

Council received correspondence from the Commissioner of Fire and Rescue NSW (FRNSW) in 
relation to the subject premises with respect to matters of fire safety. 

The premise consists of a 7-storey building containing 34 residential units. Records indicate the 
building was converted from a warehouse and was first occupied in its current use, pursuant to 
certification issued in 2012.  

An inspection of the premises and specifically the matters raised by FRNSW was attempted on 3 
September 2021. The building manager advised he is currently a close contact with two confirmed 
cases of COVID-19 and is currently self-isolating. The inspection was postponed until safe access 
can be provided at a later date. 
 
Council investigations have revealed that whilst there remains several fire safety “maintenance and 
management” works to attend to, the overall fire safety systems provided for the subject premises 
are considered adequate in the circumstances. An inspection seeking to confirm this will be 
undertaken once it is safe to do so. 
 
It is considered (subject to future inspection) that the matters cited by FRNSW can be addressed by 
routine preventative and corrective maintenance actions under the corrective action correspondence 
issued by Council.   
 
Council has scheduled future compliance inspections to ensure required fire safety measures and 
management practices are being carried out to the degree necessary. 
 
Observation of the external features of the building did not identify the existence of any 
combustible composite cladding on the façade of the building. 
 
  

41



 

Chronology 

Date Event 
03.08.2021 FRNSW correspondence dated 3 August 2021 received regarding premises, in relation to an 

inspection carried out on 26 May 2021 

23.08.2021 A review of City records revealed a fire safety statement dated 21 September 2020 relating to 
twenty-one fire safety measures, including sprinklers, a fire detection and alarm system, 
building occupant warning system, and measures as outlined in a fire engineering report 

27.8.2021 Issues discussed with both the fire contractor and managing agent, who advised: 
1. Rectification of a fault in the fire indicator panel is pending access to a residential unit, 

as access to the unit has not been able to be obtained to date 
2. The hydrant pump maintenance issue has been resolved, and the pump is now 

functioning as required by the fire safety schedule 
3. An exit sign maintenance issue is expected to be resolved shortly 
4. Planter boxes at the roof/penthouse level which may have provided a foothold for 

climbing have been removed (the managing agent  was advised to ensure that no 
planters are placed in proximity to balustrades or barriers so as to provide a foothold 
for climbing in the area) 

5. The current fire safety statement is prominently displayed in the foyer of the premises 
The managing agent and fire contractor agreed to provide documentary evidence of 
rectification upon resolution of the issues raised by FRNSW. 

03.09.2021 Following a COVID-19 risk assessment, a review of the nature of the issues, previous history 
of the premises, and available City records, it was determined that an inspection of the 
premises not be carried out at this point in time, but to refer the maintenance issues directly 
to the owner of the premises for resolution, in conjunction with the required fire statement 
due by 21 September 2021. 

06.09.2021 Compliance instruction issued to the owner in writing, requiring maintenance of fire safety 
measures in accordance with the fire safety schedule, including clearing faults in the fire 
indicator panel, maintenance of hydrants and exit signage, together with a reminder to 
ensure objects are not provided in proximity to balustrades, and to provide a compliant fire 
safety statement by the due date  

 

FIRE AND RESCUE NSW REPORT: 
 
References: [D21/89280; 2021/373380-01] 
 
Fire and Rescue NSW (FRNSW) conducted an inspection of the subject premises on 26 May 2021 
in accordance with Section 9.32 (1) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act, 1979 (the 
Act). The inspection was undertaken after FRNSW received correspondence regarding the 
adequacy of the provisions for fire safety in connection with the premises.  
 
Issues  
 
The report from FRNSW detailed the following:  

 
1. Two faults were displayed on the fire indicator panel 
2. The hydrant service record indicated hydrant diesel when running causes smoke, requires 

urgent attention 
3. An exit sign on the ground floor was not illuminated 
4. A balcony balustrade non-compliance with the National Construction Code (Building Code of 

Australia), including the balustrade design and placement of planter boxes, providing 
possible footholds for climbing. 
 

FRNSW is therefore of the opinion that there are inadequate provisions for fire safety within the 
building 

 

42



 

FRNSW Recommendations  
 
FRNSW have recommended that Council inspect and address any other deficiencies identified on 

‘the premises’ and require the items within the FRNSW report to be addressed appropriately.  
 
FRNSW have also requested that a notice of any determination in respect of the recommendations 
is forwarded to them in accordance with Schedule 5, Part 8, Clause 17 (4) of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 
 
 

COUNCIL INVESTIGATION OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 

Issue  
Order (NOI) 

Issue 
emergency 
Order 

Issue a 
compliance 
letter of 
instruction 

Cited 
Matters 
rectified 

Continue to undertake 
compliance action in 
response to issued 
Council 
correspondence 

Continue with 

compliance 

actions under the 

current Council 

Order 

 

Other  
(to 
specify) 

 
As a result of the review undertaken by Council investigation officers, it is recommended that the 

owners of the building continue to comply with the written fire safety compliance instructions as 

issued by Council officers to rectify the identified fire safety deficiencies noted by FRNSW. 

The above correspondence has instructed the responsible site personnel to carry out corrective 
actions to promote compliance. 
 
Follow-up compliance inspections will be undertaken by a Council officer to ensure all identified fire 
safety matters are suitably addressed and that compliance with the terms of Council’s 
correspondence occur. 
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to give a fire safety Order at this time. 
 
That the Commissioner of FRNSW be advised of Council’s actions and outcomes. 
 
Referenced documents: 
 

No# Document type Trim reference 

A1 FRNSW letter dated 3 August 2021 2021/373380-01 

 
 
Trim Reference: 2021/373380     CSM reference no.: 2600207 

 

43



 

44



 

45



 

 

46


	Agenda
	1 Disclosures of Interest
	2 Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment
	Attachment A - Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst.
	Attachment B - Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst, October 2021
	Attachment C - Resolution of Council - 17 September 2018 and Resolution of the Central Sydney Planning Committee - 13 September 2018
	Council and CSPC resolutions.pdf
	Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment


	Attachment D - Gateway Determination - 11 July 2019
	Attachment E - Summary of Submissions and Responses
	Attachment F - Overshadowing Analysis Prepared by the City of Sydney
	Attachment G - Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment Prepared by Barker Ryan Stewart

	3 Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal – Green Square Town Centre: 377-495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland - Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 and Green Square Town Centre Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment
	Attachment A - Planning Proposal Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland
	Attachment A1 - Planning Proposal Request
	Blank page.pdf
	Attachment A1 Planning Proposal Request.pdf
	Attachment A1 cover sheet.pdf
	A1 - Planning proposal request.pdf


	Attachment A2 - Economic Assessment
	Blank page.pdf
	Attachment A2 Economic Assessment.pdf
	A2 - Economic Assessment_PP-2021-4262.pdf
	Executive Summary
	1.0 Introduction
	2.0 Site and locational context
	2.1 Site context
	2.2 Surrounding development context
	2.3 Strategic policy context
	2.4 Green Square Town Centre and Proposed Development of Sites 8A and 8B
	Green Square Town Centre
	Proposed intended development of Sites 8A and 8B


	3.0 Local Economic Context
	3.1 Study Area Definition
	3.2 Resident Population
	3.2.1 Population Projections
	3.2.2 Socio-economic profile

	3.3 Worker Population
	3.3.1 Employment Projections

	3.4 Worker Floorspace Demand

	4.0 Development Context
	4.1 Existing Development Context
	4.1.1 Floorspace Provision by Use Type
	4.1.2 Major Precincts

	4.2 Development Activity
	4.2.1 Level of Investment by Use Type
	4.2.2 Proposed Developments


	5.0 Commercial Office Assessment
	5.1 Sydney Metropolitan Office Markets
	5.2 South Sydney Office Market
	5.3 Competitive context
	5.4 Modern tenant requirements
	5.5 Summary of potential for commercial office uses

	6.0 Supporting Use Assessment
	6.1 Complementary uses to commercial office
	6.2 Market Potential
	6.3 Modern Occupier Requirements and Case Studies
	1 – 6 Hassall Street, Parramatta
	Victoria University Precinct, Melbourne

	6.4 Summary of potential for supporting uses

	7.0 Economic Benefits
	7.1 Key findings and recommendations
	7.2 Demand for the development
	7.2.1 Site suitability
	7.2.2 Need for the development

	7.3 Employment generation
	7.3.1 Construction jobs
	7.3.2 Ongoing employment opportunities

	7.4 Economic Output
	7.5 Additional expenditure generated by the project
	7.6 Other economic benefits


	Attachment A2 cover sheet.pdf


	Attachment A3 - Urban Design Report
	Blank page.pdf
	Attachment A3 Urban Design Report reduced size.pdf
	Attachment A3 cover sheet.pdf
	A3 - Urban Design Report, Envelope & Reference Scheme_PP-2021-4262.pdf
	Appendix A - Urban Design Report, Envelope & Reference Scheme
	Appendix A - Urban Design Report, Envelope & Reference Scheme

	Green Square Site 8A & 8B - Building Envelope
	Green Square Site 8A & 8B - Building Envelope
	Appendix A - Urban Design Report, Envelope & Reference Scheme
	Green Square Site 8A & 8B - Reference Design




	Attachment A4 - Environmental Wind Assessment
	Blank page.pdf
	Attachment A4 Environmental Wind Assessment.pdf
	Attachment A4 cover sheet.pdf
	A4 - Desktop Wind Impact Review_PP-2021-4262.pdf


	Attachment A5 - Proponent's Draft DCP Amendment
	Blank page.pdf
	Attachment A5 - Proponent's DCP Amendment.pdf
	Attachment A5 cover sheet.pdf
	A5 - Site Specific DCP_PP-2021-4262.pdf


	Attachment A6 - Supplementary Information, dated 27 August 2021
	Attachment A7 - Revised Building Envelope, dated 15 September 2021
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)

	PP-01-00 [-] Site Plan.pdf
	Sheets
	PP-01-00 - Site Plan


	PP-05-04 [-] VIA – Botany Road (through site link).pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-05-03 [-] VIA - Green Square Plaza (looking south east).pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-05-02 [-] VIA – Botany Road (looking north).pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-05-01 [-] VIA – Botany Road (looking south).pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-03-02 [-] Building Envelope - South & East Elevation.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-03-01 [-] Building Envelope - North & West Elevation.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-01-09 [-] Building Envelope – Roof Levels.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-01-08 [-] Building Envelope – Site 8A Roof Setback Level.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-01-07 [-] Building Envelope – Upper Tower Levels.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-01-06 [-] Building Envelope – Site 8B Roof Setback Level.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-01-05 [-] Building Envelope - Lower Tower Levels.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-01-04 [-] Building Envelope - Podium Levels.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-01-03 [-] Building Envelope - Level 1.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-01-02 [-] Building Envelope - Ground.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-01-01 [-] Building Envelope - Basement.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	PP-02-01 [-] Building Envelope - Sections.pdf
	Sheets
	PP-02-01 - Building Envelope - Sections


	PP-04-01 [-] Building Envelope – Massing.pdf
	Sheets
	PP-04-01 - Building Envelope – Massing


	PP-05-03 [-] VIA - Green Square Plaza (looking south east).pdf
	Sheets
	PP-05-03 - VIA - Green Square Plaza (looking south east)


	PP-05-02 [-] VIA – Botany Road (looking north).pdf
	Sheets
	PP-05-02 - VIA – Botany Road (looking north)


	PP-05-01 [-] VIA – Botany Road (looking south).pdf
	Sheets
	PP-05-01 - VIA – Botany Road (looking south)



	Attachment A8 - Revised Reference Design, dated 15 September 2021
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)

	RD-03-01 [-] Stacking Plan & Area Schedule.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-02-02 [-] Section 2,3,4 (East West).pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-02-01 [-] Section 1 (North South).pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-01-11 [-] Level 23 (Roof Plant).pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-01-10 [-] Levels 18 - 22 (Typical High Rise Levels).pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-01-09 [-] Level 17 (Plant Level).pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-01-08 [-] Levels 10 - 16 (Typical High Rise Levels).pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-01-07 [-] Level 9.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-01-06 [-] Levels 2 - 8 (Typical Podium Levels).pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-01-05 [-] Level 1.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-01-04 [-] Ground Level.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-01-03 [-] Basement 1.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-01-02 [-] Basement 2.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-01-01 [-] Basement 3.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-00-01 [-] Site Plan.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-01-12 - Level 23 (Roof Plant)


	RD-03-01 [-] Stacking Plan & Area Schedule.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-03-01 - Stacking Plan & Area Schedule


	RD-03-01 [-] Stacking Plan & Area Schedule.pdf
	Sheets
	RD-03-01 - Stacking Plan & Area Schedule



	Attachment B - Draft Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment - Green Square Town Centre: 377 - 495 Botany Road and 960A Bourke Street, Zetland

	4 Traffic Treatment - Proposed Permanent Partial Road Closure - Spring Street, Sydney
	Attachment A - Location Plan and Proposal

	5 Approved Variations to Development Standards Reported to the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
	Attachment A - Variations Approved by Council and Reported to the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment for the Period 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021

	6 Fire Safety Reports
	Attachment A - Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet
	Attachment B - Inspection Report - 118 Flinders Street, Darlinghurst
	Attachment C - Inspection Report - 16-28 Foster Street, Surry Hills
	Attachment D - Inspection Report - 231 Oxford Street, Darlinghurst
	Attachment E - Inspection Report - 83 Harbour Street, Haymarket
	Attachment F - Inspection Report - 11 Smail Street Ultimo




